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Delivering the very best content,
world-leading product innovation
and outstanding service

At Sky we provide millions of our customers with
the very best TV experience. That means offering
them the best entertainment from major live sporting
events, gripping drama, great US and home-grown
shows and blockbuster movies across a choice

of brilliant platforms.

We also believe that everyone deserves
exceptional service and we strive to improve
what we do every day for our customers.

Sky Sports F1*

Moana
ODsney Enterpnses Inc

Sky plc



Contents

Strategic report

Sky at a glance 2
Chairman’s statement

Group Chief Executive’s statement &
Our marketplace, strategy 10
and business model

Our performance 12
Seeing The Bigger Picture 14
Qperational review

-UKand Ireland 18
- Germany and Austria 20
- Italy 22
Financial review 24
Principal risks and uncertainties 28
Regulatory matters 32
Governance

Board of Directors 36
Corporate governance report 38
Directors’ remuneration report 50
Directors’ report and statutory 70
disclosures

Financial statements

Statement of Directors’ 78
responsibilities
Independent Auditor's report 79
Consolidated financial statements 84
Notes to the consolidated 88
financial statements

Sky @ Group financial record 138
Non-GAAP measures 141

Shareholder information
Shareholder nformation 144

7} - To find out more about Sky
go to skygroup.sky/corporate

To find cut mere about our products and services

Master cf Photography g0 to sky.com

For more about our wider contribution
g0 to skygroup.sky/corporatefbigger-picture

Annual Report 2017



At a glance

Europe’s leading
entertainment
company

Our contribution
to wider society

World-class
content

Industry leading
innovations and
products

Additional
revenue streams

2 Sky ple

£129bn  £1.5bn £964m

revenue’ operating profit’ statutory operating profit

£13.6bn

Sky's contribution
to European GDP

£6bn

annual content
investment

Sky Qin over 1 millon UK customer homes

216,800

total number of European
jobs supported by Sky

100+ Sky Original Productions

The Young Pope



22.5m 31,000+

customers employees

£4.8bn 5m

total annual tax contribution people engaged through
across the five countries Sky Ocean Rescue

The best acquired content

Game of Thrones Bundesliga

Delivering for 40 6 p+4-1%

shareholders /
statutory earnings per share

1 Thisis an adjusted measure and a reconciliation between statutory and adjusted measures can be found on page 141

5 countries

UK and Ireland
Germany and Austria
Italy

170,264

young people reached
through Sky Academy

Our flagship brands

61.4p™"

earnings per share'
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Chairman’s statement

James Murdoch
Chairman

4 Sky plc

The past year has seen Sky build
on its position as one of the
world’s leading entertainment
and communications businesses
- and we continue to have

a significant positive impact

on our customers’ lives.

Our success 15 driven by each of sur colleagues’ determination to deliver the
very best content, world-leading product innovation and outstanding
service for our customers.

As a business, we know value Is created by investing in our people while
being as efficient as possible and thinking for the long term. In the past
decade, we have consistently moved into new markets, opened up new
customer segments and expanded aur range of products and services.

This year we have successfully scaled up our businesses in ltaly, Germany
and Austna and have offered all our customers new technologies,

new services and world-class content that we believe 1s unmatched

In our industry This has helped us to nowregularly reach more than

100 mithon viewers across Europe

While ¢reating shareholder value drives our business, we also ensure that
we make a significant contrnbution to the countries and communities

In which we operate As aleader in the Ewopean creative iIndustres,

we generated £4.8 billion in tax revenues, employed 31,496 people directly,
supported a further 216,800 indirect jobs and contributed £13.6 billion

to Europe’s GDP.

Qur determination to have a positive impact stretches across all aspects
of our business. A pan-European initiative ike Sky Ocean Rescue,

which has already engaged over five million people since 1t launched

in January 2017, along with celebrating 11 years as a carbon neutral
company, reflect cur commitment to the environment while building

a better more sustainable business,

As you know, on 7 December 2016, 21st Century Fox made an approach

to the Deputy Chairman of Sky, Martin Gilbert, to acquire the balance of
shares in Sky not owned by 21st Century Fox. After a pertod of negotiation,
the Independent Directors recommended the offer on 15 December 2016
subject to regulatory and shareholder approvals. The offer process

1s ongoing and shareholders will be kept fully informed



| would hke to take this opportunity to thank Dave Lews for his contribution
to Sky since joming the Board in 2012 As announced last year, Dave stepped
down from the Board in Octobrer at our AGM, and we welcomed Katrin
Wehr-Seiter, who was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director,
©n behalf of the Board, t would also like to thank all of our shareholders

for their continued support over the year

Finally, | would like to thank our people. This is a great company with an
expenenced and talented team who are all committed to the highest
standards of excellence in our industry, enabling us to create opportunities
for growth and positively contribute to the lives of our customers and

the communities where we and they live and work

James Murdoch

Sky Ocean Rescue
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Group Chief Executive’s statement

Sky has had a strong year delivering
on our growth strategy.

It's been another good year for Sky and we have delivered a strong
performance in all markets. We have made excellent progress in advancing
all areas of our business plan, combining solid operational delivery with a
range of new initiatives that we believe can deliver further strong growth

At the heart of Sky, Is a relentless focus on delivering three things - the best
and broadest range of content, innovative products and excellent customer
value and service. This approach, delivered by talented and dedicated
people, 1s what allows us to consistently create value for our shareholders
and enjoyment for our customers, while contributing strongly to the
communities In which we live and work

Strong results and a year of significant delivery

We have made good progress against the pricrities that create sustainable
value for our shareholders over the medium term. This 15 achieved by
providing the broadest range of the hest content for every household,
Innovating at pace to create the best products and extending our lead

as the number one customer service brand in our space At the same time,
we will look to expand into new markets and buifd new revenue streams,

Jeremy Darroch
all underpinned by sustained operating cost improvement,

Group Chief Executive
Delivering on this has ensured that our full year financial performance was

strong Revenue growth was 10% (5% on a constant currency basis) at

£129 billion' with all markets and categones in growth, Operating profit of
£1,468 million' was £97 mithon below last year after absorbing the step up
In UK Premier League costs, investment in new businesses and on screen.

We continued to make excellent progress in improving cur operational
efficency and delivered further cost savings, with operating costs down
by 3% as a percentage of revenue, We delivered our £200 million synergy
target six months ahead of schedule and are now working towards a
£400 mithon target by the end of 2020 This approach allows us tokeep
Investing In our customer of fer while delivering our long-term financial
targets for the business

Customer growth, despite challenging consumer environments, continued
to be strong. We added 686,000 new customers over the year across our
platforms and territories, growing our overall customer base to 22.5 million
At the same time, we grew paid-for products by a further 2 7 mifhon with
strong growth from the fikes of Sky Mabile, UMD and muitiscreen

In the UK and Ireland, we continued our focus on delivering returns from
the content and product investments we have made over the last few
years We are targeting broadly based revenue growth with a number

of new products and services such as mobile, transactional services and
our targeted advertising product AdSmart, alongside our subscription
business. Delivening on these priorities hasled to a good financial

and operational performance in this market

1 Thisisan adjusted measure and a reconciliation between statutory and adusted
measures can be found on page 141
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Our performance In Germany and Austra has been very strong as we
pursue the significant opportunity that exists in Europe’s largest TV
market Qur drive towards broadening our customer proposition and
developing a range of products and services to sut the whole market
has debvered excellent customer growth.

And In Italy, despite a particularly challenging general consumer
environment, we have successfully grown our customer base and
aperating profits have reached their hughest level for five years.
Our loyalty programme attracted over two milion members and
we continued to add value to customer subscnptions with the
launch of Sky Go Extra, the Sky Kids App and a new Sky Sports app.

Investing £6 billion on screen makes us
Europe’s leading investorin content

This was our best year ever on screen and our slate of Sky productions
continued to enhance our track record for producing world-class
entertainment which our customers love Our channels now consistently
reach over 100 millon people every quarter.

In the UK, Riviera delivered almest 12 millien downloads, making it our most
popular premiere box set release ever. In Italy, a new senes of the onginal
drama 1993 was the second best performing series on Sky Atlantic behind
the extremely popular The Young Pope.tn Germany and Austnia, the locally
produced Babylon Berlin and Das Boot are eagerly anticpated in the upcoming
financial year where we will be growsng our Sky Originals (nvestment by

a further 25%

Dunng the year we cemented our position as the partner of choice for
content and channel providers all over the world, renewing our partnerships
with NBCUniversal, Discovery and A+E Networks, alang with launching

a co-production partnership with our kang-term partner HSO.

The extension of these long-term nghts deals means that we have more
new shows than ever before while ensunng that we continue to provide our

customers with the best acquired content alongside Sky's onginal praductions,

Qur partners’ trust in Sky as the custodian of their brands means we can give
our customers access to a partfolio of the world's best channels and movies

Jashua v Klitschko press conference

In Italy, we faunched Vision Distribution, a new theatrical distribution
compary set up as part of a deal agreed with five of Italy's top independent
producers Skywill hold all TV nghts to the titles reteased by Vision
Distrnibution, which ensures ongoing premiurn [talian movie content

for our customers.

Sky Sports performed well across the Group. It is the breadth and range
of our offenng, and the choices we make In where to invest, that enables
us to effectively monetise sports nghts and ensure broad customer appeal

In football, Serie A, Bundeshga and Champions League achieved record-
breaking audiences, and while Premier League viewtng was down as a
result of, among other factors, an additional ten games broadcast on the
prior season, we saw the highest total reach in the Premer League for
three years. Motorsport, including F1 and MotoGP, was up year on year
and our pay-per-view Joshua v Kitschke fight exceeded one million

buys - only the third time we have exceeded this number,

In 2017 we renewed or won a number of important sports rights that
position us well for the long term. In the UK and Ireland, we agreed a new
five-year partnership with the England and Wales Cricket Board, including
the Iive nghts to mternational and county cricket, taking our parthership
with them to a total of 18 years. We also won the nghts to demestic
women's ¢ricket and netball In Germany and Austria, we remain the
home of the UEFA Champions League for the next four years, following

a successful nghts renewal In Italy we won rights to the Europa League
and UEFA Champions League, further enhancing Sky's position as the
leading sports service in Italy

We continue to work with rights owners, enforcement groups and other
industry partners to tackle piracy Among other initiatives, we supported
the English Premier League’s High Court action to block the flegal streaming
of matches which resulted in a significant reduction in the avalability of
llegal streams We will continue ta support such action as well as seek
further legislative support to reduce this ilegal activity

Annual Report 2017 7
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Group Chief Executive’s statement - continued

Sky News in the UK once again received acclaim for its coverage of major

news events during the year and proved 1tself as a leader in real-time news.

The strength of Sky News' journalism was recognised when the channel
took home five Royal Television Society Journalism awards. With four
of the awards coming In categories in which we had not previously won,
the recognition reflects the continual hard work of the team and our
ongoing evoluton as a news organisation

In italy, Sky TG24 began the transfer of the majanty of its operations to
new hi-tech studios in Milan, and in Germany we opened our new in-house
broadcasting facility, Sky Sports HQ in Munich. These advances will both
improve efficiency and, through greater technical proficiency, deliver a
superior product,

Innovating at pace to create the best products

We have continued to innovate across the business, developing industry-
leading products that are constantly improving and are giving customers
a superor user experience, Such supenor functionality 1s ieading to
greater engagement with our customers in the form of increased wiewing,
transacting and advocacy.

We launched Sky* Proin Germany and Austna into over 460,000 homes
and in the UK we enhanced the already industry-leading Sky Q with
voice search, new personalisation features and even more UHD content
Sky Qs now the number one reason for joining Sky In the UK and we
look forward to launching Sky Q without a sateliite dish and unlocking

a currently untapped customer base

8 Sky plc

Super Netball Grand Final

As consumers seek flexibility to access content, we continue to broaden
our offering to ensure we are serving the whole market, Welaunched
pay-lite streaming services in Germany and Austna, ltaly and Ireland as well
as our NOW TV combe in the UK. We also continued to make big strides in
delivering content across mult:ple platforms with the introduction of Sky Go
Extra in Italy, the new Sky Sports app in the UK and the Sky Kids and Sky VR
apps across all of our regions, making us Europe’s leading streaming service.

In communications, our breadband business in the UK continues to

grow and we have added a number of new products to better serve our
customers We have also been able to leverage the strength of our brand
and industry-leading customer service to launch Sky Mobile and create
another revenue and future profit stream. While it 1s earfy days, we are
excited by the ocpportunity.

Best in class customer service

Excellence in customer service is at the heart of what we do and we are
constantly seeking ways to get even better This 1s why we have extended
our leadership pesition in all markets.

In the UK we topped Ofcom’s league tables for customer service across
every quarter and every product category, while in Italy customer
satisfaction is at its highest level in three years and in Germany,
customer satisfaction levels are continually improving,

Sky+ Pro



Excellence in customer service

This year we launched a step change in customer service as we move from
direct contact to digital first. We have now rolled out new digital service
apps across all our termitories which have been well received by customers,
In the UK, where this service has been in the market the lengest via the

My Sky App, 50% of all interactions are now digital, which is driving
enhanced customer satisfaction while reducing costs

As evidenced by the outstandng success of the Sky Extra loyalty programme
Inltaly, rewarding customers for their loyalty clearly has tangible benefits
Record customer satisfaction levels and Industry-leading levels of churn
llustrate how well customers in this market have responded to this Initiative.
We will be taking these learnings and relling out similar programmes in the UK
and Germany in the coming year

How we do business

How we do business is 4 core part of who we are We recognise that
Sky sits at the heart of milllons of customers’ ives and we seek to use
our voice to make a difference in the areas customers care about.

Cur major new environmental awareness initiative, Sky Ccean Rescue, has
now fully launched across the Group, following World Oceans Day In June.
The campaign to engage consumers on the health of our oceans, starting
with single use plastics, is running across all business channels - led by
news coverage and documentaries, supported by cn-screen programming,

on our websites and social media channels; and via internal engagement
across Sky. The campaign has reached over 100 million people online and
an arr to date, with more than five millon having engaged n the campaign

We have supported more than 170,264 young people with our initiatives
over the past year. Sky Sports Living for Sport over the past 14 years
has developed and built skills In around a third of the UK and lreland's
secondary schoals, the launch of the Sky Academy Studios in Milan has
welcomed 5,570 young peop'e through its doors since opening In Q2
and the Sky Foundation in Germany has supperted mere than 5,663
children with year-round sports programmes across the country.

Our people

Central to everything we do at Sky s our culture. We work hard to be an
inclusive employer, so everyone at Sky can be themselves and give therr best.

in a high-performing, consumer facing organisation like ours, we have
developed a talented, capable and dedicated workforce that 1s committed
to creating success for all of our stakeholders, | am constantly grateful for
their contribution to our business Sky's history of renewal and constant
improvement has been led by our people, and we recognise that investment
in their training and development is central to our ambiticn.

Looking to the future

We exit the financial year in a strong position with significant growth
potentral. We provide our customers with world-class content, innovative
products and industry-leading customer service, through a committed and
talented team. We are focused on delivering strong and sustained finanaial
performance and returns over the long term and have an appetite to invest
to achieve this white maintaining a strong financial position Alongside this
we seek to make a wider contribution to the comrmunities in which we five
and work, We believe this 1s the nght approach in the interests of all our
stakeholders and we are optimistic for the future.

Jeremy Darroch

Sky Sports Living for Sport

Annual Repart 2017 9

Hodal 3Ealens



Our marketplace, strategy and business model

Our marketplace

The markets in which we operate are constantly
changing and evolving. Consumers are demanding
more of the very best content on their terms, be

it live on the main television set in the home, or on
demand when on the move. However, daily viewing to
television remains high, with consumers continually
wanting to be entertained on a big screen,

When looking at our business and the markets we
are in today, we see a significant growth opportunity
ahead. We have 22.5 million customers to whom

we can offer more products. In addition, around

64 miflion households have yet to take pay TV in

our core markets, giving us substantial headroom to
address this with our multi-platform and streaming
TV services, And we continue to look at other
opportunities to grow, which in time might include
launching products and services in new markets.

64m 22.5m

households have customers to sell
yet to take pay TV more products to

Our strategy

Opportunities in adjacent markets represent
significant further areas of growth.

Customers are increasingly consuming content in digital
formats, with the transactional home wvideo market
valued at around £3 5 billion across our markets,

(5) We are able to exploit this opportunity through our
own transactional video service, Sky Store,

@ In addition, our advertising sales house, Sky Media, operates
in an advertising market worth £11 billion acress the Group.

(3) Withstrong global demand for high-quality content,
Sky Vision, our production and distnibution arm, goes
from strength to strength. Our growing slate of Sky
original programming has been popular with broadcasters
around the world, with sales in hundreds of territones.

£11bn

value of TV advertising
market

£3.5bn

value of transactional
home video markets

Our strategy is to broaden our business; moving into new markets, opening up new customer segments

and expanding our range of products and services.

At the heart of our strategy are the steps we have takento
build our position as Europe’s leading entertainment and
communications business. Across all our markets we are
ensuring Sky is the home of more of the best content from
around the world, with sustained market-leading innovation
across multiple platforms, delivered by a trusted brand that
offers best in class customer service,

10 Sky plc

This custemer proposition enables us to pursue the
sigmficant opportunities for growth in the attractive
markets where we operate.

Our strategy is enabling us to deliver sustained broadly based
revenue growkh which, together with our focus on operating
efficiency, creates a consistently stronger, mere profitable
business and long-term shareholder value.



Our business model

We are focused on delivering the very best content, innovation and service for our customers.

Qur strengths

Great content

We invest to deliver the best and
broadest range of content rights
across the portfolio of channels and
services wa provide to customers,
offering something for everyone in the
household. We partner with content
owners to secure the very best content
from around the world, and produce
our own original productions.

Growth opportunities

Growing pay TV penetration

Across our markets there is a significant
opportunity for growth, with 64 million
households yet to take pay TV. We have
further developed our segmented
customer offers to ensure we are well
placed to persuade more customers

to join and stay with Sky

How we create value

Investing for the long term

We invest aver the long term because we want to bulld a
business that is durable. This means ensuring that we create
the conditions for sustainable success whilst also delvering

results in the short term.

Seeing the Bigger Picture

We are committed to acting responsibly in all that we do,

Market-leading innovation

We combine our investment

in technologies with a deep
unhderstanding of our customers
to offer a great viewing experience
whenever, wherever and however
our customers want to watch.

Selling more to customers

We focus on broadening out cur range
of products and services to offer more
to existing customers and address
more of their needs.

Our customer focus

We are a customer-centric organisation,
focused on meeting the needs of all

our customers in every market. We are
able to meet their needs through the
strength of our trusted brand, ensuring
that we offer a market-leading TV
experience and our commitment to
superior customer service.

Scaling adjacent businesses

We create and pursue opportunities
in adjacent sectors such as
advertising, transactional services
and international programme

sales to create and grow additional
revenue streams.

Driving efficiency

We underpin everything we do with a rigorous focus on
operating efficiency. By ensuring that we have an efficient
and agie operating model, we consistently drive down

costs, allowing us to invest more whera customers see

greatest value.

tnvesting in people

We invest in our people because we recognise that their

That's because we know that to build a successful business
over the long term, how we do business is as important

as what we do. We also focus on making a positive impact
on society. We call this seeing the Bigger Picture,

talent and commitment are critical to our success. We aim

to foster a culture which encourages our people to fulfil their
potential and strive for continual improvement in alt that
they do, enabling us all to achieve great things together.

Annual Report 2017
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Our performance

Financial key performance indicators

Adjusted revenue'

£12916m

Description

Adjusted revenue includes reyenie from
Subsarption, Transacticnal, Channel
and Programme salas, Advertising and
Otherrevenue 2076 revenue excludas
the benefit from the 53rd Week ?

Analysis

Adpusted revenue 1s & kev measura of how
the Group 5 delivenng onats strategy to
grow the business In 2017 ravenue graw
by 10%, or 5% on a constant currency basis,
with good growth m both content and
distribution operations

Adjusted operating profit'

£1,468m

Description

Adjusted operating profitis a measure

of the profit generated by the business from
1ts revenues and excludes items that may
distort comparaniity flom year to year

Adjusted EPS'

614p

Description
Adjusted basie EPS 15 the prof.r after tacfor

the year excld.ng adjusting itams and related

tax effects, dvided by the weghted average
aumber of orcknary shares

Analysis

Adusted bas £ EPS provices a measure
JF sharehader return tnat s comparablz
aver bme Adusted basic EPS was lower
year onyear dus tothe reauction
inadjusted aperating orofit

1 Thes s an adjusted measure and a reconciliation between statutory and adjusted measures can be

found on page 141

Analysis

Adjusted operatirg profit 1s a key measue
of the undertying business parformance

1N 2017 adjusted operatirg profit was down
6% This was as aresult of the narease In
Premer League costs (Lp £629 mitton yaar
onyear), cosks Incuried 1o launch Sky Mablle
(F5Treion) and the start-up costs for

our Internationat OTT platform though
substartially offset by our strong

reverwe growth and excellent progress
naparating efficency

2016

63.1p
56.0p

2015

2 Unless otherwise stated all growth rates and comparative amounts are presented on an adjusted
Iike-for-ike basis and on a constant currency basis using cucrant perod exchange rates though

include 53 weeks of trading inthe prior year compared with 52 weeks in the current year andin 2015
The financial resufts of italy and Germany are translated into sterling at a constant currency rate of

€115 £1

12 Sky ple

Programming and operating costs'

Programming costs

Description

Programming costs refate to the
acquisition commissioning and production
af pregramming content Oparating costs
are made up of marketing costs to serve
aur customers and general administration”

Adjusted EBITDA’

£2139m

Description

Adjusted EBITDA 1s a measute of the profit
generated by the pusiness ercluding
Depreciation and Amortisaton costs

For the purpozes of understanaing the
underlying cerformance of the Group,

the measure also excludes tems that

may distort comparability

Operating costs

Analysis

Programming costs increased by £698
milliort 85 we continue to invest onscreen
for customers, Including the £629 milion
increase in the new Premier League deal,
a st ong sthedule of Sky Onginals and

an improved entertainment schedule
Operating costs feli by 5% reffecting

the strong prograss wa made drving
efficiercies through the business

Analysis

Adjusted EBITDA 15 akay measure of
profitability In 2017 adjusted EBITDA
dedreased by 3% on the previous year

Tris was as aresult of the increase n Prermier
Leagus costs (Up £62% milion year on year),
coste incurred ko launch Sky Mobile and

the start-up costs for our International

OTT platform, though substantially offset
by our strong ravenue growth and excellent
prograss m operating eff.cancy



Operational key performance indicators

Retail customers

22.5m

Description

Acustomer is defined as a subseriber

te one of our TV packages or standslone
HOME SOMIMULIICAtIons servicas

Analysis
We added 686,000 new custorners in the
year with good growth n avery market

Connected homes

12.0m

Description

Aconnected home s one that bas
conrected their Skhy box {6 thaintemat ard
therafore has access to Sky's ondernand
sanaces such as Catch Ut TV and Box Sets

Analysis

ve added 11millon connected homes
during the year and we naw have aear
12 reulbon homes cornectad which 15 57%
of all TV customers We ars now Eurcres
largest connacted platforrm in our markats

The Bigger Picture

Social participation

170,264

Description

Qur soaal reach number reapresents
the number of young people who have
participated In our sooal intiatves
across the Group Inthe past 12 months
These initratves are detaled onpage 15

Hote: Sky Foundation s asepararelegal entity
1t3 Board 15 answerable tothe respective
regulatory authonties i Gel many

Qr Our full set of independently
assured key performance indicators
used to measure our sustanability
performance can be found at
skygroup skyfcorporate/
bigger-picture

+0.7m

o 21.8m
- 21.0m

+1.3m

ze 1 O-9m
2015 9.0m

Analysis

We continue to coflect data from

aur young people imitIatives acruss
the Gioup for anoverall social reach
Tz has grown from 15770011 201516
to 170264 10 2016017 This s rrade up
of 198 946 in the Uk and draland, 5580
farour rutiatives i ltal, and 5738

for Shy Foundation in Germany

Total average quarterly reach

102.3m

Description

Viewers watchng at least one Sky-owned
channel fexci Joint Ventures), hoth pay
and fras acrass UK, Germany and Italy

Analysis

Qur reach graw by 4% and we now regularky
achweve over 100 million viewers ead
Guarter across Europe

Total products

59.7m

Description

Total products i1s defined as the total of all
paid-for subsenption products taken by
our custornars across the Sky Group Inthe
UK and Iraland, thus includas TV, HD, UHD,
Mulbiscreen, Sky Go Extra, Broadpand,
Telephany, Mobile and Line Rental i Italy,
thus inciudas TV Multrasion and paying HD
In Germany and Austna, this includes T,
Second Smartcard, Premium HD and
Maobite TV

Analysis

We have almost 60 millon preducts
across the Group having sold an additional
27 milion products in the year The strong
growths aresutt of existing products as
wall as a giowing cortnibution from new
products such as Sky Q Sky Mobile and
the Kids App in the UK, as well as Sky Go
Extrainitaly

Carbon intensity

9.47tCO,e/Em

Description

Carbornteasity, defived as tonnes of

€O, equivalent (RCO ) emissicns relatvs to
roverue 15 one of the key indicators we usa
FO INBASUIE Ol BUVIGHMental p“_ffO(fnﬂﬂCE
Oar total gross LC0.e emissiors include alt
onr Seape tand Scopa 2 locanion-based
Greenhousa 1135 &mrss ons arcss al f

our terrton 25 thesa tolal 12226700 =

Frr 2016717 compared 1 12385470 &

foor 200516

+4%
206 9 8 .7m
2015 92.0 m

+2.7m

208 57.1 m
o 53.8m

Analysis

Cur carbon intensity has tdecreased
1N 2016/17 a5 a rasult of cur contimued
Investment in energy efficency ard
renenabie energy We cortirue te
repct 3Cross S tarntones and in

aur arlne Bigger Picture serformance
update wa havse cornparsd our Group
ermissiors performancs aganst
ascience-hased benchmark
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Seeing The Bigger Picture

Using our voice to inspire, create
and act onissues our customers
and our people care about.

What we do goes beyond business

At Sky, wee at the heart of miliens of lives, in millions of homes This gives
us a platform to affect real change What we choose to do with this platform
says everything about who we are That's why we aim for something better.
That's why we're using our voice to inspire, create and act.

We are inspiring more people to participate in sport, at any level, creating
new cpportunities for young pecple to express themselves through
storyteling: and taking positive action on majorissues, and driving change.
This is underpinned by our strong responsible business commitments.

All of this is bullt on a desire to make a difference. It’s good for our
customers, our people and for gur business, That's why were guided by
clear values and a clear point of view, leading to meaningful Intiatives
that make a positive impact for today and the next generation

Over the years, we've built a strong track record, becoming the werld's
first carbon neutral media company in 2006, getting over 1.6 milion
people to cycle more regularly; bullding confidence in 500,000 young
people through sports, and saving one billion trees in the Amazon

We're proud of the role we've played, but we want to go further. We will
continue to Inspire a new generation through the power of sports,
invest further in creativity and diversity in our industry and encourage
everyone to join in and support initiatives like Sky Ocean Rescue,

That's why we're focused more than ever an seeing the Bigger Preture

Responsible business

One of the key areas In which we bring our Bigger Picture strategy to ife
Is responsible business This includes our environmental footprint, how we
make our products accessible and ensuring we're an inclusive employer

Positive footprint

We aim to have a positive iImpact on our planet, Two ways we do this are
through maintaining our 10-year record as a carbon neutral business and
by using our voice to inspire people to take action to protect our planet
thraugh long-term insttatives such as Sky Qcean Rescue. Cur long-term
ambition 1s to become a zero-carbon busihess,

Sky Ocean Rescue
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As a Sky Group we began reporting on our environmental performance

In 2014115, Qver the years we have reduced our carbon intensity by 8.50%
from 10.35tC0,e In 2015716 to 9.47tCOq¢e in 2016/17, tn the UK and Ireland,
we have been reporting en our environmental performance since 2008/09.
We have reduced our emissions, In terms of tCO,e, relative to revenue,

by 47% since our 2008/09 baseline, making significant progress towards
our target to halve emissions by 2020

ACross our sites we've continued to focus on the investment in renewable
energy and the energy effiaency of our buldings, Including the installation
of solar energy and combined heat and power (CCHP) plants.

We've also extended our renewable energy approach to cur supplers.
Collaboration with our long-standing partner Zinwell resulted in the
instaltation of large scale solar energy infrastructure on ther Chinese site.
We will continue to work with our partners on energy saving and renewable
energy production, alongside reduang energy usage in the manufactuning
and operation of our products.

We encourage customers to return thair products to us at the end of their
use and we ensure that these are all reused or recycled.

Responsible sourcing and human rights

Our business relies on strong partnerships with thousands of suppliers and
distnbutors Our responsible sourang principles set out the high ethical,
emaronmental and social standards for suppliers and therr supply chains
All suppliers we spend over £100,000 with have anisk assessment, and

we work with suppliers that we deem high nsk to help improve standards

Over the year we have significantly Increased our audit coverage with

tier 1 supphers and expanded audits to cur tier 2 suppliers, which include
manufacturers of component parts for Sky products. As part of our am to
collaborate with supphers and other buyers, we have joined the Electronics
Industry Citizenship Coalition and Tech UK Through these groups we share
information and collaborate on responsible scuraing Issues such as working
hours and employee wellbeing.

Sky respects the nights of everyone we impact through our activities
and business relationships including our own people, those in our supply
chain and our customers. We masntain policies which clearly set out our
expectations for upholding hurman rights, We have again conducted

our annual human rnights risk assessment across our own oparations

and supply chains, This has helped us to rdentify focus areas which can

be seen in our Modern Slavery Statement for 2017, along with polcies.

%), See our policies and Modern Slavery Statement at

skygroup.skyfcorporate/bigger-picture

Best experience for all customers

We are proud of what we do to make the Sky expenence safe and accessible
for everyone, including families and our customers with disabilities To help
make Sky the safest place for families to enjoy content, our Sky Broadband
Shield 1s now automatically switched an for all customers We also launched
Sky Talk Sheeld, our personalised call-screening service which allows
customers to block the calls they don't want ta receive

We continue to make the Sky experience more accessible so that everyone
can enjoy the same great Sky experience regardless of their disabilities
For example, this year we Jaunched subtitles on our on demand content
for Sky Q, Sky*HD and NOW TV

Data protection

We have strong data pretection governance and continue to invest

in iIndustry-leading security methods As part of our data governance
programme, we are bullding privacy principles into key prejects and
activibes from the start, so that data protection is addressed at the
design phase. This extends to how we work with our supplers, partners
and employees, so we all work together to protect personal data



Inclusion

It's our pecple that make Sky Europe’s leading entertainment company and
we know that embracing different perspectives fosters innovation., Having
diverse voices contributes to the decisions we take as a business and helps
us better anticpate and meet the needs of all our customers.

Our ambition is to become the industry leader for inciusion, both on screen
and behind the scenes, To help us achieve this we are focused on Increasing
the representation of people from BAME (Black, Asian, and minority ethnic)
backgrounds in our business and remain committed to achieving gender
parity. We have put in place a range of initiatives to achieve this ambition
and theyTe already making a difference, For example, we have increased
the number of women in the top 400 positions from 32% to 39%

We are also actively supporting women to develop skills in traditionally
under-represented areas, with intiatives such as ‘Get into Tech’

We support the aims of the new UK legislation requinng crganisations
to publish their gender pay gap and are committed to equal pay
\We will publish our findings in due course

%) - You can find out more on the diversity of our workforce at
skygroup.sky/cerporate/bigger-picture

inspiring the next generation

Inspiring the next generation in sport

This year we celebrated the achievement of one of cur longest-running
partnerships, Sky Sports Living for Sport, Working with the Youth Sport
Trust, over half a million young pecple have taken part in this programme
over 14 years The free imtiative uses sports projects to Inspire young
people and teach them skills such as teamwork ta help boost their
confidence, Delivered by a team of 135 world-class Athlete Mentors and
supported by our Ambassadors, such as Thierry Henry, they have made
10,000 school wisits to around a third of state secondary schools across the
UK and Ireland This was the final year of Sky Sports Living for Sport and our
thanks go out to everyone involved in making this initiative a great success.

We're also helping some of the most promising young athletes from the

UX and Ireland to Fulfil thewr potential through our Sky Sports Scholarships,
with 6 of our 11 athletes making it to the Olympics and Paralympics.

These athletes include 2017 World Champion Short Track Speed Skater,
Elise Christie, 2014 Commenwealth Middleweight Boxing Champion,
Savannah Marshall; Olympic Silver medalist, Siobhan-Marie O'Conner

and Mark English, a talented BOG-metre runner who won siiver in the
European Indoor Championships Well done to all our scholars,

Sky Racing Team VR46 was born from the close collaboration between
Sky and Valentino Ross), to identify and fast-track the young talent

of Italian matoreycling and help the next generation of champions
kick-start their dreams

Championing the next generation to be the best

they can be, to create the stories of tomorrow

Since apening In 2012 more than 85,000 young people have visited Sky
Academy Studios in London and Livingston to create their own news
report. In November, we also launched Sky Academy Studios at our ltalian
headquarters in Milan and since then 5,570 young people have come
through the doors.

We have supported the chanty MAMA Youth since 2011, helping young
pecple from under-represented groups to get into the media industry.
MAMA Youth provides 12-week intensive training courses giving participants
hands-on training and real-world experience by working on the Sky 1show,
What's Up The young people gain experience as researchers, camera
operators and video editors, followed by a paid placement in the creative
industry. This year MAMA Youth took up residency on site at Sky

in Osterley, with even more access to our production studios and the

skills and expertise that Sky has to offer.

Campaigning for action on important issues

that affect the next generaticn

We want to use our voice to make a difference on 1ssues that our customers
and people care about, so this year we launched Sky Ocean Rescue, a
group-wide campalgn to save our oceans We are shining a spotlight on the
issues of ocean health, In particular on pollution caused by single-use plastics
andinspiring millons of people across Europe to take positive action to save
aur oceans

The campaigh kicked off with a Sky News documentary called A Plastic Tide.
The programme brings to hfe the dire state of the oceans as aresult of the

B millien tonnes of plastic that end up In the sea every year. With special news
programmes and socal media campaigning, we've already reached over 100
millon people and 5 million people have actively engaged with the campaign
Inside Sky we're looking at everything we do that impacts the oceans

We've made a good start by removing all plastic water bottles, plastic cups
and straws from our sites across Europe. This Is a long-term campaign for

us and well continue to make changes to reduce our Impact, Including our
product packaging.

%) - Find out about Sky Ocean Rescue at
skyoceanrescue.com

%) . Find cut more about how we're Inspiring the next generatior: n our
Bigger Picture Performance update at skygroup.sky/corporate/bigger-picture

Sky Academy Studios
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UK and Ireland

Sky in the UK and Ireland has built
on its position as a world leader
in customer-led entertainment
and communications

12.7m 4%

customers revenue growth

42m

products

Guerrilla

1 Thisis an adjusted measure and a reconcihation between
statutery and adjusted measures can be found on page 141
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We achieved another positive performance in the UK and Ireland this year
As Sky's largest and most profitable business, our results were driven by
ourwell established customer-centric strategy for growth and our powerful
consumer brand. Qur total customer base rose te 12.7 million, having added
280,000 new customers in the course of the year.

Continued strong demand for our products and services was reflected by
the additien of 16 millien new paid-for products. UK revenues increased by
4% to £8.6 million', with UK EBITDA of £1,743 million' and an operating profit
of £1,292 miflion'.

Innovation

We are the leachng innovator in our space, driving innovation at scale for our
customers, enabling them to get even greater value from Sky We idenufy
the most important trends'in technology and changes in consumer
behaviour and create products and services for customers in these
emerging areas.

With the launch of Sky Mobile, we brought something entirely different to
the UK mobile market. For the first time ever, mobile phone cwners were
given the opportunity to rolt over thair unused data allowance for up to
three years, 1o be redeemed whenever they like, while also having the
Flexibility to change their plan every month. Additionally, Sky TV customers
were offered even greater value with both free UK calls and texts with any
Sky Mabile plan, plus the ability to sync Sky+ recordings to therr phones.

Erthancements to our Sky Q platform, which 15 already In over one million
hemes, meant that we have continued to lead the way in improving the
customer viewing experience. Voice search, ‘find my remote’ and the ability
to pause and carry on from TV to tablet around the house, 1s changing

the way people watch and interact with their TV We added to the widest
range of Ultra HD programming availlable, from drama, movies and sport.
The launch of Box Sets within Sky Store helped drive an increase of 15%

In transactienal business this year,

Joshua v Klitschko



My Sky App

We launched the industry’s first contract-free triple-play proposition
with the NOW TV combe In addition to cur new NOW TV Smart Box,
we Intreduced live pause and rewind functionality, plus a wide range
of live and on demand free and pay TV

We also centinued to make good progress with our Sky Media business,
particularly through our targeted advertising platform Sky AdSmart.

This year we signed up Viacom, Channel 5 became the first PSB to use

the service, and we launched Sky AdSmart in Ireland, al! of which helped
our advertising business to outperform the market. We entered a targeted
advertising partnership with Virgin Media in the UK, which launches

next year.

Content

Much of our success can be attributed to an exceptional year on screen.
In 2017, we increased the depth of programming across our portfolio,
most notably In onginal content, but alsc through securing important
long-term rights renewats with major networks,

In entertainment, we brought outstanding writing, directsng and acting
talent to Sky Ih terms of new original proeductions, the critically acclaimed
Guernlla came to screen in the UK along with Jamestown and Fortitude 2.
Rivierawas another highlight, becoming the biggest drama premiere of the
calendar year with almost 12 milion downloads so far We also announced
the commissioning of new series’ of A League of Their Own, Stan Lee's Lucky
Man, and Delicious, demonstrating the growsng maturity of our portfoho.

Sky Atlantic has continued to build on its position as the destination for
the world's best storytelling, with the latest seres of Game of Thrones
from HBO, joining Showtime’s Biffions and the return of Twin Peaksin
generating record audiences

In movies, it was a great year, Sky Oinema had a record seven million
downloads over the Chiristmas week with customers downloading 500
milllon mavies throughout the year The partnership deals we have with
all of the biggest studios In the world ensures our customers continue
to enjoy the latest premieres and most loved classics.

In sport, we also won a number of new sports rights Including the Inaugural
season of the UEFA Nations League, UEFA European Under-21 Championships
and domestic women's cricket and netbali in the UK. We agreed a new
five-year partnership with the England and Wales Cricket Board, including
the live nghts to international and county cricket We are broadcasting
every race from the next two seasons of F1 on our dedicated Fi channel
and Sky Sports will be the only place showing live Formula 1 from 2019,

We also launched a new sports channel, Sky Sports Mix, which has

been viewed by over 11 milion people and shown 40 different sports

Customers

We believe our industry-leading customer service gives us a competitive
advantage, This year Sky was once again recognised by the industry
regulator, Ofcom, as topping the customer satisfaction scores of any
provider across TV, broadband and phone We are focused onincreasing
our leadership in this area and have revitalised our My Sky app - a key step
In our journey to digital-first customer interaction and management. Now
with almost two millon downloads, the customer response has exceeded
expectations We will launch a new loyalty programme in the UK, Sky VIP,
which will deliver tangible results for both customers and the business

in the coming year

Bigger Picture

As part of our commitment to responsible busmess, we're minimising our
environmental impact, achieving a 5 5% reduction in carbon intensity in
the UK. We also wan the EU Code of Conduct award for energy efficiency
In data centres and maintained our industry-leadership position with
our data centres being 65% more efficient than the iIndustry average.

Our Sky Academy Studios welcomed 19,344 young people through the
dooers this year and we celebrated our 14-year Sky Sports Living for
Sport initiative, with half a million young people having taken part
since Its inception

Jamestown
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Germany and Austria

This was a year of broadening the
Sky offer in Germany and Austria to
appeal to a wider range of customers.

9%

revenue growth

5m

customers

8.8m

products
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Sky In Germany and Austria has successfully developed a broader content
offering including the launch of Sky 1, the Sky Arts channel and an eagerly
anticipated slate of Sky original drama, including Babylor: Berlfin, coming later
this year We maintained our profitability for the second year in succession
while preserving our investment in content and innovation, which ts drving
our appeal to an increasingly broad customer base.

For the first time, we achieved an eperating profit in the region by the end
of Q3 Revenue increased by 9% to £1,858 mithon', driven by strong growth
in eustomers and our highest ever level of advertising revenues Despite
further investment in programming and marketing, EBITDA increased to
£142 million' up 54%, and operating profit increased by 9C0% to £40 million.

Innovation

In a big year for product launches, our strategic deployment of innovative
new technology has increased Sky's reach and appeal.

The intreduction of new products are opening up new opportunities for us
For example, the Sky+ Pro, which 1s now in over 460,000 homes, 15 the most
advanced set-top box launched In the region Qurleadership ininnovation
also received global recognition, with the Sky*+ Pro box recenang a Red Dot
Design Award for outstanding product design

As the leader In on demand, we have increased the appeal of Sky to
important new audiences - particularly females and young, urban
professionals, Customers are increasingly seeking to access our content
whenever and however they want, Sky Store launched in June and

Sky Ticket, for which the sale of passes doubled dunng the secend half
of the year, are proving that customers want great content and are willing
to pay for it

This 1s an adjusted measure and a
reconciiation betwean statutory
and adjusted measures can be

MasterChef found on page 141



Content

Our expanding range of content IS increasing our appeal to a broader
audience than ever. With the securing and renewal of major long-term rights
deals, and our slate of original content, Sky In Germany and Austria 15 now
recognised for more than just sport.

In entertainment, we launched Sky 1in November, which became our most
watched entertainment channel after just seven months, attracting 2.73
million viewers Coupled with our content targeted toward cther customer
segments, such as Sky Arts, our content mix Is also serving to attract new
talent and shows to Sky In Germany and Austna

The huge populanty of our established shows continues to drive on-screen
success. The sixth senes of Game of Thrones was the most popular series
on Sky Atlantic HD And new shows, such as the first series of Westworld,
achieved record audiences, with 4.8 miliion viewers, reaching 70% of the
audience of Game of Thrones.

We also continued to invest in highly popular criginal shows The first
season of our local version of MasterChef drew a record 2 37 million views,
becoming one of the most popular shows on Sky 1, Sky Onginals are
increasing in scale, enabling us to offfer differentiated content in terms of
range, quality and exclusivity, This year saw production finish on Babylon
Berlin, one of the most ambitious nen-English language series ever made
The cnme drama, produced In partnership with ADR, Germany's biggest
public broadcaster, will air n Germany in October, Along with this, viewers
can look forward to Das Boot, Acht Tage and the second senes of the locaf
production of A League of Their OQwn.

In movies, we launched the Sky Cinema Family channel in September,
offering movies far the whole family, from dlassics to recently released
blackbusters. In additian te inear viewng, the channel 1s also accessible
on demand, through Sky Go and Sky On Demand and is achieving record
viewing figures acrass ali platforms. Additionally, our special programming
formats continued to draw viewers with our pop-up channeis like

Sky Ctnema Bourne HD and Sky Cinema Star Wars, reaching millions

of customers.

In sport, we secured nights to the UEFA Champions League across all
distribution channels with DAZN as sub-licensee. This is the first time

the competition will be broadcast exclusively on pay TV and with the
Bundesliga, the EHF Champions League, Formula 1, the handball Bundesliga,
ATP Tenmis and the European and US PGA tours, our customers are assured
of the world’s best in sports Added to this, Sky Sports News HD launched
on free-to-ar TV in December and our new sports portal, skysport de
launched at the beginning of July

Handball Champions League

Sky Feundation

Customers

As i all our ternitories, we know that our success comes from giving viewers
the best expenence Sky continues te invest In market-leading platforms,
like Sky Go which allows access to Sky's content whenever and wherever
they ¢choose, Sky Ticket was also rolled out to even more devices and
platforms which, In addition to the launch of Sky Store in Germany, ensures
the changing viewing habits of our customers are met,

Our customers are also benefiting from Sky sharng best practice across
the Group By building on the models inthe UK and Italy, Sky's custemers In
Germany and Austria are seeing their calls to our contact centres handled
with ever-increasing speead.

Bigger Picture

Having carefully considered product recycling in the design of our new
set-top hox, we've refurbished and returned 91% of all set top boxes to
market We launched Sky Ocean Rescue wath the release of Dead Seg

- Art for the Seas on Sky Arts, where artists explored the theme of
ocean pollution.

More than 3,731 young people took part in opportunities through our Sky
Foundation, joining year-round sports programmes including swmimming,
foatball and vanous cther sports. One of these programmes 1s SportZeit,
which brings together senior atizen volunteers with children from broad
soaal backgrounds. After a successful test phase at eight schools across
Germany this year we began to roll out SportZeit in 20 more schools
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Italy

We have successfully grown our
customer base in Italy and operating
profits have reached their highest
level for five years by improving the TV
experience for customers, broadening
our revenue growth and leveraging
our multi-platform strategy.

A%

revenue growth

4.8m

customers

Om

products
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With an emphasis on investing for the future, our focus was very much
on reinforaing our offer in Italy. In a rapictly changing environment, with
asolid reputation for the quality and choice of content and technology,
our customers showed a growing loyalty to the business

We recorded our fastest rate of revenue growth for eight years with
operating profits of £136 millon' Revenues increased by 4% to £2,458
million', reflecting our larger customer base and solid growth in advertising
revenues, partly due to a strong perfarmance of our free-to-air channels
(FTA). EBITDA increased to £254 million', an increase of 20%

fnnovation

This year saw us extend cur customer reach with a number of new product
launches in italy, many of which are unigue In the territory With thelaunch
of Sky Go Extra, we were the first in Italy to offer the ability to download
and play a wide range of movies, shows and TV senies to watch wherever
and whenever customers want. Since 1ts launch in Q2, Sky Go Extra has
attracted 400,000 customers.,

We also launched a new EPG homepage on the My Sky set-top box,
making It easier for our customers to find the shows they love And with
the addition of HD content to the Sky On Demand service, which saw
a21% growth In use this year, our customers n ltaly have been able to
get even more value from their relationship with Sky.

Sky Kids App

1 Tmsis an adusted measure and arecencihation
between statutory and adjusted measures can be

The Young Pope found an page 141



Gianluca Vialli and Diletta Leotta for Sky Extra

We launched Sky Kids App, offering children the widest range of TV
programmaes, featuring thousands of episcdes of the most popular shows.
To create the best possible experience, hundreds of children and their
parents were involved in its development, resutting in an app that kids
love, supperted by safety features that parents need.

The continued evolution of our digital platforms this year has seen Sky
Sports become the second most popular sports website In the country,
with the new Sky Sports app reaching 966,000 downloads since launch
Q% NOW TV alse extended its reach, landing on smartphones and media
streaming devices, offering HD and a mobile only proposition targeting
younger customers.

Content

We have had an excellent year on screen in Italy The growing scale and
ambition of our own original TV programmes, alongside the continued
success of our acquired gontent, 1s a major strength of our offer.

In entertainment, Sky's original productions are now a major exporter of
Itallan culture and creativity, Gomarrah, with 1ts third series in production,
has been sold to 190 countries, with the politicat drama sernies 1992and its
sequel, 7993, which alred this year, now also showing in over 100 countries.

The tenth senes of the X Factor generated its highest-ever viewing figures
and MasterChef achieved average audiences exceeding 2.5 million for

each episode Also setting record viewing figures, our critically accaimed
Sky Original drama, The Young Pope, became our most successful first series
in Italy, with average audiences of 14 million,

in movies, we relaunched Sky Cinema In November with a new premiere
available every day, which has driven an increase in viewing of 2% year on
year, We have deepened our relationships with domestic producers through
Vision Distribution, a company set up with five of Italy’s top independent
preducers and along with the partnerships we enjoy with the major
Hollywooed studios, our customers have access to an unrivalled library

of mowvies,

In sport, we continued to generate record motorsports viewing figures,
with F1and the MotoGP series prowving even mare popular than ever
This further enhanced Sky's position as a leading sports service in italy
and sits alongside NBA basketball, both men’s and women’s Eurobasket
championships and the recently won rights to the UEFA Europa League
and UEFA Champions League on offer to our customers

NBA Finals

Customers

We want our customers to have the very best experience with Sky and we
continued to improve the quality of our service, offering aur customers
more flexibility in how they can interact with us We now receive over
820,000 wisits per week to our onling help and account management sites
and this has led to a 5 4% reduction in calls year on year, Alongside this, our
customers in [taly were the first to benefit from rewards for therr loyalty,
and subscnbers to the loyalty programme now exceed two million,

Bigger Picture

Our new bullding in Milan has been awarded the Leadership in Energy and
Environmental Design (LEED) Gold standard As part of this, we invested
in on-site renewables including a combined cooling, heating and power
generation system which is a highly efficient way of producing electrnaity
and heat simultaneously.

Sky Academy Studios, which teaches young peopte to make a news
programme, launched in the auturmn and welcomed its first 5,500
students Young people have had fantastic opportunities to interact
with Inspirational Sky Academy Ambassadors including footballer
Alessandre Del Piero, along with the hosts of popular programmes
including MasterChefand X Factor, We have alse continued our focus
on media iteracy for young people, piloting a successful new project
called Uttima Qra with our news channel Sky TG24
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Financial review

We have achieved our fifth consecutive
year of revenue growth at or above 5%,
and delivered a good set of results in
an investment year.

Group financial performance

Unless otherwise stated, all numbers are presented on an adjusted basis
for the year ended 30 June 2017 For comparative amounts in the prior year
down to operating profit, numbers are translated at a constant currency
rate of €116 E1 being the average exchange rate prevalling in the twelve
months to 30 June 2017 while revenue also excludes the benefit from

the 53rd weekn the prior year.

Adjusted results exclude items which may distort comparability (n order to
provide a measure of underlying performance, Such items anse from events
or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the Group but
which management believes should be separately identified to help explain
underlying performance Further details of the adjusting items iImpacting
the Group can be found in nete 7 to the conselidated financial statements
Areconciliation of the Group's statutory and adjusted cansolidated incorme
statement can be found in the Non-GAAP measures section of the

Andrew Griffith X conselidated financial statements on page 141,
Group Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer Revenue

Group revenugs grew by mare than £1 billlon to £12,916 million (2016: £11,791
millon at actual exchange rates) with growth in each terntory andin each
category {growth of £599 million excluding currency Impact), UK and ireland
revenue was up 4%, or £345 millon, te £8,600 million (2016: £8,255 million)
driven by a higher customer base, increased product take-up including

Sky Fibre, Sky @ and Sky Mobile and the impact of pncing taken in the year.
This was despite weakness in the UK advertising market which we astimate
was down 4% for the year as a whole, induding a peak of 8% lower In the
third quarter Revenue in Germany grew 9%, or £150 mellion, to £1,858 million
(2016° £1,708 millon) behind good customer and product growth and a
strong increase in advertising In Italy, reveniue increased by 4%, or £104
million, to £2,458 millon {2016: £2,354 million) reflecting higher average
customers, more product penetration and increased advertising from

our free-to-air channels and On Demand content

An analysis of revenue by category for each terntory for the current and
prior year is provided i note 2 to the consahdated financial statements.

Costs

Total costs grew by 5%, significantly impacted by the one-time step up

In the new three year Premier League contract as well as costs incurred
to launch Sky Mobile and the costs of rolling out Sky Q and Sky* Pro to
customers in the UK and Germany This was partiaily offset by continued
excellent progress In operating efficiency

We continue to invest on screen for customers, with programming costs up
by £698 milhon. This includes the £629 millon increase in the new Premier
League deal and seasonal sports events such as the biennial Ryder Cup
which we exclusively broadcast in each market and the guadrennial British
and Insh Lions tour in the UK. In addition, we continued to invest more 1n
Entertainment content with our best ever year of Sky Originals combined
with a greater volume of acquired series from providers such as HBQ

and Showtime.
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12monthsto  12monthsto
£m 30 Jun17 30 Jun6
Constant
currency

Adjusted Results
Revenue 12916 12,317
EBITDA 2139 2214
QOperating Profit 1468 1565
Actual
exchange
rates

Statutory Results
Revenue 12,916 11,8965
Operating Profit 964 977

EPS (Basic)

Adjusted ¢pence) 61.4 531
Statutory (pence) 40.6 39.0

Direct network costsincreased by 3%, below the rate of home
communications revenue growth, as we continued to grow the volume
of broadband customers and increased fibre penetration to 27% of
customer househoids.

Sales, general and administrative costs were down by £209 milion or
5%, whilst reducing by 300 basis points as a percentage of revenue.
This reflects the strong progress we have made driving operating
efficiency through the business. In the year, we reduced cost through
Increased set-top box reliability and repair, deflected 26 million calls
to digital channels, reduced more than 10% of non-customer facing
roles in the UK as well as the benefit of capitalising rather than fully
expensing Sky Q box costs.

We achieved our original run rate synergy target of £200 million six
months early In December 2016 Since then we have continued to make
good progress towards our £400 mithon synergy target by the end of
2020, completing a numtbeer of projects dunng the year.

An analysis of costs by category for each terntory for the current and

prior year is provided in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

British & Irish Lions Tour 2017
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Financial review - continued

Profit and earnings

Operating profit was down 6% to £1,468 million (2016: £1,565 milicn
including a benefit from a 53rd week), This was as a result of theuncrease
in Premier League costs and investment in Sky Mobile (E51 mition), though
substantally offset by our strong revenue growth and excellent progress
in operating efficiency. Profits in italy, and Germany and Austria were up
£79 million {+139%) and £36 million (+300%) respactively

Adjusting for deprecation and amortisation of £671 milllon, EBITDA was
E2139 milhon (2016. £2,214 million)

Tax was £54 million lower at £215 million {2016 £269 million), at an effective
" tax rate of 17% (2016: 20%) as we benefited from a reduction in the

corporation tax rate In the UK to 19% and from a lower tax rate on the

profits from our patented technology We expect the effective tax rate

far the current fiscal year to be 18% subject to a number of facteors

Profit after tax was £1,050 million (2016: £1,077 million}, resulting in earnings
per share of 61.4 pence (2016 631 pence) The weighted average number

of shares, excluding those held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan
(ESOP) for the settlement of employee share awards, was 1,710 mitlion
{2018 1,707 milhon)

Adam Boulton presents Sky News’ Election programme

Statutory revenue, profit and adjustingitems

Statutory revenue for the year of £12,816 milion was up 8% from pnor
year (2016:; £11,965 million), which included the benefit of a 53rd week
in the prior year

Statutory operating profit for the year of £964 millon (2016: £977 million)
15 after the deduction of operating expenses of £504 million (2016 £581
millien) principally comprising the ongeing amertisation of acquired
intangibles of £258 million (2016, £343 million), the costs of integrating
Sky [taha and Sky Deutschland, the costs of corparate efficiency and
restructunng programmes, as well as share-based paymants and adwisory
costs associated with the 21st Century Fox offer.

Net debt and financial position

Net debt as at 30 June 2017 was £6.2 biflicn (30 June 2016: £6.2 billion), held
flat despite adverse non-cash movements of £379 mitlion predominantly on
the retranslation of Euro-denominated debt into sterling at an exchange
rate of €114 (30 June 2016: €1 20). Our net debt to EBITDA ratio remains
flatat29times

The Group continues to maintain a strong financial position and has ample
headroom to I1ts financial covenants, including excellent liquidity with cash
of £2.5 bilhon as at 30 tune 2017, and access to a £1 billion Revolving Credit
Facility which remained wholly undrawn throughout the period The Group
expects to redeem from existing cash resources bonds falling due bath

n October 2017 (£400 milhon) and February 2018 (£387 million) and
thereafter we have a well spread portfolic of debt maturities, with an
average maturity of six years.

Asat Cash  Non-cash As at 30

1July 2016 movements movements  June 2017

£m Em £m Em

Current borrowings 31 23) 966 974

Non-current borrowings 8,901 - (694) 8,207
Borrowings-related dervative financial Instruments (577) - 107 (470)

Gross debt 8,355 (23) 379 B.711
Cash and cash equivalents (2137) (63 - (2,200}
Short-term deposits - (300 - (300)

Net debt 6,218 {386) 379 6.211
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Balance sheet

Duning the year, total assets increased by £1,028 milicn to £18,438 milion
at 30 June 2017

Non-current assets increased by £396 million to £13,104 milion, primaniy
due to an increase of £217 millien In goodwll due to foreign exchange
movements on Euro-denominated balances and an increase of £486 million
inintangible assets and property, plant and equipment primarily due

to continued capital iInvestment, offset by a decrease of £375 million

n dervative financial assets largely due to the reset of the USD hedge
book in the LK,

Current assets increased by £632 million to £5,334 millien at 3¢ June 2017,
principally due to a £363 milllon increase in cash and cash equivalents,

a £126 milllon increase 1n trade and other recevables and a £123 million
increase in iInventones.

Total habilities increased by £622 million to £14,591 million at 30 June 2017

Current liabilities increased by £1,224 million to £5,55C million, primanly
due to a £943 millon increase mn current borrowings following the
reclassification of non-current borrowings in ing with bond maturities
and a £401 milhon increase in trade and other payables as a result of the
timing of the year end close

Non-current kabilities decreased by £602 million to £9,041 million,
principally due to a £694 millon decrease in the Group's non-current
borrowings following the movement to current borrowings In the year,
offset by non-cash movements on retranslation of Euro- and US Dollar-
denominated debt into sterhng.

Distributions to Shareholders

©On 15 December 2016, the Board of 21st Century Fox and the Independent
Committee of the Board of Sky announced that they had reached
agreement on the terms of a recommended pre-conditional cash offer by
21st Century Fox for the fully diluted share capital of Sky which 21st Century
Fox and its affilates do not already own (the ‘Offer’ or the 2ist Century Fox
QOffer’), The Offer, which 1S intended to be effected by a scheme of
arrangement (the ‘Scheme’),1s subject to the satisfaction or waiver

of certain pre-conditions, principally being regulatory clearances.

Review of the Offer on public interest grounds by the UK Secretary
of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport is ongoing. Regulatory
clearances from all other relevant authorities have now been received

Under the terms of the Offer, Sky has agreed that it will not pay any
dividends during the calendar year 2017 However, should the Scheme
not become effective on or before 31 December 2017 shareholders
will be entitled to receve a special dvidend of 10 pence per Sky share,
payabie in 2018,

For full disclosure on the iImpact of the Offer on dividends, please refer
to the Recommended Cash Offer announcement released on 15 December
2016 (found at www skygroup.sky/corparate/investors)

Westworld
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board has overall responsibility for determining the nature and extent
of the principal nisks it 1s willing to take to achieve its strategic objectives, as
well as establishing and maintaining the Group’s systems of internal control
and risk management and reviewing the effectiveness of those systems,

Additional information on the Group's internal control and risk management
processes 1s set out in the Corporate Governance Report and in the Audit
Committee Report.

For more on the Corporate Governance Report see
pages 38tod9

The Group has a formal risk management framework embedded within the
business to support the identification and effective management of risk
across the Group The divisions within the Group are each responsible for
managing and reporting risk In accordance with the Group’s risk management
policy and standards that have been approved by the Audit Committee.

The risks are then consol:dated Into a Group risk register which provides
an overview of the Group risk profile

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a robust assessment of
the Group's principal nsks, including those that would threaten its business
modet, future performance, solvency or iquidity, and their mitigation

The Group nsk register is reported to the Audit Committee typically
twice a year.

Detailed controls and any relevant action plans are monitored by the
Group Risk team on an ongoing basis.

There I1s an ongoing monitoring process which is operated by the Group Risk
team and supported by senior management across the Group, toidentify
and report to the Audit Committee on significant changes or new risks.

The outcome of |last year's UK referendum continues to cause uncertainty
in both the political and economic environments in which we operate.
Although the large majority of our revenue is from subscriptions, we are
ot immune from the iImpact of any economic uncertainty. We do, however,
believe that our business mode! means that we are comparatively welt-
placed to manage the consequences of the result and of its effect on

the economic envirenment. Qur operations are conducted mainly on a
ternitorial basis and our business invelves imited movement of goods and
services between the UK and the rest of the EU and, to the extent that

it does, we can adapt our business processes as necessary Like all
companies, we will need to monitor and manage the practical implications
as they ocour Where appropriate we have also outhned in the table below
the impact of the result on cur prinepal risk and uncertainties,

This section describes the current principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group. In additton to summarnsing the matenal nsks and uncertainties,
the table below grves examples of how we mitigate those risks

Description of risk

Mitigation

Market and competition:

The Group operates in a highly competitive environment and faces
competition from a broad range of organisations. Technological developments
also have the abiity to create new forms of quickly evolving competition.

Afailure to develop the Group’s preduct proposition in hne with changing
market dynamics and expectations could erode the Group's competitive
position

Great content s central to Sky's product proposition and increased
competition could impact the Group’s ability to acquire content that

our customers want on commercially attractive terms,

Ecenomic conditions have been challenging in recent years across the
territories in which the Group operates and the outcome of the UK
referendum has caused further economic uncertainty A significant
economic dechne in any of those territories coukd impact the Group's
ability to continue to attract and retain customers in that terntory

The Group contmues to make significant investments in innavation

The Group's product development strategic aim is to be at the forefront,

of progressive technology.

Please see the Innovation’ section on page 8 of the Group Chief Executive's
Statement for further details of these products

The Group regularly reviews its pricing and packaging structures te ensure
that its product proposition is appropriately placed within the market,

The Group works desely with 1ts marketing partners to ensure that the value
of its offering 1s understood and communicated effectively to its customers,
The Group makes significant investment in the ongination of contant as wall
as in acqusition from across the world,

The Group also works to develop and mantain the brand value associated
with its individual channels.

Regulatory breach and change:

The Group’s abikty to operate or compete effactively could be adversely
affected by the outcome of Investigations or by the intreduction of new laws,
pehictes or regulations, changes in the interpretation or apphcation of existing
laws, policies and regulations, or fallure to obtain required regulatory
approvals or licences, Please see page 32 of the ‘Regulatory Matters'

section for further details.

The Group 15 subject to regulation primanly under Austrian, German, Insh,
tahan, UK and European Union legislation.

The regimes which apply to the Group's business inciude, but are not
himited to

Broadcasting - as a provider of audiovisual media services, the Group1s
subject to Austrnian, German, talian and UK icensing regimes under the
applicable broadcasting and communications legislation These obligations
include requirements te comply with relevant codes and directions issued
by the relevant regulatory autharities, Including for exampie, in the UK,
Ofcom's Broadcasting Code, Code on the Scheduling of Television
Advertising and Cross-Promotion Code,

Technical services - as a provider of certain technical services in the UK
and Germany. Sky UX and Sky Deutschiand are subject te regulation in
therr respective countnes, and

The Group manages these nsks through active engagement in the regulatory
processes that affect the Group’s business

The Group actively seeks to identify and meet 1Its regulatory obligations and
to respond to emerging requirements This includes, for example:

« Broadcasting - compliance contrals and processes are in place in the Group's
content services. Interaction with the relevant regulatory authorities is
co-ordinated between the relevant local Compliance, Regulatory and Legal
departments;

Tachnical services - with respect to the provision of certain technical
services in the UK and Germany, processes are in place to monitor third-
party broadcaster access to the relevant broadcast platforms and to ensure
that this is prowided on fair, reasonable and non-discnminatory terms,
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Description of risk

Mitigation

+ Telecommunications - Sky UK s subject to the General Conditions of
Entitlement adopted under the Communications Act 2003 (UK) and the
Conditions for the provision of Electromic Communications Networks and
Services under the Commumications Regulation Act 2002 (Ireland), which
impose detailed requirements on providers of communications networks
and services

The Group 1s alsa subject to generally applicable legislation including, but not
Imited to, competition (antitrusty, anti-bribery, consumer protection, data
protection and taxatien

The Group s currently, and may bein the future, subject to proceedings,
and/ar investigation and enquines from regulatory and antitrust authorities

The telecommuncations and madia regulatory framework applying to the
Group In the UK and the EL may be subject to greater uncertainty in the event
that the UK leaves the EU. Potential changes to the regulatory framework
could include divergence in the long term between the UK and EU regulation
of telecommunications and media, and changes to certain mutual recognition
arrangements for media and broadcasting Sky does not currently foresee any
regulatory changes as a result of a LK exit that would have amaterial impact
on its business.

Please sce page 32 of the 'Regulatory Matters’ section for further detatls.

« Telecommunications - compiiance controls and processes are In place
In the UK and Ireland, overseen by the Customer Compliance Committee,
to monitor comphance and performance against the General Conditions
of Entitlement and the Conditions fer the provision of Electronic
Communications Networks and Services.
The Group maintains appropriate oversight and reporting, supported by
training, te provide assurance that it 1s compliant with regulatery requirements.

The Group will menitor carefully future developments that anse out of
the result of the recent UK referendum and will engage in any relevant
regulatory processes.

Customer servijce:

A significant part of the Group's business 1s based on a subscnption model
and its future success relies on bulding long-term relationships with 1ts
customers Afailure to meet its customers’ expectations with regard to
service could negatively impact the Group’s brand and competitive position.

The Group strives consistently to exceed its customers’ expectations,

to put its customers first, to understand what they want and to be
responsive to what they say

The Group makes significant investments in order to deliver continuous
development and improvermnent to its customer service capabylities, ,ncluding
investment in its contact centres across the UK and Ireland, insourcing

of service centres In Germany and Implementing ongoing training and
development plans.

The Group tracks its customer service performance, benchmarks Its customer
service expenence and strives to be best in class

Technology and business interruption:

The products and serwices that the Group provides to Its customers are
rekant on complex technical infrastructure

A failure in the operation of the Group’s key systems or infrastructure,
such as the broadcast platform, customer management systems, OTT
platforms or the telecommunications netwarks on which the Group relies,
could cause a fallure of service to our customers and negatively impact
our brand,

The Group makes significant investment in technology infrastructure to
ensure that it continues to support the growth of the business and has

a robust selection and monitoring process of third-party providers

The Group 1s committed to achieve best in class business continuity standards
and makes significant investments in the resillence and robustness of

its business infrastructure.

The Group also organises regular scenario-based group-wide business
continuity exercises to ensure ongoing readiness of key staff, systems

and sites

Suppliers:

The Group relies on a number of third parties and outsourced suppliers
operating across the glebe to support its business

A significant failure of a supplier or a discontinuation of supply could
adversely affect the Group's ability to deliver operationally

The Group centinues to invest 1n 1ts supply chain infrastructure to support
Its business plan commitments.

Arobust supplier selection process is in place with appropnate ongoing
management and monitoring of key partners and supplers.

The Group performs regular audits of key supphers and of thewr installations
and, wherever possible, has duat supply capability.

Annuzl Report 2017 29

uvodasdinens



Principal risks and uncertainties - continued

Description of risk

Mitigation

Financial:

The effective management of its financial exposures Is central to preserving
the Group's profitability.

The Group is exposed to financial market risks and may be impacted
negatively by fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates, which
create volatility in the Group's resylts to the extent that they are not
effectively hedged.

Any increase in the financial leverage of the Group may it the Group's
financial flexibiiity.

The Group may also be affected adversely by hquidity and countarparty risks

The Group's finance teams ase embedded within the business to provide
support to management and to ensure accurate financial reporting and
tracking of our business performance Reporting on financial performance
1s provided on a monthly basis to senior management and the Board

The Group continually invests in the iImprovement of its systems and processes
in order to ensure sound financial management and reporting.

The Group has a formal Treasury Policy which 1S reviewed and approved by the
Audit Committee on an annual basis. In addition, the Group CO0 and CFO
marutors the Treasury Policy on an angoing basis to ensure its continuing
appropriateness. The Treasury Policy covers all areas of treasury nsk including
foreign exchange, interest rate, counterparty and liquidity

The Group manages treasury risk by mimmising risk to capital and uses
appropriate hedging instruments and strategies to provide protection
aganst adverse foreign exchange and interest rate movements.

Trading transactional currency risk s hedged up to five yaars in advance.
Interest rate sk protection is In place using iInterest rate swaps and an
appropriate currency mix of debt 1s maintaned UsINg Cross-currency swaps

Cash investment 15 made in ine with the Treasury Policy which sets imits

on deposits based on counterparty credit ratings No more than 10% of the
Group's cash deposits are held with a single bank counterparty, with the
exception of overnight deposits which are invested in a spread of AAAF-rated
hiquidity funds.

The Group maintains headroom within our banking ecvenants to allow for
unforeseen adverse impacts on our leverage ratio as a result of either
economic dechne or extreme currency movements,

The Group maintains strong liquidity as part of its core strategy, with high
cash balances and a £1 billion fully undrawn revolving credit facility.

The Group manages its tax nsk by ensunng that nsks are identsfted and
undesstood at an early stage and that effective compliance and reperting
processes are in place.

The Group continues to maintain an open and proactive relationship with all
relevant tax authonties, including HM Revenue & Customs, The Group aims
to deal with taxation issues, wherever possible, as they anse in order ta avoid
unhecessary disputes.

Security:

The Group must protect its customer and corporate data and the safety of its
people and infrastructure as well as needing to have in place fraud prevention
and detection measures

The Group is responsible to third-party intellectual property owners for the
security of the content that it distnibutes on various platforms (Sky's own
and third-party platforms).

A significant breach of secunty could impact the Group’s ability to operate
and deliver against its business ohjectves.

The Group takes measures ranging from physical and logical access controls
to encryption, er equivalent technologies, raising employee awareness and
monitoring of key partners to manage its security nsks.

The Group continues to invest In new technological controls and nimproving
broader business process and works closely with law enforcement agencies
and policy makers in order te protect Its assets and to comply with its
contractual obligations to third parties.

Projects:

The Group invests in, and delivers, significant capital expenditure projectsin
order to continually drive the business forward The level of the Group's capital
expenditure has increased as a result of the increased size of the Group’s
business following completion of the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and

Sky italia

The fallure to deliver key projects effectively and efficiently could resultin
significantly increased project costs and impede our abulity to execute our
strategic plans

A common project management methodology 1 used to enable the Group
to manage, monitor and contral its major capital expenditure projects and
strategic programmes Thisindudes detailed reporting and regular reviews
by senior management as well as cross-functional executive steering groups
for major projects.

Third-party partners will, where appropriate, be engaged te pravide support
and expertise in ows large strategic pragrammes, complex initiatives and

for emerging technologres.
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Description of risk

Mitigation

Intellectual property protection:

The Group, in commoh with other service providers, relies on intellectual
property and other proprietary rights, Including in respect of programming
content, which may not be adequately protected under current laws or
which may be subject to unauthorised use.

We maintain an ongoing programme to support appropriate protections of
our intellectual property and other rights This involves both umlateral acticn
and close co-operation with rights licensors and other bodies. This includes,
for example, the use of automated online monitoring tools, the implementation
of on-screen Imprinting of content and steps in support of the Premier
League’'s action to require UKI1SPs to block illegal streams of live PL matches
together with an active programme to protect our intellectual property rights.

People:

People at Sky are critical to the Group's ability to meet the needs of its
customers and achieve its goals as a business.

Fallure to attract or retain suitable employees across the business could
It the Group's ability to deliver its business plan commitments,

Making Sky a great place to work is central to the Group's strategy, The Group
champions diversity and develops talent through a number of activities,
inclucing the Graduate programme, Development Studio, an apprenticeship
scheme and a leadership programme, The Group Invests in the working
environment to make Sky an even more appealing place to work

The Group has well established channels and procedures to recruit and retain
its employees, and to ensure that an adequate number of suitable employees
work within its customer service teams and across all its operations,

Further details on our people is set out in the Employees section of the
Directors’ Report an page 71

Viability statement

in accordance with provision C 2 2 of the UK Corporate Governance Code
2016, the Directors have assessed the viability of the Group over the three
years to 30 June 2020, The assessment has taken account of the current
position of the Group and the potential impact of the pnnaipal risks
detailed on page 28 to 31 of the Annual Report

The Directors believe that an assessment period of three years Is
appropniate based oh management's reasonable expectations of the
position and perfermance of the Company over this peried, taking account
_ ofitsstrategic plans, The Directors’ assessment included a review of the
financial mpact of the most severe principal nisks that could threaten the
viabiiity of the Company The financial impact was tested taking account

of currency downside nsk and the likely effectiveness of the potential
mitigations that management reasonably believes would be avallable to the
Company over this perod, enabling the net financial effect to be calculated.
The Audit Committes reviewed and discussed the process undertaken by
management.

Based on the results of the assessment, the Directors confirm that they
have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue
in operation and meet its labiities as they fall due over the three-year
periad to 30 June 2020

In assessing the prospects of the Company, the Directors noted that such
assessment is subject to a degree of uncertainty that can be expected
toincrease looking cut over time and, accerdingly, that future outcomes
cannot be guaranteed or predicted with certainty

Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its
future development, performance and position are set out in the Strategic
report on pages 2 to 33, The finanaal position of the Group, its cash flows
and liquidity position are descnbed in the Financial review on pages 24 to 27
In addition, notes 1to 29 to the consolidated financial statements include
details of the Group's treasury activities, long-term funding arrangements,
financial Instruments and hedging activities and exposure to finanaal nsk.

As set out abave, the Group has sufficent financial resources which,
together with internally generated cash flows, will continue to provide
sufficient sources of liquidity to fund its current operations, including its
contractual and commercial commitments as set out in note 25 on page
125, its approved capital expenditure and any proposed dividends, and the
Group Is well placed to manage its business nsks successfully, despite the
current economic eutlook.

After making enquiries, the Directors have formed the judgement,
at the time of approving the consolidated finanaial statements,

that there 1s areasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future Forthis reason, the Directors continue to adopt the going
concern basis In prepanng the consolidated financial statements
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Regulatory matters

Below is an overview of the ongoing
investigations and reviews of
regulatory and competition
matters involving the Group.

European Commissicn investigation

0On 13 January 2014, the European Commussion (the ‘EC) opened a formal
antitrust investigation into crass-horder prowssion of pay TV services In

the European Union. The investigation was opened into certain provisiens
relating to terntonal protection In licence agreements between major

US film studios (Twentieth Century Fox, Warner Bros., Sony Pictures, NBC
Universal, Paramount and Disney) and key European pay TV broadcasters
(Sky UK, Canal Plus, Sky Itahia, Sky Deutschland and DTS, operating under
the Canal Plus brand in Spain). On 23 July 2015, the EC adopted a Statement
of Objections, setting out Its preliminary finding that there has been

an infringement of EU Competition law involving Sky UK. Sky UK and

the Studios, have responded to the EC's case, both in written responses
{October 2015} and at an oral heanng (January 2016) Inaddition,
Paramount has proposed commitments which the EC accepted in July 2016,
The EC has not yet reached its final views and the Group is hot yet able to
determme the outcome of the investigation or its financial Impact. However,
should the outcome be adverse to Sky UK, this may have a significant effect
on the financial position or profitability of the Group

Wholesale must-offer (WMQ") obligations

On 15 Novemnber 2015, Ofcom anhounced 1ts deasion to remove wholesale
must-offer obligations which Ofcom had 'mposed on the Group in March
2010 for the channels Sky Sports 1, Sky Sports 2, Sky Sports 1 HD and Sky
Sports 2 HD (the 'WMO Obligations’)

On 13 January 2016, BT filed an appeal against Ofcom's deasion to remove
the WMO candition with the Competition Appeal Tribunal (the ‘CAT’).

On 21 December 2016, the CAT dhsrmssed 87's appeal. On 11 January 2077,

BT applied to the CAT for permission to appeal against the CAT's judgment
to the Court of Appeal. Having been refused permission to appeal by the
CAT, on 16 February 2017 BT sought permissien to appeal from the Court of
Appeal, On 20 June 2017, following a request from BT that it do 5o, the Court
of Appeal dismissed BT's application for permission to appeal, marking

the end of this htigation.
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Ofcom Competition Act investigation into Virgin Media
complaint to Ofcom concerning the ‘collective’ selling
of live UK television rights by the Premier League

In September 2014, Ofcom receved a complaint from Virgin Media ('VM?)
alleging that the arrangements for the ‘collective’ selling of Iive UK telewision
nights by the Premier League ('PL) for matches played by its member clubs
are Ih breach of competition law. On 18 Nevember 2014, Ofcom opened an
investigation under section 25 of the Competition Act 1998 Into how the

PL sells live UK audio-visual media rights for PL football matches Ofcom
decided to close its investigation on 10 August 2016 for reasons of
administrative priarity.

Ofcom investigation into Sky’s compliance with rules
about cancellation and termination arrangements

0On 6 August 2015, Ofcom opened an investigation on whether there are
reasonable grounds for believing that Sky has faled to comply with its
obligations under the Ofcom General Conditions of Entitlement which
require communication providers to ensure that their conditions or
procedures for contract terrmination do not act as a disincentive for
end-users changing their communication providers In September 2016,
Ofcom notified Sky of its provisional determination that there are
reasonable grounds for believing that Sky contravened General Condition
9,3 between 1 May 2015 and 31 July 2015, Sky made representations in
response to Ofcom's provisional determination. Ofcom’s investigation is
continuing, The Group 1s currently unable to determine whether, or to what
extent, Ofcom will find that Sky has failed to comply with its obligations
and 1t 15 not possikle for the Group to cenclude on the financial impact

of the outcome at this stage.

Competition law investigation into 2014 Serie A aucticn

©n 19 April 2016, the Itallan Competition Authonty (the "ICA) made its final
decision in relation to the award of Senie A TV Broadcasting Rights for the
2075-18 seasons. According to the ICA, Lega Nazionale Professionisti Serie A,
1ts advisor Infront Italy Srl, and TV broadcasters Sky italla, Ret Televisive
Italiane S5.p.A. and its subsidiary Mediaset Premium S p A. entered into

an anticompetitive agreement in breach of Art 107 of the Treaty on the
Functioning of the European Union to change the award of TV broadcasting
rights for the 2015-18 seasons Serie A matches.

With respect to Sky ltalia, the ICA concluded that it had played a marginal
and defensive rofe in the infringement in order to obtain the award of at
least one of the two packages that should have been assigned to Sky Italia
based on the tendered offers Moreover, Sky Italia extensively co-operated
with the ICA during the proceedings Accordingly, the ICA imposed a fine
equal to €4 milhon on Sky. On 18 June 2016, Sky Itaba filed an appeal
seeking the annulment of the decision. On 23 December 2016, the Italian
Admirustrative Court {TAR Lazio), upheld Sky Italia’s appeal and annulled
the ICA deaision in 1ts entirety, On 23 March 2017 the ICA filed an appeal
against the TAR decision before the Consiglo di Stato and the case

is still pending.



Secretary of State review of the 21st Century Fox Offer
on public interest grounds

The 21st Century Fox Offer is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain
pre-conditions, principally being regulatory clearances On 16 March 2017,
the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport {the 'Secretary
of State’yissued a European Intervention Notice, confirming her
intervention in the 21st Century Fox Offer on two public Interest grounds

- media plurality and commitment to broadcasting standards Following a
detalled review process, on 20 June 2017, Ofcom and the Competttion and
Markets Authority (the 'CMA’) provided reports to the Secretary of State on
the media publicinterest grounds and jurisdiction, respectively Separately,
Ofcom conducted a review of whether Sky would remain a fit and

proper holder of UK broadcast licences following the completion of the
21st Century Fox Offer and concluded that it would On 29 June 2017 the
Secretary of State announced that she s minded to refer the Offer to the
CMA for an in-depth Phase Il review on the grounds of media plurality only
The Secretary of State opened a consuitation process on this decision and
her consideration of representations recerved remains ongoing Her final
decision on referral is expected in the coming weeks. Regulatory clearances
for the 21st Century Fox Offer from all other relevant authonties have now
been receved

/

The Strategic Report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf
by the Group Chief Executive Officer.

Jeremy Darroch
Group Chief Executive Officer
26 July 2017

Forward-looking statements

This documnent contains certain forward-looking statements with respect
to our financial condition, results of operations and business, and our
strategy. plans and objectives.

These statements include, without limitation, those that express forecast,
expectations and projections, such as forecasts, expectations and
projections with respect to new products and services, the potential for
growth of free-to-air and pay television, fixed-line telephony, broadband
and bandwidth requrements, advertising growth, DTH and OTT customer
growth, On Dernand, NOW TV, Sky Go, Sky Ge Extra, Sky*HD, Sky Q,

Sky Store, Sky Online, IPTV, Sky Mobile, Sky Ticket, Multiscreen and other
services, churn, revenue, profitability and margin growth, cash flow
generation, programming costs, subseriber management and supply
chain costs, administration costs and other costs, marketing expenditure,
capital expenditure programmes and proposals for returring capital

to shareholders.

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such
forward-looking statements are reasonable, these statements (and all
other forward-looking statements contamed In this document) are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties
and other factors, some of which are beyond cur control, are dif ficult

to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed or implied or forecast in the forward-looking statements
These factors include, but are not imited to, those risks that are highlighted
n this document In the section entitled ‘Principal nisks and uncertainties’,
and information on the significant nsks and uncertainties assecated with
our business is described therein

Mo part of this document constitutes, or shall be taken to constitute,

an invitation or inducement to investin the Company or any other entity
and must net be relled upon in any way In connection with any iIrvestment
deasion All forward-looking statements in this document are based on
information known to us on the date hereof. Except as required by law,

we undertake no obligation publicly to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events

or otherwise,
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Key:
Audit Committee
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Carporate Governance
and Nominaticns Commitiee

Committes Chairman
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Sy phe

James Murdoch @4

Chairman BP GN

Appointed: Jarmes became Chairman in April
2015 _having joined the Board in February
2003 James served as Chief Exacutiva
Officer from 2003 te 2007 and as Chairman
from 2007 to 2012.

Skills and experience: fames brings
significant media sector knowledge and
experience through his rala at 21st Century
Fox He was Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Star Group Limited from 2000
t02003, and held Nen-Exacutive Director
roleg at GlaxoSmithKline plc from 2009

to 2012 and Sotheby’s from 2010 to 2012,

External Appointments: James was
appuointed as Chief Executive Officer at 215t
Century Fox in June 2015 He also serves as
3 Member of the Board of News Corporation
and s a Nen-Executive Director of Tesla, inc.
‘Yarkee Global Enterprises, Vice Media, and
amember of the Board of Trustees of the
Ghetto Film School

Chase Carey &3
MNon-Executive Director

ApPointed: January 2013

Skills and experience: Chase has extensive
knowledge and axperience of the international
meda and pay TV sectors He s a former
President and Chief Executive Officer of
DirecTy, where he led the operations and
strategic direction of the DrrecTV Group,
Prior to joining DirecTV, Chase was Co-Chief
Operating Officer of News Corporation
(subsequently renamed 21st Century Fox}
and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Fox Telewision Group.

External Appointments: Chase s Chairman
and Chief Executive of tha Formula t Group
and vice Charrman of 21st Century Fax He was
President, Chief Operating Officer and Deputy
Chairman of 21st Century Fox from 2009 to
2015 and Executve Vice Chairman from July
2015 to Juty 2016°

Jeremy Darrochss)
Group Chief Executive Officer

Appolnted: Jeremy joined Sky as Chief
Financial Officer and Executive Director
1n 2004 and was appainted to his current
role n December 2007

Skills and experience: Jeremy has extensive
experience in the retailing and fast-moving
consumer goods sectors Prior to jeining Sky,
Jeremy was Group Finance Director of DSG
International plc, formerly Dixons Greup plc
Hehas also spent 12 years at Procter &
Gamble in a vanety of roles in the UK and
Europe. Jeremy 15 a former Non-Executive
Director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee of Marks and Spencer Group plc
from 2006 to 2013

External Appointments:(n February 2014,
Jeremy was appointed Non-Executive
Director of Burberry Group pic and serves
as Charman of the Audit Commuttee,
amember of the Nemination Cermmittee
and from 1 July 2017 as Serwor Independent
Director He 1s a Business Member of

the National Centre for Universities

and Business

Tracy Clarke s0)
independant Non-Executive
Director

Appointed: June 2012

Skills and experience: Tracy brings awide
range of operational expenence having

spent the early part of her career n¢arperate
banking, She went ontotake leadership of
corporate affairs, brand and marketing media
relations, humanresources, and latterly, global
complance, all with Standard Chartered Bank
She served as a Non-Executive Director of
Standard Chartered First Bank in Korea from
2005 to 2007 and Non-Executive Diractor of
Eaga ple from 2007 to 20N, where she chaired
the Remuneration Committee

External Appolntmants: Tracy s amember
of the Management Team and a Diracter

of Standard Chartered On10October 2015
shawas appointed Regional Chief Executive
Amencas and Europe Tracy s a trustee of
WORKing for YOUth, 1s a Board member

for England Netball, a co-opted member
onthe CBBC Board, member of thalnstitute
of FinancialServices and a Fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Persennel and
Development

Andrew Griffith us)
Group Chief Operating Officer
and Chief Financaial Officer

Appointed: Andrew was appointed Group
Chief Operating Cfficer inMarch 2016.
Inaddition te his role as Chief Financial Officer
e s responsible for the Group’s overall future
growth plans as well as the Group's advertising
businesses across Europe induding AdSmart.

Skills and experience: Andrew joined the
Company N 1999 from Rothschild, the
investment banking organisation, where he
pravided financial and strategie advice to
corporate dients inthe technology media
and telecemmunications sector Heheld a
number of senior finance roles prior tohis
appointraent as Chief Financia! Officer and
member of the Board in 2008, has a Bachelor
of Law degree from Notungham University
and 1z a qualified chartered accountant.

External Appointments:InMarch 2014,
Andrew was apponted Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director of Just Eatplcand
since April 2017 has been serving as Intenim
Chairman. He alsa Chairs the Audit Committee
and is amember of the Remuneration and
Nominatien Committees Inadditionheisa
Trustee of Riverside Studios n West London,
aregistered chanty

Martin Gilbert &2

Deputy Chairman A N

Appointed: November 201

Skills and experience: Martinhas been
nvalved 1IN the nvestment management
industry since 1982 and has extensive
investment, finance and executive
leadership experience through his rola

as co-founder and Chief Exacutive Officer
of Abardeen Asset Management PLC
Hehas served as Chairman of FirstGroup ple,
Chaucer PLC and was Non-Executive
Director of Dynmark International Limited,
a mobile messaging and data applications
services provider,

External Appointments: Inaddition to his
role as Chief Exacutive Officer of Aberdeen
Asset Managament PLC, Martin is Chairman
of the Prudantia! Regulatory Authority (PRA)
Practiioner Panel Martinalsoserves as

a Non-Executive Director of Glencore ple
and as Serior Governar of the Uniersity

of Aberdeen



Adine Grate (s6)
Inciependent Non-Executive
Director

Appointed: July 2013

Skills and experience: Adine brings a
wealthofexecutive, finance and investrment
managernant and TMT experience having
operated at the top tiers ofNerdic-based
mntemational busmess forthe past two
decades, Formerly Exacutive Vice President
and Executive Board Member of investor AB,
owner of anumber of Nordic-based
mtermational companies, and Charpersonof
the NASDAQ GMX Swedish Listing Committee

External Appointments: Adine 5 Vice
Chairperson of AP7, a Swedish pension and
savings assetmanagement company. She s

a Director of Three (Scandinavia), a mobile
telecomrunications and broadband operater;
Sarnpo O, aleading finandaal services and
INsuUrance nstitution, and Swedavia AB,
anarport operator

Andy Sukawaty &2

Senior Independent Director GN R

Appointed: June 2013

Skills and experience: With over 30 years

of telecommunications media technology
experience Andy brings strong industry
knowledge to the Board He hasled comparyes
nthe mobile phone, cable TV and satelite
ndustnes inthe US and Eurape and serves

as Chairman of Inmarsat plc, a global mabile
satellite communications provider

External Appointments: Inaddition

to s role as Chairman of Inmarsat ple,
Andy has previously held anumber

of senior management positions in the
telecommunications iNdustry inchuding
Chairman of Zigge NV, aDutch cabla TV
and communications company, He also
previously served as Chief Executive Officer
of Sprnt PCS (NYSE) and NTL Ltd and held
the roles of Chairman of Xyratex (Nasdaq)
and Telenet, and Deputy Charrmanof 02 plc.
Arxly s also an Executive in Residence

far warburg Pincus.

John Nallen (0)
Non-Executive Director

Appointed: Novembar 2(h5

skills and experience: Johns a highly
experienced executive with strong media
and finance ndustry expertise, He previously
served as Senior Executive Vice President
and Deputy Chief Financial Officer of 21st
Century Fox from 2001 te 2013 Johnjoined
News Carporation 1n1995 after working at
Arthur Andersen for the previcus 16 years

External Appointments: John 1s Senior
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Qffwer for 21st Century Fox, a role which he
assumed on1July 2013

Katrin Wehr-Seiter un

Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed: October 2006

Skills and experience:Katrin)s an
experienced nvestment managemant and
finance professional having worked m the
private equity Industry formore than 16
years, She brings significant knowledge

of the European media, communications
and technelogy sector Prior to joining BIP
Investment Partners in 2012, she served as
a Principal of globaiinvestment firm Permira
and Semgr Advisor to Internaticnal private
equity firms and corporations, having
started her career at Siemens Katrnwas also
anindependent director of Sky Deutschland
AGfrom 2010 to 2015, prier to Sky taking full
ownership of the company

Externat Appointments: Katrin s Managing
Director of BIP Investment Partners SA
Sheis a dirgctor of SES SA and serves cn
ther audit and nsk committee, Katrin s
alse a director of several mon-listed
corporations including Lifebrain AG

Matthieu Pigasse 49)
Independant Non-Executiva
Director

A GN

Appointed: Novemnber 200

skills and experience: Matthieu brings
significant knowledge of the European
media sector and finance expertise tothe
Board. He s CEC of Lazard, France and Vice
Charmanof Lazard (Europe) He s also the
Global Head of Mergers and Acquisitions
and the Global Head for Sovereign Advisory
of Lazard. He has also served inthe french
Ministry of Economy and Finance

External Appointments: In addion

to hisrole at Lazard, Matthieu has a
number efpersonal Interests nmedia
and publishing, notably Le Monde and

the Huffington Post (France} Heisa
Board member of Group Lucien Barriére
SAS, an operater of Juxury hotels and
restaurants and Derichebourg, arecycling
and maintenanca services business
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Corporate governance report

Chairman’s overview

QOn behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to introduce this years
corporate governance report. | wouid like to take this opportunity to
provide you with some direct insight into the Board's view of Corporate
Governance and the changes to our Board composition through the year

As a Board, we are the stewards of the Company It s our responsibifity
to ensure that the Company’s strategy 1s aligned to the interests of

our investors and takes account of the interests of all the Company's
stakeholders. As Individuals, we believe that effective corporate
governance is based an honesty, integnity and transparency and can
only be fully realised within an environment of open robust and effective
debate. This 15 the Board culture we faster at Sky and 1t 1s my personal
responsibiity as Charman to ensure that we continue to live this culture
and promote it within our business

AL the conclusion of last year's AGM, Dave Lews stepped down from the
Board and Katrin Wehr-Seiter was appointed as a Non-Executive Director
Fwould like te thank Dave for his significant contribution since joining the
Board in 2012 and welcome Katnin as a member of the Board

This year we undertock an internal Board evaluation and Andy Sukawaty,
our Senior iIndependent Director, met with all the Directors and discussed
arange of topics The feedback from the evaluation confirmed that the
Board and each of its Committees continue to operate effectively and
that each Director continues to make an effective contribution and
retains a strong commtment to their role The resuting findings of

the evaluation are discussed on page 42

The Board has established arrangements to evaluate whether the
infermation in the Annual Report 1s fair, balanced and understandable
Further details of these arrangements can be found on page 45

As aresult the Board cansiders the Annual Report, taken as a whale,
15 farr, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and
performance, business model and strategy

in December 2016, 21st Century Fox - where [ am Chief Executive Officer
- approached the Deputy Chairman of Sky with an intial proposal

to acquire the shares in the Company that it does not already

own Following this approach, specific governance arrangements

were put In place to protect the interests of all shareholders

Those arrangernents are described further in this réport

During the year we have continued our work in premoting greater and

more effective engagement with our shareholders The Executive Directors
meet curinvestars and analysts and discuss 2 wide range of topics

Andy Sukawaty, as the Senior Independent Director, has engaged with
shareholders on governance issues As described on page 43, Martin Gibert
has engaged with sharehoiders on issues in relation to the 21st Cantury Fox
Offer and Tracy Clarke Chair of the Remuneration Committee, has also
engaged on remuneration 1ssues We will continue to engage with our
shareholders over the course of the coming financal year

James Murdoch
Chairman

38 Sky X

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
The UK Corporate Governance Code (Code’) provides the standard for
corporate governance in the UK The Financiat Conduct Authonty requires
listed companies to disclose whether they have comphed with the
provisions of the Code throughout the financial year

The Board considers that the Company has complied with the provisions
and applied the main principles of the Code for the whole of the year ended
30 june 2017, This section of the Annual Report along with the Directars’
remuneration report on pages 50 to 69, the Directors’ report and other
statutory disclosures on pages 70 to 75 prowvide details of how the
Company has appled the main principles of corporate governance,

in particular these laid down in the Code The Code can be accessed

at www.freorg.uk

21st Century Fox Offer

Fellowing the approach by 21st Century Fox on 7 December 2016 with an
inital proposal ta acquire the fully diluted share capital of the Company
that 1t does not already own, the Board appointed a committee comprising
the Independent Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors

(the 'Independent Committee’), all of whom the Board considers 1o be free
from conflicts of Interest with regard to the offer On 15 December 2016,
21st Century Fox announced that it had reached agreement with the
Independent Committee on the terms of a recommended pre-conditional
cash offer for the fully diluted share capital of the Company which it did
not already own {the ‘Offer’ or the ‘215t Cengury Fox Offer’) Itis intended
that the Offer will be implemented by means of a scheme of arrangement
{the 'Scheme)

The Independent Committee 1s chared by Martin Gilbert and has the
authority to exercise all powers of the Board in relation to the 21st Century
Fox Offer The Independent Committee, whose members constitute a
majority of the Board, are exeraising ther nghts and powers to manage
the governance of the Board during this period in the best interests of all
sharehclders This inchides taking such steps as they consider appropriate
to regulate the attendance of Directors connected with 21st Century Fox
at meetings of the Board and information they receive relating to the
Company that s deemed relevant to the Offer This ensures that all matters
relevant to the Offer (including matters relating to the future prospects

or strategy of the Company) are dealt with by the Independent Committes
These arrangements will continue for the duration of the Offer or until

the successful completion of any transaction {the ‘Cffer Period”)

The Independent Committee met on nine occasions betweaen

7 December 2016 and 30 June 2017

Leadership

Role of the Board

The Board has collective responsibility for the managemeant, direction and
performance of the Company and provides leadership within a framework
of prudent and effective controls which enables nisk to be appropriately
assessed and managed The Board sets the strategic direction, ensuring
that the necessary resources are in place for the Company to meetits
objectives and deliver sustainable performance

The Board takes a long-tarm outlook and sees itself as responsible to
a wide range of stakeholders, whilst pursting its objectives In a manner
consistent with its statutory duties for the benefit of the Company’s
meambers as awhole



The Directors of the §oard are selected on the cnteria of proven skl

and ability in their particular field of endeavour and a diversity of outlook
and experience which directly benefits the operation of the Board as the
custodian of the business A full biography of each Director 1s provided
on pages 36 and 37,

Roles and responsibilities

The roles of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer are separate
and have been so since the Company's shares were admitted to listing

in 1994 The roles and expectations of each Director are clearly defined
and recorded wthin thei letters of appomtment or service contracts
The roles andresponsibihities of the Board members are explained below

The Chairman

James Murdoch Isresponsible for leadership of the Board ensuring its
effectiveness on all aspects of its role and setting 1ts agenda The Chairman
1s responsible for creating an environment for open, robust and effective
debate This includes ensuring, via the Company Secretary, that the
Directors receive accurate, tmely and clear information. The significant
commitments of the Charman are detailed in rus biography on page 36

The Group Chief Executive Officer ('Group CEQ’)

Jeremy Darroch is responsible and accountable to the Board for the
management and operation of the Company advancing long-term
shareholder valug, sUpported by the management team He s also
mvolved in the management of the sccial and environmental
responsibilities of the Company.

Deputy Chairman

Martin Gilbert deputises for the Chairman as appropnate, provides a
sounding board to Non-Executive Directors and I1s an additional point

of contact for shareholders The Deputy Charman in particular plays a
key role In situations where the Chairman has a conflict of interest, such
as the current 21st Century Fox Offer Duning the Cffer Peniod he s acting
as Chairman of the Independent Committee and has held a senes of
meetings with the Company’s largest shareholders

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Andy Sukawaty s responsible for providing support to the Chairman and
provides an independent pomnt of contact for shareholders, particularly
if they have concerns which have not been resoived through the normal
channels or for which such contact s Inapprepriate He also plays a key
role in ensunng the Board have a balanced understanding of the issues
and concerns of major shareheolders

Non-Executive Directors

Chase Carey, Tracy Clarke, Martin Gilbert, Adine Grate, James Murdoch,
John Nalien, Matthieu Pigasse, Andy Sukawaty and Katrin Wehr-Seiter,
collectively, are respansible for constructively challenging the Executive
Directors and overseeing the delivery of the Company's strategy within
the risk and control framework

Board and Committee framework

Board
Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
Bigger Picture Corporate
Committee Governance
KL Nominations
Committee
Company Secretary

Chnis Tayfor 1s responstble for the following in respect of effective Board
operation

To ensure good information flows within the Board and its Committees,
between senitor management and Non-Executive Directors,

Fo faciitate Director induction and assist with professional development,

To adwise the Board through the Chairman of all corpeorate governance
obligations and developrents in best practice, and

+ To be responsible for communicating with sharehelders as appropriate

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who advises on corporate governance matters, Board procedures
and other relevant rules and regulations In addition Directors have the
nght to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense

Environment supportive of challenge

The effective operation of the Board 1s dependent on the inherent
checks and balances within the vanous Board roles As highly qualified
and successful ingividuals n their respective fields of endeavour, all
Nen-Exacutive Directors influence, debate and contnbute to decisions
retating to the strategy of the Company. its performance and its impact
onstakeholders The Non-Executive Directors are evaluated and judged
on the quality and content of their contributions to Board debate and
are expected to offer alternative viewpoints and challenge perceptions
and decisions as appropnate
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Corporate governance report - continued

Board agenda

In addition to its reserved and standing matters, during the year
the Board alsc considered and receved a number of updates and
presentations, gving Directors & further opportunity te explore
and analyse topics such as’

= TheGroup's operations and five-year financial plans,

+ The general market and economic outlook,

* The competitive landscape, opportunities and market trends,

» Growth of existing business actiities, and

+ Exisung and new products, services and technclogical developments

The members of the independent Committee have taken steps to ensure
that 21st Century Fox affilated Directors do not receive information relating
te the Company that s deemed relevant to the Offer duning the Offer
Period As described on page 38, the independent Committee has the
authority to exercise all powers of the Board i relation to the Offer

To mamtam an appropriate level of control over the day-to-day affairs
of the Company, the Board has identifted certain matters that only

it can approve These matters are contained within the Company's
‘Scheduie of Matters Reserved to the Board which can be found at
wwiw skygroup skyfcorporate

Board delegation

The Beard has detegated speaific responsibitities to Beard committees,
notably the Audit, Remuneration, Corporate Governance & Nominations,
Bigger Picture and Executive Committees Each Committes’s terms

of refarence can be found on the Company's corporate website

www skygroup sky/corporate

The Audit Committee has responsibility for oversight of corporate
reporting, risk management and the Company’s relationship with its
auditor, The Audit Committes conducts a robust assessment of the Group's
principal risks and therr mitigation on behalf of the Board and reviews the
effectiveness of internal controls Significant nisks to the business are kept
under review and appropriate matenal controls are sanctioned and
employed as apprepnate The Company's principal nisks and examples

of how we mitigate those risks are detaled on pages 28 to 31 The Audit
Caommuittee also oversees the review of whather the Annual Report 15 farr
balanced and understandable Forfurther detalls, the Audit Commuttes
Report can be found on pages 44 to 47

40 Sky ple

The Remuneration Committee is responstbile for setiing the remuneration
policy for the Board and ensures that no Director 15 1fvolved in decisions
affecting their own remuneration The Directors’ remuneration report can
be found on pages 50 to 69

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee is responsiple

for oversight of the structure, size, composition and succession planning
of the Beard and its Committees and overall comphiance with corporate
governance standards. The report of the Corporate Governance

& Mominatiens Committee can be found on pages 47 and 48

The Bigger Picture Committee has responsibiiity for oversight of the
social, environmental and ethical impacts of the Company's activities
The report of the Bigger Picture Committee can be found on page 49

The Executive Committee 15 responsible for approving routine business
such as the approval of share option exercises and specific business
delegated by the Board

The minutes of Cominittee meetings are made avallable to all Board
Cirectors on atimely basis At each Board meeting the Chairman of each
Commuttee provides the Board with a brief update of the work currently
being carried out by the Committee they chair. Other sub-committees
and steering groups provide additional resource and support to the
Board Committees or are formed for specific tasks

ACommittee of sentor management generaily meets on a weekly basis
to allow prompt discussion of relevant business i1ssues The Committee
comprises the Group CEQ, Group Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Financral Officer ('Group COO & CFO'Y and other sentor executives
fromwithun the Group



Board and Committee attendance

Attendance at Board and Committee mestings dunng the year 1s set out in the table below The table shows the number of meetings each Director wag

elgble to attend

Corporate
Governance &
Board Audit  Remunerabion  Norwnations  Bigger Picture
Number of meetings held in yaar 3] 6 6 3 1
Executive Directors
Jeremy Darroch, Group CEO 6/6
Andrew Griffith, Group CO0 & CFO 6/0
Non-Exacutive Directors
Chase Carey* 5/5
Tracy Clarke &/6 6i6 il
Martin Gilpert® 5/6 5/6 23
Adine Grate &/6 6/6 6/&
Dave Lews! 22 22 il
James Murdoch? 5/5 33 11
John Nallen® 5/5
Matthiey Pigasse* 5/6 416 2/3
Andy Sukawaty 6/6 516 33
Katrin Wehr-Seiter: 4/4

1 Dave Lews stepped dowr from the Board on 13 October 2016
2 ratrinWehr-Seiter jpined the Board on 13 Octobar 2016

3 The 21st Century Fox affllated directars Jid not participate in te Board meeting which estabiished the Indegpendent Committesinrelatron to the 21st Century Fox Cffer and the

numizer of meatings they were 2lgible to attend has been reduced accordingfy

4 Directors are encouraged to artend Baard and Committee maetings but in certair arcumstancas meetings are called arshort rotice and dua to prior busmness comm,tments and time
differemces Diractors may be unable to attend i1 these orcurrstances Directors recenerelevant papers and are updatad or developments by gither the Charman or Group CEO

Effectiveness

Board composition and independence

The Board currently comprises 11 Directors, made up of two Executive
Directors and nine Non-Executive Directors A majority of six of the Board
of Directors are determined to be independent by the Board In accordance
with provision B 12 of the Code. Further details are set out in the
hiograptues of each of the Directors which are set out on pages 36 and 37

Chase Carey, James Murdoch and John Nallen represent the Company's
largest shareholder, 215t Century Fox, and as such are not considered to
beindependent within the meaning of the Cade. Each of these Directors
has extensive media and pay TV expenence and makes a significant
contribution to Board discussion

The Indapendent Non-Exacutive Directors bring a wide range of experience
and expertige to the Group's affairs and carry significant weight In

the Board's decisions The Independent Non-Executive Directors are
encouraged to challenge management and to help develop proposals

ot strategy Time is regularly put aswle at Board meetings to discuss

the strategic direction of the Company

Prior to appointment, and on an annual basis, each Board member receives
and comipletes a questichnaire to determine factors that may affect
Independance according to best practice statements contamned within the
Code The responses to the questionnaire assist the Board in ascertaining
whether 5 Director is independent in character and judgement and whether
there are relationships or crcumstances which are likely to affect, or could
appearto affect the Director's judgemant

Appeintments to the Board, diversity and succession planning

The Corperate Governance & Nominations Comnuttee keeps the Boardg
balance of skills, knowledge, experience and the length of service of
individuals under constant review In respact of succession planning and
supplementing the skill set of the Board, there 1s an established procedure
for the appointment of new Directors inbrief, the Committee identifies
the set of skilis and expenence required and, with the assistance of
external search agencies, selects individuals to take Board positions

on review of their indrvidual ments, regardless of gender, race. religion.
age or disability Further information on the work of the Committee
during the year can be found on pages 47 and 48
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Corporate governance report - continued

Copies of the Executive Directors senvice contracts and etters of
appaintment of the Non-Executive Directors may be inspected at

the registered office of the Company during normal business hours
on any weekday (except public holidays) and at the place of the Annual
General Meeting (AGM’) for 15 minutes prior to the meeting untl the
conclusion of the AGM_

The Board currently comprises eight men and three women (27% female
representation on the Board) As required by company legislation, a table
on page 71 llustrates gender diversity across the Group as well as at
Board level

Diversity ratio of Directors appointed in past four years

Length of time served on the Board

IndustryfBackground experience

Motz This covers the eqperience of the Mon-Executive Directors wio rmay
falt nto one or mors of the above categories

Directors’ reappaintment

In accordance with Code provision B 71, all continuing Exacutive and
Non-Exscutive Directors will retire and offer themselves for reappeintment
at the Company’s 2017 AGM,

External directorships

Any external appointments for the Executive Directors are considered by
the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee Executive Directors
are not allowed to take on the Chairmanship of a FTSE 100 eompany, but are
allowed to take up ohe external Non-Executive FTSE 100 appointment and
retain any payments i respect of such appomtments.

Jeremy Darroch was appomted as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Burberry Group ple on 5 February 2014 Jeremy serves as Chairman of
the Audit Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and from

T luly 2007 as Senver independent Director

Andrew Gnffith was appeinted as Sentor Independent Nen-Ececutive
Director of Just Eat ple on 12 March 2014 and since Apni 2017 has been
serving as Intenm Chairman He also Chairs the Audit Committee and
15 a member of the Remuneratian and Nomination Comnuttees

Details of pay inrespect of these appointments can be found 1n the
Directors remuneration report on pags 58

42 Sky ple

Time commitment

Al Mon-Executive Directors are advised of the likely time commitments
required on induction and are expected to devote sufficient time

for the effective discharge of their functions The Company provides
Nen-Executive Directors with appropnate support and facilities for
constderation of the Company's strategy and performance and a
dialogue with the Chairman s strongly encouraged so that any issues
regarding conflicting commitments and time pressures can be
addressed appropriately

Induction and training

All new Cirectors recerve an inductian tajlored to their indvidual
requirements The induction process Involves meeting with all of the
Company’s Executive Directors and Senior Executives This faclitates
their understanding of the Group and the key drivers of the business
performance Duning the year, Girectors have recelved presentations
from a number of areas of the business including Customer Group,
Content, Business Development, Technology and Strategic Planning
Group The Chairman meets with the Directors throughout the year
to review their developmental needs

An example of a tarored induction programme Is detaled below

Stage) Stage2 Stage3 Stage 4
Meetings with Customer Product Accompanying
Senior Exetutives, contack demonstrations  a Skyengineer
Sky News and centre visit on customer
Sky Studio visits visits

In addition to this, various presentations from prior Board meetings will
be made available tc the Director In order to iImprove theiwr understanding
of the Group and the competitive and regulatory landscape i which it
operates Consideration s given to Committee appointments and where
relevant, tatored traming may be required

Board evaluation

I fine with the Code, and following the externat Board evaluation carriad
out by Alice Perkins of JCA Group in 2016 an internal Board and Committee
evaluation was carrned out during the year facihitatea by Andy Sukawaty,
the Senior Independent Directer The findings of the evaluation were
considered by the Corporate Governance & Naminations Committee and
reported to the Board The overall conclusion was that individual Board
members are satisfied that the Board and its Cormnmuittees work well and
operate effectively, In an emvironment where there Is constructive challenge
from the Non-Executive Directors The Directors were satisfied with the
current mix of skills and expenence and the size of the Board The Directors
neted that appropriate rigour was applied to related party transactions
and the 2ist Century Fox Offer was a sohd example of the Company’s
governance procedures working well in practice The allocation of Board and
Committee discussion topics would be reviewed and some topics currently
discussed in detail at committee level may be brought to the whole Board
from time to time The quality of Information presented to the Board was
considered to be of a high standard and distnbuted on a timely basis

The performance of each Director was evaluated as part of the evaluation
process, based on self-analysis and input from the other Directors s
the Board's intention to continue to reviewits serformance and that of its
Commuttees and individual Directors on an annual basis In respect of the
evaluation process for the 201718 financial year its kkely another internal
evaluation will be undertaken



Information provided to the Directors

The Company Secretary 1s responsibie for ensuring good information flows
within the Board and 1ts Committees and batween senior management
and Non-Executive Directors For each Board and Committee meeting,
Directors are provided with a taflored Board pack at least one week prior
to the meeting To improve the delivery and security of Board papers, the
Company has adopted an electronic system allowing the Board to easily
access information, irrespective of geographic location. Directors regularly
receve additional information from the Company between Board meetings,
inclughing a daily press summary and a monthly Group performance update
wWhere a Director was unabde to attend a meeting, they were provided

with all the papers and information relating to that meeting and were

able to discuss issues arising directly wath the Charman and Group CEQ

Conflicts of interest

Under UK Company law, alt Directors must seek authorisation before
taking up any posttion with ancther company that conflicts, or may
possibly conflict, with the Company’s interests. The Company's Articles
of Assomiation contain provisions to aflow the Directors to authortse
situations of potential conflicts of interest so that a Director 1s not

in breach of his duty under company law

All existing external appointments for each Director have been authorised
by the Board and each authonsation 15 set out in a Conflicts Register
Directors are required to notify the Board of potential conflicts so that they
can be considered and, if appropnate authornsed by the Board In addition,
the Corporate Governance & Neminations Committes conducts an annual
reviews of Directors’ conflicts and reports its findings to the Board

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Comnuttee reviewed the
Board's conflicts during the financial year and concluded that conflicts
had been appropnately authorised and that the process for authorsation
1s operating effectively The Corporate Governance & Nominations
Committee and the Board will continue to monitor and review potential
canfilcts of interest on a regular basis

Directors’ and Officers” insurance and indemnity

The Company recognises that all Directors are equally and collectively
accountable under the law for the proper stewardship of the Company's
affairs The Company maintams a Directors’ and Officers’ labiity insurance
pohcy Additionally, the Company’s Articles of Association allew the
Company to indemnify the Directors and deeds of indemnity have been
1ssued to all Directors of the Company ta the extent permitted by law

Relations with shareholders

Shareholder communications

Presentations and webcasts on the development of the business

are avaitabie to all shareholders on the Company’s corperate website

The Company also uses email alerts ang actively promotes downloading

of all reports enhancing speed and equality of shareholder communication
The Company has taken full advantage of the provisions within the
Compames Act 2006 altowing the website to be used as the primary
means of communication with shareholders where they have not requested
hard copy documentation The shareholder infermation section on page 144
contams further details on electronic shareholder communications together
with more general mformation of interest to shareholders which 1s also
included on the Company's corporate website www skygroup sky/corporate

Shareholder engagement

The Company s committed to maintaining and improving dialogue with
shareholders in order to ensure that the objectives of both the Group
and the shareholders are understood Aprogramme of meetings with
institutional shareholders, fund managers and analysts takes place each
year and the Group CEO and Group COO & (FO have attended meetmngs
with investors, as appropnate The Company also makes presentauons
to analysts and investers around the time of the half-year and full-year
results announcements, conference calls are held with analysts and
investors following the release of the first quarter and third quarter trading
statements and presentations are made durnng the year to many existing
or potent:al sharehoiders at investor conferences The Company helds
meetings with its major shareholders to discuss corporate governance
and remuneration matters from time to tme.

On 20 Octaber 2016 the Company held an Invester Day at 1ts Osterley
headquarters at which the Company’s shareholders were given details on
awide range of topics including its strategic prionties, capabilities, position
in each market, content strategy, cost efficiency and future growth plans,
alt of which was also made available on www skygroup.sky/corporate

Prior to the 21st Century Fox Offer, Tracy Clarke, Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, engaged with certain major shareholders
to solcit their views on the Remuneration Palicy In advance of any hew
policy being put to the 2017 AGM In light of the 21st Century Fox Offer,
the Remuneration Committee decided to place the Policy review on
hold Further detarls are included in the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee’s letter, which can be found on page 50

Since the 21st Century Fox Offer, Martin Gitbert has held a senes of
meetings with majar shareholders to discuss the background to,
and reasons for, the independent Committee’s recommendation

The AGM

The Board views the AGM as an opportunity to communicate with private
Investors and sets aside time at the meeting for shareholders to ask
questions At the AGM, the Chairman provides a bnef summary of the
Company’'s activities for the previous year. All resolutions at the 2016

AGM were voted by way of a poll This follows best practice and allows

the Company to count all votes rather than just those of shareholders
attending the meeting As recommended by the Code, all resolutions were
voted separately and the final voting results, which included all votes cast
for against and those withheld togetherwith ail proxies lodged prior

to the meeting, were released to the Lendon Stock Exchange as scon as
practicable after the meeting The announcement was also made avallable
on the Company's corporate website Asin previous years, the proxy form
and the announcameant of the voting results made 1t dear that a vote
withheld' 1s not a vote In law and will not be counted in the calculation

of the proportion of the votes for or against the resolution

Annual Report 2017 43

BIUeUIBADD



Corporate governance report - continued

Report of the Audit Committee

Chairman’s overview

During the year the Audit Committee has continued to play a key oversight
role on behalf of the Board and has remained focused on this role despite
the 21st Century Fox Offer The Commuttee’s principal activities have
focused on the financiat performance of the Company, internal audit,
external audit, nsk management, complhance and governance

The Committee has also monitored the Company's approach to risk
management and the Independence and effectiveness of the external
auditors, and receved a number of presentations from management
relating to data governance, security, internal audit, treasury, taxation,
technology and health and safety, as well as regular presentaticns on
business performance

We have considered the processes underpinmng the production and
approval of this year's Annual Report to enable the Beard to confirm that
the Annual Report taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess

the Company's position and performance business model and strategy
A description of how we approached this can be found in this report

The Committee assessed the wiability of the Group over a three-year penod,

applying downside sensitivity to our business as usual plans which takes
account of the principal nsksdenufied Further nformation on how
the Committes approached this s detailed in this report

There were 5ix me=tngs durmg the year and after each Committee meating

I provided an oral update ta the Board on the key 1ssues discussed dunng
aurmeetings. | have also met separately with the external audit partner
and key management on a number of occasions durnng the year

You can find additional infarmation of how we have carned out our role
and responsiboiities within the remainder of this report

Adine Grate
Commuttee Chairman

Committee composition

Adine Grate (Chairman)

Martin Gilbert

Dave Lews (resigned 13 October 2016)
Matthieu Pigasse

The Committee members have constderable financial and business
experience and the Board has determined that the membership
as a whole has sufficient recent and relevant sector and financial
expenence to discharge its respensibilities and that at feast

one member has competence in accounting or auditing in ine

with the Code The Commuttee comprises three Independent
Non-Executive Directars, In compliance with the Code and DTR 7
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Attendance at Committee meetings

John Nallen has a standing invitation to attend meetings, However,

his attendance at these meetings 1s as an observer and in a non-voting
capacity The Group COO & CFO, other business and finance executives

and representatives from the external auditor, Deloitte £LP and the internal
audit department attend meetings at the request of the Committee

The Company Secretary acts as Secratary to the Committes

Audit Committee agenda
Focus for the Committee this year has incduded the following tems

Review and recommendation to the Board of the interim and full-year
financial statements, Including whether the Annual Report s farr,
balanced and understandable

Review and approval of the first and third quarter trading statements

v

Quarterly updates from the Group CO0 & CFO on business performance
across the Group

-

Audit plans and findings of external and internal audits

The review and recommendation to the Board of the 2016 final dadend

Liguidity, going concern and viability statement review

Annual reporting due diigence procedures and corporate governance
updates

Assessment of the effectiveness of the external audit process and
scope ofaudit

Auditor Independance and the pohicy on the provision of non-audit
services by the external audrtor

.

Quarterly review of non-audit services and fees

Quarterly reports from the treasury function on the funding, liguidity,
going concern and operational capabilities of the Group and comphance
with treasury poiices

Quarterly updates on planned internal audit work and on the status
of Semor Accounting Officer {SAD’) certification work to ensure
SAQ complhance

» Quarterly reports of all transactions with a related party dunng
the pencd

Review of transactions (with the exception of the Cffer) which faltb within
the Listing Rule 111 5R definition of Related Party Transaction and all
transactions with a related party in excess of £10 milion and where
required recommendation to the Board

Review and oversight of the Group risk register, sk meathodalogy and nsk
management systems and processas

Deep dive update on the Technology function

.

Mormitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal audit
function and controls )

Review and approval of updated policies relating to whistleblowing and
anti-bribery and corruption

Taxation security, fraud, health and safety and data protection matters

The Committea's tarms of reference are avalable on the Company s
corporate website



Significant accounting issues

When considering the annual financial statements the Committee
reviewed the significant accounting issues and the Group's criticat
accounting pulicies as set out on pages 84 to 95 with particular
focus on the foliowing

Retail subscription revenue

The majornty of the Group's revenues derive from retal subscription
packages, including hardware and installation services, supplied to
customers, The Group applies judgement in determining the accounting
allecation of payments received from custemers to different elements

of the bundled package, taking Into consideration the timing and relative
value attributed to each element During the year, the Committee received
aperformance report from the Group COO & CFO quarterly that included
areview of revenues recognised in the period

The Cemmittze considered management’s policy and considered the views
of the external auditor and 1s satisfied that the policies have been apphed
conzsistently and approprately,

General entertainment programming inventory:

The Commitiee reviewed the palicy for the recognition of content costs

and chailenged management an the approgriateness of the policy, and took
Into account the views of the external auditor that the policy 1s appropriate
and has beern apphed consistently The mathod for recognising general
entertainment programming expense requires estimation and judgament
to ensure that the expense profile 1s consistent with the expected value

of the content to the Group

The Committes s satisfied that the policies have been apphed consistently,
are appropriate and are aligned to industry practice

Capstalisatton of intangibile assets and property, plant and equipment:
The Committee considered the Group's policies and sought assurances
from management that the Group s project accounting controls are
operating as intended and that spend capitalsed as property, piant
and eguipment and intangible assets meets the relevant accounting
requirements The Committee also considerad the report from the
external auditar

The Committee 1s satisfied that the Group has followed appropriate
accounting standards regarding the capitalisation of project expenditure

Internal control and risk management

The Board 15 responsible for estabhshing and mamntaining the Group's
systems of internal control and nsk managzment and for reviewing therr
effectvenass These systems are designed to manage and, where possible,
ehminate the risk of failure to achieve business cbjectives and to prowde
reasonable, but not absalute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss There 13 an ongoing process foridentifying evaluating and managing
the significant risks faced by the Group in accordance with the revised
guidance on internal control 1issued by the Financal Reporting Council in
September 2014 During the period under review, the Committes discussed
a number of areas where actions had been identified to further improve
the control environment, however no matenal falings or weaknesses

were identified

The Commities on behaif of the Board considers the effectiveness of the
operation of the Group's systems of intermnal control and risk management
during the year and this review has been carned out for the year ended

30 June 2017 and up to the date on which the financial statements were
approved This review induides all material controls and refates to the
Company andg its subsidianes and does not extend to joint ventures

The Commilles mests on at least a quarterly basis with the Group's
Director Audit, Risk Management and Complance and the external auditor

There I1s a comprehensive budgeting and ferecasting process, and the
annual budget, which 1s regularly reviewed and updated, 15 approved by
the Board Performance is monitored aganst budget through weekly
and monthly reporting cycles During the financal year under review
monthly reports on performance were provided to the Board, and

the Group reports to sharghelders each quarter

In respect of Group financial reporting, the Group Finance team is
responsible for preparing the Group financal statements and there are
well established controls over the financial reporting process These are
alse docurnented in ine with the reguirements of the SAQ legisiation
and the controls are reviewed and signed off ta confirm their continuous
operation by the control owners twice a year and are independently
tested by the mternal audit team The results of the SAC testing
arereported to the Committee on a quarterly basis

Changes In internal controls

No change in the Groug's internal control over financial reporting has
occurred during the year ended 30 june 2017 that has materally affected,
or 1s reasonably hkely to matenally affect the Group's internal control
over financial reporting

Risk registers

There are nsk registers which identify the nisks faced by the Group

and these are conscldated inte a Group Risk Register The risk register
framework is based on methodalogy to identify the risk based on impact
and likelihood The nisk 15 assessed, guantfied and measured which enables
discussions on risk appetrte The registers detall the controls that

manage the nsks and where necessary, the action plans to mitigate

the nsk exposure

The business develops the action plans and the internal audit team
rmonitors thairimplementation The internal audit team provides objective
assurance as to the effectiveness of the Group’'s systems of internal
control and risk management to the Group's operating management

The Committee reviews the Group Risk Register typically twice a year and
carrtes out a robust assessment of the principal nisks and uncertainties
facing the Group and has done so during the year. The Group s prinaipal
risks and uncertamties are detailed on pages 28 to 31 Thereis an
ongoing monitoring process, which 1s operated by the Group Risk team
and supported by senior management across the Group, to identify

and report to the Audit Committee on significant changes or new risks

Effectiveness of internal audit process

The Commuttee also reviews the effectiveness of the internal audit function
on an annual basis and this review has been carried out for the year ended
30 June 2017

Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

The Financia! Reporting Committes (FRCY an internal committee has
responsibiity for the production of the annual report and the associated
review process Guidance and comprehensive due diligence procedures
were issued to reviewers by the FRC to help them assess whethar the
document was far, balanced and understandable and complied with the
requirements of the Code The FRC maintained oversight of the review
process and submitted certfication to the Commuittee to enable it to
ben a position to recommend to the Beard that the requned statement
could be made

The Committee also reviewed the disclosures regarding the Company's
alternative perfoimance measures (APMs) having regard, in particular,
to the Guidelines on Alternative Perfarmance Measures issued by

the European Securities and Markets Authority in October 2015
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Corporate governance report - continued

Viability statement

The Directors are required to confirm whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and the Group will be able to continue to
operate and meet their abilities as they fall due over alonger-term period
The disclosure must set out the basis for Directors’ conelusions and explain
why the period chesen is appropriate

The Coemmittee scught management's Input to its assessment of the
wiability of the Company and the Group. The assessment, which was based
on the Group's ocperating, capital and funding pians also included
consideration of the princimal nsks which coudd impact the perfermance
of the Group and its liquidity and capital projections over the period

The Committee was satisfied that the viability statement could be
provided and agreed that three years was a suitable period of review

The Viability Statement 1s detalled on page 31

Disclosure control and procedures

The Company maintans disclosure controls, procedures and systems that
are designed to ensure that information requirad to be disclosed as part
of the Company’s UK isting obligations i1s accumulated and communicated
to management, including the Group CEO and Group €00 & CFO, as
appropriate to allow timely deasions regarding required disclosures

Auditor independence

During the year ended 30 June 2017 the Committee reviewed audit
independence and the scope of non-aud:t services and independence
safeguards with Deloitte LLP ('Deloitte?), the Group's external auditor

As part of the review, the Audit Committee has receved and reviewad
confirmation In writing that in Deloitte’s professional judgement, Deloitte
15 independent within the meaning of all UK regulatory and professional
requirements and the obectiity of the audit engagement partner and
audit staff 1s not impaired

The Committes was satisfiad throughout the year that the objectivity
and independence of Delaitte was not in any way impaired by either the
nature of the non-audit related services undertaken during the year, the
tevel of non-audit fees charged, or any other facts or circurnstances

Prior to the Group's acquisitions of Sky italia and Sky Deutschland,
Deloitte member firms in ltaly and Germany had substantial consulting
engagements with those businesses A transition plan was approved by
the Committee and fully implemented in order to restructure and cease
any independence-impainng aspects of those engagements m accordance
with refevant auditor ndependence rules

Curing the current year the Group has continued to substantially reduce
the level of Deloitte’'s non-audit work Deloitte has been involved in cartain
strategic customer and cperating systems projects since their inception
and has specialist knowledge which it would be time consuming and costly
to build up with ancther advisor The Committee therefore approved

a certain level of permitted consulting adwvisory services with respect

to these strategic projects for the current year, and has approved the
continuation of this work at a further reduced level in the year ending

30 June 2018 Non-zudit fees are expected to decline very significantly
over the four-year penod from a peak of £15 8 milflion in 2014115
(pro-forma basts spend of £19 5 million) to alevel below that of the audit
feen 2017118 (excluding any non-audit fees mcurred as a conseguence

of the 21st Century Fox Cffer)

The Committee s satisfied that all of Deloitte’s non-aucht work continues
to te of a permitted nature reaning that Deloitte 1s independent within
the meanng of UK regulatory and professional reguirements, and that
appropriate safeguards are n place to assure Deloitte's continued
independence in thisregard, the Committee also dosely monitors the
developing regulatory regime relating to the use of auditors for non-audit
work and 1s satisfied that the Company has comphed and continues

to comply with the regulations in force
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Audit and non-audit services provided during the year were approved by
the Committee, An analysis of auditor remuneration is disclosed in note 4
to the consclidated financiat statements

Audit and non-audit services
The Group has a policy on the provision by the external auditor of audit
and non-audit services, which categonses such services betwsen

+ Those services which the auditor s not permutted to provide,

Thase services which are acceptable for the auditor to provide and
the provision of which has been pre-approved by the Committee: and

Those services for which the specific approval of the Committee
15 required before the auditor is permitted to provide the service,

The pokcy defines the types of services falling under each category
and sets out the criteria which nead to be met and the internal approval
mechanisms required to be completed pricr to any engagement

The policy was reviewed and updated during the year and an analysis
of all services provided by the external auditor 1s reviewad by the
Committes on a quarterly basis

During the year, the following examples of non-audit work were deemad
1o be pre-approved in accordance with the policy

» Audit of the Sky pension plan

» Assurance of certain KPis for the Bigger Picture Review

Effectiveness of axternal audit process

During the year, the effectiveness of the audit process and management’s
role within that process was assessed by the Committee, Group Finance
team and other key internal stakeholders in the form of aquestionnaire
The areas under review were

» Quality, resources and scope of planning of the audit
+ Objectivity, independence and transparency of the audit

+ Identification of key accounting judgements, significant audit
and accounting issues

Level of techrical knowledge and professional scepticism

Understanding Sky as a business 1ts values and culture and challenges
it faces

-

The gquality of planning and supervision of the Group audit

-

Quality of reporting and communications to the Audit Committee

The responses to the assessment were discussed by the Committee and

it was confirmed that Deloitte are performing as expected Deloitte
continue to demonstrate strengths in the majonty of thase areas

There were no significant findings from the assessment and the review
confirmed that Deloitte continue to carry out an effective and robust
external audit, mcluding the supervision of the Group audit The Committee
also continues to be satisfied with the quality of challenge and scepticism
of the external auditor

The Committee therefore recommended to the Beard that shareholder
approval be sought to reappoint Deloitte as the external auditor for the
2017418 financal year



Audit firm and partner rotation

The external auditor s required to rotate the audit partner responsible
for the engagement every five years The prior audit partner rotated
off the engagement following the conclusion of the 201415 audtt and
his successor was (n ptace for 201516 In turn, the current audit partner
(Paul Franek)w:ll be required to rotate after the 2015/20 audit.

The regulatory regime relating to mandatory audit tendering has
significantly changed in the UK and Europe, The Committee 1s clasely
monitoring these developments and taking into account that Deloitte

has been the external auditor of the Company since June 2002, it expects
to conduct an audit tender in advance of June 2020, which itself s n
advance of 2023 by which the transitional rules \n UK and E\J regulation
would require the Company to have performed a tender The Committes
has reviewed the timing of a future tender and feeis that it 1s not currently
in shareholders' interests, but it will continue to keep the appropnate
tming of a future tender under review

The Company and the Group confirms its compliance with the provisions
of The Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies Market Investigation
(Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender Processes and Audit Committee
Responsibilitiesy Order 2014 for the year to 30 June 2017

Corporate Governance
& Nominations Committee

Chairman's overview

We hava had an active vear There have been two Board changes with
Dave Lewis stepping down and the appointment of Katrin Wehr-Seiter
in October 2016 The appomntment process Is explaned in this report.

| undertook this year's Board Evaluation and reported the findings of the
evaluation to the Committee and the Board The resuits of the evaluation
were very encouraging The overall condusion was that individual Board

members are satisfied that the Board works well and operates effectively

In an environment where there is constructive challenge from the
Non-Executive Directors.

The Board as a whole weicomes the opportunity to adapt to innovation
and change and is actively progressing initiatives such as addressing
gender balance on the Board, sourang the nght skills to complement
our talented management team and creating robust succession plans
to safeguard the Company's future performance

There were three Committee meetings held dunng the year and after
each Commitiee meeting | reported to the Board on the key 1ssues
discussed during the meetings

The Committee continues to comprise a majorty of independeant
Non-Executive Dirgctors in compliance with the Code

Andy Sukawaty
Committee Chairman

Committee composition

Andy Sukawaty (Chairrman)

Martin Gilbert

James Murdoch

Matthieu Pigasse

Attendance at Committee meetings
The Group CEO and General Counsel attend the meetings from time

to time and the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee
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Corporate governance report - continued

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee agenda

Focus for the Commuttee this year has centred on the following tems:
+ Board changes

* Board and Committee composition

* Board evaluation

+ Review of Nan-Executive Director independence

+ Review of Directors’ conflicts of interest

The Commuttee’s terms of reference are available on the Company's
corporate website

Activities during the year

Board ¢changes

The Committee keeps the Board's balance of skills, knowledge and
experence and the length of service of Indviduals under constant review,
in respect of succession planning and supplementing the skill set of the
Board, there 15 an established procedure for the appointment of naw
Directors The Committee will identify the set of skills and experience
required and. with the assistance of external search agencres, select
indniduals to take Board posttions on review of their individual merits,
regardless of gender race, religion, age or disability

At the conciusion of last year's AGM, Dave Lews stepped down from the
Board and Katrin Wehr-5eiter was appointed as a Non-Executive Directar
The Board commenced the search for a new independent Non-Executive
Director when Dave Lewrs indicated he would step down

The Committee engaged JCA Group, an external recruitment consuitancy,
in late July 2016 te help identify possible candidates and run the search
process The coaching arm of JCA Group, which 15 a separate business
from the recruitment consultancy performed the external Board
evaluation during the 201516 financial year Other than external
recruitment consultancy for the Group JCA Group has no other
connection with the Company

The Chairman of the Committee briefed the recrutment consultants

to ensure they had a thorough understanding of the Company’'s
requirements, ncluding key skills and expenence required The recruitment
consultants produced along list of candidates which was reviewed by the
Chairman, Deputy Charrman, Senior Independent Director and the Group
Chief Executive Officer Taking into account the candidates’ backgrounds,
expernence and skill set, and potential areas for strengthening the Board,
two candidates were shortlisted and brought forward for interview

After the interview process was concluded in early October 2016 the
Committes met to discuss the two candidates The Committee agreed
that Katrin Wehr-Seiter was the preferred candidate and the Committee
then made their recommendation ta the Board The Baard noted that
Katrin was an experienced financial professional with valuable pan-
Eurcpean media industry exparience which would strengthen the Board
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Faollowing Dave Lewis's retirement and Katrin Wehr-Seiter’s appointment,
there remain 1 directors on the Board, of which six directors are deemed
by the Board to be Independent

Committee composition

Duning the year, the Committee reviewed the composition of the Board
Committees and agreed that during the Offer Period the membership
of the Committees would remain unchanged

Board evaluation
The approach and findings of this year's internal board evaluation
are detalled on page 42

Independence

During the year, all Non-Executive Directors were asked to complete
guestionnaires to enabie the Committee to determine theirr independence
The Committes reviewed the guestionnares and recommended to the
Board that there be no changes to the independent status of the current
Independent Non-Executive Directors The Non-Executive Directors who
are considered by the Board to beindependent are clearly identified in thew
respective blographies on pages 36 and 37

As noted on page 41, James Murdoch, Chase Carey and John Nallen ars not
considered to be independant within the meaning of the Code However,
following the evaluation the Commuttee considers that each of these
Directors continue to make a significant contribution to Board and
Commuttee discussions

Beoard diversity

The Committee pursues a policy of diversity of skills, experience, nationality
and gender n its approach to Beard appointments Since 2011, three female
directors have been appointed and the Board currently comprises esght
men and three women (27% fermale representation on the Board)

Directors’ conflicts

The Committee reviewed the Board's conflicts dunng the year and
concluded that Directors’ conflicts had been approprately authorised

and that the process for authonsation was operating effectively

The Committee and the Board will continue to momitor and review potential
conflicts of interest and take action to mitigate them as necessary



Bigger Picture Committee

Chairman's overview

| am pleased to report that there has been sigmificant progress across the
Bigger Picture this year. We cefebrated the successes of Sky Sports Living
for Sport, in which aver half a milion young people have participated

over the 14-year initrative Sky's commitment to sustainabilty has been
reflected in anumber of leading investor indices, Including the Dow Jones
Sustainability Index, in which Sky achieved a Silver certification for the first
time, Sustainalytics' Global 100 Index, Carbon Disclosure Project s Climate
‘A List and Supply Cham Leadership board The Committes believes that
the focus and scale of the Bigger Picture continues to make a significant
contribution to Sky's ability to build a better bustness for the long term
Arefreshed strategy launching in the next financial year will make an

even greaterimpact for customers, the environment and for Sky

There was ons Committee meeting during the year and after that meeting
| reported to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed Qutside of this
meeting the Committee were kept updated on the progress of Bigger
Picture activibies

Progress against the Bigger Picture strategy 1s detaled at
www skygroup skyfcorporate/bigger-picture

James Murdoch
Committee Chairman

Composition of the Committee

James Murdoch (Chairman)

Tracy Clarke

Dave Lewrs {resigned 13 October 2016)

Attendance at Committee meetings

The Group CEQ Group CO0 & CFO the Group Corporate Affairs Director,
other senior executives and the Bigger Picture team attend meetings
at the request of the Charman The Deputy Company Secretary acts

as Secretary to the Committes

Bigger Picture Committee agenda
Focus for the year has centred on the following items

» Progress on responsible business performance
+ Progress on imtiatives to unlock potential In young people
- Progress to evolve the Bigger Picture with a renewed strategy for 201718

The Committee s terms of reference are available on the Company’s
corpotate website

Activities during the year

The Committee oversaw and were updated on a number of developments
In relation te the Bigger Picture dunng the year, including the following
activities The progress being made on expanding and implementing

the Group responsible business strategy n Germany, Austria and Italy

was noted and the Committes reviewed Sky's progress on respensible
souraing and human nights, ncluding the launch of the Company’s first
Modern Slavery Statement Accessibility was a focus, including the taunch
of subbithing On Demand on Sky Q and Skyt HD The Committee also
supports the Company's focus on inclusion and noted their ambition to
become the industry leader for inclusion, both on screen and behind the
scenes. To achieve this Sky has been focused on increasing the representation
of BAME (Black, Asian, and minority ethnic) employees and achieving gender
parnty Arange of initiatives have been put in piace, for example supporting
wamen to develop skills In tradibionally under-represented areas, with
imtiatives such as ‘Get into Tech' External recognition for this programrme
was shared with the Comimittee, such as inclusion in the Times Top 50
Employers of Women The Committee noted the importance of putting
policies into practice and of target-driven progress

The Committee s proud of Sky's continued success in supperting young
pecple, with 170,264 young people having taken partin our intiatives during
the year Sky Sports Living for Sport has inspired and built skills in students
from around a third of state secondary schools since its launch 14 years
ago Sky Academy Studios in London and Livingston saw 19,344 young
people create news reports this year and the Committee welcomed the
launch of Sky Academy Studios In Milan which saw over 5500 young people
take part since opening its doors This year, more than 10% of employees
participated in these imitiatives

We welcome the relocation of our long-standing chanity partner MAMA
Youth, onto Sky's London Campus Students can benefit from mentorng
from Sky employees along with suppert from Sky Academy Ambassadors
such as Anthony Joshua, who took part in filming for MAMA Youth's
‘What's Upl' TV programme

Progress continues to be made in Italy 1o support young people through
Ultima Ora, which inks wath Sky Italias 24-hour news channel, and the
impact of Artevisione Artes Scholarships

Sky Foundation in Germany supported 5,738 young people this year,
partnenng with chanties across the country Sky Feundation brought
apportunities for young pecpie to jom year-round sports programmes
including swimming and football Sky Deutschland employees continue
to support the Sky Foundation through volunteenng and fundraising

The Committee has participated in the evolution of the Bigger Picture
strategy, from discussions around the existing programme, which was
noted to have a positive social impact with strong reach and awareness,
to the need to buld on this with ongoing bold, focused mrtiatives to
support the next generation around important issues that Sky's customers
care about The first of these naw imtiatives, Sky Ocean Rescue launched
in January 2017

As part of a review of the Bigger Picture reporting the Committee
continued to note the positive economic social and environmental
contribution of Sky and looks forward to the launch of further projects
and the opportunities they will bring

=) . For more information about Sky's approach and progress during the year,
g0 to skygroup.sky/corporate/bigger-picture
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Directors’ remuneration report

Annual statement from the Chairman 2017

Dear Shareholder

On behalf of the Board | am pleased to present our Directors Remuneration
Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 The Committee paused Its oNgoINg
review of the Remuneration Policy following the announcement of the Offer
from 21st Century Fax in December 2016 and will present the current policy
for approval at the 2017 AGM As the Offer process s continuing longer than
anticipated we will be re-engaging with our shareholders and should the
Offer not proceed we will present a new policy for approval at the 2018
AGM | set out tharationale for this decision below,

Context and Business Performance

The Committee believes that the current remuneration structure has
served the business well and has contributed to sustained long-term
business performance Qver the past five years revenue has increased

fy 29% and our shareholders have seen Larnings Per Share and dividends
growth of 25% and 32% respectively

This has been a year of robust performance agamst our key drivers
of performance

+ Revenue grew by E1 bilhon, the highest ievel in the Company's history,
to £12,916 milion, up 10% or 5% excluding the benefit of currency’
This ts sector-leading and the fifth consecutive year of growth at
or above 5% Achievement was slightly below stretch target due
to headwinds m the UK advertising market and post-Brexit pressure
on the consumer environment

+ Added almost 700,000 new customers, Increasing total customer
base to 22 5 nuthon

27 milion new paid-for products, taking our total base to almost
60 mithan

Operating profit of £1483 milien' ahead of stretch target and including
the uphft in Premier League nghts costs, biennial Ryder Cup costs and
the cests of launching Sky Mobtle in the UK

+ Operating cash flow of £1,221 milhen' ahead of stretch targat due
to working capital i mprovements across the Group'

EPS af 62 1p' with a growth rate of § 2% per annum over the past
three years

This 1s an adjusted measure and a reconciiation between statutery and adjustad
measures can be found on page 341 Performance 1s measured on an adjusted bass,
using methodology agreed by the Remuneration Committee, which may differ from
the adjusted measures presented elsewhere In this report This is consistent with
the relevant metrics throughout the Remuneration repart
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This has alse been a strong year of delivery on our growth strategy

with continued gaod progress agamnst our priorities, expansion inta new
markets with the successful launch of Sky Mobile In the UK and the roll
out acress our European businesses of aur NOW TV, Sky AdSmart and
Sky Store platforms

We strengthened our content offering with new Sky Onginals, entered a
major ca-preduction agreement with HBC, launched key channets inciuding
Sky 11n Germany, and secured rengwals with partner channels and exclusive
nghts to UEFA Champions League matches in Germany and Italy We also
launched Skyt Pro in Germany, voice search and UHD for Sky Q in the UK,
and intraduced a new Digital Service for customers, centred on the My Sky
App, alsoin the UK

Finally we have successfully completed the integration of the three Sky
businesses and actneved our £200 million synergy run-rate target six
months early

Taken together it has been a peniod of significant progress and
achtevement

Pay for performance outcomes

The fundamentals of our existing rémuneration policy remain sound
and continue to serve our executive directors, senior managers and
shareholders well during this period, as they have done over the past
eight years There s a clear focus on inking pay cutcomes directly to
the achievement of the stretching performance targets which are
the key drivers of our performance

The existing policy has helped to deliver strong returns for our sharehaldars,
Over the past eight years cumiilative Total Shareholder Return (TSR) growth
was 185% compared ta 127% for the FTSE 100 This is & vesting year for

our Lang Term Incentive Plan and the Co-lnvestment Plan, and over the
performance period 2014-2017 we have seen TSR of 20.2% versus the FTSE
100 at 19 4% EPS growth of 6 2% per annum over this period 13 Just shghtly
below the stretch target set for both the LTIP and Co-Investment Plan

Taking account of this strong perfarmance overall the Committes agreed
the following pay outcomes

» Base salanes for the Group CEO and Group CO0 & CFO were rncreaséd
by 2 5% on 1 July 2017 which 1s i line with increases for our employees

» Intotal, the business achieved 95% of its operational stretch targets
However the Committes used its discration to pay the Executive
Directors and other senior leaders no more than 93% of the maxmum
for thetr annual bonus for 2017

Matching shares under the 2014 Co-Investrent Plan vested at 1 3times
out of a maximum cpportunity of 15, or 87%.

» The Long Term incentive Plan awards granted in 2014 and 2015 for the
performance peried 2014-2017 vested at 100% due to outperformance
on revenue growth and operating cash flow over the pericd Awards
only vest every two years, with the previous vesting in 2015 Total
remuneration should therefore be considered as a two-year cydle,
rather than comparing year on year



Impact of the 21st Century Fox Offer

1. Remuneration Policy Review

In my 2016 statement | committed to undertaking a thorough review of
our remuneration pelicy pnor to seeking approval for a new policy at our
2017 AGM The review progressed threugh the first half of the year and

| was pleased to be able to meet with a number of cur major shareholders
to understand their views directly

The 2ist Century Fox Offer was announced to shareholders in December
2016 and the Committee decided that.in ight of thes, the pragmatic
approach was to pause the policy review untit the ocutcorme became clear
i wrote to our key shareholders to explain that 1f the Offer were stiltiny
progress at the time of the 2017 AGM we would present the existing
Remuneration Palicy for re-approval, and should the Offer be withdrawn
or lapse in sufficient time prior to the 2018 AGM, we woukd re-engage
with aur shareholders and subrit a new policy for approval at that ime
This approach has enabled us to provide a degree of certainty to our
executive directors during this penod and ensure that they remain
focused on the business

The palicy set out n the fallowing pages 1s therefore uttchanged from
that approved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM

2. Share awards due to vest in July 2017

The Coemmittee reviewed the impact of the Offer an the existing
remuneration structure it concluded that the relative TSR performance
measure which apphes to 30% of the LTIP award due to vest in July 2017
would no longer be a fair measure of the Company's performance, due

to the distertive iImpact of the Offer on the share price The TSR measure
was therefore removed and vesting of the awards was based sofely

on the operational metrics of revenue growth, operating cash flow

and average £PS growth.

The Commuttee considered that these metrics were no more difficult nor
easy to satisfy than the TSR conditions were ntended to be in the absance
of the Offer, and are the most appropriate to ensure that management
remains focused on the key operational metnics which continue to drive
the business

3. Ongoing Share awards

Inlight of the ongoing Offer the Committes agreed to continue with the
scheduled Year 2 award of the 2016-19 Long Term Incentive Plan and the
2OM7-2020 Co-lrvestment Plan awards that would normally be due at the
end of July and in August These awards will vest either at the end of their
normal performance perad, or will be subject to early vesting conditions
should the Offer complete

Other decisions made during the year

The Commuttes reviewed its policy on disclosure of performance targets

it remains of the opinian that early disclosure of targets within two years
of the end of the performance period would be commercially sensitive
given the highly competitive nature of the market in which the Company
operates To this end, targets are disclosed on page 66 for the 2015 apnuat
bonus and the LTIP vesting for that year

Activity in the coming year

The activity for the coming year will be shaped by the outcome of the

st Century Fox Offer Showtd the Offer be withdrawn or fapse in sufficient
tme prior to the 2018 AGM, the Committee will complete its review of the
remuneration policy and will seek the views of our major shareholders
prior to putting the new policy to a shareholder vote at the 2018 AGM

Tracy Clarke
Commuttes Chairman
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Directors’ remuneration report

Our perfo rmance at a g|ance The Committee follows a policy of maintaining lower levels of fixed pay refative to the market.
The structure of a high ratio of variable te fixed pay continues to provide a strong link between
pay and performance and delivers strong returns for our shareholders.

Strong a|ignment with Over the last eight financial years, Sky has outperformed Shareholding guidelines exceaded by
h hold B itical the FTSE 100 by 35%. Dividends increased by 90% CEQ and COO & CFO
shareholders is critica 2002-16. Under the terms of the 21st Century Fox Offer,

the Company has agreed with 21st Century Fox that it will
not pay any dividends during the calendar year 2017

TSR against major indices

Performance agai nst our kE\/ We are firm advocates of ‘pay for performance’ and these measures have been carefully chosen
to align executive and shareholder interests. The 2017 LTIP vesting 15 based on operational

measures has been strong performance and excluded refative TSR due to the impact of the Offer on Sky's share price.

Qurfinancial performance i measured on an ‘adjusted’ basis, as reported externally, in arder to capture underlying performance TSR performance has been removed from the LTIP measurement critena due to
the 215t Century Fox Offer See page 51 for further details

We believe that this system offers the fairest outcome for both our executives and our shareholders.

Our policy is to pay lower fixed ! i 3 .
2017 was a vesting year for the LTIP, so total remuneration is higher this year than in 2016

pay with high variable pay

The charts show tha single figure remuneration for 2016 and 2017 See page 64 for further details

1 This s an adjusted measure and a reconcihation between statutory and adjusted measures can be found on page 141
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Directors’ remuneration report

Our remuneration policy

Due to the 215t Century Fox Offer the proposed Remuneration Policy is presented with no material changes from the version that was approved by
shareholders at the 2014 AGM.

This section describes the Directars’ Remuneration Policy which shareholders will be asked to approve at the 2017 AGM The Committee intends that this
policy will take effect from that date Should the 21st Century Fox Offer be withdrawn or lapse m sufficient time prior to the 2018 AGM the Committee
intends that the Policy will be effective until the 2018 AGM, at which point a new Policy will be proposed for shareholder approval.

Remuneration Principles
Five key principles underpin the remuneration pelicy for our Executive Directors

.

.

.

Our approach to executive pay is aligned to the interests of cur shareholders

We reward our people fairly and competitively to attract motivate and retain the skills we need to deliver significant growth

The level of base pay Is decided In the same way as for all employees, based on indvidual performance and expenence, the size and scope of the role
and taking account of total remuneration

The majority of executive pay Is tied to the achievement of stretching performance goals finked to the strategic pneribies for the business Executive
Directors will be well rewarded only If they meet or exceed the maxmum performance standards set and achiave stretching levels of performance

We take care to ensure that remuneration does not inadvertently encourage nappropnate nisk taking.

Our principles set the foundation for our remuneration policy and ensure that decisions made by the Committee are consistent and appropriate in the
context of business priernties, shareholder Interests and employee pay

Summary of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The table below shows how our remuneration policy inks to our business strategy and its terms of operation

Purpese and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity Performance link

Base salary

Attracts andretains
Exacutive Directors taking
account of personal
contribution and size

of role

Reviewed annually, typicatly with effect
from 1 July

Salaryis set relatively low versus the
peer group of companies of similar
market capitalisation to the Company

The Committes fooks at pay practices
Iin selected internaticnal media
companies

Decisions on salary also take into
account the performance and
experence of the individual changas
in the size and scope of the role,

and the level of salary awards

across the busingss

Individual and business
performance is taken into
account when reviewing
salaries

Any increase willbe in line with
those provided to employees
within the Company

Higher iIncreases may be made
as aresult of a changein role
or responsibility or other
performance-based
crcumstance

Thisisin ine with our policy
for all employees

Pension

Provides opportunity for
longer-term saving and/or
retirement provision

Executive Directors may receive
emplayer contributions into the Sky
Pension Scherng, a cash supplement
1nlieu of pension, or a combination
thereof

All payments are made as a percentage
of base salary

Employer contributions to the N/A
pension scheme or an equivalent
cash supplement are capped at

around 16% of base salary

Annual Report 2017
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Our remuneration policy - continued

Purpose and link to strategy  Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance link

Executive Directors are entitled to a
range of benefits including, but not
hmited to, private medical insurance,
Iife assurance, 1 health ncome
protection, paid hohday sick pay, Sky
subscription package, company car
allowance and use of a company car
generally for business travel purposes

The Committes may make minor
changes to benefits, or include other
henefits that are deemed appropnate
from time te time

Relocation aliowances and benefits
may be provided where needed ta
assist wath the relocation or
international transfer of an Executive
Director and their dependents

Benefits provided to Executive

Directors are broadiy in hine with

those offered to all employess

Where exceptions are made, the

Commuttee ensures that
benefits offered are in ine with
market practice for similar rales
n sipalar organusatlons

NIA

Performance measures and weightings
are reviewed at the start of each year
to take account of current business
plans Stretching performance targets
are setannually

Performance against targetsis
monitored quarterly and determined
annually based opn assessment of
performance versus each target

Payment 1s made only once annual
results have been audited

In exceptional arcumstances the
Committee will use 1ts jJudgement to
adjust benus outcomes up or down
to ensure glignment of pay with
performance and with shareholder
interests, within the policy maximum

Awards are subject to clawback for
a pertod of two years after payment
In cases of gress misconduct and
misstatement of results

The maximum bonus
opportunity 15 200% of base
salary, and s payable for
the achievemeant of stretch
objectives

The rminimum payment is zero

The Committee believes the

concept of threshold, target and
maximum cempromises our drive

for growth so we set one clear
and ambitious stretch target
for ach performance measure
every year The achuevement

of stretch goals will resultin

a payout at maximum or
near-maximum The Committee
exercises s judgement an

the level of bonus payable for
outeomes short of maximum

Performance 1s assessed
against a combination of
operatienal and financial
objectives which are
determined at the start
of the year

The weighting of the
measures 15 determined

at the start of each year
Each measure wili have a
maximum waighting of 40%

Further details are disclosed
1n the notes to the policy
table and tha Annual
Remuneration
Imptementation Report

on page 60

Executive Directors may invest up
to half of tharr earned annual bonus

Other Provides Executive

benefits Oirectors with a range of
core and fringe benefits as
part of a competitive total
remuneration package

Annual Drives and rewards the

bonus dehvery of stretching
annua! performance
goals aligned with the
Company's overall
business strategy

Co- Encourages persenal

Investment  investmentand

Plan (QP) shareholder ahgnment.,

rewards tong-term focus
and performance
achievement

in the Company’s shares

These investment shares are matched
on a gross basis and vest based on
parformance over a three-year period
Shares are matched byup to 15 shares
for every 1 share investaed in hne with
performance

Dnce vested participants may exerciss
the awards dunng a five-year period

Matching share awards are subject to
clawback for a period of two years after
vesting In cases of gross misconduct
anhd nusstatement of results

Particpation in the plan s voluntary

The maximum annuat award Is
15C% of base salary

No matching awards are capable

of vesting :f performance is
below threshold, a 1 far I matceh
may vest when the mimmum of
the range 1s met and all the
shares vest (or 1 5 shares for
evary share invested; when the
maximum of the range 1s met

The performance measure to
determine the vesting of the
shares is chosen each year
and Is typically a financial
measure such as EPS growth

Further details on the
performance criterta for
threshold and maximum
vesting are disclosed in
the Annual Remuneration
implementation Report
on page 60
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Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance fink

LongTerm  Rewards longer-term Awards are made annually under the
Incentive value creation and aligns terms of the scheme rules, based on
Pian {LTIP}  Executive Directors’ number of shares This de-links the

interests with thase
of shareholders

award from increasing automaticaily
with salary adjustments

Vesting of awards s based on
stretching performance over a
three-year period. Awards are made
tn Year 1 and Year 2 with vesting

of both awards at the end of Year 3
This means that vesting of awards
occurs every other year, with zero
vesting in between

Once vested, participants may exercse
the awards during a five-year period

In instances of gross misconduct
all unvested LTIP awards lapse
immediately

Awards are also subject to clawback
for a period of twe years after vesting
in cases of gross miscenduct and
misstatement af rasults

The Committee may use its discretion
after having taken independent advice
tc withhold or vary downwards any
unvested awards typically in the

event of

« the matenal restatement
of the Company’s audited results, or

« actions attnbutable to participants
resutting In matenal reputational
damage to the business

The Committee will determine how
to apply this sanction on a case-by-
case basis

The Committee reviews the
number of shares to be granted
annually Atypical award for the
Group CEQI1s 600,000 shares
In any 12-month penod

The maximum award fevel s
900,000 shares 1in any 12-month
penod Such awards will only

be made In exceptional
cireumstances

100% of the shares vest when
the performance cniteria are
met m full If the rinimum of
therange 1s met each year
for all measures 26% af the
shares vest

Performance measures are
typieally a mix of operational
measures and relgtive TSR

Cperational measures used
in the past have iIncluded EPS,
cperating cash flow and
revenue growth

The weighting of the measures
may vary but 1s typically 70%
operaticnal measures and
30% relative TSR

Foliowing the announcement

of the 21st Century Fox Gffer,
the Committee removed relative
TSR as a performance measure
for awards due to vest on

27 July 2017

Around 630 employees are eligible for awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan A smaller number of employees (around 130) are also invited to
participate in the Co-Investment Plan All emplayees are eligible to receive a comprehensive benefits package and the majority are eligible to receive

either a monthly or quarterly cash incentive or an annual bonus
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Our remuneration policy - continued

Shareholder alignment

The Committee considers sharehalders’ views as they are received during
the year, at the AGM, through shareholder meetings and through
correspendence We engaged with our major shareholders to sohat therr
views as part of the review of our current remuneration policy Following the
announcement of the Z1st Century Fox Offer we infarmed sharehclders of
our intention to put the review on hold until the outcome of the Offer was
known If the Offer does not complete prior to the 2017 AGM we will put
forward the current palicy for renewal, with a firm commitment to complete
the review process should the Offer fail to complete Anew poiicy would

e put forward for approval at the 2018 AGM should the Offer be withdrawn
or lapse in suffictent time prior to the 2018 AGM

We continue to welcome feedback from our shareholders at any tme

The context for setting executive remuneration policy

The principles underlying our existing executive remuneration palicy are
aligned to those that underpin reward for our employees as a whole which
aim to attract, motivate and retain people by offering a market-cempetitive
total remuneration package The Committee takes into consideration the
pay and canditions of all employees when determining the remuneration for
the Executive Directors it does not consult with employees in this process

Cur performance measuras and how they operate

Executive pay remains firmly tied to the achievement of stretching
performance goals inked to business strategy The measures we use are
based on speafic areas that drive growth and returns to shareholders.

We belisve the concept of a threshold, target and maximum formula would
compromise our drive for growth so we set one clear and ambitious stretch
target for each performance measure every year

Annual bonus

The performance measures for the annual bonus are determinad by the
committee based on the business priorties for the year They are typicaily &
mix of operational and financial performance measures The measures are
usually a combinaton of operating profit, operating cash flow and revenue
growth They are aii key Indicaters of the underilying performance of the
business £ach year stretch objectives are set in the light of the Company's
annual business plan and the operating environment

Co-Investment Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan

Performance measures for the LTIP and CIP are reviewed annually to ensure
allgnment with the Company's strategy and shareholders’ interests

The CIP measure 15 typically compound EPS growth in excess of RPI

over the parformance period, which ensures ¢lose ahgnment with our
shargholders’ iInterests Performance required for threshold and maximurm
vasting are described (n the Annual Remuneration Implementation

Report on pages 60 to 63

The LTIP measures are typically a mix of operational measures and relative
TSR performance, with a 70/30 sphit The operational measures are usually
EPS growth, operating cash flow and revenue growth Asthe conversion of
profit to cash fow s a key indicator of the underlying perfoermance of the
business it Is used as a measure in both the annual bonus and the LTiP

Foliowing the announcement of the 215t Century Fox Offer the Committee
removed the relative TSR performance metric from awards due to vestin
July 2017 on the basis that TSR waould no fonger be a farr measure of the
Company's performance due to the distertive impact of the QOffer on the
share price Further details may be foung in the implementation report

on page 61

Our LTIP vesting cycle 1s atypical and has served the business and
shareholders wall since it was introduced in 2005 Vesting occurs only every
other year and as a consequence the amount of remuneration delivered to
Exacutive Directors will spike every other vear. This approach encourages
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focus on the longer term The performance ranges for each measure are
reviewed annually in the light of the Company’s three-year plan, brokers’
forecasts and histoncal performance Performance at the top end of the
range 1s stretching.

Pay scenario analysis

The charts below provide an estimate of the awards that could be receved
by our Executive Directors under the remuneration policy for 2017118
showing

« Minimum Dase salary as at 1July 2017 plus pension and benefits
as per the table on page 64 (fixed pay)

« Maximum fixed pay plus maximum awards for annual bonus (200%
of base salary for the Group CEQ and 150% for the Group COQ & CFO),
Co-Investment Plan (maxmum deferral of 50% of the annual bonus into
investment shares and full vesting of 1.5x matching shares) and Long
Term Incentive Plan (600,000 shares for the Group CEQ and 350,000
shares for the Greup COO & CFO)

The Committee sets one clear and ambitious stretch target for each
performance measure If stretch targets are met then100% of maximum for
the bonus is paid and the shares awarded under the LTIP and CIP will vest in
full There s ne additional payment for achievement over the stretch goals.

Awards under the LTIP are made annually but vesting occurs anly every two
years The impact of this vasting cycle oh actual reahsed pay s shown in the
eight-year single figure remuneration table for the Group CEQ on page 65

Scenarnos are modelled assuming a share price of £8 83 whichis the
average share price over the period 3 Apnilto 30 June 2017 with no
allowance for share price apprecration

QOther share schemes

Management Leng Term Incentive Plan (MLTIP)

The Company also operates a MLTIP for selected employees excluding the
Executive Directors and senior executives who participate in the LTIP
Awards under this scheme are made at the discretion of the Group CEG,
within the parameters agreed by the Committee The MLTIP mirrors the LTIP
in design in order to ensure alignment between participants in either plan



Sharesave Scheme

The Sharesave Scheme 15 open to our employees I UK, ireland, Austria,
Germany and taly and encourages them to make a long-term Investment
1N the Company's shares In a tax effiaent way where possible under local
legislation The current legisiation provides for employees to save up to
£500 per month Currently the mit for Sky employees in the UK s £250 per
manth atthough the Company may decide to adjust this amount in future
Options are normally exercisable after either three or five years from the
date of grant The price at which options are offered is not less than 80%
of the middle-market price: on the dealing day immediately preceding the
date of invitation or the average of the three days preceding the date of
invitation 1t1s the policy of the Company to invite employees to participate
in the scheme following the announcement of the year end results
Currently, approximately 12,200 employees participate in these schemes

Under the terms of the 21st Century Fox Offer all existing schemes would
cease on the date on which the Offer completas and employees would be
able to exercise therr options over the following six months Employees
would also receive a taxable cash payment equivalent to the foss inthe
gamn they could have made had the scheme run through its normat course

Shareholding guidelines and share ownership

The Committee recognisas the importance of aigning Executive Directors’
and shareholders interests through executives bullding up a significant
shareholding in the Company The sharehelding reaurements are 3x base
salary for the Group CEQ and 2x base salary for the Group COO & CFO
New Executive Directors are required to build up thewr shareholding to
the required levels within five years Theare are no shareholding guidelines
for Independent Non-Executive Diractors but they are able to participate
I a menthly share purchase plan See page 67 for further details on
Directors’ mterasts

How the Remuneration Committee exercises discretion
The Committee retains discretion relating to annual bonus, LTIP and CIP
i line with their rules and according to the remunaration palicy

These include but are not mited to
+ Timung of a grant of an award/payment

+ Swizeof an award/bonus payment up to the maximums indicated
n the policy table

Determination of vesting and the apphication of clawback for the annual
bonus, CIP and LTIF, and malus for the bonus and LTIP

= Dealing with a change of control

« Determination of treatmant of leavers based on the rules of the
plan and the leaver policy

+ Annual review of performance measures and welghting and targets
ofthe plan from year to year

Any use of discretion within the palicy framework will be explained in the
Annual Remuneration Implementation Report There may be exceptional
arcumstances under which the Committes may use discretion or
judgement in the interasts of the business and shareholders These
exceptional crcumstances may be the subject of discussion with the
Company's major shareholderg

Remuneration on recruitment or appeintment to the Board

Itis expected that the remuneration package for a new Executive Director
witl be agreed in fine with the approved remuneration policy at the time

of appointment The Commttes would seek approval from its major
shareholdersifit felt it necessary to pay more to attract the best
candidate The last time an executive appaintment was made, the
Committee approved a total remuneration package lower than the
previous iIncumbent

Typically base salary on appointment will take into account individual
expenience the size and scope of the role, total remuneration and relevant
market pay leveis Where the inthal base salary s set below competitive
levels, for example to account for someone who may be newly promoted
to the Board, the Committee will realign salary in the years following
appointment, assuming the required level of personal performance

1s met The Committee will disclase its intention to do this at the time

of appointment

Other elements of remuneration will be set in ine with our policy unless
specfic crcumstances dictate otherwise. For example, it may be necessary
to use different performance measures inibially for the annual bonus taking
into account the time of joining m the finanaial year and responsibilities

of the indwvidual

The Committee may offer one-off cash and/or share-based elements in
addition to the standard remuneration package These will oniy be offered
where It considers these to be imperative to attracting the best external
candidate in order to compensate for elemeants of pay such as forfeited
bonus entitiements and/or unvested long-term incentive awards from

an existing emplover Any buy-out of unvested share awards would aim

to match as far as possible the vesting terms and the expected value

of the awards being bought out This proviston may also include paymant
for any benefits in kind, pensions and other allowances previously provided
to the individual

The Cormmittee may also provide appropniate levels of refocation assistance
and payments to external or internal appointees who are required to
relocate either within, or to, the UK on taking up the rols

Where an internal candidate is promoeted to the Board, any outstanding
variable pay award or benefits provided in reiation to the previous role may
be paid or deliverad according to the rules of the plan and may be adjusted
to take into account the new role The Comrnittes may also make an LTIP
award on appointment outside the annual cycdle, under existing shareholder
approved plans The value of such an award will not exceed our normal
policy maximum

The remuneraticn arrangements for any newly appointed Executive
Director will be disclosed in ine with our regulatory obhgations

Key terms of new and existing service contracts
The Cormmittee’s policy for the Executive Directors’ service contracts
15 provided below

Notice Up to one year's notice for etther party and a one year

period nen-compete provision The Company may require the
individual to continue to fulfil current duties or may assign
garden leave

Paymentin  Oneyear's salary plus an amount egual to the benetits

lew of and a pre-rata bonus for the period up to the termination

naotice date No bonusis payable for the duration of the notice

perad unless that perod is worked

Jeremy Darroch's initial service contract on appomtment as CFO
commenced on 16 August 2004 The contract was rewised on 7 December
2007 when he became CEG Andraw Griffith's service contract was revised
on 7 Apnl 2008 when he was appointed CFO Coptes of the Executive
Directors service contracts are avaliable for mspection dunng normal
business hours at the Company's registered office on any business day
and will be avanlable at the place where the AGM s held from 15 minutes
priorto and dunng the meeting
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Our remuneration policy - continued

Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment in place and are subject to annual reappointment at the AGM These letters provide that na
compensation 1s payable on termination other than accrued fees and expenses. The dates of these letters of appomtment are detailed below

Date of Letter of Appointment

Chase Carey 30 January 2013
Tracy Clarke 11 June 2012
Martin Gilbert 29 November 20M
Adine Grate 17 July 2013
James Murdoch 7 December 2007
dohn Nallen 4 November 2015
Matthieu Pigasse 29 Novemnber 2011
Andy Sukawaty 1June 2013

Katrin Wehr-Seiter 13 October 2016

Payments on termination and loss of office
The Company's termination policy 1s shaped by the key prinaiples that

+ contractual terms will be adhered to, and
« the arcumstances of the termination will be taken inte account

Executive Directors’ service contracts continue until the agreed retirement date or other date as the Company may agree and are terminable an no more
than cne year's notice

The Company may terminate an Executive Diractor’s service contract by way of payment m heu of notice, by continuing employment for the duration of the
notice period, andfor by assigning a peried of garden leave The current Executive Directors’ service contracts also contain & non-compete provision of ona
year from the date of termination of the agreement

Termination ‘for cause’ and ‘without cause': treatment of salary, bonus and benefits

In the event of termination 'for cause’ salary and benefits would be payable only up to the date of termination No bonus would be payable In the event
of termination 'without cause’ the Executive Director would recetve one year’s salary, an amount equal to the value of the benefits he would have been
ehgible to receive far one year, and a pro-rated bonus for the period from the start of the financiat year up to the date of termination, No benus weuld
be payable for the years notice period.

Treatment of share plans on termination
Executive Directors’ entitlements to remuneration under the shareholder-approved share plans upon termination are summansed in the table below

Plan Reasons such as death, redundancy, retirement, ill health, injury and Other leaver reasons such as resignation®
disability, employing company ceasing to be part of the Group or any
other reason at the discretion of the Committee*

LTp LTiP awards will not normally be exercisable until the normal All unvested shares wili usually lapse on the date of leaving
vesting date, subject to the performance conditions baing However, the Committee has the discration under the plan
met Award vesting will be pro-rated according to the portion rules to determine whether & proportion of the shares may
of the performance period served unless the Committee vest having taken into account any exceptional circumstances

determines otherwise

Awards may be exercised early in certain circumstances for example,
in the event of death or a takeover, or change 1n control

P Anyinvestment shares held en behaif of the participant may Investment shares may be sold Any matching award will be forfeited
be sold, Any matching awards held under the CIP will vest However, the Commuttee has the discretion to determine whether a
on the same terms as outlined above in relation to the LTIR proportion of the matching award may vest having taken into

ascount any exceptional circumstances.
Sharesave Options may become exerasable within 6 months, alternatvely the  Options will lapse and the participant may only withdraw savings
participant may choose to withdraw savings accrued under the savings contract
*  The share planrules do not refer to for cause or ‘without cause’ Termination For cause’ weuld normally be dealt with unger ‘Other leaver reasens’ Termination ‘mthaut cause’ wauld
ba dea't with as anw other reason at the discretion of the Cammittae

It 1s the Company s policy to use 1ts jJudgement when approving payments to departing Executive Directors within the prowision of the planrules
The Committee wil take into account factors such as the arcumstances and timing of the exit, the performance of the Executive Director while
In office and the interests of shareholders

External appointments

External appomtments for £xecutive Directors are considered by the Company s Corporate Governance & Naminations Committes to ensure they would
not cause a conflict of nterest and are then approved by the Charman on behalf of the Board {tis the Company’s policy that remuneration earned from
such appointments may be retained by the individual

Jeremy Darroch became a Non-Executive Director of Burberry Group ple in February 2014 and serves as Chairman of thear Audit Committee a member
of the Nomination Committee and as Senior Independent Directar fram 1 july 2017 For the period 1 Juty 2015 to 30 June 2017 Jeremy earned £112.084
In this rote

Andrew Grffith became Senier Independent Non-Executive Director of Just Eat ple in March 2014 and since April 2017 has been serving as Interim
Chairman He also Chars the Audit Committee and s a member of their Remuneration and Nominations Committees For the penied 1 July 2016 to
30 June 2017 Andrew earned £72,500 in this role
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Reruneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The table below summarises the key components of remuneration for our Chairman and Non-Executve Directors

Element and purpose

Operation

Fees

Refiect incdhvidual responsibiities and
membership of Board Committees Attract
Non-Executive Directors with the skills and
experience reqguired to oversee the
implementation of strategy

Fees for the Chairman and the Non-Executiva Directors are reviewed annually
hawving regard to iIndependent advice and surveys

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee determines the

fees paid to the Chairman, taking into account the complexity of the role and
the time and commitment required The Beard of Directors determines the
fees for the Non-Executive Directors

Additional fees for membership of or chairmanship of a committee,
or for other responsibilities, are payable in addition to the basic fees
Fee levels for 2017 are disclosed in the table on page 68

Non-Executive Directors can elect to receive a porfion of their fees in the
Company's shares, which are purchased on amonthly basis Directors who
are deemed to be affilated with 21st Century Fox are not permitted to take
part in this faciity Non-Executiva Directors’ interests are disclosed in the
table on page 67

Benefits

Additional benefits may be provided for business purposes, eg provision
of a car to travel toffrom meetings

Nen-Executive Directors are not eligible to join Sky's pension plan

Mon-Executive Directors are eligible to recave a Sky subscrniphion package.

Bonus and Share
Plans

Non-Executive Directors are not eligible te partcipate in any bonus or share
scheme offered by the Cornpany

Notice and
termination
provisions

Each Mon-Executive Directors appointment is for aninitial three-year term
In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors submit
themselves for annual reappointment

Non-Executive Directors each have a letter of appointment, these
appointments may be terminated without notice Any fees payable would
be settied at the date of termimation, No continuing payment of fees are
due If a Non-Executive Director is not re-elected by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting
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Directors’ remuneration report

Annual remuneration implementation report

This section sets out how our remuneration policy was implemented during
the year ended 30 fune 2017 and how it will be implemented for the coming
year It also sets out the {ink between Company performance and Executive
Directors’ remuneration the context in which our policy operates, details
on our Exgcutive Dirsctors’ shareholdings and the general governance

of Directors’ remuneration In the event that the 21st Century Fox Offer

1s withdrawn or lapses (n sufficient time prior to the 2018 AGM the
Remuneration Committee wili complete its policy review and will submit

a new policy for shareholder approval at the 2618 AGM No retention
awards or any cther arrangements have been made for the Executive
Directors followng the 21st Century Fox Offer

What are our variable pay outcomes for this year?

This has been a year of robust performance against our key drivers of
performance and (s reflected in the outcomes for our vanable pay plans
set out below

Annual bonus for 2097 performance

The annual bonus drives the achievement of annual finanaal and
operational business goals The plan for 2017 for Executive Directors and
senlor executives was based on three equally weighted measures which
were identified by the Committee as being key indicators of performance
driving growth for cur business and returns to our shareholders

» Revenue growth
« Cperating profit
+ Operating cash flow

We beleve the concept. of thresheld, target and maximum performance
would compromise the drive for growth so the Committee sets one clear
stretch target for each performance maasure each year, after careful
consideration of the business plan and of cansensus analyst forecasts
Performance 1s measured on an ‘adjusted’ basis, as reported externally,
in order to capture underlying performance

The table below sets out the Committee's assessment of perfermance
versus the three measyres for the last performance perod The Committee
sets stretehing targets which must be delivered to achieve the business
plan and for the Executive Directors to receive the maximum bonus

There are no payments above maximum for performance above these
streteh targets

The Committee will use its judgement to assess the level of bonus If a
stretch target s not met, taking nto account personal performance,
the performance of the other measures, the underlyng performance
af the business, and other factors which the Commuittee considers

to be matenal to the results achieved Payments are earned in direct
correlation to performance achieved

Annual bonus metrics

performance Weighting Performance Achievement against
measure performance measures
Revenue growth 33% +49% Slightly below
stretch target
Operating profit 33% £1.483m Outperformance vs
stretchtarget
Operating cash flow  33% £1.221m Qutperfarmance vs
stratchtarget

In total the business achieved 95% of Its operational stretch targets
However the Committee used its discretion te pay the Executive Directors
93% of maximum, equivalent to 186% of base salary for the Greup CFO and
140% for the Group COC & CFO
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The Committee believes strongly that early disciosure of specific targets
would offer a matenal insight and competitive advantage for our
competitors and therefore would be to the detriment of our shareholders

Qur commitment remains to make retrospective disclosure when the
targets are no longer commercially sensitive We anbicipate this to be
two years after the end of the performance penod

Vesting of shares under the Co-Investment Plan (CIP) 2014-2017
Linder the terms of the CIP offered on 1 September 2014 for the
performance period 1 July 2014 to 30 june 2017, Exscutive Directors
voluntarily deferred 50% of their earned 2014 bonus into nvestment
shares which were then matched by the Company up to 15 times

the gross equivalent of thewr investment

The table below shows the performance condiions for vesting of the
matching shares M

EPS growth performance Mateh awarded
(annual average growth (number of matching shares
over three-year terim) awarded perinvestment share”)
Less than RP1 +3% 00
RPI +3% 10
RPI +4% 125
RPI +5% 15
mMore than RPl +5% i5

Straight-line interpolation between points
*1g onequivalant gross basis

The average adjusted basic EPS growth rate was 6 2% per year over the
three-year period RPIcver the same perod was 2 0% per year, which
includes the sharp post-Brexit iIncrease in inflation over the final months of
the performance period The Committee agreed that the matching shares
under the 2014 CIP will vest at 1.3 times on 1 September 2017, which 1s 87%
of the maximum



Vesting of shares under the Executive Long Term Incentive Plan 2014-2017

The Executive Directors were awarded LTIPS in two tranches for the performance penod 1.July 2014 to 30 June 2017, on 25 Juty 2014 and 29 July 2015
respectively. The performance condrtions for vesting of these awards were onginally operational targets comprising 70% of the award and relative
TSR performance comprising 30% of the award nlight of the 215t Century Fex Offer, the Committee concluded that the TSR performance metricis

no longer a fair measure of the Company’s performance due to the effective distorting impact of the share price by the Offer, and that it would therefore
be appropriate ty remove TSR and have the awards vest solely based on the operational metrics The Committee believes that these metrics are no mare
difficult nor easier to achieva than the TSR conditions were intended to be in the absence of the Offer It also concluded that these metrics would be most

appropriate to ensure that management remainad facused on the key operational metrics that drive the business The decision applied to all hotders of
LT!Ps in the business

Operational targets
There were thres equally weighted operational performance measures, each of which was determined to be a key indicator of Sky's continued success:

= EPS growth - measures our ‘bottorn Iine’ performance
» Operatingcash flow - measures our ability to generate and manage cash
* Revenue growth - key to our growth strategy

Performance 1s measured on an ‘adjusted’ basis, as raported externaily, in order to capture underlying performance The Committee will make
retrospective dizclosure of the targets for operating cash flow and revenue growth when they are deemed to be no longer cammercially sensitive
We anticipate this to be two years after the end of the performance period This means that subject to the outcome of the 21st Century Fox Offer
we will review disclosure of performance targets in our 2019 implementation report, with a view to publishing unless the Committee behieves they
are still commercally sensitive in the context of the market in which the company operates.

+ For EPS, two paints are awarded for growth of RPI +3% per year, with the maximum ten points awarded for RPI +5% per year or more
+ For operating cash flow and revenue growth, one point 1s awarded for 75% achievement of ‘target’ on a shding seale up to ten points for 105% or more,

+ One point equates to 10% of the award vesting, with maximum vesting for 21 points or more, vesting on astraight-ine basis between these points
There 1s no additional award for achievement above 21 points

if the minimum range 1s met each year for alt measures, 26% of the shares vest

The Comrittee sets a high thresheld vesting level in ine veth our policy of rewarding success not failure Maximum vesting s not achievable
If performance is below threshold for any one measure

To earn the minmum of one point on any one of these measures requires the achievemnent of 75% of target Missing two targets would represent
asignificant and disproportionate reduction in totai compensation

Annual perforrmance measures are shown in further detail in the table below

Average EPS growth Operating cash flow Revenue growth
Performance achieved Performance achieved

Performance achieved Points awarded (% of target) Points awarded (% of target) Points awarded
RPI+5% p a 10 105% or more 10 105% or mare 10
RPi +4 5% pa 8 100% 8 100% 8
RPl+4%p a 6 95% 6 25% 6
RPL+35%pa 4 S0% 4 0% 4
RPI+3%pa 2 285% 2 B5% 2
lessthanRPI+3%pa 0 75% 1 75% 1
tessthan 75% 0 Less than 75% o]

The committes gave careful consideration to consensus analyst forecasts and the business plan before setting stretching performance targets
Actual performance 1s described as follows

Revenue growth average annual revenue growth over the three-year penodwas 56% pa

Operating cash fiow Average annual operating cash flow over the performance penod was £1 3 bifion

EPS growth actuaf growth i earmings per share over the three-year period was 6 2% p a, with average RPI over the penod of the scheme of 20% p a
Maximum paints would have been achieved for average EPS growth of 70% pa

Actual points awarded for the penod for these measuras are

Actual points awarded

Average EPS growth Operating cash flow Revenue growth

548 964 723

The total 6f 23 3515 10 excess of the 21 points required for full vesting of the award
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Annual remuneration implementation report - continued

The table below summarises performance over the three-year period versus the stretch targets

2014-2017 Long Term Incentive Plan performance metrics

Performance Weighting  Performance Achievement against
measure performance measures
Revenue Growth 33% 108%

Outperformance vs stretch target
Operating Cash 33% %

Outperformance vs stratch target
Flow
EPS Growth 33% 62%pa

Shightly below stretch target

The strong performance for revenue growth and operating cash flow over the three-year performance pericd was sufficient to offset the shght
underperformance versus the rmaximurn for EPS growth The total overall vesting for the LTIP was therefore 100%

What share-based incentive awards did we make in the year?

Minimum % Maximum %
No, of shares Face value on ofsharesthat  of shares that
awarded Grant date dateofgrant Performanceperiod  Vesting date can vest canvest

Long Term Incentive Plan

Jeremy Darrach 600,000 2904716 £5520000 010716 - 300619 290719 0% 100%
Andrew Griffith 350000 294716 £3,220,000 Q10716 - 300619 290719 0% 100%
Co-Investment Plan

Jeremy Darrach 17611C 310816 £1,621,590° 010716-300619 310819 C% 100%
Andrew Griffith 83159 310816 £718,494° 010716 -300619 30819 0% 100%

1 Markat price at date of LTIP award was £9 20 on 29 July 2016
2 Market price at date of QP matching award was £8 64 on 31 August 2016

Performance conditions for the Long Term Incentive Plan
Awards made in July 2016 were 'Year 1" nil-cost awards That 15 they refate to the three-year performance penod beginning on 1 July 2016 and enchng on
30 June 2019 Vesting is subject to the following performance condibions

1. Operational targets - 70% of the award
There are three equally weighted cperational performance measures, each of which 1s a key indicater of Sky's continued success

+ EPS growth

» Operating cash flow

» Revenue growth

Performance s measured on an ‘adjusted basis as reported externally,in order to capture underlying performance

The Cormmittee will make retrospective disclosure of the targets for operating cash flow and revenue growth when they are deemed to be no langer
commercially sensitive We anticipate this to be two years after the end of the performance period This means that we wili review disclosure of
performance targets in our 2021 mplementation report, with a view to publisting unless the Committee believes they are stil commeraally sensitive
1n the context of the market in which the company operates

+ For EPS, two points are awarded for growth of RPI +3% per year, with the maximum ten points awarded for RP| +5% per year or more

For operating cash flow and revenue growth, one pointis awarded for 75% achievement of ‘target’ on a shding scale up to ten points for 105% or more,

One point equates to 10% of the award vesting. with maxmum vesting for 21 points or more, vesting on a straight-line basis between these pomnts
There s no additional award for achievement above 21 points

if the mimimum range 1s met each year for all measures 26% of the shares vest

The Committee sets a high threshald vesting tevel in ine with our policy of rewarding success not fallure Maximum vesting s not achievable
if performance 15 betow threshold for any one measure

To earn the minimum of one point ¢n any one of these measures requires the achievement of 75% of target Missing two targets would represent
a significant and disproportianate reduction in total compensation
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Annual performance measures are shown in further detaii in the table below

Average EPS growth

Operating cash flow

Revenue growth

Performance achieved

Performance achieved

Performance achieved Points awarded (% of target) Points awarded (% of target) Points awarded
RPI +5% p.a 10 105% or more 10 105% or more 10
RPI +4 5% p.a 8 100% 8 100% 2]
RP! +4% n.a G 95% & 95% [}
RPI+35%pa 4 90% 4 90% 4
RPI +3%pa 2 85% 2 85% 2
Less than RPI +3% p.a. 0 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 75% a Less than 75% 0

The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards 1n 2016 at RPI +5% p a This is equivalent to absolute growth in earnings of 26% aver three years
If RPI1s 3% a year This lavel of growth in earnings was set at a level which exceeded consensus research analysts’ esbmates

2. Relative TSR performance - 30% of the award

The Company's TSR performance 15 measured relative to the TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 100 If the Company’s TSR performance 1s below median,

the TSR element of the award lapses in ful! For median performance, one-third of the shares subject to the TSR condition may vest, with all of the shares
vasting for upper quartile performance Vesting s on a straight-line bas's, between these points as shown below

TSR Vesting Schedule

TSR calcutations are conducted independently by Wilis Towers Watson, advisors to the Committes

Performance conditions for the Co-Investment Plan

CIP awards made In 2016 are subject to the performance conditions set out in the table balow

EPS growth performance Match awarded
(annual average growth (number of matching shares
over thrae-year term) awarded per investment, share*)
Less than RPl +3% 00
RPI+3% 10
RPI +4% 125
RPl+5% 15
More than RFI +5% 15

Straight-line interpolation hetween points

*1e onequnalent gross hasis

Annual Report 2017

63

ANBLIDACD



Directors’ remuneration report -
Annual remuneration implementation report - continued

What did we pay our Executive Directors during the year?

The table below sets out totat remuneration received by the Executive Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 and the prior year ended
30 June 2016 The vesting pattern of awards under the LTiP I1s bienniat, shares vest every other year over a three-year performance penod. This means
that every other year ho payment I1s due as there Is no vesting of awards The foltowing year, assuming performance conditions are met, there will be

a payment which covers the equivalent of two years vesting 2017 was a year In which the LTIPs awarded for the performance penod1July 2014 to

30 June 2017 vested so the single figure for 2017 15 higher than for 2016, which was a non-vesting year

Single Figure for Executive Directors’ Total Remuneration (audited)

Taxable Fixed Pay Long Term
Salary’ Benefits? Pensiont Bornus* and Bonus*® IncentivaPlan®  Co-lavestment Plan’ Total
£ 2016 2007 2Me 207 2m6 2m7 2016 2017 2016 2007 206 2007 2016 2077 2016 207

Jeremy 1014293 1039650 24385 22122 152191 156,930 2028586 1933749 3219255 3152451 nfa 1796000 14000238 1,394338 4619283 16,342,585
Qarrach

Andrew 638600 654565 2346824805 95483 93800 957500 91318 1,715451 1,691 289 n/a 688,000 638541 655392 2353992 9227631
Griffith

Executive [hrectors salares were mereasad on 1uly 2016 by 2.5% for the Group CEQ and Group COQ & CFQ The average increasa for ermployees at that time was 2 0% rising to 2 7%
for those earning less than £31000 par year, with a range of 2% to 19% for parfarmance, promotions and market adjustments

Taxable benefits iInclude company car or car allowance, healtncare, provisian of tax advice and other expenses incurred I the ordinary course of business which are deemed to

be tarable benefits on the indimdual Taxable benefits for Jeremy Darroch For 2016 have been restated toinclude benefits receved 10 that year for which the cost was not known

at tha time

Persion comprises a<ash allowance in bau of company contributions

Bonus shows the full arnaunt earnad shortly after the vear @nd inwhich the performance rmeasuras apphed inchuding amounts defsrred through the CIP The payout for the 2016
bonus was 200% of base salary for the Group CEQ and 150% for the Group CO0 & CFO The figures for 2017 are 186% for the Gioup CEO and 140% for the Group COO & CFO which

15 93% of manimum The Executive Drectors deferrad 50% of their benus inte shares through the CIP In 2016 and it s anticipated they will do se for 2017

Fixed Pay and Bonus 15 the total of salary taxable benefits, pension and bonus for 2016 and 2017

Lang Term Incentive Plan shows the market value of the awards that vested immediatety followng the end of the relevant performance periad Mo LTIP shares vested for the
performance pariod ended 30 June 2016 The figure for 2017 15 the astimated value for LTIP shares which vested on 25 tuly 2017 using the aserage share price over the period

YApri 2017 ko 30 June 2017 of £3 83

Co-Investment Plan shows the market vahua of the matching shares that were exercised on 30 ugust 2016 with a share price of £8 60 Previously the value of thesa shares was
esumatad LSNg the dverage share prce over the penod 1 April to 30 June 2016 of E9 40 it alse shows the estimataa value of matching shares that are due tovast on 1 September
2017, using the average share price over the period 1 April to 30 June 2017 of £9 83
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Percentage change in Group CEQ's remuneration 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017
The table below shows the percentage change in Group CEG remureration from 1 July 2035 to 30 June 2017 compared to the average change for all
employees '

Group CEO % change All employees % change
Base Salary' 25% 2 7% employees earning less than £31,000, 2 0% above £31,000
Taxable Benefits -8 5% 0%
Annual Bonus -47% -6%

1 Employzes were awarded up to10% for outstanding performance, promotians and market adjustmeants

Relative importance of pay spend
The table below shows total employee costs and dvidend payments te shareholders for 2016 and 2077

2016 2017
(Em) (Em)
Total employee costs’ 1514 1729
Dividend payments’ 564 358

1 Group totalincluding Germany and Italy
2 Undar tha terms of the 21st Century Fox OFfer, the Company has agreed with 215t Centuny Fo« that il not pay any dvsdends dusing the catendar year 2017
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How is the pay of our Group CEO linked to Sky’s performance?

TSR performance

The graph below shows the Company’s TSR for the eight years to 30 June 2017, measured as the value of a £100 holding 1n ordinary shares at the start of
the penod The performance is shown relative to the FTSE 100, which represents the broad market index against which the Company’s shares are traded.

TSR 15 a measure of the returns that a company has provided for its shareholders, reflecting share price movements and assuming renvestment of
dividends Data s averaged cver three months at the end of each financial year

TSR against major iIndices

Group CEQ's remuneration

Thetable below provides a summary of the total remuneration for the Group CEQ ovar the past eight years including bonus payout, LTIP and CIP vesting
levels The table highlights the unique structure of our remuneration policy, in which vesting of LTIP shares occurs every two years rather than the
customary 12-menth cycle. As our LTIP awards are made as a fixed number, the reahised value is purely reflective of delvery agaihst performance measures

and any share price growth over this pertad, keeping it aligned to sharehalders’ interests

It should be noted that tetal remuneration for 2013 includes vesting of the gne-off additional LTIP award of 300,600 shares made 1n 2011 at the ume of
the then possible News Corparation bid The average annual total remuneratien paid to the Group CEQ over this eight-year periad, excluding this one-off
award, 15 £5574,911

2010 20M 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2007
Singfe figure of total remuneration 2678744 M133554 4550037 170769827 4876590 17873503 46182837 16342589
Annual Bonus payout against maximum opportunity % 100 100 100 575 100 100 100 93
LTIPvesting rates against maximum opportunity % n/a B3 n/a 100 nfa 93 nia 100
CIF vesting rates aganst maximum opportunity % n/a nfa 100 100 100 100 100 87

1 Inctudes first vaar of yesting of P Introduced 1In 2010

2 Inchudes vesting of the one-off additional LTIP award of 300.000 shares madsa in 2011 at the bme of the than possible Hlews Corporation bid

Inciuges value of CIP matching thares which were exercised on 30 August 2016 at £8 60 previously reported using the average share prce oser the period 1Apri* to 30 Jure 2016

of £940

Includes valuation of LTIF shares that vested on 25 July 2017 and CIP shares due to vest on 15eptember 2017 both using the average share price over the period 1Apr to 30 June 2017

of £583

us
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Annual remuneration implementation report - continued

Disclosure of Performance Targets for 2015

The Committee discussed at length its approach to disclosure of performance targets its position that early disclosure of targets would be commercially
detrimental because of the highly competitive nature of the market in which tt operates stili hoids but it considers that perfarmance targets for the 2015
annuat konus and 2015 LTIP vesting are no longer commercially sensitive

Annual bonus
In setting the bonus targets the Committee gave careful consideration to the business plan and to the research analyst consensus forecasts at the time.
The targets and performance (measurad on an ‘adjusted’ basls) for the 2015 annual bonus are shown in the table balow.

201415
Performance vs
Performance Metric Target Performance Target
UK and ireland pard-for Products Growth +22m +33m 150%
UK and iretand Operating Profit £1,300m £1,350m 104%
UK and Ireland Operating Cash Flow £1170m £1414m 121%

On the basis of this performance the Committee determined that the bonus was pald at 100% of maximum for the Group CEQ and 100% for the Group
COO&CFQ

LTIP

The LTIP that vested 1n 2015 for the 2012-15 performance penod was based 70% on three equally weighted operational performance measures of average
EPS growth, Operating Cash Flow and Revenue Growth (measured on an ‘'adjusted’ basis) 30% of the award was based on relatwe TSR performance versus
the FTSE 100 The operation of the Plan and the award payout table was the same as for the 2016-19 plan set out on pages 62 tc 63 The targets and
actual performance for Operating Cash Flow and Revenue Growth were as follows

UK and Iretand Operating cash flow UK and Ireland Revenue growth
Performance vs Performancevs
Target Performance Target Paints Target Performance Target Points
2012-13 £1,275m £1,396m 105% 333 +5 0% +6.56% 130% 333
201314 £31150m £1,284m NZ% 333 +5 0% +5 3% 106% 333
2014115 £1.170m £1414m 121% 333 +50% +5 4% 108% 333
Total 10.00 10.00

The adjusted UK and ireland basic EPS growth target of 7 3% (RP| + 5%) per annum was exceeded with actual performance at 10% per anhum The total
points achieved of 30 00 was therefore in axcess of the 21 paints required for full vesting of this element of the award

Relative TSR performance was at 77% and therefore 23% of this element of the award vested Total vesting overall was therefore 93% of the maximum.

How do we intend to implement the remuneration policy next year?
in the context of the 21st Century Fox Offer the Committee has determined that the existing remuneration policy will be implemented as fellows for the
year ending 30 June 2018

Base salary

The average salary increase for our emplovees affective 1 July 2017 was 3 0% for those earning tess than £31000 and 2 0% for all other employees,
with increases up to 10% for outstanding performance, promeations and market adistments. The Committes decided to make base salary adjustments
of 2 5% each for the Group CEQ and Group COC & CFO, effective 1 July 20171 ine with the parameters for our employees

Taxable benefits and pension
No changes

Annual Bonus and Co-Investment Plan
The performance measures for the annual bonus rernain unchanged for the coming year, namely revenue growth, operating profit and operating cash fiow
The Committee believes that these measures provide clear line of sight to the key iImperatives for the business

We expect that both of the Executive Directors will participate in the CP for this year The performance conditions for the vesting of shares are as per the
details set cut on page B0

Long Term Incentive Plan award

The Committee agreed that Jeremy Darroch would be granted an award of 600,000 shares and Andrew Griffith would be granted an award of 350000
shares on 27 July 2017 This is the Year 2 award of the 2016-2019 Plan These awards will narmally vest on 29 July 2019 subyject to the performance
measures baing achieved

The performance conditions for this award are the same as for the 20165 award

Shouild the 21st Century Fox Offar complete before the end of the performance perieds for the LTIP and CIP awards, the awards will vest on a cash-settled,
time-pro-rated basis on the date on which the Offer completes, with no performance conditions attached if the Offer 1swithdrawn or lapses the awards
would vest on the normalvesting date based on the performance condiions, and be settled in shares
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Directors’ Share Interests

As at the end of the financial year, the Group CEQ had beneficial ownership of 689,871 shares equivalent to 6 & x base salary and the Group CO0 & CFO
had beneficizl ownership of 172,445 sharss, equivalent to 2 6 x base salary, using the year end dosng share price of £9.94 Both Executive Directors

currently exceed the shareholding guidelines for Executive Directors as described on page 57

Interests in Sky plc shares (audited)

Asat Change during Asat
30 June 2016 the year 30 June 2017
Executive Directors:
Jeremy Darrach’ 628078 61,793 689,871
Andrew Griffith’ 143267 29178 172,445
Non-Executive Directors:
Chase Carey’ - - -
Tracy Qarke 3355 891 4246
Martin Gilbert 65,346 1460 7806
Adine Grate 9194 20,200 29394
Dave Lewis 10,326 983 1,309
James Murdoch? - - -
John Nallen® - - -
Matthieu Pigasse 6,47 1,448 7865
Andy Sukawaty 3308 1,333 4,64}
Katrin Wehr-Seiter - - -
1 Interests in shares include shares purchased under the Co-Irvestment Plan on 30 August 2016 at a price of £8.64
2 Mon-Executwe Directors affihated to 21st Century Fax are nct permitted to participate in the monthly share purchase plan
3 Sharehslding as at 13 October 2016, the date Dave Lews stapped down from the Board
Outstanding share awards: Jeremy Darroch {(audited)
Share price Market  Date from
At 30 June Vested Exercised Lapsed At30June atdateof price on which
Date of award 2016 duringyear duringyear during year 2017 award exercise exercisable Expiry date
LTIP =
250714 600,000 - - - 800000 ES 74 nja 250717 20722
290715 600000 - - - €00000 £1132 nia 250717 250722
290715 - - - - 800000 £920 nia 290719 290724
CIP Matching™ ***
280813 162794 - 162,794 - - E8 41 £860 280816 280821
010914 163,644 - - - 163644 £882 n/a 010917 ;0922
280815 141758 - - - 141,758 £1042 nj/a 280818 280823
310816 - - - - 176,110 £864 nia 310819 31.08.24
Sharesave
300814 2139 - - - 2139 £8 82 nfa 010220 310720
Outstanding share awards: Andrew Griffith (audited)
Share price Market  Date from
At 30 June Vested  Exercised Lapsed At30June atdateof price on which
Date of award 2016 duringyear duringyear duringyear 2017 award exercise exercisable Expirydate
LTI+
250714 350,000 - - - 350000 £8.74 nia 250717 250722
290715 350,000 - - - 350000 £1132 nfa 250717 250722
290716 - - - - 350,000 £920 nfa 2801 290724
CIP Matching”**>
280813 74,249 - 74,249 - - £8 41 £860 280816 280821
010914 76930 - - - 76,530 £882 nia o817 010922
280815 06,938 - - - 66938 £1042 n/a 280818 280823
210816 - - - - 83159 EB 64 nfa 310839 310824
Sharesave
300914 1271 - - - 1271 £F882 nia 010218 310718

1 Performance conditians ralating to LTIP aviards rmad2 in 2004 ang 2015 are asalosed nthe 2015 Annua' Renort

2 Tha 2013 CIP award was e<erusad and shares subsazuently sole on 30 Aug.st 2016 The aggregata valae raceived Dy the Exscutive Direcrors on @xerase of thew 2013 (1P Marching

Award bafore tax was £2,038570

[

the Company has agre2d with 215t Century Fes that it will not pay ary dradends during the calendar year 2017
Parfarmance conditions relating to CIP Matehing Awa Js car Sa found onpage 60
Fo'lowing tha vesting of awa ds particpants conlinining to be employed oy the Compary nave five years o axercse the award

[Eal-

Dividends ara payabie en shares purchasad tnrough tha OP During the vear the Exerutive Drector s recaived £52105 (2016 £76 621) Under the tarms »f rive 257 Century Fos Ottar
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Annual remuneration implementation report - continued

What did we pay our Chairman and Non-Executive Directors during the year? {(audited)
The following table sets out the single figure for total remuneration for the Charman and Non-Executive Directors for the financial year ended
30 June 2017 and the prior year ended 30 June 2016

2017 Total 2016 Total

Fees' Fees

Chase Carey 64,600 63,000
Tracy Clarke 105,600 108,000
Dave Lewis? 24.078 92,397
Martin Gilbert 14600 144827
Adine Grate 10,600 878
James Murdoch 400,000 15323
John Nalien 64,600 41,353
Matthieu Pigasse 84,600 73615
Andy Sukawaty? 140,074 20154
Katrin Wehr-Seiter” 56,375 -

1 Basicfees wers increased by 2 5% from 1July 2016 Changss to responsibdities and asscoiated feas are set out in full in the 2015116 Remuneration Report

2 Dave Lewis stepped down fromthe Board on 13 Cctober 2016

3 Andy Sukawaty had taxable travel expenses of £474 during the year, which has been ‘grassed up’ for tar and included in the total fees

4 KatrnWehr-Serter joined the Board on 13 Octaber 2016 Katrin had taxable travel expenses of £10,078 during the year, which has been ‘grossed up’ for tax and included in the total fees

Fees for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are detailled in the table below

From 1 July From 1 July

2017 2016

E £

Chairman (all inclusive fee) 410,000 400,000

Ceputy Chairman 30,000 30,000

Board member’ 65,215 64 600
Additional responsibilities:

Senior Independent Director 43,000 40,000

Chairman of Committee 25000 25000

Member of Committee 10,000 i00C0

1 Fees for the Charman and Mon-Executiva Directors were increasad by 2 5% effective 1.July 2017

Payments to past Directors and loss of office
There were no payments made to past Directors and no payments made for loss of office during the financial year

Shareholder voting outcomes

The Company 1s committed to engaging with sharehofders and every year engages with major shareholders and institutional iInvestor groups to talk about
remuneratiocn This enables the Company to take shareholders’ views fully into account when making decisions about remuneration At the AGM held on

13 October 2016, 91.06% of shareholders voted in favour of the Directors Report on Remuneration The Remuneration Policy was last approved at the AGM
held en 21 November 2014, where 82 97% of shareholders voted in favour

Resolution Votes For % For Votes Against % Against TotalVotesCast  Votes Withheld
2016 Approval of the Remuneration Report  1,317690,682 9106 125,442 366 894 1447133048 9190163
2014 Approval of the Remuneration Pohcy 1.313.682.688 Y257 99,341,288 703 113,023,576 13646452
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Membership of the Committee
During the year ended 30 June 2017 the Committee chaired by Tracy Clarke met six times Tracy Clarke. Adine Grate, and Andy Sukawaty are members
of the Committee Attendance dunng the year s shown on page 41

Role of the Committee
The role of the Committee is to oversee the remuneration policy so that the Company 1s able to recruit, retam and motivate 1ts Executives and reward
therr indmidual contributions in a fair and responsible manner The Committee reviews the cesign and structure of employee incenbives and 1s responsible
for approving the key terms of employment far the Executive Directers or any senor executive who reports directly to the Group CEQ The full terms of
reference for the Committee are available on the Company's corporate website The terms of reference were reviewed during the year as part of the

narmal corporate review process and no matenal changes were made.

Committee activities during the year

The table below shows a summary of the key areas discussed by the Committee during the financial year

July 2016 October 2016 December 2016 January 2017 Aprit 2017 June 2017

Performance outcomes Updateon the reporting Review and approval of  Shareholder feedback Performance update - Performance

for banus, LTIPand CP season proposals for the on ramuneration bonus LTIP and CIP update - bonus,

LTIP and

Rewrew and approve Update on shareholder :E;r:tllc;r:\zf:rtl;:o\,ee policy review Update on the 21st ndclP

performance targets feedback and proxy it Impiications of Century Fox Offer and Update on the 21st
context of the proposed

forthe 2016/17 annual  voting service guidance 21st Century Fox Offer  implications for the Century Fox Offer
Offer by 21st Century Fox

bonus and LTIP on the remuneration remuneration golicy

Revisw of imetable Rev nd approval of clicy review and on Update on

Review and approve for shareholder oA PP Bolcy executive and all
the proposal to remove  implementation of the

remuneration for consultation on employee salary
tha TSR performance remuneration policy

Executive Directors remuneration policy remuneration

and Senior metric from awards due roposals

Management Rewiew of Committee to vestin July 2017 prop

g activities versus the Review of the
Rewview and approve Terms of Reference first draft of the
Directors’ Chairman's
Review of timetable ctatement

Remuneraticn Report

Update on
remuneration policy
review

for review of advisors
to the Committee

Advisors to the Committee
Willis Towers Watson acted as independent adwisors to the Committee thraughout the year The Committee s satisfied that the advice it receves on
Executive Directors’ remuneration 1s Independent and objective, and that the adwsors do not have connections with Sky that may impair their
independence Terms of raference are monitored throughout the appointment Willis Towers Watson subscribes to the Remuneration Consuftants
Group's Code of Conduct in relation to executive remuneration The Code clarifies the scope and conduct of the role of remuneration consultants when
advising UK listed companies The fees paid to Wiills Towears Watson for their services in relation to directors’ pay totalled £111,955 During the year,
Wiilis Towers Watson also provided Sky with advice on pension within 1ts reward strategy, and the operation of its pension and related benefit
provisions, and also advised on a review of call centre incentives

The Group CEQ and the Director for People provide infarmation and advice and attend meetings as required The Committes 15 also supported by
the Company Secretary Finance and Human Resources functions No Individuals are inveived in the deaision in refation to their own remuneration

The Remuneration Report was approvad by the Board of Directors on 26 July 2017 and signed on 1ts behaif by

Tracy Clarke

Chairman of Remuneration Committee
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

introduction

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, the Corporate governance
report on pages 38 to 49 and information cantained in the Strategic Report
on pages 2 to 33 forms part of this Directors' report and are incorporated
by reference.

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated
and parent company financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017,

Shares

Dividends

Under the terms of the Offer, the Company has agreed with 21st Century
Fox that it will not pay any dividends during the calendar year 2017. However,
should the Scheme not become effective on or before 31 December 2017,
shareholders in the Company will be entitled to receive a special dwidend
of 10 pence per share, payable in 2018 1n addition, shareholders will be
entitled to receive any dividend declared and paid by the Company in

the crdinary course during the calendar year 2018 and prior to the date
on which the Scheme becomes effective The price of £1075 per share
under the Scheme shall be reduced to the extent that the dvidend in
respect of the six menths ending 31 December 2017 exceeds 13 06 pence
per share and that the dividend in respect of the year ending 30 June
2018 exceeds 21.8 pence per share Furtherinformation can be found

in the announcement of the Offer dated 15 December 2016.

Share capital

The Company’s Issued ordinary share capital at 30 June 2017 comprised
one class of ordinary shares All of the 1ssued ordinary shares are fufly
paid and rank equally In all respects, Further details of the Company's
share capital and share 1ssues under the period under review are
disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interests in voting rights

Information provided to the Company pursuant to the UK Listing
Authority's Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTRs) 1s published on

a Regulatory Information Service and on the Company's website As at

30 June 2017, the Company had been notified under DTRS of the following
significant holdings of voting nghts 1n its shares.

Percent

Amount of class

Identity of person or group owned? notified
21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited' 672783139 3914

1 Direct holding which 1s subject torestrictions on its voting rights (please see 'Veting
rights’ balow).
2 Number of shares he'd as at 30 June 2017

There were no changes notified between 30 June 2017 and 26 July 2017,

The Employee Share Ownershsp Plan ('E50P") was established to satisfy
awards made to participants of the Company's employee share plans.
The trusteas of the ESOP have waived the nght to dvidends payable
Inrespect of the shares held by it, except to the extent of 0 0001% of
the dividend payable on each share At 30 June 2017 the ESOP had an
Interest In 6,863,924 of the Company’s ordinary shares The Trustees,
who are independent of the Company, have full discretion on how

they vote the ordinary shares held by the ESOP.
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Voting rights

The Company's Articles of Association provide that subject to any rights
or restrictions attached to any shares, on a show of hands every member
present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and oh a poll every
member shall have one vote for every share of which they are a holder,
On a poll, votes may be given either personally or by proxy or {in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authonised representative.

Ashareholder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting may
appeint one or more proxies to attend and vote instead of them.

If a membper appoints more than one proxy they must specify the
number of shares which each proxy 1s entitled to exercise rights over.

A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. Holders of the
Company’s ordinary shares do not have cumulative voting rights. A voting
agreement dated 21 September 2005 was entered into between the
Company, BSkyB Holdco In¢, 215t Century Fox (21CF or 21st Century Fox’)
and 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited which became unconditional
on 4 November 2005 and caps 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited's
voting rights at any general meeting at 3719%. The provisions of the
voting agreement cease to apply on the first to occur of a number of
circumstances. On the anticipated timetable for the Scheme, it is expected
that the first of these to occur will be the Scheme becoming effective,

Members of the Independent Committee who own shares in the Company
have irrevocably undertaken to vote, or procure to be voted, all voting nights
attached to their own henefical holdings of 916,268 shares (representing,
In aggregate, approximately 0,053 per cent. of the share capital of the
Company 1n 1ssue at close of business on 26 July 2017) in favour of

any resolutions propesed in connection with the Offer at any general

or Court-convened meeting of the Company to implement the Offer.

The members of the Independent Committee have also undertaken

not to exercise, or permit the exercise of, the voting rights attaching

to such beneficial holdings of shares in the Company In any manner

which would frustrate the Offer

Restrictions on transfer of securities

There are no specific restrictions on the transfer of secunities in the
Company, which 15 governed by the Articles of Association and prevailing
legislation, nor 1s the Company aware of any agreements between holders
of secunties that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities

or that may result in restnctions on voting rights, save as set out above

Variation of rights

Subject to the Companies Act 2006, nghts attached to any class of shares
may be varied with the consent In writing of the holders of three-quarters
in normunal value of the 1ssued shares of the class orwith the sanction of a
special reselution passed at a separate general meeting of the shareholders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Listing Rules came Inta effect in Novemnber 2014 which
require a premium sted company which has one or more controling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which 1s Intended to ensure
that any controling shareholder complies with the iIndependence provisions
inthe Listing Rules.

21CF and certain of its wholly-owned subsidianies, directly or indirectly,
exercise or control 39.14% of the voting rights of the Company and are
therefore deemed to be controlling shareholders for the purposes of
the Listing Rules

Accordingly, the Company entered inte a relationship agreement with
21CF on 13 November 2014 {the ‘Relationship Agreement’) containing
the undertakings required by the Listing Rules



In accardance with the Listing Rutes, the Beard confirms that, throughout
the penod under revew:

() the Company has complied with the Independence provisions in the
Retationship Agreement;

{1) so far as the Company Is aware, 21CF and its associates have compled
with the independence provisions In the Relationship Agreement; and

() sofaras the Companyis aware, 21CF has procured compliance by
its relevant subsidianes and their associates with the independence
provisions in the Relationship Agreement.

In the event that the Scheme becomes effective and the Company's shares
cease to be isted on the premium segment of the Official List, or in the
event that 21CF ceases to be a controlling shareholder of the Company

for the purposes of the Listing Rules, the Relationship Agreement will
terminate with immediate effect,

Directors’ powers in relation to the Company

issuing and buying back its own shares

At the 2016 AGM, the Directors were given authority to allot shares up to a
maximum nominal amount of £573,005,742 representing two-thirds of the
Company's then 1ssued ordinary share capital. Of this amount, a nominal
armount of £286,502,871 (representing one-third of the Company's then
issued ordinary share capital} could only be allotted pursuant to anghts
issue (the Allotment Authonty). The Directors were additionally empowered
to allot equity secunties in the Company for cash, pursuant to the
Allotment Authority, on a non-pre-emptive basis (@) in connection with
arights issue or open offer, (b) (otherwise than in connection with a

rights issue or open offer) up to a maximum nominal value of £42975,430
representing 5% of the Company's then issued share capital and (©)
(otherwise than in connection with a rights issue cr open offer) up to
amaximum nominal value of £42,975 430 representing a further 5% of
the Company's thenssued share capital for the purposes of financing

a transaction (or refinancing within six menths of the transaction) which
the Directors determine to be an acquisition or other capital investment
contemplated by the Pre-emption Group's Statement of Principles .
(Principles’). In line with the Principles, the authority under () and ()
were sought in separate resolutions The Company did not seek

authority to buy back its own shares at the 2015 AGM.

Articles of association
The Company’s Articles of Asscaiation may only be amended by
special resclution at a general meeting of shareholders

Annual General Meeting

The venue and timing of the Company's 2017 AGM will be detailed
In the nctice convening the AGM at the relevant time which will be
available or download from the Company's corporate website at
www.skygroup sky/corporate.

Board of Directors

Board of Directors and their interests

The Directors who served during the year were: Jeremy Darroch, Andrew
Gnffith, Chase Carey, Tracy Clarke, Matthieu Pigasse, Martin Gilbert, Adine
Grate, Dave Lewis, James Murdoch, John Nallen, Andy Sukawaty and Katnn
Wehr-Seiter, Dave Lews stepped down from the Board at the conclusion
of the Annual General Meeting on 13 October 2016 and Katrin Wehr-Seiter
was appointed iImmediately foliowing the meeting The kiographical
details of the Directors of the Company can be found on pages 36 and 37

The Directors’interests in the ordinary shares and options of the Company
are disclosed within the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 50 to 69

Appointment and retirement of Directors

The Directors may from time to time appoint one or mare Directors,
Any such Director shall hold office only until the next AGM and shall
then be eligible for reappointment by the Company’s shareholders.
It1s the intention that at the Company’s 2017 AGM all continuing
Executive and Non-Executive Directors will retire and offer themselves
for reappointment in compliance with the Code.

Alternate Directors

A Directar may appoint any other Director or any other person to act as
his Alternate. An Alternate Director shall be entitled to receive notice of
and attend meetings of the Directors and committees of Directors of
which his appointer is a member and not able to attend The Alternate
Director shall be entitled to vote at such meetings and generally
perform all the functions of his appointer as a Director in his absence,

On the resignation of the appointer for any reason the Alternate Director
shall cease to be an Alternate Director. The appointer may also remove
their Alternate Director by netice to the Company Secretary signed by
the appointer revoking the appointment.

An Alternate Director shall not be entitled to fees for their service as an
Alternate Director.

Chase Carey, James Murdoch and John Nallen have appointed each
of the others to act as their Alternate Director,

Employees

Equal opportunities

At Sky we believe In equal opportunities and that everyane should have
full and fair consideration for all vacancies, promotions, training and
development We work with employees who have disabilities to remove
barriers from the working environment to allow them to maximise

their patential.

Diversity and Inclusion

At Sky we aim to be an inclusive employer, with a workforce reflecting the

dwversity of the sccieties in which we operate. For more on cur approach
to diversity and inclusion please see page 15.

The table below shows our gender diversity at Group level as at 30 June 2017.

Male Female
Board of Directors'? 8 73% 3 2%
Senior managers'?? 183 75% 62  25%
All employees?* 19571 63% 11745 7%

As defined in the Companies Act 2006

2015/17 datais independently assured by Deloitte LLP and can be viewed online at

www skygroup sky/corporate/bigger-picture

3 This year we updated the reporting methodology for sanior women m italy to bring
it n ine with the rest of the Group

4 Based on headcount

~

Employee engagement

At Sky we listen to our people and encourage everyone to be involved.

We know great 1deas come from all corners of our business and it is part
of our believe In better spint to harness those ideas for the benefit of our
customers and our people This year we used a new survey provider, GLINT,
to gather feedback from our teams in the UK, ROl and Italy We achieved
record levels of participatian in the survey (82% in the UK and ROl and
79% in Italy) and we continue to achieve high levels of engagement,
outperforming external benchmarks by 8% in the UK and ROl and 13%

In Italy. in July 2017 the survey was extended to the whole Sky Group
which wili allow us to consistently gather feedback from all five

territenes we operate In
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures - continued

Sky UK and Ireland: Progress against target to halve our carbon emissions relative to revenue'

2008/09
Target (Baseline) 2010 20112 201213 2013h4 201415 2015182 2067
Gross absolute emissions {tCO:£> 105,839 107294 94,616 92568 94,420C 101,039 97584 94809
Scopel 20,322 23,088 20539 20,429 20633 24,406 24,333 25,564
Scope 2 (location-based) 85,517 84,196 73,677 72,539 73787 76,633 73,251 69,245
Carbon intensity (tCO;e/Em) 207 153 139 128 124 129 .7 no
Reduction in gross absolute COxe 50 o} 21 33 38 40 37 44 47

emissians refative to revenue (%)

Our carbon emission performance 1s as a result of our continued investment in the UK, Italy, and Germany and Austria to increase energy efficiency.
We have taken measures such as LED lighting, engaging employees, reducing product waste and investing in renewable energy including distnct heating.

Sky Group-wide carbon emissions and carbon intensity 201617?

UK& Germany &

Sky Group Irefand Austna Italy
Gross absolute carbon emissions (tCO;e)
Scopel 30,350 25564 2149 2637
Fuel combustion (gas, diesel generators, fuel oil, vehicles)

Diesel k<] 134 5 52

Fuel Oil 33 n/a 33 n/a

Gas 5,568 5401 nfa 167

Vehidle Fuel 23,245 18,257 2,095 1883
Operation of faciities (refrigerants)

Refrigerants 1313 762 16 535
Scope 2 (Jocation-based} 91,977 69,245 3,487 19,185
Purchased district heating gross (location-based} 649 o] 208 a4
Purchased electricity (location-based) 91,268 69,245 327% 18,744
Scope 2 (market-based) 44,267 18,973 686 24,608
Purchased district heating (market-based) 649 o] 208 a1
Purchased electricity (market-based) 43618 18,973 478 2467
Total (Scope 1and 2) (location-based) COse (tC0se) 122,267 94,809 5,636 21,822
Total (Scope 1and 2) {market-based) COze (tCO:€) 74,617 44,537 2,835 27,245
Joint Ventures contribution te total Scope t and 2 {locaticn-based) COqe (tCO-e)* 568 568 nfa n/a
Carbon Intensity
Revenue (Em) 12916 8,600 1,858 2458
Carban Intensity (tCO.&/Em revenue) S47 11.02 303 8.88

1 Independently assured by Delotte LLP.
2 2015/16 has beenrestated to reflect the most up-to-date data set

3 Wameasure our (0, emissions according to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, the global standard for reporting greenhiouse gas emissions Our total gross CO e emissions include all
Scope 1and Scope 2 location-based emissions, and our market-based emissions are those remaning after emissions from contractual instruments have been applied Our energy
providers retain, on our behalf the Guarantees of Onigin (GOs) and Renewable Energy Guarantee of Origin (REGD'S) In addition, we offsat cur total gross emissions, Including Scope,

Scope2 and selected Scope 3 emissions, through the purchase of renawable energy nvestments and Voluntary Carbon Standard offsets

&

Jomt ventures include an enterprise or business where Sky 15 the majority shareholder (>50%)

72 Sky pic



Other disclosures

Contracts of Significance
The following agreements are contracts of sign:ficance In accordance with
Listing Rule 98.4010),

On 25 July 2014, the Company (and certain of its subsidianes) entered into
varnous agreements with 21st Century Fox {and certain of its subsidiaries)
to effect the acquisition of Sky Itaha Srl for £2 06 billien with the
consideration being partially settled by the disposal of the Company's
21% stake in National Geographic Channel International to certain of

21st Century Fox's subsidianes at a vatue of US$650 million The sale

and purchase agreements for the acguisition and disposal contained
customary warranties, covenants and indemnittes, including certain
tndlemnities relating to tax and other matters as well as certain
commitments from 21st Century Fox not to retail certain services to
consumers In certain terrtories, and from Sky not to compete with

the business of the National Geographic Channel, until 1 January 2017,

Also on 25 July 2014, as part of the acquisition of Sky Deutschland, the
Company {and certamn of its subsidiaries) entered into vanous agreements
with 21st Century Fox (and certain of sts subsidiaries) to effect the
acquisition of 21st Century Fox's entire shareholding (approximately 57.4%)
tn Sky Deutschland AG, a German stock corporation listed on the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange, for £2 9 billion (the ‘Sky Deutschland Acquisition’), The sale
and purchase agreement contained customary warranties as to title and
ownership as well ag certain commitrments not to offer certain services

to consumers In certain territories untit 1 January 2017,

Significant agreements

The following significant agreements which were in force at 30 June 2017
take effect, alter or terminate on a change of controf of the Company
following a takeover brd

Premier League

In 2015, Sky UK Limited (a Group subsidiary) entered into an agreement
(the 2015 PL Licence’) with The Football Association Premier League
Limited (the 'PL), pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of the
seven avallable Live Packages in respect of the three seasons 2016/17 -
2018119, together consisting of 126 live matches per season. The PLwillnot
award Live Packages containing in aggregate more than 126 live matches
per season to a single licensee (aither on its own or as part of a consortium
or through one or more related parties) (the 2015 PL Single Buyer Rule’)
Pursuant to the 2015 PL Licence, the PL can suspend and/or terminate all
of the rights which are included in, or exercisable as part of, Live Packages
contaimng in the aggregate up to 42 live matches per season in the event
that a change of control of the Company occurs at any time prior to the
expiry of the 2015 PL Licence which, if it had occurred priar to the award

of the Live Packages to the Group, would have resulted in a breach of

the 2015 PL. Single Buyer Rule

DFL. Contract/Bundesliga Rights

In June 2016, Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG entered into an
agreement (the ‘Bundesiiga Agreement 17/21") wath DFL in relation to the
predominantly exclusive rights to broadeast 572 out of 612 games of the
Bundesliga 2nd 2nd Bundesliga The iack of 40 matches was aresult of the
newly implemented ‘No single buyer rule’ by the German Federal Cartel
Office The licence penod will begin with the season 2017118 and will end 2020/21
The Bundes'iga Agreement 17/21 may be terminated on a change of control

Serie A

In 2014, further to an invitation to offer (the ‘1507, Sky Iltaha Srl entered

into an agreement {the 'Serie A Licence’y with Lega Nazionale Professionisti
Serie A (the ‘Lega’), pursuant to which Sky Italia Srl was awarded ane of four
available packages of ive audio-visual nghts for the Italian Sene A football
champienship for the seasons 2015/16 - 2017118 {the four packages are
together the 'Live Packages”) [n addition Sky Italia Srl has been granted

a second package through a sublicence agreement entered into with
Mediaset Premium, These two packages consist of all the 380 live matches
per season but do not grant nghts across ali distribution platforms
Pursuant to the relevant provision tn the 150, Lega will not award all of the
Live Packages for all platforms to asingle kcensee (either on its own or
through one or more of its related parties) (the 'Serie A Single Buyer Rule”).
As a consequence Lega could suspend andfor terminate one or more of the
rights which are included in the package assigned to Sky [taha Srl, in the
event that a change of control occurs at any time prior to the expiry of

the Serie A Licence which, if it had occurred prior to the award of the Live
Packages, would have resulted in a breach of the Serie A Single Buyer Rule.

UEFA

On 12 fune 2017, Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co. KG entered into
an agreement with the Union des Associations Européennes de Football
{'UEFA’) In relation to certain medta nghts to broadcast matches of the
UEFA Champions League for the seasons 201819 - 2020/21 acress all
distrbution means (the ‘German CL Agreement 18/20°) The German CL
Agresment 18/20 may be terminated on a change of contral if such change
of control adversely affects the ability of Sky Deutschland Fernsehen
GmbH & Co. XG to perform its obligations under the agreement.

On 16 June 2017 Sky Itaha Srl entered into two agreaments with UEFA

in relation to ali the media nghts to broadcast matches respectively

of the UEFA Champions League and the UEFA Europa League for the
seasons 2018/19 - 2020/21 across all distribution means (the Italia VEFA
Agreements’) The Itala UEFA Agreements may be terminated on a change
of control If such change of control adversely affects the ability of Sky Italia
Srl to perform its obligatiens under the agreements,

21st Century Fox voting agreement

Cn 21 September 2005, the Company, BSkyB Holdce In¢, 215t Century Fox
UK Nominees Limited and 21st Century Fox entered into a voting
agreement, pursuant to which 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited's
voting nghts at any general meeting are capped at 3719% (the 'Voting
Agreement’) The provisions of the Voting Agreement cease to apply inter
alia, on a change of control of the Company

Revolving Credit Facility

The Group has a £1,000,600,000 syndicated multicurrency revolving credit
facility ¢RCF") with a maturity date of 30 November 2021. In the event of

a change of control of the Company, as aresult of which both S&P and
Moody’s downgrade the Company's credit rating below investment grade
within 90 days, the lenders can require any amounts outstanding under
the RCF to be repaid {other than in the event that 21st Century Fox or any
subsidiary or holding company thereof (or a subsidiary of such holding
company) acquires such contrel)

GMTN Programme bond issue

©On 3 Apn! 2007, certain Group entities established a eurc medium-term note
programme which provides the Group with a standardised documentation
platform to allow for seniar debt issuance in the Eurobond markets

On 7 February 2014, the programme was updated and expanded to become
a global medium-term note programme {the ‘GMTN Programme’). The GMTN
Programme was last updated in October 2016 The maximum potential
issuance under the GMTN Programme is £5 billon On 14 May 2007, the
Company Issued bonds under the GMTN Programme (then known as an
EMTN programme) consisting of £3C0 million guaranteed notes paying
6.000% interest and maturing on 14 May 2027 (the '2007 Notes’) On17
November 2015, the Corpany 1ssued €500 mithon guaranteed notes under
the GMTN Programme paying 2 250% interest and maturing on 17 November
2025 (the ‘2015 Notes’} and, together with the 2007 Notes, the 'GMTN
Notes’) Pursuant to the final tarms of the GMTN Notes, the Company

will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchase the GMTN Notes

at the relevant redemption amount plus interest up to the date of
redemption or purchase If there s a change of contral of the Company or the
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announcement of a potential change of control (1)} which, if the GMTN

Notes carry an investment grade credit rating, resultsin a downgrade to
anon-investment grade rating or a wthdrawal of that rating, or (1) which,

if the GMTN Notes carry a non-investment grade rating, resultsin a
downgrade by one or more notches or a withdrawal of that non-investment
grade rating; or (i) where, if the GMTN Notes do not carry a credit rating,
the Company does not seek such a rating or is unable to achieve such a
rating, provided that in each case the decision to downgrade, withdraw or
not to award a credit rating occurs within a certain period of time after the
change of control and the relevant rating agency aites that such decision(s)
resulted from the change of controf or the announcement of the potential
change of control

EMTN Programme bond issue

On 5 September 2014, certain Group entittes also established a £10 billion
EMTN programme (the 'EMTN Pragramme’), which provides the Group with
a standardised documentation platform to atlow for senior debt 1Issuance
in the Eurcbond markets, In September 2014, the Company Issued (1) €1,500
raillion 1.500% guaranteed notes due 2021, and (1} €1,000 million 2 500%
guaranteed notes due 2026; in November 2014, the Company issued (1}
€850 million 1.875% guaranteed notes due 2023, (i) £450 million 2.875%
guaranteed notes due 2020, (i) £300 million 4.000% guaranteed notes
due 2029, and (v} €400 million 2 750% guaranteed notes due 2029; and In
April 2015, the Company 1ssued €600 million floating rate guaranteed notes
due 2020 (together, the ‘Notes"). Pursuant to the conditions of the Notes,
the Company will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchase the
Notes at the relevant redemption amount plus Interest up to the date of
redemption or purchase If there 1s a change of control of the Company or
the announcement of a potentia change of control (i) which, If the Notes
carry an investment grade credit rating, results in a downgrade to a
non-nvestment grade rating or a withdrawai of that rating; or () which,

if the Notes carry a non-investment grade rating, results in a downgrade by
one or more hotches or a withdrawal of that non-investment grade rating;
or {m) which, if the Notes do not ¢arry a credit rating, the Company does
not seek such a rating or s unable to achieve such arating, provided that

1 each case the deasion to downgrade, withdraw or not to award a credit
rating occurs within a certain penod of tme after the change of control

and the relevant rating agency cites that such decision(s) resulted from the
change of control or the announcement of the potential change of controt.

October 2005, February 2008, November 2008,

November 2012 and September 2014 bond issues

In October 2005, certain Greup entities entered into an indenture in
respect of US$350 million 6 500% senior unsecured notes due 2035

and £400 million 5 750% senior unsecured notes due 2017 (the 2005
Indenture’), In February 2008, certain Group entities entered into an
indenture in respect of US$750 million 6.100% senior unsecured notes due
2018 (the ‘February 2008 Indenture’) and in November 2008, certain Group
entities entered into an indenture in respect of US$600 million 9.500%
senior unsecured notes due 2018 (as amended and supplemented from
time to time, the ‘November 2008 Indenture’) In November 2012, the
parties to the November 2608 Indenture entered into a supplemental
indenture in respect of a further issuance of US$800 million 3125% senior
unsecured notes due 2022, The November 2008 indenture was further
amended and supplemented in Septembar 2014, with the parties thereto
entering Into a supplemental indenture In respect of a further 1ssuance

of US$750 million 2 625% senior unsecured notes due 2019 and US$1,250
miilion 3.750% senior unsecured notes due 2024 Pursuant to the February
2008 Indenture and the Novembier 2008 Indenture, the Company will be
required to make an offer to redeem or purchase its secunties at a price
equal to 101% of their pnincipal ameunt pius accrued and unpaid interest
up to the date of redemption or repurchase, If there 1s a change of control
or the announcement of a potential change of control of the Company (1}
which, If the securities carry an Investment grade credit rating, resultsin a
downgrade to a non-investment grade rating or a withdrawal of that rating,
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or () which, If the secunties carry a non-investment grade rating, results

1n a downgrade by one or more notches or a withdrawal of that non-
investment grade rating, or () where, if the securities do not carry a credit
rating, the Company does not seek such a rating or is unable to achieve

an investment grade rating, provided thatin each case the decision to
downgrade, withdraw or not to award a credit rating occurs within a certain
period of time after the change of contrel and the relevant rating agency
crtes that such decision(s) resulted from the change of control or the
announcement of a potential change of control.

UK broadcasting licences

Sky UK Limited is party to a number of Ofcom broadcasting licences for
the broadcast of Sky's wholly-owned channels, The Broadceasting Act 1990
(as amended by the Broadcasting Act 1996 and the Communications Act}
lays down a number of restrictions on those parties permitted to hold
Ofcom broadcasting licences Among those restricted from holding Ofcom
broadeasting licences or from controlling a icensed ¢company are (g) local
autherities, (b) political bodies, (¢} relgious bodies, (d) any company
controlled by any of the previous categories or by their officers or
associates, (&) advertising agencies or any company controlled by such

an agency or in which 1t holds more than a 5% interest. Licensees have an
ongoing obligation to comply with these cwnership restnctiens. Failure by
alicensee to do 5o {either by the icensee becoming a ‘disqualified persor’
or any change affecting the nature, charactenstics or control of the
hcensee which would have precluded the original grant of the licence)

may constitute a breach of the licence and, If not rectified, could result

n revocation of the icence.

Ofcom also has a duty under the Broadeasting Acts to be satisfied that
any person helding a broadcasting icence s fit and proper to hold these
licences and may revoke those licences if 1t ceases to be so satisfied.

German broadcasting licences

Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co. KG ts party to a number of
broadcasting licences issued by the State Media Authonties BLM
(Bayensche Landeszentrale fur Neue Medien} and MaHSH (Medienanstalt
Hamburg Schleswig-Holsten) for its inear Sky Channels The Interstate
Treaty on Broadcasting, (as amended on 15 Apnil 2015) sets out a number
of requirements for the hcensees of broadcasting licences and providers

of non-tinear telemedia services. Licensees have an cngoing obligation

to comply with these requirements, Failure by a hicensee to do so may
constitute a breach of the licence and, if not rectified, could result in fines
or In the revocation of the licence. The State Media Autherities alsc have a
duty under the Broadcasting Acts to be satisfied that any person holding a
broadcasting licence is fit and proper to hold those licences and may revoke
those licences If it ceases to be so satisfied Any change in the ownership
structure, Including but not lmited to an interest change exceeding the
threshold of 5% in the shareholder structure of the hicensee, has to be
notified to and approved by the authorities.

Italian broadcasting licences

In accordance with the Itallan regulatory system, the transfer of control

of a company such as Sky Italia which Is classified as an audio-visual media
service provider 1S subject to an authorisation by the ltalian Regulatory
Authority which 1s aimed at verfying the honourability of the directers and
naticnality Public administrations, public entities, state-owned companies,
banks and financial institutions are prehibited from being grven such
authorisation in relation to audio-visual media service providers,

Co-operation Agreement

The Company and 21CF entered into a co-operation agreement on

15 December 2016 (the ‘Co-operation Agreement’). Pursuant to the
Ceo-operation Agreement, among other things, the Company and 21CF

have agreed to provide such information and assistance as the other party
may reasonably reguire for the purpeses of obtaiming all merger control
and regulatory clearances and authonsations, and making any submissions,



filings or notifications ta any merger control and regulatory authority in
relabion to the Offer, and for the preparation of the document to be sent
to shareholders in the Company In relation to the Scheme (‘Scheme
Document?)

The Co-operation Agreement will terminate (i) if agreed in writing between
the Company and 21CF; (i} f the Independent Committee withdraws,
modifies or qualifies Its recommendation of the S¢heme or if the Scheme
Document does not include such recommendation, (1) upen receipt of

a break payment by the Company; (V) where a competing transaction
completes, becomes effective or uncenditional in all respects or is
recommended by the Directors of the Company; (W) If the Court Meeting
and General Meeting to be held in relation 1o the Scheme are not held by
specified dates; (v} if any condition to the Cffer has been invoked, with the
consent of the Panel, and the Scheme has been withdrawn, (ni) If the Offer
has not been completed by 15 October 2018; or (vin) upon satisfaction of
the obhgation to pay the consideration to sharehclders in the Company
under the terms of the Scheme 21CF has agreed to use all reasonable
endeavours to secure satisfaction of all regulatory clearances and
authonsations as soon as reasonably practicable

The Co-operation Agreement records the Company’s and 21CF's intention
to implement the Offer by way of the Scheme, subject to the ability of 21CF
(with the consent of the Panel) to implement the Offer by way of a takeover
offer (as defined under section 974 of the Companies Act) In the
circumstances described in the Co-operation Agreement and summarised
1n the announcement of the Offer made on 15 December 2016,

21CF has undertaken in the Co-operation Agreement that, on the
oceurrence of a Break Payment Event (as defined in the Co-operation
Agreement), subject to certain other conditions, 21CF will pay or will procure
the payment by a member of its group of a break payment of £200 miliion

A copy of the Co-operation Agresment is available on the Company’s
micresite refating to the Offer at www.skygroup.sky/corporate/
investors/21st-century-fox-offer.

Disclosures required under Listing Rule 9.8.4R
For the purposes of LR 9.8 4C, the information required to be disclosed by
Listing Rule 2.8.4R can be located as set out belaw

Information reguired Page

(1) Amount of interest capitalised and tax relief 98 (Note 3)
(2) Publication of unaudited financial informaticn nia

{4) Details of long-term incentive schemes 50-69

(5) Waiver of emeluments by a director n/a

(6) Wauver of future emaluments by a director n/a

(7) Non pre-emptive issues of equity for cash nfa

(8) Item (7) in relation to major subsidiary undertakings n/a

(9) Parent part:cipation n a placing by a isted subsidiary nia

(10) Contracts of significance 73
(1) Provision of services by a controlling sharehalder nja
(12) Shareholder waivers; of dividends 70
(13) Shareholder waivers of future dawidends 70
(14) Agreements with cantrolling shareholders 70

Financial instruments

Detalls of the Group's use of financial instruments, together wath
information on our financial nsk management objectives and policies,
hadging polices and our exposure to financial nsks can be found In notes
20 and 21to the consolidated financial statements,

Political contributions
Politicat contnbutions of the Group during 2017 ameounted to nit (2015 nil).

Branches
The Group, through various subsicianes, has established branches in
a number of different jurisdictions in which the business operates.

Going concern
The Company’s going concern statement 1s detalled on page 31 of the
Strategic Repart,

Important events
An update on the 21st Century Fox Offer is provided on page 33.

Disclosure of information to auditors

In accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act
2006, each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date
of approval of this report confirms that.

+ sofar as the Director s aware, there 1s no relevant audit information
(as defined in the Companies Act, 2006) of which the Company's audrtor
1s unaware; and

« the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a
Director to make himselftherself aware of any relevant audit information
(as defined) and to establish that the Company’s auditoris aware of that
information,

Auditors

Deloitte LLP, the auditors of the Company, have expressed their willingness
to continue in office. A resolution to reappoint them as the Company’s
auditors and to authorise the Directors to determine therr remuneration
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM

The Director’s report (comprising pages 36 to 49 and 70 to 75) was
approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by the Company Secretary

By order of the Board

/'-_‘
Chris Taylor 5_ § =
Company Secretary
26 July 207
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directers are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Directors’ responsibility statement

financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge:

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financ:al statements for 1. The financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
each financial year. Under that law, the Directors are required to prepare by the Eurcpean Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, labilities,
the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the Eurcpean Union and included in the consolidation taken as a whole;

Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have also chosen to prepare the parent
Company financial statements under IFRSs as adopted by the EU Under
Company law, the Directors must not approve the accounts unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that penod.
In preparing these financial statements, International Accounting
Standard 1 requires that Directors 3, The Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair,
balanced and understandable and provide the iInformation necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company's pesition, perfoermance,
+ present information, including acceunting policies, iIn a manaer that business model and strategy

provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information;

2. The strategic reportincludes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consclidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principal nisks and uncertainties that they
face, and

» properly select and apply accounting pelicies;

der of the Board
» provide additional disclosures when compiiance with the speaific By order of the Boar
requirements in iFRSs are msufficient to enable users to understand Jeremy Darroch Andrew Griffith
theimpact of particular transactions, other events and conditions Group Chief Executive OFficer Group Chief Operating Officer
on the entity’s financial position and financial performance, and 26 July 2017 and Chief Financial Officer
» make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going 26 July 2017
concern
The Directors are responsibie for keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions and /\'é'/

disclose with reasonable aceuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding

the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. /
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of

the corporate and financial information included on the Company's

website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation

and dissemination of finanaal statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions
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Independent Auditor’s report

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Sky plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion:

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
Group’s and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 30 June 20N7 and
of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

the Group finarcial statements have been properly preparedin
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs}
as adopted by the European Union and IFRSs as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (JASB),

the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared
in accardance with IFRSs as adepted by the Eurcpean Union and as
applied In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006;
and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Greup
financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation.

Woe have audited the financial statements of Sky plc {the ‘Parent Company’)
and 1ts subsidiaries (the ‘Group”) which compnse:

= the consohdated income statement,

* the consolidated statement of comprehensive iIncome;

= the consolidated and Parent Company balance sheets,

+ the consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity;
+ the consolidated and Parent Company cash flow statement,

= the statement of accounting policies; and

= therelated notes1to 29.

The financal reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union
and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit In accordance with International Standards on
Audrting (UK) (15As (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibihties under
those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of cur report.

We areindependent of the Group and the Parent Company in accerdance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied

to isted pubhc interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We confirm that
the non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were

not provided 1o either the Group or the Parent Company

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for cur opirion

Summary of our audit approach
Key audit matters
The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

» Revenue recognition for bundled items in retail subscription revenue;
« Entertainment programming expense, and

+ Capital project accounting

Materiality
The materiality that we used in the current year was £65 million which
was determined on the basis of normalised profit before tax.

Scoping

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group
and its environment, Including Group-wide controls, and assessing the risks
of material misstatement at the Group level, Gur audit scope is consistent
with the prior year and includes the Group's UK and Irish, German and
Austrian, and Italian operations,

Significant changes in our approach
There have been ne significant changes in cur approach for the peried
ended 30 June 2017 compared with the prior period

Conclusions relating to principal risks, going concern and viability
statement

We have reviewed the directors’ statement regarding the appropriateness
of the going concern basis of accounting contained on page 31 of the
strategic report and within note 1b to the financial statements and the
Directors' statement on the longer-term viability of the Group contained
within the strategic report on page 31

We are required to state whether we have anything matenal to add or draw
attention to in relation to

the disclosures on pages 28-30 that describe the principal nsks and
explain how they are being managed or mitigated;

the Directors’ confirmation on page 28 that they have carmed out a
robust assessment of the principal nisks facing the Greup, including
those that would threaten its business model, future perfarmance,
solvency ar hquidity;

the Directors’ statemeant on page 33 and In note 1b to the finangial
staternents about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing them and their
identification of any material uncertainties to the Group and the Parent
Company's ability to continue to do so over a pericd of at least twelve
months from the date of approval of the financial statements;

the Directors’ explanation on page 31 as to how they have assessed the
prospects of the Group, over what penod they have done so and why
they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to
whether they have a reasenable expectation that the Group wll be able
to continue in operation and meet its labilities as they fall due over the
penod of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualfications or assumptions, or

whether the Directors’ statemnents relating to going concern and the
prospects of the company required in accordance with Listing Rute
9 8.6R(3) are matenally inconsistent with our knowledge obtained

in the audit.

We confirm that we have nothing matenal to add or draw attention to
Inrespect of these matters.

We agreed with the Directors’ adoption of the going concern basis of
accounting and we did not identify any such material uncertainties.
However, because hot all future events or conditions can be predicted,
this statement Is not a guarantee as to the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s report -~ continued

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current
periad and include the most significant assessed nisks of matenal misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified, These matters included
those which had the greatest effect on. the overall audit strategy, the allocation of rescurces in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement

team,

These matters were addressed in the context of cur audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our optmon thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Revenue recogniticn for bundled items in retanl subscription revenue
Sky retails subscription packages to customers which include multipte
elements and may indlude discounts and offers, for example TV
subscnption, hardware and telephony services sald for a single package
price, The allocation of retail subscription reveniue to each element of
abundled transaction is complex and requires Judgement, as desenbed
i the Audit Committee Report on page 45 and inthe Group's critical
accounting policies on page 94

There I1s a nsk that inappropriate aflocations could fead to non-
compliance with accounting standards and incorrect acceleration or
deferral of revenue.

As required by ISAs (UK) we have identified a fraud nsk in respect of
revenue. Our identified risk 1s 1n respect of manual adjustments made
to the system-based revenue profile of bundled items in Retail
subscription revenue.

Our procedures performed included.

= Evaluating the Group’s revenue recognition policy and management’s
current year accounting assessment for bundled transactions;

« Confirming the implementation of the Group's policy in each territory
by performing tests to confirm our understanding of the process by
which revenue is calculated by the relevant biling systems,

-

Assessing the different product bundles and offers in the year for
the risk of revenue acceleration or deferral;

« For those assessed as higher nsk of revenue deferral, performing
additional assessment of the accounting treatment of the bundie
by confirming the fair value of different elements to approprate
evidence,

Assessing whether revenue should be accelerated or deferred based
on the relative fair value of elements delwvered at different points
dunng the contract, when compared to the revenue calculated by
the relevant billing systermn;

Where differences arose, auditing the valuation and accuracy of those
adjustments to align revenue recognised with the Group’s accounting

pelicy,
In respect of the identified risk regarding fraud,

» Understanding the nature of adjustments and resulting jeurnals
that are made to the systemattc biling profile, and

+ Performing focused audit procedures on a sample of these journals,
auditing the vakdity and valuation of these adjustments.

Key observations

Based on our work, we cansider that revenue recognition for bundled items in retail subscription revenue, including consideration of manual
adjustments, has been recognised appropnately and is i accordance with the Group's revenue recognition policy.
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Key Audit Matter

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Entertainment programming expense .

Determining the timing and amaount of the recognition of general
entertainment programming expense recognised in the period requires
judgement in selecting the appropriate recognition profile and ensuring
that this profile achieves the objective of recognising programming
inventory expense In hnewith the way that it 1s consumed by the Group,
as set out in the Audit Committee Report on page 45 and in the Group's
critical accounting policies on page 95.

Entertainment programming expense invalves more judgement than
other types of programming due to the number of qualitative factors
involved in the selection and application of an appropnate expense
profite as folows:

The level of expenditure on general entertainment programming varies
in each terntory, and cur procedures focused on entertainment spend
n the UK and Italy, which are significant to the Group.

We examined the method for expensing general entertainment
programming inventory, taking Into account the differing genres of
programmes, any significant changes to viewsng patterns and industry
benchmarks

Our procedures performed included

= benchmarking management's policy against industry practice in the
UK and Italy,

.

time period and frequency with which the programme is expected to
be utiised on the Group’s inear and non-lingar services;

expectations of the number of viewers a programme is likely to achieve
for each broadcast on the Group's inear channels;

potential benefits assowated with utiising programming, and

the relative values associated with linear channel and non-linear nghts.

There is a sk that the recognition profile selected by management for
entertainment programming does not correctly recognise the expense In
Iine with the way that the Group consumes the inventory

-

comparing the expense profile determined by management with that

which would be indicated by viewing trends (used as a proxy for value

from broadcast) in addition to other qualitative factors such as brand
and/for channel value,

assessing the design and mplementation of contrels over the
recognition and expensing of general entertainment programming;
and

assessing the consistency and completeness of the disclosures
in respect of the change in recognition of relicensed content,

Key observations
Based on our work we are satisfied the accounting for entertainment pregramming expenses (s appraprate and in line with the Group's accounting
policies.

Capital project accounting

The Group's spending on capital projects Is material, as shown by the
total value of additions in hotes 10 and 11, The assessment and timing of
whether assets meet the capitalisation criteria set out In1AS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets requires jJudgement,

as set out in the Audit Committee Report on page 45 and in the Group's
critical accounting pelictes on page 95. In addition, determining whether
there s any incication of Impairment of the carrying value of assets being
developed or replaced also requires judgement in assessing performance
agamst the investment business case,

As aresult, thereis a risk that expenditure 1s inapproprately caprtalised
against relevant accounting guidance and that assets not yet in use are
not recoverable at their carrying value

Our procedures performed included.

assessing the design and implementation and testing the operating
effectivenass of controls In respect of the capitalisation of assets and
the identified potential indicators of iImpairment;

performing sample tests of capital expendrture projects including an
examination of management’s assessment as te whether the project
spend met the recognition eritena and reviewing the project status to
check for indicators of impairment; and

for a sample of capital projects we have developed an understanding
of the business case and have challenged key assumptions and
estimates, venfying capital project autherisation and tracing project
costs to appropriate evidence

Key observations
Based on our work, we are satisfied that the accounting for capital projects 1s appropriate and in line with the Group's accounting polices.
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Independent Auditor’s report - continued

Materiality

We define matenality as the magnitude of misstatementin the financal
statements that makes it probable that the econemic decisions of a
reasenably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use
matenality both in pfanning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating
the results of our work.

Based on our professional jJudgement, we determined matenality for the
financial statements as a whole as follows

Group materiality
£65 million (2016: £50 milhon)

Basis for determining materiality

This represents B% of normalised pre-tax profit after removing adwvisory
fees and additional costs incurred in respect of the 21st Century Fox Offer
(2016 7%), 8% of statutory profit before tax (2016: 7%), and 5% of adjusted
profit before tax (2015: 4%)

Rationale for the benchmark applied

As Sky plc s a public interest entity with listed equity we determined
normalised pre-tax profit after remowving fees incurred tn respect of the
21st Century Fox Offer to be the most appropriate benchmark.

The Group's adjusted profit before tax measure further excludes additional
items including the impact of amortisation of acquired intangible assets,
integration and operating efficiency, derivatives nct qualfying for hedge
accounting and the tax effect of these adjusting items (see note 7 for
management's definition and reconciliation to adjusted profit for further
details).

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the
Committee all audit differences in excess of £3.25 million (2016: £2.5 millior),
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our wew, warranted
reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee
on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall
presentation of the financial staternents.

An overview of the scope of our audit

Our audit scope 15 consistent with the prior year and includes the Group’s
UK and Irish, German and Austrian, and Italian operations, all of which were
subject to a full scope audit for the year ended 30 June 2017 As a result all
of the Group's assets, revenue and adjusted profit before tax are subject
to an audit either scoped by our compeonent audit teams to their respective
compenent matenality or by the Group audit team. The Group audit team
directed, supervised and reviewed the work of the component auchtors
for Germany and Austria and for Italy, which involved issuing detailed
instructions, holding regular discussions with component audit teams,
making multiple visits to each location threughout the year, performing
detailed file reviews and attending local audit meetings with management.

a2 Sky pic

Audit work performed for the Group’s UK and Insh operations was
performed by the Group and UK audit tsam The Group audit partner
visited all components, attending key meetings with both component
auditors and local management.

Audit work in UK and Ireland, Italy, and Germany and Austria was performed
at levels of matenality which were lower than Group materiality and ranged
from £35 million to £60 million, depending on the compenent’s contnbution
to the Group's profit before tax,

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the infermation inciuded in the annual report, other
than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent ctherwise explicitly stated in our
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financal statements, cur responsibility
1s to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information 1s materially Inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge abtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.,

If we identify such material Inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there s a matenal
misstatement in the financial statements or a matenal misstatement of
the other information if, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a materal misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact.

In this centext, matters that we are specifically required to report to you as
uncorrected material misstatements of the other information include
where we conclude that:

* Farr, balanced and understandable - the statement given by the
Directors that they consider the annual report and financial statements
taken as a whale is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's
performance, business model and strategy, 1s matenally inconsistent
with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or

« Audit committee reporting - the section describing the work of the Audit
Cormmittee does not appropnately address matters communicated by us
to the audit committes; ar

» Directors’ statement of comphance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code - the parts of the Directors’ statement required under the Listing
Rules relating to the Company’s comphance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code containing provisions specified for review by the auditor
In accordance with Listing Rute 9.830R(2) do not properly disclose a
departure from a relevant prowision of the UK Corporate Governance Code

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibiliies Statement, the
Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine 1s necessary to enable

the preparation of financtal statements that are free from maternal
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.



In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend ta liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease
operations, or have na realistic alternative but to de so

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from matenal misstatement,
whather due to fraud or errer, and to 1ssue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, butis not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 15As (UK) will always
detect a matenal misstatement when it exists Misstatements can arnise
from fraud or error and are considered matenal If, indwvidually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected toinfluence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further descnption of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements 1s located on the Financial Reporting Councii's website at.
www.frcorguk/auditorsresponsibilities This description forms part of
our auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, In
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit
wark has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to state to them inan auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyene other than the Company
and the Company’s members as a bady, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinicns we have formed.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
has been properly prepared In accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

In our epinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

« theinformation given In the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report
for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
1s consistent with the financial statements; and

« the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements,

In the ight of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the
Parent Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified any matenal misstatements in the Strategic Report
or the Directors’ Repart,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to youf, in our
opinien

+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit; or

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or

« the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have nathing to report In respect of these matters.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Comparues Act 2006 we are also required to reportif inour
opinion certain disclosures of Directors’Remuneration have not been
made or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
15 not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns,

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Other matters

Auditor tenure

The penod of total uninterrupted engagement Including previous renawals
and reappointments of the firm is 15 years, having been appointed by the
Audit Committee in 2002 and covering the years ending 2002 to 20717.

Consistency of the audit report with the additional

report to the audit committee

Qur audit opinion ts consistent with the additional report to the Audit
Committee we are required to provide in accordance with ISAs (LK)

Paul Franek FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of Delortte LLP
Statutory Auditor London - \
26 July 2017 ’ /\/MJ
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Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 2006
Notes Em £m
Revenue 2 12,916 11,965
Operating expense 2 (1.852) 0.988)
Operating profit 564 977
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 12 il 2
Investment income 3 22 17
Finance costs 3 (204) (244
Profit before tax 4 BO3 752
Taxation 6 (12 {B9)
Profit for the year 691 663
Profit {loss) for the year attrnibutable to,
Equity shareholders of the parent company 695 666
Non-controlling mnterests (C)] 3
691 653
Earnings per share from profit for the year (in pence)
Basic 7 406p 39.0p
Diluted 7 400p 387p
The accompanytng notes are an integral part of this consolidated income statement
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2017
207 2016
£m £m
Profit for the year 691 663
Other comprehensive iIncome
Amounts recognised directly in equity that may subsequently be recycled to the intome statement
Gain on revaluation of avallable-for-sale investments - 1
Gain on cash flow hedges (see note 20) EY 699
Tax on cash flow hedges (see note 14) 2 (138)
Loss on net investment hedges (see note 20) {335) (897)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (see note 21) 396 1,082
Actuanal movements on employee benefit obligations (see note 18) 1 (3
91 744
Amounts reclassified and reported In the income statement
Galn on cash flow hedges {see note 20) (85) (427}
Tax on cash flow hedges (see note 14) 17 86
(68) (341
Amounts reclassified and reperted in non-financial assets (basis ad;ustment)
Gain on cash flow hedges (see note 20) (165) (E1)]
Tax on cash flow hedges (see note 14} 3 &
{132) (25)
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year (net of tax) 109 378
Total comprehensive income for the year 582 1,041
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the parent company 586 1,044
Non-controlling interests ) (3)
582 1,041
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Consolidated balance sheet

as at 30 June 2017
2017 2016
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwil! =1 4,930 4713
Intangible assets 10 4526 4445
Property, plant and equipment n 2273 1957
Investments In joint ventures and associates 12 18 123
Avallable-for-sale investments 13 10 Vil
Deferred tax assets 14 302 245
Programme distrbution rights 15 63 36
Trade and other recevables 16 4 95
Dervative financtal assets 20 643 1022
13104 12,708
Current assets
Inventories 15 1m3 990
Trade and other recevables 16 1475 1,349
Current tax assets 12 14
Short-term deposits 20 300 -
Cash and cash equivalents 20 2,200 2137
Dernvative financial assets 20 234 212
5,334 4702
Total assets 18,438 17410
Current habilities
Borrowings 19 974 kil
Trade and other payables 17 4,303 3802
Current tax iabilities 146 162
Provisicns 18 107 181
Dervative finanaial habil ties 20 20 50
5,550 4,326
Non-current labilities
Borrowtngs 15 8,207 8901
Trade and other payables. 17 87 81
Provisions 18 83 94
Derivative financial habilities 20 384 259
Deferred tax habilities 14 280 308
2,04 9,643
Total liabilities 14,591 13,969
Share capital 22 860 860
Share premium 23 2704 2704
Reserves 23 274 mn
Total aquity attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 23 3,838 3447
Total equity (deficit) attributable to non-controlling interests 9 (&)
Total liabilities and equity 18,438 17410

The accompanying notes are an tntegral part of this consolidated balance sheet

These consolidated financial statements of Sky ple, registered number 02247735, have been approved and authonsed
for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 26 July 2017 and were signed on its behalf by

Jeremy Darroch Andrew Griffith
Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer

T o
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Consolidated financial statements - continued

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016

Notes £m £m
Cash fiows from operating activities
Cash generated from cperations 24 2254 2,086
Interest received 15 10
Taxation paid {163} (18%3)
Net cash from operating activities 2106 1,907
Cash flows frominvesting activities
Dwidends received from joint ventures and assocates 20 20
Funding to joint ventures and associates 9 (8)
Repayment of loan from asscciate 83 -
Loan to point venture (14 ~
Purchase of joint ventures and asscciates (2 (1}
Proceeds on disposal of joint ventures and associates 4 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (628) {542)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 3
Purchase of intangible assets (546) (432)
Purchase of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash equivalents purchased) (26) (26)
Purchase of avallable-for-sale Investments (34) [€]9)]
Proceeds on disposal of avallable-for-sale nvestments 2 16
(Increase) decrease in short-term depesits (300} 1,100
Net cash (used in) from investing activities {1.449) 80
Cash flows from financing activities
MNet proceeds from borrowings - 353
Repayment of borrowings 7 (432
Repayment of cbhligations under finance leases (15} (183
Proceeds from disposal of shares in Employea Share Ownership Plan (ESCP’} 15 10
Purchase of own shares for ESOP - (200)
Interest pard (238) {231
Caprtal contribution from non-controlling interests 7 -
Purchase of non-controlling interests - 70)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent (358) (564)
Divdends paid to holders of non-controliing interests “ 3
Net cash used in financing activities (601) (1,255)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 56 732
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2137 1378
Effect of foreign exchange rate movements 7 27
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2,200 2137

The accompanylng notes are an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 June 2017

Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company

Totat
Retamned share- Non-
Share Share ESOFP Hedgng Other (deficaty  holders’ controling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve  reserves  earnings equity  Interests eguIity
£Em Em Em Em Em Em £m £m £m
At 1luly 2015 B&O 2,704 (125) 562 19 (455) 3,165 5% 3,224
Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 666 666 LE))] 663
Netinvestment hedges - - - - (897) - {897) - (897)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations - - - - 1,082 - 1,082 - 1,082
Revaluation of avallable-for-sale investments - - - - 1 - 1 - 1
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - 241 - - 24 - 24
Tax onitems taken directly to equity - - - (46) - - (46) - 45)
Actuarial movements on employee benefit cbligations - - - - 3 - 3 - 3
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year - - - 195 183 665 1,044 (3) 1,041
Share-based payment - - - - - (88) (88) - (88)
Non-controlling Interests ansing on purchase of
substdiaries - - - - - - - i 1
Dividends - - - - - (564) (564) (3 {567}
Purchase of non-controliing interests - - - - - {1 (Ho) (1)) (1703
At 30 June 2016 860 2704 (125) 257 302 (551) 3.447 {6) 3441
Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 695 695 “ 691
MNet investment hedges - - - - (335 - (335) - {335)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations - - - - 396 - 396 - 396
Recogrition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - (219) - - (219) - (219}
Tax onitems taken directly to equity - - - 48 - - 48 - 48
Actuarnal movements on employee benefit obligations - - - - 1 - 1 - 1
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year - - - {71) 62 695 586 [€)] 582
Share-based payment - - a7 - - 109 156 - 156
Non-controling interests ansing on purchase of
subsidianes - - - - - - - 23 23
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - 7 7 - 7
Dividends - - - - - (358) (358} [C)] (362)
At 30 June 2017 860 2,704 (78) 86 364 (98) 3.838 9 3.847
For a description of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve, see note 23,
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of changes in equrty
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Accounting policies

Sky plc (the 'Company} 1s a public kmited company incorporated in
the United Kingdom (UK and registered in England and Wales

The consolidated financial statements include the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the ‘Group’) and its interests in associates and
Jointly controlled entities

a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financal statements have been prepared in accerdance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSY) as adopted by
the European Union (EUY), the Companies Act 2006 and Articie 4 of the
International Accounting Standard (1AS") Regulations 1n addition, the
Group also complied with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board {'IASB")

b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financal statements have been prepared on a going
concern basts (as set outun the Directors’ Report) and on an histornical cost
basis, except for the remeasurement to fair value of certarn financtal assets
and habilties as described in the accounting policies befow The Group has
adoptead the new accounting pronouncements which became effective

this year, none of which had a significant impact en the Group’s results or
financial position,

The Group maintains a 52 or 53 week fiscal year ending on the Sunday
nearest to 30 June in each year In fiscal year 2017, this date was 2 July 2017,
this being a 52 week year (fiscal year 2016' 3 July 2016, 53 week year)

For convenience purpeses, the Group continues to date 1ts conschdated
finangial statements as at 30 June and to refer to the accounting pencd
as a"year’ for reporting purposes. The Group has classified assets and
liabikties as current when they are expected to be realised in, or intended
for sale or consumption in, the nermal operating cycle of the Group.

Adjusted measures disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
exclude items that may distort comparability in erder to provide a measure
of underlying performance. Such items arise from events or transactions
that fali within the ordinary activities of the Greup but which management
believes should be separately wentified to help explain underlying
performance. Adjusted measures are not defined terms under IFRS

and may not be comparable {o similar measures used elsewhere

<) Basis of consolidation

i. Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company, Contrel 1s achieved
where the Company has existing nights that give it the current abrlity to
direct the relevant activities that affect the Company’s returns and
exposure or rights to vanable returns from the entity. Subsidiaries are
incuded tn the consolidated financial statements of the Company from
the date control of the subsichary commences until the date that control
ceases. Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or
income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements

ii. Associates and joint ventures

Associates are entities where the Group has significant influence, but

not control or joint control, over the relevant activities of the entity. Joint
ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement
These consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of the
total profit or loss and other comprehensive inceme of associates and joint
ventures using the equity method, from the date that significant influence
or joint control commences to the date that it ceases, based on present
ownership Interests and excluding the possible exercise of potential voting
nghts, less any mparment losses (see accounting policy 1) When the
Group's interest In an associate or joint venture has been reduced to nil
because the Group’s share of losses exceeds Its interest in the associate
or joint venture, the Group only pravides for additional losses to the extent
that it has incurred fegal or constructive obligations to fund such losses,
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or where the Group has made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture, Where the disposal of an investment in an asscoiate or
Jjoint venture s considered to be highly probable, the investment ceases
to be equity accounted and, instead, 15 classified as held for sale and
stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell,

lil. Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidianes
are identified separately from the Group's equity Non-controlling interests
cansist of the amount of thaose interests at the date of the acquisition

and the non-controling shareholders’ share of changes in equity since

the date of the acquisition The interest of the non-controling shareholders
In the acquiree may initially be measured either at fair value or at the
nen-controlling sharehelders’ proportion of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets acquired and hatalities and contingent liabilities
assumed The choice of measurement basis 1s made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis In transactions with non-controlling parties that

do hot result In a change In control, the difference between the far

value of the consideration pard or recewved and the amount by which

the non-controlling interest 1s adjusted, 1s recogrised In equity.,

d) Goodwill

Business combinations that have occurred since 1 July 2004, the date of
transttion to IFRS (the 'Transition Date’), are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method of accounting Following this method, goodwill 1s initially
recognised on consolidation, representing the difference between the fair
value cost of the business combination and the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent assets and llabilities assumed.,

In respect of business combinations that cccurred prior to the Transiticn
Date, goodwill has been included at the amounts recognised under

the Group's UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP)
accounting peticies on the Transition Date Cn disposal of a subsiciary,
assaciate ar joint venture, the attributable amaunt of goodwill is included
in the determination of profit or loss on disposal, except for goodwill
written of f to reserves under UK GAAP prior to the Transition Date, which
15 hot reinstated and 1s notincluded in determining any subsequent gain
orloss on disposal.

Goodwill s stated at cost less any impairment losses and 1s tested, at least
annually, for impairment, based cn the recoverable amounts of the cash
generating unit to which the goodwill has been alfocated Anyimpairment
identified 15 recognised immediately in the income statement and s not
subsequently reversed The carrying amount of goodwill In respect of
associates ar joint ventures s included in the carrying amount of the
Investment In the asscciate or joint venture Goodwill is tested for
impairment in line with accounting policy 1 below

€) Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment ('PPE’)
i.intangible assets

Research expenditure i1s recognised in operating expense in the income
statement as the expenditure 1s iIncurred Development expenditure
(relating to the application of research knowledge to plan or design new
or substantially improved products for sale or use within the business)is
reccgnised as an Intangble asset from the point that the Group has the
intention and ability to generate probable future economic benefits from
the development expenditure, that the development ts technically feasible
and that the subsequent expenditure can be measured reliably Any other
development expenditure Is recognised in operating expense as Incurred

Other intangible assets which are acquired by the Group separately or
through a business combination are imtially stated at cost or fair vaiue,
respectively, less accumulated amertisation and impairment losses.

The amortisation of an intangible asset begins when the asset s avallable
for use, and is charged to the Income statement through operating
expense over the asset’s useful economic ife N order to match the
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied
in the asset



Principal useful economic Lives used for this purpose are

5 to 25 years straght-ine over
licence pericd, as applicable

Trademarks

Internally generated 3 to5yearsstraight-ine

intangible assets

Software development (external)
and software icences

3 to7 years straight-ine

Acquired customer contracts and related customer relationships

- Relating to the acquired customer 15 years straight fine basis
base in Germany and Austria

- Relating to the acquired customer  15years reducing balance basis
base in ltaly

- Relating to acquired customer 3 to 12 years straight-line

bases in UK and Ireland

- Relating to other customer 8 to 25 years straight-line

relationships in UK and Ireland

-

Other intangible assets 1to 5 years straight-line

For acguired customer contracts and related customer relatronships, the
assets are amortised on either areducing balance basis or on a straight-
line basis depending on which more accurately refiects the pattern of
how future economic benefits wil be consumed., as determined by the
estimated customer retention profile.

If the asset’s useful economic life s judged to be iIndefinite or the asset

1s not yet available for use, no amertisation)s charged and an imparrment
test 1s carried out at least annually Cther intangible assets are tested
for impairment in ne with accounting policy 1 below

ii. Property, ptant and equipment

Owned PPE I1s stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciatien and any
impairment, lesses (see accounting policy 1) When an item of PPE comprises
major components having different useful economic lives, the components
are accounted for as separate items of PPE

Assets held under finance leases, which confer nghts and obligations
simifar to those attached to owned assets, are treated as PPE
{see accounting policy n}

The cost of PPE, less estimated residual value, 1s depreciated in operating
expense on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life Land and
assets that are not yet avallable for use are not depreciated, Principal
usefut economic lives used for this purpose are

s Freehold buldings 25 to 40 years
* Equipment, furniture and fixtures 3 to20 years
+ Set-top boxes and routers 5to 7 years

Lesser of lease term and the
useful economic life

» Assets under finance leases and
leasehold improvements

Borrowing costs directly attrnibutable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial pericd of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale

To the extent that the financing for a qualifying asset 1s part of the Group's
general borrowings, the interest cost to be capitalised 1s calculated based
upon the weighted average cost of borrowing to the Group (excluding the
interest on any borrowings specific to any qualifying assets) This is then
applied to the expenditures on the asset

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period to
which they relate.

f) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
The Group uses dervative finanaal Instruments to hedge its exposure
to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates

Denvatives are held at fair value from the date on which a derivative
contractis entered inte, Fair value s defined as the price that would be
received to seli an asset or paid to transfer ahability in an orderly
transaction between market particpants at the measurement date under
{FRS 13 ‘'Fair Value Measurement’. The Group calculates a separate credit
valuation adjustment (CVA") or debit valuation adjustment (DVA) for each
dernivative based upon the net position for each counterparty relationship.
The Group calculates the CVAwhere it has a net asset position using a
quoted cred it default swap curve for the counterparty and calcuiates the
DVA where it has a net hability position using an industry proxy credit
default swap curve for the Group. The fair value of dervative financial
instruments 1s calculated by discounting future cash flows with reference
to the benchmark Libor curve, adjusted by the relevant credit default swap
curve Certain dernvatives held by the Group which relate to highly probable
forecast transactions Chedged items’), which meet qualifying critena under
1AS 39 "Financial Instruments Recognition ond Measurement’ (1AS 397, are
designated as cash flow hedges Other denvatives which hedge changes

in fair value of fixed rate financial instruments and meet the requirements
of IAS 39 are designated as far valte hedges Certain borrowings and
derivatives have been designated as net investment hedges of the Group's
foreign operations for movements in the spot foreign exchange rate, see
section r for further details. Certain other derivatives held by the Group

do not meet the quakfying criteria fer recagnitien far accounting purposes
as hedges, despite this being their economic function Changesinthe

fair values of these derivatives are recognised immediately in the

income statement, The Group does not hold or issue derivatives for
speculative purposes

i. Derivatives that qualify for cash flow hedge accounting

Changes In the fair values of derivatives that are designated as cash flow
hedges (‘cash flow hedging Instruments’) are initially recognised in the
hedging reserve In crcumstances in which the dervative used s a currency
option, only changes in theintninsic value of the option are designated
under the cash flow hedging relaticnship, with all ather movements being
recorded immediately in the iIncome statement

Amounts accumulated in the hedging reserve are subsequently recognised
in the Initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or
liability on the balance sheet and affect the income statementin the
penods in which the related hedged items are recognised in the income
statement, At inception, the effectiveness of the Group’s cash flow hedges
15 assessed through a comparison of the principal terms of the hedging
instrument and the underlying hedged item The ongoing effectiveness of
the Group’s cash flow hedges Is assessed using the dollar-offset approach,
with the expected cash flows of hedginginstruments being compared

to the expected cash flows of the hedged items. This assessment is used

to demonstrate that each hedge relationship 1s expected to be highly
effective on inception, has been highly effective 1n the period and is expected
to continue to be highly effective m future periods. The measurement of
hedge ineffectiveness for the Group's hedging instruments Is calculated
using the hypothetical derivative method, with the farr values of the hedging
instruments being compared to those of the hypothetical derivative

that would resuit in the designated cash flow hedge achieving perfect

hedge effectiveness.

The excess of the cumulative change in the farr value of the actual hedging
instrument compared to that of the hypothetical derivative is deemed to
be hedge ineffectivenass, which ts recognised in the Incorme statement.

The Group uses a range of BD% to 125% for hedge effectiveness, in
accordance with tAS 3%, and any relationship which has effectiveness
outside this range 1s deemed to be ineffective and hedge accounting is
suspended
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

When a cash flow hedging instrument expires, 1s terminated or 1s exercised,
orif a hedge nolonger meets the qualifying entera for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss existing In the hedging reserve at that time
remnains In the hedging reserve and 1s recognised 1n the iInitial cost or other
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or hability on the balance sheet
provided that the underlying transaction 1s still expected to occur When a
forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to ocecur, the cumulative gain or
loss that was reported :n the hedging reserve 1s Immediately recognised in
the income statement and all future changes in the fair value of the cash
flow hedgtng instruments are iImmediately recognised in the income
statement,

ii. Derivatives that qualify for fair value hedge accounting

The Group has designated certain derivatives as fair value hedges as
defined under 1AS 39 Any changes in the fair value of the denvatives are
recognised immediately in the income statement The carrying values of
the underlying hedged items are adjusted for the change in the fair value
of the hedged risks, with the gains or losses recognised immediately in the
income statement, offsetting the fair value movement on the derivative.

Prospective effectiveness Is assessed quarterly, through a comparison of
the principal terms of the bedging instrument and the underlying hedged
1item, including the hkelihood of default by the derivative counterparty
The retrospective effectiveness of the Group's farr value hedges s
calculated quarterly using the cumulative dollar-of fset approach, with
movements in the fair value of the hedged item being compared to
movements in the far value of the hedging instrument

The Group uses arange of 80% to 125% for hedge effectiveness and any
relationship which has effectiveness outside this range is deemed to be
ineffective and hedge accounting is suspended,

iii. Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host
contracts are treated as separate derivatives when therr nisks and
characteristics are not closely refated to those of the host contracts and
the host contracts are not carned at fair value, with unrealised gains or
losses reported in the income statement, Embedded dervatives are carred
on the balance sheet at fair value from the inception of the host contract.
Changes In far value are recognised within the Income statement dunng
the period inwhich they arise.

g) Inventories

i. Acquired and commissioned television programme rights for broadcast
Programme inventories for broadcast are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value (NRV"), including, where applicable, estimated
subscriber escalation payments, and net of the accumulated expense
charged to the income statement to date

Such programming nights are included as inventories when the legally
enforceable icence period commences and all of the following conditions
have been met (a) the cost of each pragramme 1s known or reasonably
determinable, (b) the prograrmme matena! has been accepted by the Group
tn accordance with the conditions of the nights, and (c) the programme 1s
available for its first showing. Prior to being included in inventonies, the
programmeng rights are classified as television programme rights not yet
available for transmission and not recorded as inventories on the Group's
balance sheet and are instead disclosed as contractual commitments (see
note 25), Payments made in advance of the legal nght to broadcast the
programmes are treated as prepayments In trade and other recevables

The cost of television programme inventaries Is recognised in the operating
expense ine of the income statement, over the period the Group utihses
and consumes the programming rights, applying inear-broadcast and
time-based methods of amertisation depending on the type of programme
right, taking into account the circumstances primarily as described below
These arcumstances may change or evolve over time and as such, the
Group regularly reviews and updates the method used to recognise
programming expense.

20 Sky plc

« Sports - the majority or all of the cost s recognised in the income
statement on the first broadcast or, where the nghts are for multiple
seasons or competitions, such nights are recognised principally on a
straight-hne basis across the seasons or competitions Where the rights
are packaged, sold and/or significantly consumed over the off-season,
the Group allocates an appropriate pertion of the total rights value to
the off-season period, and that cost 1s recognised on a straight-line basis
over the off-season penod

News - the cost 15 recognised in the income statement as incurred

+ Mowies - the cost Is recognised in the Income statement on a straight-
line basts over the pericd for which the broadcast nghts are icensed

+ General entertainment - the cost relating to acquired, commissioned and
produced programming rights broadcast on the Group's inear channels
are recogrised in the Income statement on either an accelerated or
straight-ine basis The amortisation profile I1s principally based on the
expected value of each planned broadcast on the Group's inear channels
and the time period over which the economic value of the content. |s
expected to be consumed and utilised, Relicenced content 1s amortised
on a straight-ine basis over the time period the rights are expected to be
utilised. The cost attributable or appertioned to non-linear (on demand)
rights 1s amoertised on a straight-line basis over the penod of broadcast
nghts,

The Group regularly reviews its programming rights for impairment Where
programme broadcast nghts are surpius to the Group’s requirements,
and ne gain I1s anticipated through a disposal of the nghts, or where the
programming will not be broadcast, for any other reason, a wnte-down

to the Income statement 1s made. Any reversals of inventory write-downs
are recognised as reductions in operating expense.

il. Programme distribution rights
Programme distribution rights are valued at the lower of cost and NRV,
net of the accumulated expense charged to the income statement to date

The cost of the programme distribution rights Is recognised in operating
expense In ine with the profile of expected revenue generation

iii. Set-top boxes, routers and related equipment

Set-top boxes, routers and related equipment held for sale to customers
are valued at the lower of cost and NRV, the latter of which reflects the
value that the business expects to realise from the set-top boxes and
related equipment In the hands of the customer, and are recognised
through the cperating expense line of the Income statement. Any subsidy
1s expensed on enablement, which 1s the process of activating the viewing
card during installation, so as to enable aviewer to view encrypted
broadcast services, and effectively represents the completion of the
installation process for new customers. The amount recognised in the
Income statement 1s determined on a weighted average cost basis,in
accordance with IAS 2 ‘Inventories’

iv. Raw materials, consumables and goods held for resale

Raw materials, consumables and goods held for resale are valued at
the tower of cost and NRV. The cost of raw materials, consumables and
goods held for resale 1s recognised through the operating expense line
of the income statement on a first-in-first-out basis,

h) Financial assets and liabilities

Directly attributable transaction costs areincluded in the intial
measurement of financial assets and habilities only with respect to those
assets and liabilities that are not subsequently measured at farr value
through profit and loss At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses
whether there s any objective evidence that any financial asset s impaired
Financial assets and habilities are recogrnised on the Group's balance sheet
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial asset or hability Financial assets are derecognised from the
balance sheet when the Group's contractual rights to the cash flows expire
or the Group transfers substantially all the nisks and rewards of the
financial asset Financial labilities are derecognised from the Group's
balance sheet when the obligation speaified in the contract 1s discharged,
cancelled or expires



i. Available-for-sale iInvestments

Equity investmentsintended to be held for an indefinite pericd are
classified as avallable-for-sale investments They are carned at farr
value, where this can be reliably measured, with movements in fair value
recogrised directly in the avallable-for-sale reserve Where the fair
value cannot be reliably measured, the investment 1s carried at cost.

Anyimparrment losses In equity investments classified as available-for-sale
Investments are recognised In the income statement and are not reversible
through the iIncome statement unless or until the investment is disposed
of, and are determined with reference to the closing market share price at
the date the impairment is cbserved Any subsequent increase in the far
value of the avallable-for-sale investment abeve the imparred value will

be recogrised within the avalable-for-sale reserve

Avalable-for-sale investments are included within non-current assets
unless the carrying value 1s expected to be recovered principally through
sale within the next 12 months, in which case they are included within
current assets On disposal, the difference between the carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and any curnulative gain or loss
that had previcusly been recognised directly In reserves is recognised In
the income statement,

ii. Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recevables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments and, where no stated interest rate 1s applicable,
are measured at the originalinvoice amount, If the effect of discounting

is immaterial. Where discounting is matenal, trade and other recelvables
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

An allowance account 1s maintained to reduce the carrying value of trade
and other receivables forimpairment losses 1dentufied from cbjective
evidence, with movements in the allowance account, either from increased
impairment losses or reversals of imparment losses, being recognised
Inthe income statement

iii. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank accounts, deposits
recevable on demand and deposits with maturity dates of three months
or less from the date of inception Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and which form an integral part of the Group's cash management
are afso incjuded as a compenent of cash and cash equivalents

iv. Short-term deposits

Thss includes short-term depasits which have maturity dates of more than
three months frominception These deposits are iIntially recognised at fair
value, and then carned at amortised cost through the income statement
less any allowance for impairment losses

v. Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are non-denvative financial habilities and are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methed. Trade and
cther payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the onginal
invoice amount if the effect of discounting is immaterial

vi. Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded as the proceeds received, net of direct ssue

costs Finance charges, including any premiurn payable on settlement or
redemption and direct 15sue Costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis
in the income statement using the effective interest method and are added
to the carrying amount of the underlying Instrument ta which they relate,
to the extent that they are not settled in the perod in which they anse

i) Impairment

At each balance sheet date, In accordance with IAS 36 impairment of
Assets’ the Group reviews the carrying amounts of all its assets excluding
inventories (see accounting policy g), assets classified as held-for-sale,
financial assets (see accounting policy h) and deferred taxation (see
accounting policy o) to determine whether there is any indication that
any of those assets have suffered an imparrment loss

Animparrment is recognised in the income statement whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount Animpairment of an investment in a joint venture

or associate (s recagnised within the share of profit from joint ventures
and associates The recoverable amount s the greater of net selling price,
defined as the fair vaiue less costs to sell, and value In use In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to therr
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of meney and risks specfic to the asset
Where 1t 15 not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit tc which the asset belongs Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to those units, and then to reduce the carrying
amount of other assets m the unit on a pro rata basis,

An impairment toss for an individual asset or cash generating unit will be
reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determing the
recoverable amount since the last mpairment loss was recognised and
1s only reversed to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,

net of depreciation or amortisation, If no impairment loss had been
recognised Impairment of goodwill s not reversed

J) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a probable, present legal

or constructive obligation to make a transfer of economic benefits as a
result of past events where a reliable estimate 15 available The amounts
recognised represent the Group's best estimate of the transfer of benefits
that will be required to settle the obligation as of the balance sheet date.
Provisions are discounted if the effect of the time value of money 1s
material using a pre-tax market rate adjusted for risks specficto the
habihty

k) ESOP reserve
Where the Group's ESOP purchases the Company’s own equity shares,
the cost of those shares, including any attributable transaction costs,
15 presented within the ESOP reserve as a deduction in shareholders’
equity In the consolidated financial statements

1) Revenue recognition

Revenue, whtch excludes value added tax and transactions between
Group companies, represents the gross inflow of economic benefit
from the Group’s operating activities, and 1S measured at the far value
of the consideraticen received or recevable. The Group's main sources
of revenue are recognised as follows:

= Subscription revenue includes revenue from residental and commercaial
subscribers to TV, Mobile and home communtcation products, including
over-the-top ('OTT") subscriptions, and income from set-top box and
Mobite handset safes, installation, service calls and warranties Revenue
15 recognised, net of any discount given, as the goods or services are
provided.

Transactional revenue includes the purchase of physical content,
OTT passes, pay perview and buy to keep content by residential and
commercial customers, Transactional revenue s recognised, net of
any discount given, when the relevant goods or service are provided.

Programme and channel sales revenue includes revenue from the sale

of channals and programmes across other platforms and internationally.
Channe! sales revenue Is recogrused as the services are provided on a
wholesale basis to ¢able and other retailers and is based on the number
of subscribers taking the Sky channels, as reported to the Group by

the cable and other retailers, and the applicable rate card or contract.
Programmae sales revenue Is earned from the production of pregrammtng
and the distribution of programming rights. Production revenue

is recognised on a stage of completion basis, where the stage of
completion is determined by comparning the proportion of costs

incurred to date to the total estimated cost of the transaction.
Distribution revenue is recognised when the contract is signed and

the fina' content has been delivered for customer exploitation
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Advertising sales revenue Is recognised when the advertising s
broadcast Revenue generated from airtime sales, where Sky acts as an
agent on behalf of third parties, 1s recegnised on a net commmission basis

QOther revenue principally includes income frem techricat platform
services and the provision of network services Other revenueis
recognised, net of any discount given, when the relevant goods or
service are provided

A bundle exists where a customer enters inte contracts for goods and
services at or around the same time, where the transaction can only be
understood commercially with reference to the bundle of goods and
services as a whole, and where there 1s price nter-dependency between
the preducts in a bundle Where a customer purchases further products
or services subsequent to the onginal sale, these are judged torepresent
contract modifications and are accounted for separately to the onginal
bundle, with any assocated discounts recognised against the additiona?
products and services being added.

When the Group sells a set-top box, installation or service and a
subscrniption in one bundled transaction, the total consideration from

the arrangement is allocated to each element based on their relative

fair values The fair value of each individual element s determined using
vendor specific or third-party ewidence. The amount of revenue the Group
recognises for delivered elements is imited to {cannot exceed) the cash
received or consideraticn receivable. Discounts are afiecated to products
on a pro-rata basis according to relative far values, except where thereis
observable evidence that the discount relates to one or mere, but not ali,
products within the bundle

m) Employee benefits

Wages, salaries, social secunity contnbutions, bonuses payable and
non-monetary benefits for current employees are recognised in the
inceme statement as the employees’ services are rendered

Where the Group provides pensions to eligible employees through defined
contribution schemes, the amount charged to the income statement tn
the year represents the cost of contributions payable by the Group to

the schemes in exchange for employee services rendered in that year

The assets of the schemes are held independently of the Group

Liabilities in relation to emplayee obligations which are economically similar
to defined benefit pension schemes are accounted for as such under IAS19

Termination benefits are recognised as a hability at the earler of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit
and when the Group recognises any related restructuring costs, such
termination being befare the nermal retirement date or as the result
of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy

The Group Issues equity-settled share-based payments to certan
employees which must be measured at far value and recognised as an
expense in the iIncome statement, with a corresponding increase 1n equity.
The fair values of these payments are measured at the dates of grant using
option-pricing models, taking (nte account the terms and conditions upon
which the awards are granted The fair value is recognised over the period
during which employees become unconditionally entitied to the awards,
subject to the Group's estimate of the number of awards which will be
forfeited, erither due to employees leaving the Group prior to vesting or due
to non-market-based performance conditions not being met. Where an
award has market-based performance conditions, the far value of the
award is adjusted for the probability of achieving these via the option
pricing medel. The total amount recognised in the Income statement as

an expense 1s adjusted to reflect the actual number of awards that vest,
except where forfelture is due to the failure to meet market-based
performance measures. In the event of a cancellation, whether by the
Group or by a partiospating employee, the compensation expense that
would have been recognised over the remander of the vesting pericd

is recognised immediately in the income statement
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n) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substanvally all the risks and rewards incrdental to ownership of
the asset to the lessee, Allother leases are classified as operating leases

Sub-lease income from operating leases 1s recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

Whenthe Group is a lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at
therr fair value on the date of acquisition, or If lower, at the present value of
the minimum lease payments The correspending lability to the lessor is
included in the balance sheet as a finance tease cbligation |ease payments
are apportioned between finance charges and reductions to the lease
obligations so as te achieve a constant rate of Interest on the remaining
balance of the hability,

The lease expense ansing from operating leases 1s charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease Benefits
recelved and recevable as incentives to enter Into operating leases are
recorded on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.

When the Group is a lessor

Assets which are provided under operating lease arrangements are
recogrised as assets within property, plant and equipment The assets
remaln in the ecanomic ownership of the Group for the duraticn of the
lease, and are depreaated over therr useful economic lives.

o) Taxation, including deferred taxation

The Group's liability for current tax is based on taxable profit for the year,
and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets and habilities are recogrised using the balance

sheet kabiity method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and habilrties in the balance sheet and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit Taxable
temporary differences ansing from goodwili and, except in abusiness
combination, the intual recognition of assets or labilities that affect neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit are not provided for, Deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences ansing on
Investmentsin subsidianes and associates, and interestsn joint ventures,
except where the Greup is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it 1s probabie that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax prowided 1s based

on the expected manner of reafisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates that have been enacted

or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

The carrying ameunt of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance
sheet date and adjusted to reflect an amount that is probable to be
realised based on the weight of all avallable evidence Deferred taxis
calculated at the rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
ability 1s settled or the asset 1s realised, Deferred tax assets and habilities
are not discounted Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in the income
statement, except where It relates to items charged or credited directly

to equity, in which case the deferred taxs also included within equity,
Deferred tax assets and liabilittes are offset when there is a legally
enfarceable nght to set off current tax assets against current tax habilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty
and the Group tntends to settle its current tax assets and habiities on a
net basis

p) Distributions to equity shareholders
Dividends are recognised in the retained earnings reserve in the year in
which they are declared

The cost of repurchasing the Group’s own equity shares for cancellation
('share buy-backs) I1s recorded in retained earnings In addition, the nominaf
cost of shares repurchased 15 deducted from share capital and a matching
credit 1s recorded in the capital redemption reserve



g) Earnings per share

Basic earnings or loss per share represénts the profit or loss for the year
attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company, divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue during the year
excluding the weighted average number of ordinary shares purchased
by and held in the Group's ESOP during the year to satisfy employee
share awards

Diluted earnings or loss per share represents the profit or loss for the year
attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company, divided by

the weighted average number of ordinary shares used to cafculate basic
earnings, plus the werghted average number of ditutive shares resulting
from share options where the inclusion of these would not be antidilutive

r) Foreign currency translation

Trading activities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the
functional currency of the entity at applicable monthly exchange rates
Monetary assets, labilities and commitments denominated in foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are recorded at the rates of exchange
at that date Non-menetary assets and llabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated to the functional currency of the entity at the
exchange rate prevaliing at the date of the initial transaction Gains and
losses from the retranslation of monetary assets and labihties are included
netn profit for the year

The Group's presentational currency 15 pounds sterling. Assets and
habilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated at exchange
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date Income and expense Items are
translated at the applicable monthly average exchange rates Any exchange
differences arising are classified as equity within the foreign currency
translation reserve Goodwill and fair value adjustments ansing on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and habihties of the
foreign operation and translated accordingly Gains and fosses accumulated
in the foreign currency transiation reserve are included in the income
statement when the foreign operation is disposed of

Gains and losses on those instruments designated as hedges of the net
mvestments in foreign cperatiens are recognised in equity to the extent
that the hedging relationship is effective, these amounts are recognised

In the statement of comprehensive iIncome. Gang and losses relating to
hedge ineffectiveness are recognised Immediately in the income statement
for the period,

£) Reportable segments

IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments requires the segment information presented
n the financial statements to be that whichis used internally by the chief
operating decsion maker to evaluate the performance of the business
and decide how to allocate rescurces. The Group has identified the Beard
of Directors as its chief operating decision maker and the segment
information presented 1n the financial statements i1s consistent with

the internal reporting reviewed by the Board

t) Accounting Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing
standards that are not yet effective

The Greup has not yet adopted certain new standards, amendments and
Interpretations to existing standards, which have been published but are
only effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2017
These new pronouncements are isted below The Directors are currently
evaluating the impact of the adoption of these standards, amendments
and interpretations in future penods

« Amendments to IAS 7 ‘Disclosure Intigtive’ (effective 1 January 2017)*

» Amendments to tAS 12 'Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised
Losses’(effective 1 January 2017)*

Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments' (effective 1 January 2018y

IFRIC 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and Advanced Consideration’
(effective 1 January 2018)*

Amendments to IFRS & ‘insuranice contracts' {effective 1 January 2018)*

Amendments to IAS 40 ‘Investment Properties (effective 1 January 2018y

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers'(effective t January 2018)
and 15 effective on the Groug from 1 July 2018 onwards

When IFRS 15 1s adopted, it can be applied either on a fully retrospective
basts, requinng the restatement of the comparative periods presented in
the financial statements, or with the cumulative impact of IFRS 15 applied
as an adjustment to equity en the date of adoption; when the latter
approach (s applied, it s necessary to disclose the impact of IFRS 15

cn each line item in the financial statements in the reporting penod.

The Group has not yet determined which method will be adopted

IFRS 15 provides a single, prinaiples-based five-step mode! to be apphed
to all contracts with customers

- tdentify the contract with the customer

Identify the performance cbligations in the contract, introducing
the new concept of distinct”

- Determining the transaction price

- Ailocating the transaction price to the perfarmance obligations
1n the contracts, on a relative stand-alone selling price basis,

- Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies sts performance
obhgation

IFRS 15 also introduces new guidance on, amongst other areas, combining
contracts, discounts, vanable consideration, contract modifications and
reguires that certain costs incurred in obtaining and fulfilling customer
contracts be deferred on the balance sheet and amortised over the period
an entity expects to benefit from the customer relationship

In the current year, management has conducted a detalled accounting
scoping analysis across each of the Group's operating segments and across
the products and services within the Group's revenue streams
Management has also assessed accounting implementation approaches
for each revenue stream in each segment based on the potential
matenality, complexity and volatility of impacts

Qualitatively, management currently expects the fellowing impacts

+ The Group's revenue recognition for bundled subscription products wll
no longer be imited to cash received or consideration recevable for a
delivered element, As a result, the Group will bring forward revenue for
distinct products and serwices delivered at the start of a subscnption
contract, where the price charged for those performance obligations is
lower than the stand-alone selling price. This will correspondingly reduce
subsequent subscription revenue across the remainder of the customer
contract, but will not change revenue recogrised in total or the amount
or timing of assoctated cash flows

.

Where product or service discounts reduce the total consideration for a
customer’s bundle, the revenue which will be brought forward for upfront
deliverables will be reduced The impact of discounts will be spread over
the minimum contract peried There s also new guidance regarding how
and to which products discounts should be allocated, which may result
in differences to current treatments,

.

Under the guidance as to what constitutes distinct performance
obligations, there may be differences compared to what the Group
currently considers to be separately identifiable deliverables.
Management will also need to consider any assoclated costimplications
of any differences

Under the guidance regarding contract modifications, the accounting for
contract modifications not made at stand-alone safes price, 1s expected
to differ compared to current accounting treatments.

There may be certain costs to obtain customer contracts that will require
capitalisation and amortisation over the period the Group expects to
benefit from the customer relationship, compared to being expensed
asincurred, as currently

.

Existing principal versus agent Judgements reguire evaluation against
new guidance. Should current judgements change, this could significantly
change gross revenue and cost, but with no expected impact on
operating profit
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

« The phasing of revenue for long-term contracts may vary compared to
current treatments

~ IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments'(effective 1 January 2018) and 1s effective
on the Group from 1 July 2018 onwards

The standard s expected toimpact the classificatien and measurement
of finanaal instruments and Is expected to require certain additicnal
disclosures

It introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ mode! for the measurement of the
imparrment of financial assets, so Itis no longer necessary for the credit
event to have occurred before a credit loss 1s recognised

It also introduces a new hedge accounting model that 1s designed to
more closely align with how enbities undertake risk management
actvities when hedging financial and nen-financial nsk exposures

The Group s currently assessing the impact of the accounting changes
that will arise under IFRS 9,

IFRS16 ‘Leases’(effective | January 2019)* and 1s effective on the Group
from 1 July 2019 onwards

When IFRS 16 is adopted, it can be applied either on a fully retrospective
basis, requinng the restatement of the comparative periods presented
In the financial statements, or with the cumulative retrospective impact
of IFRS 16 applied as an adjustment to equity on the date of adoption,
when the latter approach s applied 1t (s necessary to disclose the impact
of IFRS 16 on each line item in the financial statements in the reporting
period. Depending on the adoption method that 1s utilised, certain
practical expedients may be applied on adoption The Group has not

yet determined which method will be adopted

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 'Leases’ and will primanly change lease accounting
for lessees, fessor accounting under IFRS 1615 expected to be similar

to lease accounting under IAS 17, Lessee accounting under IFRS 16 wifl be
similar (nmany respects to existing IAS 17 accounting for finance leases,
but is expected to be substantively different to existing accounting for
operating leases,

Where a contract meets IFRS 16's definition of a lease and new
associated guidance, where the Group acts as a lessee, lease agreements
will give nse to the recognition of a non-current asset representing the
right to use the leased item, and a loan abligation for future lease
payables on the Group’s balance sheet.

Lease costs will be recogrised in the form of depreciation of the night

to use asset and interest on the lease liability, which may impact the
phasing of operating profit and profit before tax, compared to existing
cost profiles and presentation in income statement, and will also impact
the classification of associated cash flows

The Group 1s currently assessing the impact of the accounting changes
that will arise under IFRS 16.

= IFRS 17 'Insurance Contracts’ (effective 1January 2021)%
*not yet endorsed for use in the EU

u) Critical accounting policies and the use of judgement and estimates
Certain accounting policies are considered to be critical to the Group

An accounting policy 1s considered to be critical if in the Directors’
Judgement, its selection or application materially affects the Group's
financial position or results, The application of the Group's accounting
policies alse requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
the Group's financial pasition or results,

Below 1s a summary of the Group’s critical accounting policies and details
of the key areas of jJudgement and estimates that are exercised in their
apphcation
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Critical accounting policies and judgements:

i. Revenue (see note 2)

Selecting the appropriate timing for, and amount of, revenue to be
recognised requires judgement. This may involve estimating the farr value
of consideration before it is receved Judgement s required in determining
which products constitute a bundle, and how revenue is allocated to
products within the bundle When the Group selis a set-top box, instaliation
or service and TV, home communications andfor mobile subseriptions In one
bundled transaction, the total consideration from the arrangementis
allocated to each element based onits relative fair value The farr value of
each individual element 1s determined using vendor-specfic or third-party
evidence, The amount of revenue the Group recognises for delivered
elements Is imited to the cash recerved or consideration receivable
Discounts are atlocated to products on a pro-rata basis according to
relative fair values, except where there 15 abservable evidence that the
discount refates to one or more, but not all, products within the bundle,
soas to faithfully represent the commercral substance of the transaction.

ii. Taxation, including deferred taxation (see notes 6 and 14)

The Group's total tax charge s the sum of the current and deferred tax
charges The caleulabon of the Group's total tax charge necessarily involves
a degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certain items whose
tax treatment cannot be finally determined until resolution has been
reached with the relevant tax authority or, as appropriate, through a formal
legal process

Prowvisions for tax contingencies require management to make judgements
and estimates in relation to tax audit issues and exposures, Amounts
provided are hased on management's interpretation of applicable tax law
and the likellhood of settlement and include any liability for interest and
penalties Tax benefits are not recognised unless it is probable that the tax
positions will be sustained Once considered to be probable, management
reviews each material tax benefit to assess whether a provision should

be taken against fufl recogrition of the benefit on the basis of the hkely
reseclution of the 1ssue through negotiation and/or libgation The amaunts
recognised In the consolidated financial statements in respect of each
matter are derived from the Group's best estimation and judgement,

as described above, However, the inherent uncertainty regarding the
outcame of these items means the eventual resolution could differ from
the prowvision and in such event the Group would be requirad to make an
adjustment in a subsequent peried which could have a materialimpact

on the Group's profit and loss andfor cash position.

The key area of jJudgement in respect of deferred tax accounting 1s the
assessment of the expected timing and manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amounts of assets and habikties held at the balance sheet
date, In particular, assessment is required of whether it i1s probable that
there will be suitable future taxable profits against which any deferred
tax assets can be utilised, Specifically, the Group has a gross deferred

tax asset relating to unused tax losses in Sky Deutschland of £727 million
(2016: £681 mulhon), which 1s recognised net of the deferred tax labiities
prinapally ansing from the fair value of acquired customer contracts in
Sky Deutschland resulting In a net deferred tax asset for Sky Deutschland
of £296 milvon (2016 E£243 million), as described Innote 14,

iii, Acquisition accounting and goodwill (see note 9)

Judgement Is required in determining the fair value of identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent assets and habilities assumed in a business
combinatron and the fair value of the consideration payable Calculating
the farr values involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions,
including expectatrons about future cash flows, discount rates and the
lives of assets following purchase. in order to determine the fair value of
programming rights acquired, speafically rights partially consumed or part
way through licence periads, we assess matenal cantracts and licences
to determme whether the contracts concerned would be considered
favourable or unfavourable by a market partiapant For partly consumed
content, the Group’s existing accounting polcy 1s then apphed



Judgement s required in identifying the cash generating units to which

the goodwillis associated for the purposes of goodwill Impairment testing
Identification of cash generating units involves an assessment of

whether assets or groups of assets generate cash flows that are largely
independent of other assets or groups of assets. Goodwill s then allocated
to each identified cash generating urit that 1s expected to benefit from
the synergies of the business combinations from which goodwilihas anisen
The carrying value of the Group's goodwill balance 1s disclosed in nate 9,
allecated by cash generating unit

Judgement is required in evaluating whether any impairment loss has
arisen against the carrying amount of gocodwill,

iv. Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

(see notes 10 and 11)

The assessment of the useful economiciives and the methed of amortising
these assets requires Judgement Depreciation and amortisation are
charged to the Income statement based on the useful economic life
selected, which requires an estirmation of the period and profile over which
the Group expects teo consume the future economic benefits embodied

In the assets The Group reviews its useful economiclives on at teast an
annual basis,

Determining whether the carrying amount of these assets has any
incication of impairment also requires judgernent. If an indication of
impairment is rdentified, further jJudgement isrequired to assess whether
the carrying amount can be supported by the net present value of future
cash flows forecast to be derived from the asset. This forecast involves
cash flow projections and selecting the approprate discount rate

Assessing whether assets meet the required cniteria for inihal capitahsation
requires Judgement. This requires a determination of whether the assets
wil! result in future benefits to the Group. In particular, internally gererated
intangible assets must be assessed during the development phase to
identify whether the Group has the ability and intention to complete the
development successfully

v. Programming inventory for broadcast (see note 15)

The key area of accounting for programming inventory for broadcast that
requires judgement 1s the assessment of the appropniate profile over which
1o amortise general entertainment programming. This assessment requires
the Group to form an expectation of:

+ the number of times a programme will be broadcast on the Group's inear
channels, and the time penod over which the programme 1s expected to
be utilised,

« the relative value asseociated with each broadeast, and

= the relative value associated with inear channel and non-inear
programme nghts. Linear channel nghts referto the rights to broadcast
a programme on the Group’s inear broadcast channels and non-linear
rights refer to the nghts to make a programme available on the Group's
on gemand services,

In order to perform this assessment, the Group considers the following
factars:

« The frequency with which, and the time pericd over which, the
programme is expected to be utilised on the Group’s linear channels and
non-knear services This 1s usually based en a combination of the actual
period specifiedin the contract for the programme rights, an initial
expectation of when airings will be scheduled and the alternative
programming available to the Group within this period Linear rights
are consumed as and when the programmes are broadcast, non-linear
nghts are censumed aver the period the programme 1s made available

Expectations as to the nurber of viewers a programme is likely to
achieve for each Individual broadcast on the Group's linear channels over
the contractual broadcast period. The number of viewers per broadcast
directly influences advertising revenue for channels, although this
consideration is partly influenced by the Group's assessment of the
potential impact of the publicly available information on its competitors’
scheduling Intentions against planned broadcasts.

= The potential benefits asscaated with utibsing programiming, Certain
high-profile or high-quality programming titles have additicnal value to
the Group, as they attract new TV customers and encourage retention
of existing TV customers, which directly influences subscription revenues
As such, these programmes are able to retain more value throughout
their lcence period than would be indicated when considering the
expected customer viewing and consumption numbers alone

The relative value associated with inear channel and non-linear rights 1s
assessed based on the manner in which the Group expects to utilise the

programming rights and the relative value perceived by customers for the

Group’s channels and services. Those retative values may also differ
based on the type and genre of programme Such values are reviewed by
the Group agamst current and expected future trends in customer
viewing behaviour for the Graup's programming and channels The value
apportioned to non-linear rights {in addition to any separately acquired
non-hnear nghts) is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of
the broadcast rights, as the Group considers this to be the profile most
closely aligned to its consumption of those rights. A broadcast-based
amortisation model s not relevant or appropriate for this type of nght
as the Group makes the programmes available for a penod of time rather
than for a specified number of broadcasts

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty:

vi. Recoverability of deferred tax assets

The recognition of deferred tax assets s contingent on the Group's
estimation of the future taxable income, particularly that of Sky
Deutschland, This estimation 1s supported by the Group's latest avallable
four-year forecast, which was considered by the Company’s Board of
Directors, and extrapolated beyond the forecast pericd as disclosed

1n note 14 Given the nature of Sky Deutschland’s subscription-based
business model, management has sufficient confidence in its ability

to execute and realise these plans.

A consistent set of forecasts is used as the basis for assessing the carrying
value of deferred tax assets with that used in the Group's annual
impairment review of goodwl! associated with Sky Deutschland, as
described innoteland note 9

As such, the carrying value of deferred tax assets Is sensitive to the
method, assumptions and estimates underlying the calculations.

We consider the sensitivity of the outcome to plausible changes in

key (nputs, as part of our assessments. Uncertainty around key sources
of estimation will be resolved over the passage of time, as future
performance matenalises and latest forecasts are considered

vii. Goodwillimpairment assessments

Goodwill iImpairment assessments require the calculation of the
recoverable amount of cash generating units to which the goodwill 15
associated Such calculation involves estimates of the net present value
of future forecast cash flows and selecting an approprnate discount rate.
Alternatively, it may involive a calculation of the estimated fair value less
costs to sell of the applicable cash generating unit.

As such, the carrying value of goodwill Is sensitive to the method,
assumptions and estimates underlying the calculations We consider the
sensitivity of the autcome te plausible changes in key inputs, as part of
our assessments Uncertainty around key sources of estimation wili be
resolved aver the passage of time, as future perfermance matenabses
and latest forecasts are considered

Annual Report 2017 a5

SIUIZIEIS BB



Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

2. Operating Segments

The Group has three reportable segments that are defined by geographic area to reflect how the Group's operations are monitored and managed
The reportable segments presented reflect the Group's management and reporting structure as viewed by the Board of Directers, which s considered

to be the Group's chief operating decision maker,

Reportable segment Description

UK and Ireland The actimities and operations of the pay TV, home communications, mobile and adjacent businessas in the UK and Ireland
Germany and Austna The activities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in Germany and Austria

taly The actvities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in Italy

Segmental income statement for the year ended 30 June 2017

Adjusting
UK& Germany & ltemsand  Statutory
Ireland Austria Italy Eiminatiens  Group Total
£m Em Em £m Em
Subscription in3 1,676 2080 - 10,859
Transactional 168 22 34 - 224
Programme and Channel Sales 698 22 62 4y 778
Advertising 508 75 242 - 826
Other n7 62 40 - 219
Revenue B,604 1,858 2,458 4) 12,916
Inter-segment revenue G - - 4 -
Revenue fram external customers 8,600 1,858 2458 - 12916
Programming (3,649) 1.039) (1,495) (17) (6.200)
Direct network costs (864 - - - (S64)
Sales, general and administration (2699) {779 827) {483) (4.788)
Operating expense (7312) (1.818) (2.322) (500)  (11852)
EBITDA 1,743 142 254 (203) 1,936
Depreciation and amortisation (4513 (102) [dE)) {301) (972)
Operating profit 1292 40 136 (504) 964
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 2
Investment income 22
Finance costs (204
Profit before tax 803
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Segmental income statement for the year ended 30 June 2016

Adjusting

UK& Germany & ltemsand  Statutery

Ireland Austria Itaty Eliminations  Group Total

£m £m £m £m Em

Subscripticn 7006 1379 1,800 - 10185
Transactional 146 8 33 - 197

Programme and Channel Sales 6510 21 12 6] 642

Advertising 524 52 202 - 778
Other 88 42 35 3 163

Revenpue 8,374 15612 2083 [C] 11,965

Inter-segment revenue 3) - m 4 -

Revenue from external customers 837 1512 2,082 - 11,965
Programming (3.032) a8n {1,250) (54) 6217
Direct network costs {939} - - - (9393
Sales, general and administration {2,899) 27 (783) {523) (4.832)
Operating expense (6,870) (1,508} (2,033) {577) (10.988)

EBITDA 1,910 82 185 (208) 1970
Depreciation and amortisation (406) (78) {136) (373) (993)

Operating profit 1,504 4 50 (581) 577

Share of results of joint ventures and associates 2

Investment Income 17
Finance costs (244)

Profit before tax 752

Results for each segment are presented on an adjusted basis A reconakation of statutory to adjusted profit is shown in note 7 which also mcudes a desciption of the adjusting items
Transactions between segments are recorded based on estimated market prices

Reverwe of £6,050 milien 2016 £7908 milton) anses from goods and services provided to the UK and reverue of £4,866 million (2016 £4,057 million} anses from services provided to other
countries Non-current assets located inthe UK were £10915 mitlion (2016 £10,404 millien) and non-current assets located ocutside the UK were £977 milion (2016 £748 mulien)

tnchuded within operating expenses for the year ended 30 June 2017 are

Costs of £140 millon 2016 E142 million) relating to corporate restructunng and efficiency programmes These costs have been recogrised as follows

- E20 millon (2016. £28 milllon) within Programming

- E120 million 2016 £114 mifion) within Sales, general and administration (SG&AY)

Costs of £50 milhon (2016 £84 millon} relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia in the enlarged Group These costs have been recogmised as foliows
~ E1milion 2018 E18 mulien) within Prograrmming

- E49 milion (2016, £66 rmulion) within SG&A

Costs of £40 millon (2016 ril) relating to share-based payments incurred as a result of the 21st Century Fox Offer recogrised within SG&A

Costs of E16 million {2016 nul) relabing to advisory fees asseoated with the 21st Century Fox OFfer recogrised within SG&A

Costs of l (2016 £8 milon) relating to the remeasurement of dervative financial Instruments not qualiying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffectveness recogrised wathin Programming
+ Costsof nI{2016 £4 million)relating to adwisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia recognised within SG&A

+ Costs of £258 million (2016 £343 milhon) relating to the amertrsation of acquired intangible assats recogrused within SG&A,

.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

3. Investment income and finance costs

2017 2016
£m £m
Investment mcome
Interest on cash, cash equivalents and short-term deposits 6 9
Interest on otherloans and receivables 16 8
22 17
2017 2016
£m £m
Finance costs
- Interest payable and similar charges
Facility related costs (5) ()]
Guaranteed Notes (see note 19) (233) (224)
finance lease interest 7) )]
(245) (238)
- Other finance income {expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowings-related dernvative financial instruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) 22 (12)
Remeasurement of other denvative financial instruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) 18 6
(Loss) gain ansing on dervatives In a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 47y 1
Gain (loss) ansing on adjustment for hedged item in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 48 Q)]
41 {6}
(204) (244)

Borrowing costs included in the cost of qualifying assets dunng the year arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a

capitalisabon rate of 27% (2016 2 8%) to expenditure on such assets The amount capitalised in the current year amounted to £10 million (2016 £14

miikon) Tax relief In the current year an capitalised interest totals £1 million (2016. £15 milhon)

4. Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation 1s stated after charging:

2017 2016

Em £m

Cost of inventones recognised as an expense 4847 4,088
Depreciation, impanrment and losses {profits) on disposals of property, plant and equipment 366 356
Amortisation, impairment and losses (profits) on disposals of intangible assets 606 637
Rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements a9 95

Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange gains recognised (n the income statement durning the year amounted to E23 mill:on (2016° gains of £i4 midlion)
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4. Profit before taxation (continued)

Audit fees
Arr analysis of auditor's remuneration is as follaws

207 2016

£m Em

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual acceunts 31 24
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company's subsidianes 05 05
Total audit fees 36 29
Audit-related services 631 03
Taxation services 0z [e):]
Other assurance services 05 03
Other advisory services 27 64
Total non-audit fees 4.2 7.8

Cther assurance services principally relate to The Bigger Picture assurance and financing comfort procedures.

Deloitte Germany and Deloitte Italy provided technology consulting and adviscry services to Sky Deutschland and Sky Ital.a duning the year As described
in the Repart of the Audit Committee, these services were reviewed regularly throughout the year (in order to ensure the continued independence of
Deloitte LLP as auditors of the Group The total fees for these services were £2.7 million (2016: £6.4 mithon}

5. Employee benefits and key management compensation
a) Group employee benefits

2017 2016

£m £m

Wages and salartes 1,331 1,190
Social security costs 202 184
Costs of employee share option schemes' 147 100
Contnbutions to the Group’s pension schemes? 49 40
1,729 1514

1 E147 million relates to equity-settled share-based payments (2016 £100 rmillion)
2 The Group operates defined contripution pension schemes The pensicn charge for the year represents the cost of contributions payable by the Group to the schemes during the
year The amount payabla to the schemes by the Group at 30 tune 2017 was £3 rillion (2016 £6 million)

The average monthly number of full-time equivalent persons {including temporary employees) employed by the Group during the year was as follows:

2007 2016

Number Number

Channels and services 4750 5,033
Customer service, sales and marketing 16,774 15,712
Transmissicn and technology 4862 4,688
Management and administration 2,646 2,510
29132 27.941

There are approximately 1,009 (2016 959) temporary staff included wrthin the average number of full-time equivalent persons employed by the Group.

b) Key management compensation (see note 27d)

2017 2016

Em £m

Short-term employee benefits 6 6
Share-based payments m 9
7 15

Post-employment benefits were lass than £1 million (2016: less than £1 million). The amounts disclosed for key management compensation are included
within the disclosures in note 5(a).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements ~ continued

6. Taxation
a) Taxation recognised in the income statement
2007 2016

£m £m
Current tax expense
Current year ~ UK 183 224
Adjustmentn respect of prioryears - UK (34} 29
Current year - Overseas 16 19
Adjustment in respect of prior years - Qverseas (16) -
Total current tax charge 149 214
Deferred tax expense
Ongnation and reversal of temporary differences - UK a7 S
Adjustment in respect of prior years - UK hl 9
Onigination and reversal of temporary differences - Overseas (30 (30)
Adjustment in respect of prior years - Overseas - (=
Total deferred tax credit (37) (125
Taxation n2 89
b) Taxation recognised directly in equity

2007 2016

Em £Em
Current tax credit relating to share-based payments m (213
Deferred tax (credit) charge relating to share-based payments © 21
Deferred tax (credit) charge relating to cash flow hedges 48) 45

(55) 46

) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The tax expense for the year 1s lower (2016 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation tax in the
UK (19.75%) apphed to profit before tax. The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UK corporation tax for the year was 19.75%
(2016: 20 0%) The differences are explained below

2017 2076
£m £m
Profit before tax 803 752
Profit before tax multiplied by blended rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19 75% (2016: 20 0%} 159 150
Effects of:
Dsfferent statutory tax rates of overseas jurisdictions {15) (29)
Disposal of Group nMvestments - 2
Net effect of other non-taxable/non-deductible items 7 26
Effect of tax rate changes - 27
Adjustments in respect of prior years (39) 29)
Taxation 112 89
7.Earnings per share
The weighted average number of shares for the year was
2017 2016
Milhonsof  Millions of
shares shares
Qrdmnary shares 1,719 1,719
ESOP trust ordinary shares ()] 2
Basic shares 1,710 1.707
Dilutive ardinary shares from share options 28 14
Diluted shares 1,739 1721

There are 89,756 share options (2016 none) which could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future but which have been excluded from the
calculation of diluted earnings per share as they are anti-dilutive In the year,
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7. Earnings per share (continued)

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attrnibutable to equity sharehalders of the parent company by

the weighted average number of shares for the year. In order to provide a measure of underlying performance, management have chosen to present

an adjusted profit for the year which excludes items that may distort comparability Such items arise from events or transactions that fall within

the ordinary actimties of the Group but which management believes should be separately identified to help explain underlying performance

2007 2016
£m Em
Profit for the year S]] 663
Loss attributable to non-controling interests 4 3
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 695 666
2017 2016
£m £m
Reconaliation frem profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company to adjusted profit for the
year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 695 566
Costs relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes 140 142
Costs relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia in the enlarged Group 50 84
Costs relating to share-based payments incurred as a result of the 21st Century Fox Offer 40 -
Costs refating to advisory fees associated with the 21st Century Fox Offer 16 -
Adwisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia - 4
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 269 347
Profit on disposal of joint venture (see note 12} (8) -
Interest income on credit recerved following an Ofcorn determination (8) -
Remeasurement of all denvative finanaal instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffectiveness can 14
Tax adjusting items and the tax effect of abave items (103) (180)
Adjusted profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1,050 1077
2017 2016
pence pence
Earnings per share from profit for the year
Basic 40.6p 39.0p
Diluted 400p 387p
Adjusted earnings per share from adjusted profit for the year
Basic 614p 63.1p
Diluted 60 4p 626p
8.Dividends
207 2016
Em £m
Dividends declared and paid durning the year
2015 Final dmdend pard. 20 50p per ordinary share - 350
2016 Interim dividend paid. 12 55p per erdinary share - 214
2016 Final dwidend paid 20.95p per ordinary share 358 -
358 564

Under the terms of the 21st Century Fox Offer, the Company has agreed with 21st Century Fox that it will not pay any dvidends dunng the calendar year 2017,

Dividends are paid between Group companies out of profits available for distribution subject to,inter alia, the provisions of the companies’ articles of

assocaticn and the Companies Act 2006 The ESOP has waived its nghts to dimdends
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

9. Goodwill

£m
Carrying value
At1July 2015 416G
Foreign exchange movements 5465
Other 7
At 30 June 2016 4713
Foreign exchange movements 188
Other 29
At 30 Jupe 2017 4,930

Goodwill has principally arisen from the Group's purchases of Sky Deutschland, Sky ltalia, British Interactive Broadcasting ('BIB), Easynet’s UK broadband
network assets and residential activities, 365 Medra’s content activities, Amstrad, Living TV, The Cloud and the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-line
telephony business

Goodwill, allocated by cash generating unit, i1s analysed as follows:

2017 2016

£m Em

UK and Ireland’ 932 an
Germany and Austria? 3182 3018
Italy® 806 784
4,930 4713

Impairment reviews were performed on these goodwili balances at 30 June 2017, which did not indicate impairment

Recoverable amounts for each of the cash generating units (‘CGU's’) were calculated on the basis of value in use, using cash flows calculated for the
next four years as forecast by management A jong-term growth rate of 2% was apphed to allunits in order to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond
ths period (2016: 3%) The cash flows of the UK and Ireland CGU were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 10% (2016° 8%), the cash flows of the
Germany and Austria CGU were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 8% (2016 7%} and the cash flows of the Italy CGU were discounted using
apre-tax discount rate of 10% {2016 9%).

In determining the applicable discount rate, management applied jJudgement in respect of several factors, which included, inter alia- assessing the nsk
attached to future cash flows and making reference to the capital asset pricing model (the 'CAPM?) Management gave consideration to the selection of
appropriate Inputs to the CAPM, which included the nsk free rate, the equity nsk premium and a measure of systematic nsk. Management also considered
capital structure and an approprate cost of debt in arrving at the discount rate

The key assumptions, on which the forecast cash flows of each unit were based, include the number of gross customer additions, the rate of churn,
the average revenue per user, levels of programming spend, acquisition costs per customer and anticipated changes in the product mix and marketing
mix of the broadcast activities, The values assigned to each of these assumptions were determined based on the extrapolaticn of histonical trends
within the Group, and external nformation on expected future trends in the entertainment and communications industry (n each territory,

1.UK and Ireland

The UK and Ireland unit includes goodwill ansing from the purchase of BB, Easynet’s UK broadband network assets and residential activities, 365 Media's
content activities, Amstrad, Living TV, The Cloud and the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business. The UK and Ireland unit includes
intangibles with (indefinite lives of £31 million (2016 £31million} 1

2. Germany and Austria
The Germany and Austria unit includes goodwill arising from the purchase of Sky Deutschland

3. italy
The Italy unit Includes goodwill ansing from the purchase of Sky ltalia The Italy umt includes intangibles with indefinite lves of £573 midhion

(2016 £546 million),
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10. Intangible assets

Internally
generated Accuirec
Software Customer intangible ntangibie
Internally  development contracts assets assets
generated (external) and related Other not yet notyet
intangible  and software customer intangible avallable available
Trademarks assets hcences  relationships’ assets for use foruse Total
£m £m Em £m Em £m Em Em
Cost
AT July 2015 476 616 603 2979 426 122 16 5,338
Additions from business combinations - - - 2 18 - - 20
Additions 1 96 62 - 70 108 127 464
Disposals - (44) (48) (6) [©)] - - (107)
Transfers - 82 22 - 1 (82) (23) -
Foreign exchange movements 69 - 27 476 4 - 8 584
At 30 June 2016 546 750 G666 3451 510 148 228 6,299
Additions from business combinations - - - 22 S - - 27
Additions - 135 105 - 72 98 143 553
Disposals - (50) 2n - (2 (8) - (81)
Transfers - nz a2 - 1 Mz 85 -
Foreign exchange movements 27 - 12 181 & - 4 230
At 30 June 2017 573 947 B854 3,654 592 121 287 7028
Amortisation
AT July 2015 4 309 340 21 330 - - 1254
Amortisation - 13 100 340 73 - - 626
Dispasals - (44} 48) (6) - - - {98)
Impairments - 7 3 4 2 - - 16
Foreign exchange movements 1 - 10 44 - - - 55
At 3d June 2016 5 385 408 653 405 - - 1.853
Amortisaticn 1 137 123 251 76 - - 588
Disposals - (50) (21 - (@3} (8) - (81)
Impairments - 3 6 - 1 2] - 18
Foreign exchange movernents - - 4 20 - - - 24
At 30 June 2017 6 475 517 924 480 - - 2402
Carrying amcunts
ALY July 2015 472 307 263 2708 96 - 122 16 4,084
At 30 june 2016 541 365 261 2798 105 148 228 4,446
At 30 June 2017 567 472 337 2,730 nz 121 287 4,626

1 Inthe prior year, iIntangible assets of £7 milion were derecognised as part of the disposal of a subsidiary

The estimated future amortisation charge onintangible assets with finite lives for each of the next five years I1s set cut befow It s hkely that future
amortisation will vary from the figures below as the estimate does not include the impact of any future Investments, disposals or capital expenditure

208 2019 2020 2021 2022
Year ending £m £m £m £m Em
Estimated amortisation charge 512 443 381 307 267

within intangible assets there are certain assets with indefinite useful lives The carrying value of these assets s £604 milion (2016 £577 million),

The Group's internally generated intangible assets relate principally to software development assocated with our customer management systems
and set-top boxes The Group's other Intangible assets mainly include copyright keences and connection fees

As part of the acquisition of Sky italia the Group acquired the nights to use trademarks In certain terntonies. The rights to use trademarks in certain
terntones are considered to have indefinite ives because the Group has the intention and ability to consume these rights over an indefinite panod
An impairment, review of the assets Is performed annuatly as part of the Group's iImpairment reviews of 1ts CGUs (see note 9).

Included wathin customer contracts and related customer reiationships are Intangible assets with a net book value of £1555 mithion (2016 £1,584 mithon)
and aremaming usefu! life of 13 years (2016 14 years) relating to the acquired customer base in Germany and Austna and intangible assets with a net
book value of £1,030 mithon (N6 £1.077 million) and a remaining useful ife of 13 years (2016 14 years) relating to the acquired customer base n Italy.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

11. Property, plant and equipment

Equipment, Assels
Freehold furriture not yet,
land and Leasehold and Owned available
buidings? improvements fixtures set-top boxes foruse Total'?
£m Em £m £m Em £m
Cost
At1July 2015 39 95 1609 372 N7 2784
Additions from business combinations - - 3 - - 3
Additions 4 4 136 128 328 600
Cisposals - (2) G0 27 - (99)
Transfers 19 - 82 7 72y -
Foreign exchange movements - 7 15 72 8 102
At 30 June 2016 414 104 1775 616 481 3,390
Additions 32 13 n2 6 503 666
Disposals 4) (24) {66) 98) - 92y
Transfers 210 5 143 387 (745) -
Foreign exchange movements 1 1 <] 23 1 32
At 30 June 2017 653 99 1970 934 240 3.896
Depreciaticn
At1July 2015 61 50 948 79 - 1138
Depreciation 12 11 190 126 - 339
Impairments - - n - - n
Disposals - 2 ©9) (18) - 89
Foreign exchange movements - 1 4 29 - 34
At 30 June 2016 73 60 1,084 216 - 1,433
Depreciatron 12 10 200 125 - 347
Impatrments 3 - - 2 - 5
Disposals 4 (24) {65) (84) - Q7?7)
Fereign exchange movements - 1 2 12 - 15
At 30 June 2017 a4 a7 1221 N - 1,623
Carrying amounts
At 1July 2015 330 45 661 293 n7 1646
At 30 June 2016 34 44 691 400 481 1957
At 30 June 2017 569 52 7453 663 240 2,273

1 The amounts shown include assets held under finance leases with a net baok value of E8 million (2016 £25 milkion) The cost ofthese assets was £30 million (2016 £54 millior)
and the accumulated depreciation was £22 million (2016 £29 milion). Depractation charged during the year on such assets was £5 million (2016 £12 million)

2 Depreciationwas net charged on £88 mullion of land (2016 £88 millien}

3 Inthe prioryear, property, plant and equipment of £1million was disposed ofas part of the disposal of a subsidiary

12. Investments in joint ventures and associates

Alist of the Group's Investments in Joint ventures and associates, including the name, country of iIncorporation and proportion of ownership interest
1S given in note 28 1o the consolidated financial statements.

The movement in joint ventures and associates dunng the year was as follows:

2017 2076
£Em Em

Share of net assets.
At 1 July 123 133
Movement in net assets
- Funding 9 8
= Dividends received 20 (20)
- Share of profits' 21 2
- Acquisition of associates and yoint ventures 2 1
- Disposal of joint venture' (1%} -
- Exchange differences on translation of foreign joint ventures and associates - (O]
At 30 June 116 123

1 Buring the year, the Group acquired a controiling interest in Attheraces Holdings Limited, which was previously ajeint venture This was accounited for as a step acquisition, included
wrthun share of profits for the year is a profit on disposai of the previously held equity interest of £8 millien and included within disposal of joint venture 1s the revaluation of the
praviously held equity iInterast of £8 million

The aggregate carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures and assocates that are not individually matenal for the Group s £41 millon as
at 30 June 2017 (2016 £45 milion) The Group's share of any capital commitments and contingent habilities of associates and joint ventures 1s shown
within the totals in nete 25
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a} Investments in associates
Representing 100% of the Group's Investment in Sky Bet

07 2016
Em £m
Non-current assets 818 758
Current assets 140 146
Current habiities 127) {108y
Non-current hiabilities (884) 863y
Shareholders’ deficit {53) {66)
Group's share of shareholders’ deficit {n 3
Consolidation and other adjustments 86 91
Investment in associates 75 78
Revenue 513 372
Loss after tax (2] (53)
No dividends were received in either the current or prior year
b) Investments in joint ventures
Representing the Group's share of each joint venture
2007 2016
£m £m
Non-current assets n 13
Current assets B6 a3
Current liabihties (36) (a1)
Non-current liabilities (126} 92y
Shareholders’ deficit {65) 3N
Revenue N4 108
Expense {95) 88
Taxation (S) 3)
14 14

Share of profit from joint ventures

13. Available-for-sale investments

At 30 June 2017 the Group heid £110 million (2016 £71 million) of unlisted Investments These Investments consist of minonty equity stakes in a number

of technolegy and start-up companies

Ouring the current year, the Group purchased investments in(flix Limited (£12 million) and Molotov (£3 millien) Otherpnnaipal investmentsinclude

Fubo TV, Dataxu Inc. and Roku Inc.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

14. Deferred tax
i) Recognised deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Share-based Finanoal
Accelerated Intangibles on Short-term payments  instruments
tax business termporary temporary temporary
depreciation  combinations Tax losses differences differences differences Total
Em Em £m £m £m £m Em
At 1 July 2015 (20) (752) 553 83 59 29 (106}
(Charge) credit to income <)} 78 45 (13) 8) 7 93
Charge to equity - - - - 21 [C)] 7%
Acguisition of subsidiaries - &) - - - - @
Effect of change In taxrate
- Income 1 23 2 3 (2) - 27
- Equity - - - - - 3 3
Foreign exchange movements [&)] me6) 100 12 - (2) [Q)]
At 30 June 2016 (35) {761) 696 79 28 {70) (63)
{Charge) credit toincome 14) 46 4 {20} 21 - 37
Credit to equity - - - - & 47 53
Acquisition of subsidiaries - (¢ 1 - - &3]
Effect of change In tax rate
- Income 5 (O] (1) @ m - -
- Equity - - - - - 1 1
Foretgn exchange movements m [¢:Ao)) 40 m M m @
At 30 June 2017 _(45) (760) 740 57 53 {23) 22

Deferred tax assets have been recognised at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 on the basis that, from management’s current forecast of the Group’s
entities, )tis probable that there will be surtable taxable profits against which these assets can be utiised The carrying value of deferred tax assets
in excess of deferred tax habilities principally ansing on the acquis:tron of Sky Deutschland was £296 million as at 30 June 2017 (2016 £243 million)
The majonity of the deferred tax asset relates to tax losses in the German and Austnian businesses, which can be carried forward indefinitely,

The Directors have concluded that 1t 1s probable that there will be sufficient future taxable profits against which the German and Austrian losses can be
utiised, taking mto account the Group’s latest available four-year forecast, which was considered by the Company's Board of Directors, and extrapolated
beyond the forecast perod as disclosed In note 9. The forecast shows that the Group will continue to benefit from the utifisation of the tax losses beyond
the initial four-year forecasting peried

For further details regarding this Judgement, please refer to the Group's ‘eritical accounting policies and the use of judgement and estimates’ section,
contained in note 1

Deferred tax assets and labilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which they reverse, The rates enacted
or substantively enacted for the relevant periods of reversal are. 19.0% from 1 April 2017 and 17.0% from 1 April 2020 in the UK: 28.1% in italy, and 274%
In Germany.

Certan deferred tax assets and habilities have been offset Jurisdiction by punisdiction:

207 2018
£m Em
Deferred tax assets 302 245
Deferred tax habiities (2BD) (308)
22 £63)
ii) Unrecognised deferred tax assets
27 2015
£m £€m
Tax losses arising from trading {gross 2017 £1,630 milion, 2016 £1,548 million) 258 245
Tax losses ansing from capital disposals and provisions against investments (gross 2017 £1,383 milhon, 2016 £1,38¢ million) 235 262
493 507

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because 1t 15 Not probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the Group can utilise the losses

At 30 June 2017, a deferred tax asset of £1 mition (2016 £1 million) prinaipally ansing from UK trading losses in the Group has not been recognised,
These losses can only be of fset against taxable profits generated in the entities concerned. There 1s currently insufficient evidence to support the
recagnition of a deferrad tax asset relating to these losses. The UK trading losses ¢an be carried forward mdefinitely

At 30 June 2017, a deferred tax asset of £257 million (2016. £244 milhon) has not been recogrised in respect of averseas trading losses on the basts that
1t1s not probable that these temporary differences willbe utiised These losses include £256 miflion (2016: £243 milllion) with respect to the Group's
former investment in KirchPayTV and £1 million {2016 £1 million) with respect to other subsidianes.

At 30 June 20i7, a defgrred tax asset of £232 million (2016- £258 million) has not been recogrised in respect of capitat iosses related to the Group's
former investment in KirchPayTV. on the basis that utiisation of these temporary differences 1s not probable At 30 June 2017, the Group alsa has capital
losses with a tax value estimated to be £3 millon (2016 £4 million) including mpairment of a football club and other investments, which have not been
recognised as a deferred tax asset, on the basis that itis not probable that they will be utiised. The capital lesses can be carmned forward indefinitely
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15. Inventories

207 2016

£m £m

Telaviston programme rights 1058 940
Set-top boxes and related equipment 35 26
Other inventories 19 24
Current inventory 113 980
Non-current programme distribution rights 63 36
Total inventory 1176 1026

At 30 June 2017, 75% (2016 80%) of the television programme rights and 100% (2016: 100%) of set-top bexes and related equipment and other inventories

are expected to be recognised in the income statement within 12 manths

Inventories with a carrying value of £3 milion {2016 £25 million) were written-down in the year

16. Trade and other receivables

2017 2016

£m £m
Gross trade receivables 533 441
Less provision for impairment of recevables (120} (96}
Net trade receivables 413 345
Amounts receivable from joint ventures and associates 14 13
Amounts recervable from other related parties 24 20
Prepayments 458 527
Accrued ihcome 429 332
VAT 2 2
Other receivables o o
Current trade and other receivables 1,475 1,349
Prepayments 16 2]
AMGUNtS recevable from joint ventures and associates 15 77
Other receivables - o5
Non-current trade and other receivables il 95
Totaltrade and other receivables 1516 1444
included within current trade and ather receivables is il (2016: nilwhich is due in more than one year.
The ageing of the Group's net trade receivables which are past due but not imparred is as follows

2077 2016

£m £m
Up to 30 days past due date 57 61
30 to 60 days past due date ¢ 14
60to 120 days past due date 8 4
120+ days past due date 5 3

B8O 82

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their farr values The Group is exposed to credit risk on 1ts
trade and other recevables, however the Group does not have any sigrificant concentrations of credit sk, with exposure spread over a large number of

counterparties and customers. Trade recevables principally comprise amounts outstanding from subscnbers, advertisers and other customers.

Previsions for doubtful debts

2017 2016

Em Em

Balance at beginning of year 21 70
Amounts utilised {36) @2)

Prowided during the year 60 68

Balance at end of year 120 96
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

17. Trade and other payables

2017 2016

£m £m

Trade payables 1612 1421
Amounts owed to Joing ventures and associates 9 14
Amounts owed to other related parties 193 181
VAT 168 245
Accruals 1,607 1375
Deferred income 450 462
Other payables 234 203
Current trade and other payables 4,303 3,902
Trade payables 44 34
Amounts owed to other related parties N !
Deferred income 3 7
QOther payables 40 39
Non-current trade and other payables 87 81
4,390 3,983

Total trade and other payables

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates therr fair values Trade payables principally comprise amounts

outstanding for programming purchases and ongomg costs.,

18. Provisions

Prowvided
At Reclassified  Provided Utiised Foreign At Reclassified (releasedy  Utilised Foreign At
1July during the durtng during exchange 1lily  durngthe dunngthe dunng  exchange  30June
2015 year theyear theyear movement 2016 year year theyear movement 2017
£€m Em £m £m £m Em £m £m Em £m Em
Current habilities
Restructuring
provision’ 21 4 20 a7 1 29 - 3 9) - 13
Customer-related
provisions? 33 - 47 (15) - 65 - - 27 - 38
Other provisions? 49 i3 a7 (23) 1 87 4 17 54) 2 56
103 17 14 {55) 2 181 4 20 (1003 2 107
Non-current llabilities
Other provisions 51 oan 32 {10y 5 61 4} 22 (32) 2 49
Employee benefit
obligations* 26 - 3 0] 5 33 - ) {n 3 34
77 [¢L] 35 an 10 94 {&) 21 33 5 B3

1 These pravisions relate to costs incurred as part of corperate restructuring and effimency programmes

2 These pravisions incluge costs of a programme to replace aged customer equipment

3 Included incurrent other prowisions are amounts pronded for legal disputes, warranty habilitres and onerous contracts for property leases and mantenance The trming of the cash
flaws for onerous leases 1s dependent on the terms of the leases, but is expected to continue up to June 2018
4 In2M5, the Group acquired employee benefit obligations as part of 1ts acquisitions of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Italla These obligations are described further below

Employee benefit obligations

At Foreign At Foreign At

1 July Pension Actuanal exchange 30 June Pension  Actuanal  exchange 30 June

2005 payments losses movement 2016 payments gans movement 2017

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m Em

Sky Deutschland defined benefit obligations 12 - 2 2 4 - a 1 14
Sky Itala emplayee benefit obligations 16 ) 1 3 19 (1) - 2 20
26 [Q] 3 5 33 {1 (O] 3 34
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a) Sky Deutschland

Sky Deutschland operates unfunded final salary defined benefit pension plans that are not covered by plan assets These plans were dosed to future
accrual The total defined benefit ebligation at 30 June 2017 was £14 millron (2016 £14 milhon) The amount of the pension entitlement depends an
the salary of the respective employee at the time of retirement Employee benefit obligations will be funded out of current and future earnings

The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected unit credit method applying the following principal assumptions.

Actuarial projections (including assumptions about cost-of-living increases, salary increases, ete ) were made to value the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employment planin the event of mortality (both dunng and after employment), disability and early retirement. Senjonity and
rates of employee turnover as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement date were also taken inte account in projecting future benefits;

The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probability
of services being rendered;

The following specific assumptions have been used

- Annuai discount rate of 195% (2016 1 50%);

- Annual growth rate of 2.00% (2016: 2.00%),

- Annual salary growth rate of 2 50% (2016' 2.50%), and

- Annual fluctuation rate employees of 700% (2016 700%)

Since there are no plan assets as defined by JAS 19 {revised 2011) and all actuanal gains and losses are recogrised when incurred, the present value of the
defined benefit cbligation of the pension obligations and the obligations similar to pensions i1s equivalent to the proviston recognised on the balance sheet

Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would not have a maternal impact on the provision

The weighted average matunty of the defined benefit obligation 15 21 years (2016 22 years) as of the balance sheet date

Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2018 are less than £1 milhon (2016 less than £1 million)

b) Sky italia

Sky Itala’s employee benefit obligations relate to a provision for employee retirement, determined using actuanal techniques (as discussed further below)
and regulated by Article 2120 of the Italan Civil Code These plans were closed to future accrual The total employee benefit obligation at 30 June 2017 was
£20 milion (2616 £19 million). The benefit is paid upon retirement as a lump sum, the amount of which corresponds to the totat of the provisions accrued

during the employees’ service period based on payrell costs as revalued until retirement Employees benefit obligations will be funded out of current and
future earnings

The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected unit crecht method applying the following principal assumptions:

Actuanal projections (including assumptions about cost-of-living increases, salary increases, etc ) were made to value the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employment plan in the event of mortality (both duning and after employment), disability and early retirement. Sertority and
rates of employee turnover as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement date were also taken into account In projecting future benefits;

.

The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probability of
services being rendered;

The following speafic assumptions have been used.

- Annual discount rate of 0.01% (2016 0.01%);

- Annual inflation rate of 1 20% {2016 0 40%),

- Annual revaluation rate of 2.40% (2016 1.80%),

- Annual fluctuation rate employees of 3.74% (2016 5 40%), and
- Annual mertality rate of 0 43% (2016 G11%)

Since there are no plan assets as defined by 1AS 18 {revised 2011) and all actuanal gains and losses are recognised when incurred, the present value of the
defined benefit obligation of the pension obligations and the obligations similar to pensions 1s equivalent to the provision recognised on the balance sheet

Reasonably possible changes to these assumptiens would not have a matenal impact on the prowvision,
The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit obligation Is 15 years (2016: 17 years) as of the balance sheet date
Expected pension payments n the year to 30 June 2018 are £2 milion (2016 £1million).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

19. Borrowings

2017 2016
£m £m
Current borrowings
Loan Notes - 6
Obligations under finance leases™ 3 25
£400 milhon of 5.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 398 -
US$750 million of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018% 573 -
974 3
Non-current borrowmngs
£400 million of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 - 398
US$750 mllion of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018¢ - 559
US$582.8 million of 9.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20180 438 435
US$750 milhon of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayabla in September 20197 575 576
€600 million of Guaranteed Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020® 526 499
£450 milllon of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20200 458 470
£1,500 million of 1.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20210 1312 1243
US$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 613 597
€850 milion of 1875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023® 744 705
US$1,250 million of 3.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20241 958 933
€500 million of 2.250% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2025 437 414
€1,000 milion of 2.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20264 873 828
£300 million of 6.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 20270 257 296
£300 milien of 4000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20294 297 297
€400 million of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 348 330
US$350 million of 6500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 20359 266 259
Loan Notes - 1
Obligations under finance leases™ 67 61
8,207 8,901
(i) Guaranteed Notes
At 30 June 2017, the Group had in Issue the following Guaranteed fixed and floating rate notes, which were issued by the Company.
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value® Fixed Floating
£&m Em £m Fixed Fioating
US$750 mufhon of 6.100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 97 6829% 6m LIBOR +1.892%
US$582.8 million of 9.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 7091% 6m LIBOR +5.542%
£450 millon of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable In November 2020 450 - 450 - 3mLIBOR +1 230%
€500 mitlion of 2 250% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2025 356 356 - A721% -
1,582 906 676
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
€m €m €m Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - 581 - 3mEURIBOR +0.656%
€600 million of Guaranteed Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 600 - 600 - 3mEURIBOR +0.750%
€1,500 mitlion of 1.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable 1n September 2021 1,500 1,500 - 1500% -
USs$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 683 689 - 2118% -
€850 million of 1.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 850 850 - 1875% -
US$1,250 mullion of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1000 milhon of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1000 1000 - 2500% -
£300 milhon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 an amn - 5006% -
£300 milhion of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2028 359 399 - 3122% -
€400 million of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2750% -
7399 6,218 1181
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At 30 June 2017 the Group had in 1ssue the following Guaranteed Notes, which were issued by Sky Group Finance plc

Interest Rate Hedging

Hedged Interest Rates

Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
£m £m £m Fixed Floating
£400 million of 5.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 400 350 50 5750% 6m LIBOR -0 229%
US$350 milion of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 - 5.864% -
600 550 50

At 30 June 2016, the Group had 1n 1ssue the following Guaranteed fixed and floating rate notes, which were 1ssued by the Company:

Interest Rate Hedging

Hedged Interest Rates

Hedged

Value* Fixed Floating
£m Em Em Fixed Floating
US5$750 millian of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 97 6829% 6m LIBOR +1.892%
US$582 8 milion of 9.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 70%1% 6m LIBOR +5.542%
£450 million of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +1230%
€500 million of 2 250% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2025 356 356 - 3721% -

1.582 906 676

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged

Value* Fixed Floating
£€m €m €m Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - 581 - 3mEURIBOR +0656%
€600 million of Guaranteed Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 60C - 600 - 3mEURIBOR +0.750%
€1,500 milhon of 1.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1,500 1,500 - 1500% -
US$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 €89 689 - 2118% -
€850 million of 1.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable sn November 2023 850 850 - 1.875% -
US$1,250 milhon of 3750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1,000 million of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1,000 1,000 - 2500% -
£300 millien of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 an aM - 5006% -
£300 million of 4000% Guaranteed Notes repayatie in November 2029 359 399 - 3122% -
€400 millien of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2.750% -

7.399 6,218 1181

At 30 June 2016, the Group had i1 1ssue the following Guaranteed Notes, which were tssued by Sky Group Finance plc:

Interest Rate Hadging

Hedged Interest Rates

Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
£m Em €m Fixed Fleating
£400 miflan of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable n October 2017 400 350 50 5750% 6m LIBOR -0.229%
US$350 millon of 6,500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 - 5.864% -
600 550 50

* Hedged value s the final redemption value including any hedging

The Group has a Global Medium-Term Note Frogramme (the ‘Programme’), which provides the Group with a standardised documentation platform for
senior debt issuance of up to £5 billion in the major globat band markets The €500 miltion of 2 250% Guaranteed Notes maturing in November 2025,
1ssued during the prior year and the £300 millon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes matunng in May 2027 have been 1ssued under this Programme
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

19. Borrowings (continued)

{ii) Finance leases
The rminimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Within one year 3 25
Between one and five years 14 13
After five years 53 48
Present value of finance lease liabilities 70 B&
Future finance charges on finance lease llabilities j=le} g7
Minimum lease payments of finance lease liabilities 160 183

The main obhgations under finance leases are in relation to’

(& finance arrangements in connection with the broadband network infrastructure. Duning the year, repayments of £8 million (2016 £9 million) were
made against the lease Aproportion of these payments have been allocated against the capital outstanding. The lease bears interest at a rate of
11.1% and expires in November 2039

(b) finance arrangements in connection with the contact centre In Dunfermline, During the year, repayments of £2 milhon (2016 £2 million) were made
aganst the lease A proportion of these payments have been allocated against the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interest at a rate
of B.5% and expires in September 2020,

(&) finance arrangements In connection with set-top boxes During the year repayments of £13 milhkon (2016 £9 million) were made against the lease.
A propartion of these payments have been allocated aganst the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interest at a rate of 7% and expired
in March 2017,

(i) Revolving Credit Facility
The Group has a £1 billon RCF with a maturity date of 30 November 2021, syndicated across 15 counterparty banks, each with a minimum ered:t rating
of ‘Baa2’ or equivalent from Standard & Poor's At 30 June 2017 the RCF was undrawn (2016: undrawn)

The Group 15 subject to two finanaal covenants under the RCF, a maximum leverage ratio and a minimum interest cover ratio, which are tested at the end
of each six-monthly period The key financial covenants are the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA (as defined in the loan agreements) and EBITDA to Net Interast
Payable (as defined in the loan agreements) Net Debt to EBITDA must be no more than 4.00:1 and EBITDA to Net Interest Payable must be at least 3.501.
The Group was In compliance with these covenants for all penods presented.

(iv) Guarantees

The following guarantees are in place relating to the Group's borrowings: (a) Sky UK Limited, Sky Subscribers Services Limited, Sky Group Finance plc,
Sky Telecommunications Services Limited and Sky CP Limited have given joint and several guarantees In refation to the Company's £1 billon RCF and the
outstanding Guaranteed Fixed and Floating Rate Notes issued by the Company: and {b) the Company, Sky UK Limited, Sky Subscribers Services Limited,
Sky Telecommunications Services Limited and Sky CP Limited have given joint and several guarantees in relation to the outstanding Guaranteed Notes
1ssued by Sky Group Finance pic,

20. Derivatives and other financial instruments
Set out below are the derivative financial Instruments entered Inte by the Group to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange risks

2017 2016
Asset Liabihty Assat Liability
Fair Value Notional Fair Value Notional Fair Value Notional Fair Value Notional

£m Em £m £m £m Em Em £m
Fairvalue hedges
interest rate swaps 28 645 - - 79 1079 - -
Cross-currency swaps 120 466 - - 118 466 - -
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps 544 2088 - - 526 2088 - -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 48 2,335 (36) 1,340 361 4095 (12) 539
Net investment hedges
Cross-currency swaps - - {353 2343 - - (240) 2343
Dervatives not in a formal hedge refationship
Cross-currency swaps n9 522 - - 100 522 - -
Forward fareign exchange contracts 2 417 &) 532 50 818 43) 702
Interest rate swaps 16 449 {4) 260 - - {6) 260
Embedded dernvative - ~ D 67 - - [¢3)] 86
Total 877 €922 {404) 4,542 1,234 9,058 {(309) 3930
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The maturity of the derivative financial instruments is as follows

2007 2016

Asset Liability Asset Liabdity

£m £m Em Em
Inone year criess 232 (9 193 [E19)]
Between one and two years 93 16) 299 {6)
Between two and five years 147 (63) 349 (36)
In more than five years 405 (306) 393 217
Total 877 (404) 1,234 (309)

The fair value of the Group’s debt-related derivative portfoha at 30 June 2017 was a £470 millon net asset (2016, net asset of £577 millon) with notional
principal amounts totaliing £6,773 million (2016 £6,758 millon). This comprised net assets of £544 million designated as cash flow hedges (2016 net
assets of £526 million), net assets of £148 million designated as far value hedges (2016: net assets of £197 million), net habiities of £353 million
designated as net investment hedges (2016 net labilities of £240 million) and net assets of £131 million not designated in a formal hedge relationship
(2016: net assets of £54 million)

Hedge accounting classification and impact

The Group designated certain interest rate swaps as fair value hedges of interest rate risk and cross-currency swaps as fair value hedges of interest rate
risk and foresgn exchange nisk, representing 16% (2016: 23%) of the total debt related denvative portfolic. Movements in the fair value of the hedged stems
are taken to the iIncome statement and are offset by movements in the fa:r value of the hedging instruments, to the extent that hedge accounting is
achieved.

Tha Group designated certain fixed rate cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges, representing 31% (2016° 31%) of the total debt related dervative
portfoho As such, the effective portion of the gamn or loss on these contracts is reported as a separate component of the hedging reserve, and s then
reclassified to the income statement in the same periods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement Cash flows on the swaps occur
semi-annually up to and Inclusive of the relevant bond maturity disclosed in note 19 Duning the current year, gains of £76 million were removed from the
hedging reserve and credited to finance costs in the Income statement prinaipally to offset the currency translation movements in the underlying hedged
debt (2016 gains of £398 millien)

The Group designated certain cross-currency swaps as net investment hedges, representing 35% (2016 35%) of the total debt refated dervative portfolio
Exchange differences ansing from the translation of the net Investment in foreign operations are recognised directly in equity Gains and losses on those
hedgmng instruments {which include bonds and eross-currency swaps) designated as hedges of the net investments in foreign operations are recagnised
In equity to the extent that the hedging relationship 1 effective; these amounts are as stated in the statement of comprehensive income, Gains and
losses relating to hedge ineffectiveness are recognised iImmediately in the mcome statement for the period Gains and tosses accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve are included 1n the iIncome statement when the foreign operation is disposed of,

The Group designates certain forward foreign exchange contracts as cash flow hedges of forecast foreign currency sales and purchases Gains or losses
are released from the hedging reserve and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or llability on the balance sheet
and affect theincome statement in the same periods as the related hedge ttems If forecast transactions are no longer expected to occur, any amounts
included In the hedging reserve related to that forecast transacticn would be recogrised directly in the iIncome statement. During the current year, gains
of £8 million were remnaved from the hedging reserve and credited to finance costs in the iIncome statement (2016: nd). Gains of £105 million were removed
from the hedging reserve and credited to inventories in the balance sheet (2016: gains of £22 milion) and gains of £63 million were removed from the
hedging reserve and credited to property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet (2016: gains of £14 million) Losses of £3 million were removed from
the hedging reserve and debited against intangibles in the balance sheet (2016 nify and mil was remeved from the hedging reserve and debited against
prepayments in the balance sheet (2016 losses of £5 millicn) Gans of less than £} milllon were removed from the hedging reserve and credited to
revenue mn the income statement {2016 gains of £29 miflom)

Hedge effectiveness testing 1s performed quarterly using the doliar-of fset approach. The actual movement in the hedging items 1s compared with the
movement in the valuation of the hypothetically perfect hedge of the underlying risk at inception, and any ineffectiveness s recognised directly in the
Income statement For fair value hedges, Ineffectiveness of £1 million was recogmised In the income statement during the current year (2016 £1million),
For cash flow hedges, ineffectiveness of less than £1 million was recognised in the income statement during the current year (2016 less than £1million)
For net Investment hedges, Ineffectiveness of nil was recognised in the Income statement during the current year (2076 nit)

Ahedge relationship 15 deemed to be effective If the ratio of changes in valuation of the underlying hedged stem and the hedging instrument s within the
range of 80% to 125%. Any relationship which has a ratio outside this range is deemed to beineffective, at which point hedge accounting Is suspended
During the year ended 30 June 2017, there was one (nstance in which the hedge relationship was not highly effective (2016: oneinstance).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

20. Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Financtal instruments
(a) Carrying value and fair value

The accounting classification of each class of the Group’s financial assets and financial labilities, together with their fair values, 1s as follows:

Heldto Derwvatives Derivativesin Total
maturity Avalable- deemed held hedging Loans and Other carrying Total farr
Investments for-sale fortrading relationships recewables labilities value value
£m £m £m Em Em £m Em Em
At 30 June 2017
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (eny (X)) 9,701y
Derwvative financial instruments - - 122 351 - - 473 473
Trade and other payables - - - - - (3,637) (3.637) (3.637)
Provisions - - - - - (160) (160 (160)
Qblgations under finance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - 7O 73 70)
Available-for-sale investments - 10 - - - - 10 1o
Trade and other receivables - - - - 1,325 - 1325 1325
Short-term depesits 300 - - - - - 300 300
Cash and ¢ash equivalents - - - - 2,200 - 2,200 2,260
At 30 June 2016
Quoted bend debt - ~ - - - (8,839 (8,839) (9.427)
Derivative financial instruments - - 93 832 - - 925 925
Trade and other payables - - - - - (3.309) (3.309) (3,309)
Provisions - - - - - (204) (2043 204y
Obligations under finance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - 93 (83) 93)
Available-for-sale investments - 71 - - - - Kl 7
Trade and other recevables - - - - 1131 - 1131 113
Cash and cash equivalents 825 - - - 1312 - 2137 2137

The fair values of financial assets and financial babilities are determined as follows

« The farr value of financial assets and financial abiities (which includes our quoted bond debt), with standard terms and conditiens and which are
traded on active iquid markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices based on level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of other
financial assets and financial labilities (excluding dervative instruments) 1s determined In accordance wath generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments,

« Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching

maturities of the contracts;

The fair value of obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 1s estimated by discounting the future cash fiows to net present vafue

Interest rate and cross-currency swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable
yield curves derived from quoted interest rates, and

The fair value of short-term deposits and cash and cash equivalents 1s equivalent to carrying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments

The differences between carrying values and farr values reflect unrealised gains or losses inherent in the financial Instruments, based on valuations as
at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 The volatile nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly different from the

values reported above

Cash and cash equivalents classified as held to matunty investments comprise money market deposits which have matunty dates of less than three
months from inception Money market deposits, enhanced return investments and tri-party repurchase agreements which have maturnity greater than
three months from inception are classified as short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents classified as loans and receivables mainly comprse investments in AAAm rated money market funds which can be withdrawn

without notrce
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{b) Fair value hierarchy

The foliowng table categorises the Group's financial nstruments which are heid at fair vaiue into one of three levels to reflect the degree to which
observable inputs are used in determiming their far values:

Fairvalue Level1 Level 2 Level 3
£m £m £m £m

AL 30 June 2017
Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial instruments
Other investments Hife] - - 1o
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interast rate swaps 44 - 44 -
Cross-currency swaps 783 - 783 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 50 - 50 -
Total 287 - 877 110
Financial liabilities
Finanaial labifitres at fair value through profit orloss
Interest rate swaps @ - @ -
Cross-currency swaps (353) - (353) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts (40) - “o -
Embedded derwative €} - €2} -
Total (404 - 404) -
At 30 June 2016
Financial assets
Avallable-for-sale financial instruments
Otherinvestments 7 - - 71
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 79 - 79 -
Cross-currency swaps 744 - 744 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts an - a1 -
Total 1305 = 1234 7
Financial liabilities
Fenancial habiittes at fayr value through profit orloss
Interest rate swaps {6) - {6) -
Cross-currency swaps (240 - (24Q) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts (55) - (55) -
Embedded dervative {8) - {8) -
Total (309) - (309) -
Level 1

Fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or habilities. including shares in listed entities

Level 2

Fair values measured using inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or habulity either directly or indirectly.
Denvative finanaal Instrument fair vaiues are present values determined from future cash flows discounted at rates denved from market source data.

Level 3

Fair values measured using Inputs for the asset or liability that are net based on observable market data All of the Group's unlisted available-for-sale

financral assets are held at fair value and are categonsed as Level 31n the far value hierarchy
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

21. Financial risk management

Group Treasury activity

The Group's Treasury function is responsible for raising finance for the Group's operations, together with associated hquidity management and
management of foreign exchange, Interest rate and credit risks Treasury cperations are conducted within a framework of polictes and guidelines
authonised and reviewed annually by both the Audit Committee and the Board, which receive regular updates of Treasury activity Denvative instruments
are transacted for risk management purpeses only Itis the Group's policy that all hedging is to cover known risks and no speculative trading is
undertaken Regular and frequent reporting to management 1s required for all transactions and expasures, and the internal control environment is
subject to periadic review by the Group’s internal audit team

The Group’s principal market risks are exposures to changes In Interest rates and fereign exchange rates, which anse both from the Group's sources of
finance and Its operations Following evaluation of those market risks, the Group selectively enters into derivative financial Instruments to manage these
exposures The principalinstruments currently used are Interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate nisks, and cross-currency swaps and forward foreign
exchange contracts to hedge transactional and translational currency exposures.

Interest raterisk

The Group has financial exposures to UK, euro and US interest rates, ansing primariy from the Group's long-term bonds and other borrowings.
The Group's hedging palicy requires that between 50% and 85% of borrowings are held at fixed rates. This 1s achieved by 1ssuing fixed rate bonds
or floating rate notes and then using interest rate swaps to adjust the balance between fixed and floating rate debt. The Group's bank debt s at
fioating rates, and, If drawn, would mean that the mix of fixed and floating rate debt would fluctuate and would therefore be managed to ensure
compliance with the Group's hedging poficy. At 30 June 2017, B0% of borrowings were held at fixed rates after hedging (2016: 80%)

The Group uses dervatives to convert all of its US dollar-denominated debt and associated interest rate obligations to pounds sterling or euros
(see section on foreign exchange risk for further detail) At 30 June 2017 the Group had no net US dollar denominated interest rate exposure on its
borrowings (2015: none)

The Group designates certain interest rate swaps as hedges of interest rate risk and certain cross-currency swaps as fair value hedges of both interest
rate nisk and currency risk Movements in the fairvalue of the hedged exposure are taken to the income statement and are offset by movementsin

the fair value of the hedging instruments, which are also taken to the income statement. Any hedge ineffectiveness 1s recognised directly in the income
statement. In the year ended 30 June 2017, this amounted te £1 mithon 2016: £ milhen)

At 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016, the Group’s annual finance costs would increase or decrease by less than £1 million for a ene-notch downgrade
or upgrade in credit rating assurming the RCF remains undrawn

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both denvative and non-dervative finanaial
tnstruments at the balance sheet date For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of kability outstanding at the
balance sheet date s outstanding for the whole year.

For each one hundred basis point rise or fall ininterest rates, and If all other variables were held constant at 30 June 2017

+ The Group’s profit for the year ended 30 June 2017 would increase or decrease by £39 millon (2016. profit for the year wouid increase or decrease
by £34 milicn).

» Other equity reserves would decrease or Increase by £26 million (2016 decrease or increase by £33 millen), ansing from movements in cash flow
hedges.

Aone hundred basis point rise or fall In interest rates represents a large but realistic movement which can easily be multiplied to give sensitivities
at different interest rates

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessanly sndicative of the
actualimpacts that would be experienced because the Group’s actual exposure ta market rates changes as the Group's portfolio of debt, cash and
foreign currency contracts changes. [n addition, the effect of a change in a particular market variable on fair values or cash flows Is calculated without
considerting Interrelationships between the vanous market rates or mitigating actions that would be taken by the Group The changes in valuations are
estimates of the impact of changes 1in market vanables and are not a prediction of future events or antiopated gains or losses

Foreigh exchange risk

Acombination of cross-currency and interest rate swap arrangementsis used to convert the Group's debt and associated interest rate obligations ta
pounds sterling or ewros, at fixed exchange rates At 30 June 2017, the spit of the Group's aggregate borrowings into their core currencies was US dollar
38%, euros 46% and pounds sterling 16% (2016: US dollar 38%, euros 45% and pounds sterlng 17%). At 30 June 2017, 25% of the Group's long-term
bosrowings, after the impact of dervatives, are denominated in pounds sterling and 75% in euros (2016, 26% 10 pounds sterling and 74% in euros)

The Group 15 exposed to currency translation on the consolidation of its foreign operations It uses certain borrowings and denvative instruments
to hedge its net investments in these subsidiaries.

The majonity of the Group's revenues and operating expenses are denominated In pounds sterling In the current year, approximately 35% of operating
expenses (£4,167 million) were denominated in euros (2016 approximately 31% (£3,461 milion)) and approximately 9% of operating expenses (E1,056
millon) were denominated in US dollars (2016 approximately 10% (£1,096 millior} In the current year, approximately 37% of revenues (£4,832 milion) were
denominated n euros (2016 33% (£3,946 million)}

Following the acquisiticns of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala, the Group Treasury function hedges the foreign currency exposure of its foreign subsidianes
into Its local reporting currency In ail terntories the US dollar expense relates mainly to the Group's programming contracts with US suppliers, together
with US dollar-denominated set-top bax costs In the UK the euro revenues pnmarily relate to subscriberstocated in Ireland The UK's exposure te
euro-denominated revenue I1s offset to a certan extent by euro-denominated costs, related mainly to certain transponder costs and euro financing
costs on its borrowings: the net position being a euro surplus (2016° surplus).
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The Group hedges currency exposures on US dollar denominated highly probable cash flows by using forward foreign exchange contracts purchased
up to five years ahead of the cash flowand currently does net hedge transactional eurc exposures ansng in the UK

Itis the Group’s policy that all US dollar foreign currency exposures are substantially hedged in advance of the year in which they oceur,
At 30 June 2017, the Group had purchased forward foreign exchange contracts representing:

+ Approximately 87% of US dollar-denominated costs falling due within one year (2016 95%), and on a deciining basis across five-year planning horizon
are hedged via.

- Cutstanding commitments to purchase, In aggregate, U5$2,714 million (2016 US$3,520 miliion) at an average rate of Li$$1.34 to £100
(2016 US$1.53 to £100)

- Outstanding commitments to purchase, In aggragate, US$1,669 million (2016 US$2,027 million) at an average rate of US$117 to €100
(2016 US$116 to €1.00)

* Inrespect of the UK legacy euro hedging programme and to hedge current balance sheet exposures;

- Outstanding commitments to sell,in aggregate, €760 million (2016 €1,214 million) at an average rate of €115 to £100 (2016, €123 to £100)

- Outstanding commitments to purchase, in aggregate, €444 milion (2016 €795 million) at an average rate of €115 to £1.00 (2016 €112 to £100)
* Inrespect of the Group's European subsidiaries to hedge their materal non-functional currency exgosures

- Outstanding commitment to purchase, in aggregate, £73 mililon (2016 £66 million) at an average rate of £0 84 to €100 (2016, £0.79 to £1 00)
No forward foreign exchange contracts fall due beyond five years (2016 nil)
The Group designates the following as cash flow hedges for hedge accounting purposes
+ Forward foreign exchange contracts
+ Cross-currency swaps where interest on both legs is at a fixed interest rate

As such, the effective portion of the gain or loss on these contracts is reported as a component of the hedging reserve, outside the Income statement,
and 1s thenreclassified to the income statement In the same periods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement. Ineffectiveness of less
than £1 millon was recognised in the income statement during the year (2016: less than £1 million).

A combination of US dollar denominated nterest rate and US dollar/pound sterling cross-currency swaps I1s used to convert fixed dollar denominated
debt ta floating sterkng denominated debt The interest rate swaps are designated as fair value hedges. The associated cross-currency swaps are not
designated as hedging nstruments for hedge accounting purposes and, as such, movements in thewr value are recorded directly in the income statement.

Foreign exchange sensitivity

The following analysis details the Group's sensitivity to movements in pounds sterling and euros against those currencies i which It has significant
transactions The sensitivity analysis includes foreign currency denominated assets and habilities at the balance sheet date and outstanding foreign
currency denominated financial Instruments and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 25% change in foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling against the US dollar would have the effect of reducing profit by £18 million (2016: reducing profit by £9 million),
of which losses of £5 million relate to non-cash movements in the valuation of dervatives (2016: losses of £10 millian} The same strengthening would
have an adverse impact on other equity of £436 miliion (2016 adverse impact of £584 million).

A 25% weakening in pounds sterling aganst the US dollar would have the effect of increasing profit by £30 million (2016: Increasing profit by £15 milion)
of which gains of £9 million relate to non-cash movements in the valuation of denvatives (2016: gains of £17 million). The same weakening would have a
beneficial iImpact on other equity of £727 million (2016 beneficial mpact of £974 rilion)

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling against the euro would have the effect of Increasing profit by £75 million (2016: increasing profit by £109 millior)
of which gains of £80 miflion relate to non-cash movements in the valuation of dervatives (2016: gains of £104 million) The same strengthering would
have a beneficial impact on cther equity of £45 million (2016: beneficial impact of £69 million),

A 25% weakening In pounds sterling against the euro would have the effect of decreasing profit by £123 million (2016 decreasing profit by £18C million)
of which losses of £133 miflion relate to non-cash movements in the valuation of denvatives (2016: losses of £174 milkon) The same weakening would
have an adverse impact on other equity of £76 million {2016 adverse impact of £115 milfion).

A25% strengthening in the euro against the US dollar would have the effect of increasing profit by €8 mitian (2016: decrease profit by €4 million}
None of this amount refates to non-cash movements in the valuation of derivatives The same strengthening would have an adverse impact on other
equity of €272 million (2016: €341 million).

A 25% weakening in the euro against the US dollar would have the effect of decreasing profit by €13 million (2016 increasing profit by €7 million)
None of this amount relates to non-cash movements in the valuation of derivatives The same weakening would have a beneficial impact on other
equity of €453 million (2016' €569 million).

The sensttivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarly indicative of the
actualimpacts that would be experienced because the Group's actual exposure to market rates is constantly changing as the Group’s portfolio of debt,
cash and foreign currency contracts changes In addition, the effect of achange In a particular market vanable on fair values or cash flows Is calculated
wrthout considering interrelationships between the various market rates or mitigating actions that would be taken by the Group. The changes In
valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market variables and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated gains or losses
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

21. Financial risk management (continued)

Hedge accounting

The interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk sections above outline the Group's policies regarding use of dervative products. Further detail on
vafuations and the impact of hedge accounting during the year are provided in note 20.

Credit risk
The Group 1s exposed to counterparty default nsk ansing in respect of invested cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits, and the positive farr

value of derivative financial assets held

This risk is deemed to be low Counterparty risk forms a central part of the Group’s Treasury policy, which 1s manitored and reported on regularly The
Group manages credit nisk by dwersifyingits exposures across a wide number of counterparties, such that the maximum exposure te any individual
counterparty was 7% of the total asset value of instruments at the end of the year Treasury policies ensure that all denvative transactions are only
effected with strong relationship banks and, at the date of signing, each existing derivative counterparty carried a mimimum credit rating of ‘Baaz2’ or
equivalent from Standard & Poor's To mitigate remaining nsks, counterparty credit and sovereign ratings are closely monitored, and no more than 10%
of cash deposits are held with a single bank counterparty (with the exception of overnight deposits which are invested 1n a spread of AAAS rated quidity
funds)

The amount recognised in the Income statement in respect of credit risk for derivatives deemed held for trading 1s £2 milion (2016; £2 miliion)

Credit nsk In eur residential customer base 1s mitigated by billing and collecting in advance for digital television subscriptions for the majarity of
our residential customer base. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on trade recevables 1s the carrying amounts as disclosed in note 16,

Liquidity risk
Our principal source of iquidity (s cash generated from operations, combined with access to a £1bilion RCF, which expires in November 2021
At 30 June 2017 this facility was undrawn {30 June 2016 undrawn).

To ensure continuity of funding, the Group's policy Is to ensure that avallable funding matures over a penod of years At 30 June 2017 54% (2016 70%)
of the Group’'s total available funding {including avarlable undrawn amounts on our RCF) was due to mature in more than five years

Full details of the Group’s borrowings and undrawn facilities are shown th note 19, other than trade and other payables, shown in note 17, and provisions,
shown in note 18

The following table analyses the Group's non-denvative financial habilities, net settled derivative financial instruments and gross settled financial
Instruments inta relevant maturty groupings, based on the remaning period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconeile to the amounts disclosed on the balance sheet
for borrowings, derivative financial Instruments, provisions and trade and other payables

Between Between

Lessthan one ancdl twoand Morethan
12months  twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
£m £m £m £Em
AL 30 June 2017
Nen-dervative financial habilities
Bonds - USD 744 558 BO4 2186
Bonds - EUR 78 78 2073 267
Bonds - GBP 466 43 566 786
Obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 8 14 23 s
Trade and other payables 3475 132 20 19
Provisions 102 38 5 15
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets (24) [4)] (16) -
Gross settled denvatives
Outflow 2988 1565 2,432 4515
Inflow (3,257 (1597) (2639) {4.868)
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Between Between

Less than one and tweand  More than
12months  twoyears  fiveyears  five years
£m £m £m Em
At 30 June 2016
Non-derivative financial habilities
Bonds - USD 162 725 1257 2202
Bonds - EUR 73 74 e 3,855
Bonds - GBP 66 466 579 816
Obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 31 12 26 121
Trade and other payables 3,017 154 14 18
Provisions 132 7 23 15
Net settled derivatives
Financial assets {25) {25) {25) -
Gross settled dervatives
Cutflow 3167 2154 3,250 461
Inflow (3.366) (2102) (3.638) {4,945

Capital Risk Management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to endeavour to ensure that the Group has the ability to access capital markets when necessary and
to optimise iguidity and operating flexibility through the arrangement of new debt, while seeking to minimise the cost of capital. The Group monitors
its iquidity requirements regularly and Is satisfied that it has access to sufficient liguidity and operating flexibility to meet its capital requirements

The Group manages its short and long-term capital structure by seeking to maintain leverage ratios consistent with a long-term investment grade credit
rating (BBB- or better from Standard & Poor's and Baa3 cr better from Mocdy's) The Group's current ratings are BBB (Standard & Peor's) with positive
credit watch and Baa2 (Moody's) with developing outlook, following the non-binding offer from 21st Century Fox The leverage ratio assessed by Standard
and Peor's s Net Debt: EBITDA and the leverage ratic assessed by Moody's 15 Gross Debt EBITDA. Net Debt s defined as total borrowings, including the
cash flows arnising under operating leases and transponder prepayments, less cash and cash equivalents, excluding derivatives Gross Debt does not
reduce total borrowings by the inclusion of cash and cash equivalents

The Group 15 also required to maintain a Net Debt EBITDA ratio below 4 001 and an EBITDA to Net interest Payable ratio at above 2501 under the terms
of its RCF. The RCF definition of Net Debt does not require the inclusien of future operating lease or transponder cash flows

At 30 June 2017, the Net Debt. EBITDA ratio as defined by the terms of the RCF was 2.71(2016 2.4 1), and the EBITDA to Net Interest Payable ratio was
1011(2016 1041)

22, Share capital

2017 2016
£m £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid shares of 50p1,715,017,230 (2016°1,719017230) 860 B&0

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry equal voting rights and no contractual right to receive payment.

Share option and contingent share award schemes
The Company operates various equity-settled share option schemes {the "Schemes’) for certain employees.

The number of newly 1ssued shares which may be allocated under the Schemes on any day shall not, when aggregated with the number of newly issued
shares which have been allocated in the previous 13 years under the Schemes and any other employee share scheme adopted by the Company, exceed
such number as represents 5% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in issue immediately prior to that day. In determining this limit no account
shall be taken of any newly 1ssued shares where the right to acquire the newly 1ssued shares was released, lapsed, cancelled or otherwise became
tncapable of exercise. Options and awards which wiil be satisfied by ESOP shares do not fall withun these headroom kmits
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

22. Share capital (continued)

The share awards outstanding can be summansed as follows

207 2016

Number of Number of

ordinary ordinary

shares shares

Sharesave Scheme options® 10,067153 9212906
Management LTIP awards™ 26,796,977 18939550
LTIP awards® 10,231,050 6960425
Management Co-Investment LTIP awards™ 2401777 2,093,612
Co-Investment LTIP awards® 2113684 1,846,610

51,610,041 39,053,503

{1) Sharesave Scheme options

All Sharesave Scheme options autstanding at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 have no performance criteria attached, other than the requirement that the
employee rermains in employment with the Group Options granted under the Sharesave Scheme must be exercised within six months of the relevant
award vesting date.

The Sharesave Scheme 1s open to ali employees across the Group Options are nermally exercisable after either three or five years from the date of grant
The price at which options are offered Is not less than 80% of the middle-market price on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of invitation
It1s the policy of the Group to make aninvitation to employees to participate in the scheme following the announcement of the end of year results

(ii) Management LTIP awards
All Management LTIP awards cutstanding at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 vest only if performance conditions are met Awards granted under the
Management LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date,

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management LTIP Awards under this scheme mirror the LTIP, with the same performance
conditions. Awards exercised under the Management LTIP can only be satisfied by the 1ssue of market-purchased shares,

(iii) LTIP awards
All LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2017 and 30 tune 2016 vest only if performance canditions are met Awards granted under the LTIP must be
exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the LTIP for Executive Directors and Senior Executives Awards under the scheme are granted in the form of anil-priced option
The awards vest In full or 1n part dependent on the satisfaction of specified performance targets. For awards granted from July 2012 onwards, 30% of the
award vested dependent on TSR performance over a three-year performance period, relative to the constituents of the FTSE 100 at the time of grant,and
the remaining 70% vested dependent on performance aganst cperational targets.

For awards that vest in 2017 the TSR performance condition was removed during the current year and replaced with operatronal performance targets
This was treated as a modification to the relevant awards The fair value of the modified equity settled share options at the time of modification was
calculated using methodologies that are consistent with the calculation of the fair value of equity-settied share options granted durning the year as
explained in the section titled ‘Information for awards granted during the year’

{iv) Management Co-lnvestment LTIP awards
All Management Co-Investment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2077 and 30 June 2016 vest only If performance conditions are met. Awards granted
under the Management Co-Investment LTIP must be exerased within five years of the relevant award vesting date,

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management Co-Investment LTIP Awards under this scheme mirror the Co-Investment LTIR,
with the same performance conditions

(V) Co-Investment LTIP awards
All Co-investment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 vest anly If performance conditions are met, Awards granted under the
Co-Investment LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the Co-Investment LTIP award for Executive Directors and Senior Executives Employees who participate in the plan are granted
a conditional award of shares based on the amount they have invested in the Company’s shares The investment will be matched up to a maximurn of
15 shares for every share invested, subject to a three-year EPS performance condition

For the purposes of the disclosure below, the Management LTiP,LTIP Management Co-Investment LTIP and Co-Investment LTIP awards {'Senior
Management Schemes’) have been aggregated.
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The movement in share awards outstanding i1s summarisedin the following table

Senior Management

Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total
Weighted Weighted Weghted
average average average
exercise exercise exercise
price price price
Number E Number £ Number £
Cutstanding at 1 July 2015 8367072 650 39794830 0.00 48161902 113
Granted during the year 3773962 817 12,030,266 000 15804228 195
Exercised during the year (1,665.590) 595 (19617973) 000 (21,283563) 0,47
Farferted during the year (1.255,954) 712 {(2.366,526) 000  (3622480) 247
Expired dunng the year (6,584) 508 - - (6,584} 508
Outstanding at 30 June 2016 9,212,206 720 29,840,597 000 39,053,503 1.70
Granted during the year 5,504,516 688 14153402 000 19,657918 193
Exercised dunng the year (2.454377) 6.22 (1,608,378} 000 (4062555) 375
Forferted during the year (2180.,817) 758 (842733) 000  (3.023550) 547
Expired during the year {15,275) 5.80 - - (15.275) 580
Outstanding at 30 June 2017 10,067153 719 41,542,888 000 51610041 1.40
The weighted average market price of the Group's shares at the date of exercise for share options exeraised during the year was £9 46 (2016; £1135)
For those exercised under the Sharesave Scheme it was £9.93 (2016 £10.77), and for those exercised under the Senior Management Schemes it was
£876 (2016 £11.40)
The middle-market closing pnice of the Company’s shares at 30 June 2017 was £9.94 (1 July 2016 £873).
The followmng table summanses information about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2017
Senior Management
Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total
Werghted Weighted Weighted
average average average
remaining remaining remantng
contractual contractual contractual
fe Ife Iife
Range of exarcise prices Number Years Number Years Number Years
EQOC-£1,00 - -~ 41542888 57 41542888 57
£5.00-£600 43754 s3] - - 43754 o1
£600-£700 5,588,271 32 - - 5588.271 32
£700-£800 217,995 15 - - 271,995 15
£8.00-£900 2263133 24 - - 2263133 24
10,067,153 26 41542888 57 51610041 51
The following table summarises information about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2016:
Senior Management
Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
remaiming remaining remaining
cantractual contractual contractual
Ife Iife Ife
Range of exercise prices Number Years Number Years Number Years
£000-£100 - - 29840597 60 29840597 60
£500-£6.00 930,618 1.0 - - 930,618 10
£600-£700 2261577 15 - - 2251577 15
E700-£800 2566,395 24 - - 2,566,395 24
£8.00-€£900 3,454,316 34 - - 3,454,316 34
9,212,906 2.4 29,840,597 6.0 39053503 5.2

The range of exercise prices of the awards outstanding at 30 June 2017 was between nil and £817 (2016 nil and £817) For those outstanding under the
Sharesave Scheme it was between £5 0B and E817 (2016 £5 08 and £8.17) and for all awards outstanding under the Seruor Management Schemes the

exercise price was nil (2016 rul)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

22, Share capital (continued)

The following table summarises additional Information about the awards exercisable at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016

2007 2016

Average Average
remaining  Weighted remaining  Weighted
contractual average contractual average
Options life of exercise Cptions Itfe of exarcise
exercisable exercisable price  exercsable exercsable price
at 30 June options £ at 30 June options £
Sharesave Scheme 17600 01 617 103,049 01 5.88
Senior Management Schemes 474340 29 o000 840,248 37 a0C
592,540 2.4 1.23 943,297 33 0.64

Information for awards granted during the year

The weighted average fair value of equity-settled share options granted duning the year, as estimated at the date of grant, was £5 54 2016 £791)

This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share option pricing model except for awards which have market-based performance conditions, where a
Monte-Carlo simulation mode! was used, and for grants of nil-priced options, which were treated as the award of a free share. The fair value of nil-priced
options granted during the year was measured on the basis of the market-price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant, discounted for expected

dividends which would not be received over the vesting period of the options

The Monte-Carlo simulaticn model reflected the historical volatilities of the Company’s share price and those of all other compantes to which the

Company's petformance would be compared, over a period equal to the vesting penod of the awards.

Expected volatlity was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company's share price, over a period equal to the expected life of the
options Expected life was based on the contractual Iife of the awards and adjusted, based on management's best estimate, for the effects of exercise

restrictions and behavioural considerations

(i) Sharesave Scheme

The weighted average farr value of equity-settled share awards granted during the year under the Sharesave Scheme, as estimated at the date of grant,

was £119 (2016 £171) This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share option pricing model

The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculating these farr values

2017 2006
Share price £8135 £1039
Exercise price £588 £817
Expected volatiity 21% 18%
Expected fe 39years 39vyears
Expected dividends 3.4% 33%
Risk-free interest rate 02% 11%

(iiy Senior Management Schemes

The weighted average fair value of equity-settled share awards granted dunng the year under the Senior Management Schemes, as estimated at the date
of grant, was £7.23 (2016: £9.85) The fair value of awards with market-based performance conditions was calculated using a Monte-Carlo simulation
model Awards granted as nil-priced options were treated as the award of a free share For all other awards, far value was calculated using the Black-

Scheles share option pricing mode!

The following weighted average assumptions were used n calculating these fair values:

2017 2006
Share price £912 £1114
Exercise price £000 ECOC
Expected volatfity 20% 18%
Expected life 30years  2lyears
Expected dividends 3.3% 33%
Risk-free interest rate 02% 0.8%
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23.Shareholders’ equity

2017 2016

£m £m

Share capital B6O B60

Share premium 2704 2704
ESOP resetve 78) {125)

Hedging reserve &8s 257

Other reserves 364 302
Retained earnings {58) (551)

3,838 3447

Share premium and special reserve

On 10 December 2003, the High Court approved a reduction in the Company’s share premium account of £1120 million, as approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the AGM held on 14 November 2003 This amount was equal to the Company-only profit and loss account reserve defiat at 30 June 2003
As part of the apphcation, the Company’s balance sheet at 30 September 2003 was required to be presented At that date, the defict on the Company-
only profit and loss account reserve had reduced by £14 million since 30 June 2003, to £1,106 milion As a condition of the reduction, the reduction in

the share premium account of £1120 miliion was permitted to be offset against the profit and loss account reserve by the amount of the defict at

30 September 2003 The excess of £14 million was credited to a special reserve, which 1s incfuded sn other reserves, and, under the terms of the
reduction, will rematn undistributable until all the creditors of the Company and 1ts guarantors (as at 10 December 2003) are paid

ESOPreserye

The cost of the Company’s ordinary shares held by the Group's ESOP 15 treated as a deduction In arriving at total shareholders’ equity The movement

In the ESOP reserve was as follows:

Number of Average
ordinary price paid
shares per share £m
At 1 July 2315 14,805,780 £8.44 125
Share options exercised during the year (21283,563) £9.39 {200}
Shares purchased by the ESCOP dunng the year 17404,262 £1152 200
At 30 June 2016 10,926,479 £11.49 125
Share options exercised during the year (40562,555) £1156 (47)
At 30 June 2017 6,863,924 E1.46 78

Hedging reserve

Changes In the fair values of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are initially recogrised in the hedging reserve, and subsequently
recognised in the income statement when the related hedged stems are recognised in tha income statement. In addition, deferred taxation relating

to these denvatives Is also itially recognised in the hedging reserve prior to transfer to the iIncome statement.

Other reserves

The Group's other reserves include a capital redemption reserve, a merger reserve, a fareign currency translation reserve and a special reserve. The capital
redemption reserve was £190 milhion as at 30 June 2017 (2016 £190 milion). The merger reserve was £125 million as at 30 June 2077 {2016: £125 million).

The special reserve was £14 million as at 30 June 2017 (2016 £14 miliion). The foreign currency translation reserve was £37 million as at 30 June 2017

(2016 £(24) million) Other reserves also includes the accumulated actuarial movement on empioyee benefit obligations of £(2) million (2016 £(3) milhon).

Reconciliation of movements in the foreign currency translation reserve

207 2016

£m £m
At 1July (24 (209)
Net investment hedges (333) (897)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 396 1082
At 30 June 37 4
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

Merger reserve

The merger reserve was created in accordance with the merger relief provisions under section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended) and section
612 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the accounting for business combinations involving the issue of shares at a premium Merger relief provided
relief from the requirement to create a share premium account in a parent company’s balance sheet In preparing consolidated financial statements, the
amount by which the farr value of the sharesissued exceeded their nominal value was recorded within a merger reserve on consolidation, rather than

In & share premiurn account This merger reserve was retained upon transition to IFRS, as allowed under UK law.

The merger reserve, which ts included in other reserves, was created as a result of the purchase by the Group of Interests in two entities. Sports Internet
Group (‘516" was purchased on 12 July 2000, where consideration was pard by the 1ssue of equity shares in the Company BIB was purchased between
28 june 2001 and 11 November 2002, where consideration was pald by the i1ssue of equity shares in the Company Following the Group's disposal of a
centroling stake in Sky Bet, the merger reserve in relation to the purchase of SIG was transferred to retained earnings At 30 June 2017 the Group's
merger reserve was £125 million (2016 £125 milkon),

Transactions with non-controlling interests

During the prior year, the Group acquired the remaining 4% minerity shareholdings in Sky Deutschland GimbH Considerat:on of £170 million was paid
in¢ash An amount of £60 million (being the proportional share of the carrying amount of net assets in Sky Deutschland) was transferred from
non-contralling Interasts

24. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2Mm7 2016
£m £m
Profit before tax 803 752
Depreciation, mparment and losses (profits) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 366 356
Amortsation, impairment and losses (profits) on disposal of intangible assets 606 637
Share-based payment expense 147 100
Investment Income {22) [45)]
Finance costs 204 244
Share of results of jomnt ventures and assoclates (21} 2
2,083 2,070
Increase in trade and other recevables (103) (204)
Increase In inventores (176) (@]
increase in trade and ather payables 278 137
{Decrease} increase in provisions (89) 83
Increase in derivative financial instruments 261 2
Cash generated from operations 2,254 2,086
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25. Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees
a) Future minimum expenditure contracted for but not recognised in the financial statements

Between Total at Total at

Less thant tand5 After 5 30 June 30 June

year years years 217 206

£m Em £m £m £m

Telewision programme nghts 4119 9,301 1,268 14,688 15,207
Set-top boxes and related equipment 404 7 - an 470
Third-party payments' 275 573 45 BS3 685
Transponder capaaty 219 583 124 925 1,083
Property, plant and equipment 31 0 - 4 51
Intangible assets? 38 63 - 101 125
Smartcards® 52 154 - 206 272
Other 536 458 145 1139 1.430
5,674 11,149 1,582 18,405 18,333

Foreign currency commitments are translated to pounds sterling at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.

1 Thathird-party payment commitments are in respect of distributionagreements for the telewision channels owned and broadcast by third parties, retailed by the Group to retail and
commercal subscribers ('Sky Distnbuted Channels’)

2 Transponder capacity commitments are in respact of capacity that the Group uses for digital transmissions to both retail subscnbers and cable operators

3 Commitments In relation te the provision of smartcards Smartcards undar development are iIncluded within intang ble assets The amounts inchuded above are the expected ongoing
smartcard costs based on forecast customer levels

b) Contingencies and guarantees

Certain subsidianes of the Company have agreed to provide additional funding to several of their nvestments in Imited and unhmited companies and
partnerships, In accordance with funding agreements. Payment of this additional funding would be required If requested by the investees in accordance
with the funding agreements. The maximum potential amount of future payments which may be required to be made by the subsidiaries of the Company
to therr investments, in both imited and unimited companies and partnerships under the undertakings and additional funding agreements, is £30 million
(2016 E44 million)

The Greup has guarantees (n place relating to the Group's borrowings, see note 19 For an overview of the ongaing investigations and reviews of regulatory
and competition matters invelving the Group refer ta the Regulatory matters section in the Strategic report.

26, Operating lease commitments

The minimum lease rentals to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases at 30 June are as follows:

2017 2016

£m Em

Within one year 61 2151
Between one and five years 168 156
After five years 206 203
435 425

The majority of operating leases relate to property The rents payable under these leases are subject to renegotiation at the various intervals specified in
the leases
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

The minimum sub-tease rentals to be received under non-cancellable cperating sub-leases at 30 June are as follows

2007 2006

£m £m

within one year 1 1
1 1

Sub-lease rentals primarily relate to property leases

27, Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

a) Entities with joint control or significant influence
Dunng the year the Group conducted business transactions with companies that form part of the 21st Century Fox, Inc, group, a majer shareholder in the

Company
Transactions with related parties and amounts outstanding In relation to those transactions and with related partres at 30 June are as follows

207 2016

£m £m

Supply of goods or services by the Group 4 45
Purchases of goods of services by the Graup 413) (393)

Amounts owed to the Group 24 20
Amounts owed by the Group 193y (182)

At 30 June 2017 the Group had expenditure commitments of £359 million in relation to transactions with refated parties (2016 £407 million) which
principally refated to minimum televiston programming rights commitments

Goods and services supplied
During the year, the Group supplied programming, airtime, transmissian and marketing services to 21st Century Fox, Inc companies

Purchases of goods and services and certain other relationships
Duning the year, the Group purchased programming and technical and marketing services from 21st Century Fox, Inc. companies.

There is an agreement between 215t Century Fox, Inc. and the Group, pursuant to which it was agreed that, for 50 long as 21st Century Fox, Inc. directly or
indirectly holds an interest of 30% or more In the Group, 21st Century Fox, Inc. wilt not engage in the business of satellite broadcasting :n the UK or Ireland.

The sale and purchase agreements for the acqutsitions of Sky Italia Srl and Sky Deutschland AG contained certain commitments from 21st Century Fox, inc.
not to retall certain services to consumers in certain terntones until 1 January 2017 The sale and purchase agreement for the National Geographic channel
contaned undertakings from the Company not to compete with the business of the National Geographic Channel International until 1 January 2017

On 15 December 2016, the Company entered into a co-operation agreement with 21st Century Fox pursuant to which the parties have agreed to provide
each cther with Information and assistance for the purposes of obtaiming all merger control and regutatery clearances and authorisations i relation to
the Gffer and the preparation of the document to be sent to the Company’s sharehaolders in refation to the Scheme.

b) Joint ventures and associates

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
note. Transactions between the Group and 1ts joint ventures and associates are disclosed below Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes,
Joint ventures and associates are disclosed in the Company's separate financial statements

20177 206

£m Em

Supply of services by the Group 47 62
Purchases of goods or services by the Group 52 (52}

Amounts owed by joint ventures and assooates to the Group 29 S0
Amounts owed to Joint ventures and associates by the Group () (14)
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Services supplied are primanly the provision of transponder capacity, marketing, airtime sales and support services Purchases represent fees payable
for channel carnage

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates include £16 million (2016 £77 million) relating to loan funding These loans bear Interest at rates of
between 150% and 2 00% (2016: 8 20%). The maximum amount of loan funding outstanding in total from joint ventures and associates during the
year was £100 milhon (2016 £77 million). Sky Bet repard £83 mithan pursuant to an outstanding loan balance

The Group tock out a number of forward exchange contracts with counterparty banks during the year on behalf of the joint venture AETN UK On the
same dates as these forward contracts were entered Into, the Group entered Into equal and opposite contracts with AETN UK in respect of these forward
contracts

Consequently, the Group was not exposed to any of the net gains or Josses on these forward contracts The face value of forward exchange contracts
with AETM UK that had not rmatured as at 30 June 2017 was £13 millon (2016° £34 mithon}

During the year, US$12 million (2016 US$27 million) was receved from the Joint venture upon maturnty of forward exchange contracts, and US$37 milhon
{2018 US$19 million) was paid to the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts

During the year, £26 million (2015 £12 milion) was received from the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts, and £21 million
(2016 £26million) was paid to the joint venture upen maturity of forward exchange contracts.

During the year, £8 milhon (2016 €11 milllon) was received from the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts and nil (2016: nil) was
paid to the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts

At 30 June 2017 the Group had minimum expenditure commitments of £1 milion (2016 £3 milhon) with its joint ventures and asscciates.
<€) Other transactions with refated parties

The Group has engaged in a number of transactions with companies of which some of the Company's Directors are also directors These do not meet
the definition of related-party transactions

d} Key management

The Groughas a related-party relabionship with the Directors of the Company. At 30 June 2017, there were 11 (2016, 11) members of key management
all of whom were Directors of the Company. Key management compensation is disclosed in note b
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

28. Group investments

The Group and its subsidiaries are involved in the operation of pay television broadcasting and heme communications services, including the proviston
of broadband and telephone operations Certain subsidiary companies provide ancillary functions which support these operations. Joint ventures and
associates are iInvolved in the transmission of specialist channels and online betting activities

Unless otherwise indicated, all shareholdings owned directly orindirectly by the Company represent 100% of the 1ssued share capital of the subsidiary
and the share capital 1s comprised of ordinary shares All entities primarly cperate in their country of incorporation.

Subsidiaries:
Direct holdings of the Company

Incarporated in the UK

Grant Way, Isleworth, Middlesex TW7 5QD
British Sky Broadcasting Group Limited
Picnic Limited

Sky Finance Eurcpe Limited

Sky Group Finance plc

Sky Guarantee investments Limited'

Sky Operational Finance Limited

Sky Telewision Limited

Sky UK bimited

Incorporated in the Channel islands

44 Esplanade, 5t Helier, Jersey JE4 9WG
Rainbow France (Jersey} Limited?®

Subsidiaries:
indirect holdings of the Company

Incorporated in the UK

Grant Way, Isleworth, Middlesex TW7? QD
365 Media Group Limited

Amstrad Limited

Apollo Pass Limited'™

Blastt Films Limited™

British Sky Broadcasting Limited

Ciel Bleu 6 Limited

Cymru International Lemited

Diagenal View Limited®

Dolphin TV Limited

International Channe! Pack Dustribution Limited

Kidsprog Limited

Love Productions Limited"
MEMSTV Limited

Multicultural & Ethnic Media Sales Limited
Newserge Limited

NOW TV Limited

Parthenon 1 Limited

Parthenaon 2 Limited

Parthenon Entertainment Limited
Parthenon Media Group Limited
Rivals Digital Mecha Limited

S ATV Publishing bimited

Sky Channel Limited

Sky Comedy Limited

Sky CP Limited

Sky Europe Limited

Sky Global Meda Lim:ted

Sky Group Limited

Sky Healthcare Scheme 2 Limited
Sky History Limited

Sky Holdings Limited

Sky Home Communications Limited
Sky In-Home Service Limitecd

Sky Internatronal Limited

Sky International Operations Limited
Sky IP International Limited

Sky IQ Limited

Sky LLU Assets Limited

Sky Mobile Services Limited

Sky New Media Ventures Limited
Sky News Limited

Sky Publications Limited

Sky Retai) Stores Limited
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Sky SNA Lirmited

Sky SNI Limited

Sky SNI Operations Limited

Sky Subscribers Services Limited
Sky Telecommunications Limited
Sky Telecommunications Services Limited
Sky Ventures Limited

The Cloud Networks Limited
Teur Racing Limited®"

True North Productions Limited'™
Una Tickets Limited

Virtuous Systems Limited

10th Floor, The Met Building, 22 Percy Street, London WAT 2BU
Znak & Co Limited

Urit 100 Highgate Studios, 53-79 Highgate Road, London NWS 1TL
Blast! Films - Hunger Limited's
Blast! Films - One Day Limited"™

Millbank Tower, 21-24 Millbank, London SWIP4QFP
Attheraces Holdings Limited*"”

Attheraces Limited”

Attheraces (UK) Ltd"

Go Racing Ltd®"™

Incorporated in Germany

Potsdamer Platz 1,10785, Berlin
BSkyB GmbH

Cderstraie 59, 14513 Teltow, Potsdam
Sky Deutschland Customer Center GmbH

Eckdnft 109, 19061 Schwertn-Krebsforden
Sky Deutschland Senvice Center GmbH

Medienallee 26, 85774 Unterféhring, Munich
Prermiere WIN Fernsehen GmbH

SCAS Satellite CA Services GmbH

Sky Deutschland Gmb#

Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG?
Sky Deutschland Verwaltungs GmbH

Sky German Heldings GmbH

Sky Hotel Entertainment GmbH

Sky Media GmbH

Incorporated in ltaly

Via Monte Penice, 7 - 20138 Milan
Nuova Societa Televisiva ltaliana S 2
Sky itaha Sl

Sky ftalian Holdings S p A

Sky ltalia Network Service S.rl?
Teleps Sl

Vision Distribution SpA™

Incorporated in the USA

Corporation Trust Center 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle,
Delaware, 19801
BSkyB US Heldings, Inc®

1675 S State Street, Suite B, Dever, DE 19901
Cailisto Media West, LLC??

lupiter Entertainment, LLC?*

Jupiter Entertainment Holdings, LLC?# %
Jupiter Entertainment North, LLC??

Wild West Alaska, LLC??



4800 Old Kingston Pike, Suite 2200, Knoxville, TN 37819
FhotoOps, LLCH?

1925 Century Park East, 22nd Floor, Los Angeles CA 90067-90G71
Baking Show, LLC?®

Love American Journays, LLC?¢

Love Baking, |.LC?%

Love Preductions USA, Inc?®

Love Sewing, LLC>®

USA Love Development, LLC2®

1801 Century Park East, #2160, Los Angeles CA 90067
Znak & Co LLC™™

Incorporated in other overseas countries

Austria - Handelskal 92,1200 Wien
Sky Osterreich Fernsehen GmbH
Sky Osterreich Verwaltung GmbH

Belgium ~ Boulevard Charlemagne 1, 1041 Brussels
Sky Channe} SA

Hong Kong - Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East
Sky Manufacturing Services Limited

Ireland - Fifth Fleor, Gne Burlington Plaza, Burlington Road, Dublin 4
Skyireland Limited

Switzerland
Rue du Puits-Godet 10, Neuchatel
Homedia SA

Rue du Puits-Godet 12, 2000 Neuchatel
Segevod Sarl

Stockerhof, Dreikorigstrasse 31A, CH8002 Zurich
Sky International AG

Joint ventures and associates;
Incorporated in the UK

Shareholding

1Queen Carcline Street, London, W6 9YN
AETN UK

36 Cardiff Road, Llandaff, Card:ff CF5 2DR
Avanti Media Group Limited

Avanti Media Ltd

Welsh Hills Works Ltd

Pop Factory Events Ltd

Cyhoeddiadau A3 Publishing Ltd

15 Bedford Street, London WC2E 9HE
Boit Pro Tem Limited®

st Floor Surte, 181b Kensington High Street, London W8 65H
Chrysalis Vision Limited™

Brock Green House, 4 Rowan Read, London W6 7DV
Colessus Productions Limited®

2nd Floor, 27 Mortimer Street, London WIT 3.F
DTV Services Limited’

Millbank Tower, 21-24 Millbank, London SWiP 4QP
GBI Racing Ltd®

6th Floor, One London Wall, London EC2Y SEB
Internet Matters Lsimited's

17-10 Hawley Crescent, Camden, London NW1BTT
Nickelodeon UK Limited®
Paramocunt UK Partnership*®'®

50.00%

2500%

2500%
2500%
25.00%
25.00%

3333%

2490%

20.00%

2000%

2521%

2500%

4000%
2500%

3 Park Square East, Leeds, LS12NE

Pitch Music Limited® 1998%
76 Charlotte Street, London WIT 4Q5

Popcorn Digital Limited™ 4250%
St Albans House, 57-59 Haymarket, London SW1Y 4QX

Odecn and Sky Filmworks Limited? 50.00%
10-14 Accommodation Road, London NWH 8ED

Sugar Films Linited 2490%
Manming House 1st Floor, 22 Carlisle Place, London SWIP 1JA

Thinkbox TV Limited® 2000%
15 Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 SGL

Venture 2009 Limited 50 00%

Incorporated in other cverseas countries Shareholding
Channel Islands - 1Waverley Place, Union Street, St Helier, lersey JE115G

Cyan Biue Topco Limited®

20.06%

USA - 874 Walker Rd, Suite C, Dover, DE 19904
Tales Films, LLC2® Membership interest

{25 00%)

UAE - PC Box 77845, Abu Dhabi

Sky News Arabia FZ-LLC 50.00%

This entity1s hrmited by guarantee and so does not have issued share capital

These entittes do not have 1Issued share capital and Sky’s Investrnent instead comprises

of amembership, partnership or quota interest, according to the legal form of the

company

This entity has also 1ssued preference shares

This entity has also 1ssued recoupment shares

This entity has also 1ssued contingent value shares

These entities have an accounting reference date of 31 March

This entity has an accounting reference date of 31 May

These entities have an accounting reference date of 30 September

These entities have an accounting reference date of 31 December

10 The Paramount UK Partnership 1s a joint venture of the Group and is included within the
consolidated accounts in accordance with Note 1) Consequently, the Pararmount UK
Partnershup has taken advantage of the exemption within the Partnerships (Accounts)
Regulations 2008 {regulation 7) from filng annual financial statements

11 Sky owns 70 40% of the issued share capital of this entity

12 Sky owns B5 Q0% of the issued share capital of this entity

13 Sky owns 63 00% of theissued share capital of thus entity

14 Sky owns 67 50% of the 1ssued share capital of this entity

15 Sky owns 55 00% of the issued share capital of this entity

16 This entity has an accounting reference date of 23 June

17 Sky owns 50 41% of the issued share caprtafof this entity

18 This entity has an accounting reference date of 28 February

19 This entity has an accounting reference date of 30 Novernber

=

VENOM AW

The foliowing companies are exempt from the requirements relating to the audit
of indnsdual accounts for the year/peniod ended 30 June 2077 by virtue of
section 479A of the Comparues Act 2006, British Sky Broadcasting Group
Limited (09256967}, Kidsprog Limited (02767224). Parthenon Media Group
Limited (0694 4197), Picnic Limited (05348872), Sky Finance Europe Limited
(05446689), Sky Holdings Limited (05585009), Sky IP International Limited
(07245844), Sky Operational Finance Limited (02906994) and Sky Tetevision
Limited (01518707)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

29. Sky plc company only financial statements

Company Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2017
207 2016
Notes £m Em
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries C 9531 5,523
Othner recewakbles E [ 5
Derwative financial assets H 599 799
Deferred tax assets D 9 -
10,144 10,327
Current assets
Dtherrecevables E 6126 9,020
Cash and cash equivalents 1 -
Dervative financal assets H 203 -
6,330 9,020
Total assets 16,474 15.347
Current habilites
Borrowings F 573 -
Other payables G 108 343
Dervative finanaal labilities H 3 -
684 3,431
Non-current labilities
Borrowings F 7874 8182
Denvative financial rabsties H 183 133
8,057 8,315
Total liabilities 8,741 11,746
Share capital 1 860 860
Share premium 4 2704 2704
Reserves 4169 4,037
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders 7733 7601
Total habilities and shareholders’ equity 16,474 19,347

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of this balance sheet.

The Company's profit for the year was £386 mullion (2016 £799 milhor)

These financial statements of Sky ple, registered number 02247735, have been approved by the Board of Directors on 26 July 2017 and were signed on its

behalf by:
Jeremy Darroch Andrew Griffith
Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financia! Officer

Wy A
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Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
Notes £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations K - -
Net cash from operating activities - -
Cash flows from financing actmties
Proceeds from the exercise of share options 15 10
Loan to subsidiaries (14) [¢]9))
Net cash from financing activities 1 _
Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents 1 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1 -
The accompanying nates are an integral part of this cash flow statement.
Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Capital Total
Share Share Special redemption Capital ESOP  Hedging Retained Shareholders’
capital premwm  reserve reserve  reserve  [eserve  reserve  earnings equity
£m £m £m Em £m £m £m £m Em
At 1July 2015 860 2704 14 190 844 (125) {29 3,067 7465
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 799 799
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - [¢)] - n
Total comprehensive {loss) income for the year - - - - - - U] 759 798
Share-based payment - - - - - - - (98) [CEY
Divsdends - - - - - - - {564) (564)
At 30 June 2016 860 2,704 14 190 844 (125) (30) 3,44 760
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 386 386
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - (48) - 48)
Tax on items taken directly to other
comprehensive Income - - - - - - 8 . 8
Total comprehensive (foss) income for the year - - - - - - (40) 386 346
Share-based payment - - - - - a7 - a7 144
Dividends - - - - - - - {358) (358)
At 30 June 2017 860 2,704 14 190 844 (78) 7O 3,269 7733

For a descnption of the nature and purpese of each equity reserve, see note J

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement of changes in equity

A. Accounting policies
Sky ple (the ‘Company’) 15 & public imited company Incerporated in the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales

i) Basis of preparation

The Company finanaal statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, consistent with the accounting policies set out In note 1.of the Group's
consolidated financial statements In accordance with the exemption allowed by Section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not
presented Its own income statement or statement of comprehensive income

ii} Investment in subsidiarnes

An invastment in a subsidiary 1s recognised at cost less any provision for mpairment As permitted by section 133 of the Companies Act 2006, where the
relief afforded under section 131 of the Companies Act 2006 apphes, costis the aggregate of the nominal value of the relevant number of the Company’s
shares and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the share capital of the subsidiary undertakings

B. Empicyees
Employee benefits
The Company had no employees (2016 none) during the year

Key management compensation
Amounts paid to the Directors of the Company are disclosed 1n the Report on Directors’ remuneration on pages 50 to 69
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements -~ continued

29. sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

C. Investments in subsidiaries

£m
Cost
At 1July 2015 10,522
Additions 6
At 30 June 2016 10,528
Additions 8
At 30 June 2017 10,536
Provision
At 1July 2015, 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017 (1,005)
Carrying amounts
At 1Juty 2015 9517
At 30 June 2016 9523
At 30 June 2017 9,531
See note 28 for alist of the Company's investments
D. Deferred tax
Recognised deferred tax assets
Financial
Instruments
temporary
differences
£m
A1 July 2015 1
Charge to iIncome (1
At 30 June 2016 -
Credit to income 1
Credit to other comprehensive Income 8
9

At 30 June 2017

At 30 June 2017 a deferred tax asset of £208 milien (2016 £232 million) has not been recognised in respect of gross capital losses of £1,223 milion (206
£1,223 milhion) related te the Group's helding In KirchPayTV, on the basis that utilisation of these temporary differences 1s not probable At 30 June 2077,
the Company has alsa not recognised a deferred tax asset of E1million (2016 £1 miflion) refating to gross capital losses and provisions of £5 million (2016:
E5 millon)in respect of football ciub iInvestments, on the basis that )t 1s not probable that they will be utiised

E. Otherreceivables

2017 2016

£m £m

Amounts recewvable from subsidiaries . 6121 9018
Prepayments and cther recaivables ' 5 2
Current other receivables ! 6,126 9,020
Non-current prepayment 5 5
Total other receivables 6131 9,025

On 17 November 2015, the Company made a loan of £356 miliron to Sky Operational Pnance Limited This loan bears interest at 3.721% and 1s repayable on
demand

On 1 Apnl 2015, the Company made a loan of €600 million to Sky Operational Finance Limited This loan bears interest at 3 month EURIBOR plus 0.75% and
Is repayable on demand

0On 27 November 2014, the Company made a loan of €400 million to Sky Operational Finance Limited This loan bears mterest at 2 750% and 15 repayabie
ondemand

0On 24 November 2014, the Company made leans of €850 million and €126 million to Sky Operational Finance Limited These loans bear interest at arate of
1875% and 2 940% respectively, and are repayable on demand

On 24 November 2014, the Company made loans of £200 millien and £450 million to Sky Operational Finance Limited These loans bore interest at arate
of 4 000% and LIBOR ptus 1.230% respectively Bothioans were repaid duning the year

On 16 September 2314, the Company made loans of €969 millon and €582 milien to Sky Operational Finance Umited These loans bear interest at 2187%
and EURIBOR plus O 656% respectively, and are repayable on demand.

0On 15 September 2014, the Company made loans of €1,500 millien and €1,000 millien to Sky Operatronal Finance Limited These loans bear interest at
1500% and 2 500% respectively, and are repayable cn demand

On 26 November 2012, the Company 1ssued US$800 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 3125% and loaned proceeds to Sky Cperational
Finance Limited Sky Operationa! Finance Limited paid the same annual effective interest rate to the Company This loan was repaid by Sky Qperational
Finance Limited during the year
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On 24 November 2008, the Company ssued US$600 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 9 500% and loaned the proceeds to Sky Operational
Finance Limited Sky Operational Finance Limited paid the same annual effective interest rate to the Company This loan was repaid by Sky Operational

Finance Limited during the year,

All other amounts recelvable from subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and are also repayable on demand.

The Directors consiger that the carrying amount of other receivables approximates thair fair values

The Company's credit risk is pnmarily attnbutable toits other recewvables The majority of 1ts other recevables balance is due from Sky Operational
Finance Lirted and Sky UK Limited The nisk of these entities defaulting on amounts owed 1s considered low due to Sky Operational Finance Limited being
a conduit to pass through intercompany finanang and due to Sky UK Limited's successful operation of pay television broadcasting and home

communications services In the UK and Ireland

F. Borrowings

Current borrowings
US$750 million of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018

Non-current borrowings

US$750 million of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018
U5$582 8 milllon of 9 500% Guaranteed Naotes repayable in November 2018
US$750 millron of 2.625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019
€500 millien of Guaranteed Floating Rate Notes repayable in Apnl 2020
£450 million of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020
€1,500 million of 1.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021
US$B00 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022
€850 million of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023
US$1,250 million of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable In September 2024
€500 mullicn of 2.250% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2025
€1,000 million of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026
£300 milien of 6.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027

E300 milllon of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029
€400 milhon of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029

207 2016
£m £m
573 -
573 -
- 559
436 435
575 576
526 499
458 470
1312 1.243
613 557
744 705
958 933
437 414
873 828
297 296
297 297
348 330
7874 8182

At 3Q June 2077 and at 30 June 2016, the Company had in issue the follow:ng Guaranteed Notes

Interest Rate Hedging

Hedged Interest Rates

Hedged

Value Fixed Floating
Em £m £m Fixed Floating
US$750 milien of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 97 6 829% &m LIBOR +1892%
LUS$582 8 million of 9.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable 1n November 2018 389 260 129 7091% 6m LIBOR +5542%
£450 milkon of 2.875% Guarantead Notes repayable m November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +1.230%
US$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 503 503 - 3226% -
€500 million of 2. 250% Guaranteed Notes repayatle (n November 2025 356 356 - 3.721% -
£300 million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 6.000% -
£300 million of 4 D00% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 200 200 - 4 000% -

2,585 1,909 676

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged

Value Fixed Floating
€m €m €m Fixed Floating
US$750 milion of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2013 581 - 581 - 3mEURIBOR +0.656%
€600 mithon of Guaranteed Floating Rate Notes repayable i Aprii 2020 600 - 500 - 3mEURIBOR +0750%
€1,500 million of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1,500 1,500 - 1.500% -
£850 milhon of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Movember 2023 850 850 - 1.875% -
US$1,250 million of 3.750% Guaranteed Notes repayabie in September 2024 569 969 - 2187% -
€1,000 million of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable In September 2026 1,000 1,000 - 2.500% -
£300 million of 4.000% Guaranteed Ncotes repayable In November 2029 126 126 - 2943% -
€400 million of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2028 400 400 - 2750% -

6,026 4,845 1,181
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

29, Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

G, Other payables

2017 2016
£m £m

Other payables
Amounts owed to subsicdiary undertakings - 3325
Accruals 108 06
108 3431

Amounts payable to subsidianes In the prior year were non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The balance comprised £2,164 million of non-
interest beanng loans and £1161 millon of other payables The Directors consider that the carrying amount of other payables approximates their far
values

H. Derivatives and other financial instruments

Fair values

Set out below s a comparnison of the carrying values and the estimated fair values of the Company's financial assets and financial habilities at 30 June
2017 and 30 June 2016

2007 2077 2016 20%
Carrying Fair Carrying Far
value value value value
£m £m Em £m
Financial assets and habilities held or i1ssued to finance the Company’s operations
Quoted bond debt (8,447) (8,960) (8.182) (8,682)
Denvative finanoial instruments 616 616 566 666
Other payables and receivables 6013 6.013 5587 5,587

The fair values of financial assets and financal labilities are determened as detailed in note 20 and all items held at fair value are classified as Level 2 in the
fair value hierarchy, wath the exception of cur quoted bond debt which 1s determined with reference to quoted market prices based on Level 1 of the fair
vafue hierarchy

Set out below are the denvative finanaal instruments entered into by the Company to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange nisk

2017 2016
Asset Liabihity Asset Laability
Farr Value National Fair Value Notiohal Farr Value Notional Fair value National
£m Em £m Em £m £m £m £m
Fair value hedges
nterest rate swaps 25 594 - - 74 1029 - -
(Cross-currency swaps 120 466 - - 120 466 - -
Cash flow hedges
(ross-currency swaps 459 1924 - - 445 1,924 - -
Pervatives not in a formal hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps 19 310 &) 499 5 50 (12) 310
Cross-currency swaps 169 629 (175) 1483 155 629 (121) 1483
Total 802 3,923 (186) 1,982 799 4,098 (133) 1,793

Mote 20 provides further details of the Group’s derivative and other financial instruments

The maturity of the derivative financial iInstruments is shown below:

2017 2016

Asset Liability Asset Liability

Em £m £m £m

[N one year or less 203 [€)] - -
Between one and two years 79 [C)] 198 {5)
Between two and five years 140 47y 233 {30y
Inmore than five years 380 (132) 368 ©8)
Total 802 (186) 793 {133)
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I. Financial risk management

Interest rate and foreign exchange risk management

The Company manages ILs exposure to interest rates and foreign exchange movements, which arise from the Company’s sources of finance by selectively
entering into denvative financial nstruments to manage 1ts exposure The Company has also entered mnto denvative contracts on behalf of its subsidiary
Sky Group Finance plc, and has back-to-back intercompany contracts

Foreign exchange risk
The following analysis details the Company’s sensitivity to movements in pounds sterling agamst all currencies in which it has significant transactions
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated financial instruments and adjusts their translation at the period end

for a 25% change in foreign currency rates

A 25% strengtheming in pounds sterling agamnst the US dollar would have an adverse impact on profit of £5 million (2016 adverse impact of £10 mullion),
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of derivatives The same strengthening would have an adverse Impact on other equity of £40 million
(2076 adverse impact of £68 millior)

A 25% weakening In pounds sterling against the US dollar would have a beneficial impact on profit of £9 milhon (2016: beneficial impact of £17 mullion),
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of derivatives. The same weakening would have a beneficial impact on other equity of £67 milhon
(2016 beneficial mpact of £113 million)

A 25% strengthening In pounds sterling against the euro would have a beneficial impact on profit by £27 million (2016 beneficial impact of £38 milfion),
relating ta non-cash mavements in the valuations of denvatives The same strengthening would have an adverse impact on other equity of £12 million
(2016. adverse impact of £16 million}

A 25% weakening in pounds sterhing against the euro would have an adverse impact on profit of £45 million (2016' adverse impact of £63 million), relating
to non-cash movements in the valuation of denvatives The same weakening would have a beneficial impact on other equity of £19 million (2016: beneficial
impact of £27 milhon)

Interest rate risk

The sensitiity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both denvatives and non-dervative financial
Instruments at the balance sheet date For floating rate habilities, the analysis 1s prepared assuming the amount of hability outstanding at the balance
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year

Far each one hundred basis paint nise ar fallin interest rates ak 30 lune 2017, andf all other vanables were held constant, the Company's profit for the
year ended 30 June 2017 would decrease or Increase by £6 miflion (2016° decrease or increase by £10 million) and other equity reserves would decrease
orincrease by £22 million (2016 decrease orincrease by £26 mullion)

Aone hundred basis point nise or fall in interest rates represents a large but realistic movement which can easily be multiphed to give sensitivities at
different interest rates

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarily indicative of the
actual impacts that would be experienced because the effect of a change in a partrcular market variable on fair values or cash flows is calcufated without
considering interrelationships between the various market rates or mitigating actions that would be taken by the Company In addition, the Company's
actual ekposure to market rates changes as the Company’s portfolio of debt ¢hanges,

The changes in valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market variables and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated gains or losses
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements - continued

29, Sky plc company only financial statements {continued)

I. Financial risk management {continued)

Liquidity risk

See note 21 for the Company's policy on hquidity management

The following table analyses the Company's non-derivative financial habilities, net settled interest rate swaps and gross settled currency swaps
and cellars into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on

the balance sheet for borrowings, derivative financial Instruments and other payables

Between Between
Less than one and twoand  Morethan
12months  twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
£m £m £m £m
At 30 June 2017
Non-derivative financial hatilities
Bends - USD 726 541 751 1679
Bands - GBP 43 43 566 788
Bonds - EUR 78 78 2073 2,671
Other payables 108 - - -
Net settied denvatives
Financial assets {21 {n (16) -
Gross settied dervatives
QutFlow 537 506 1273 3,406
Inflow (774) (500) (1,402} (3.760)
Between Between
Lessthan one and twoand Morethan
2months twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
£m £m Em £m

AL 30 lune 2018
Non-derivative financial abilities
Bonds - USD 145 708 1206 1691
Bonds - GBP 43 43 575 a16
Bonds - EUR 73 74 s 3855
Gther payables 343 - - -
Net settfed denvatives
Financial assets 22y 22 (25) -
Gross settled dervatives
Outflow 154 93 1662 3542
Inflow (194) (757) (1,861 (3889

At 30 June 2017, the Company had an undrawn £1 billlon RCF with a matunity date of 30 November 2021, See note 19 for further information
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J. Notes to the Company statement of changes in equity
For details of share capital, share premium, the special reserve, the capital redemption reserve and the hedging reserve, see notes 22 and 23

For detalls of dividends, see note 8

Capital reserve
This reserve arose from the surplus on the transfer of trade and assets to a subsidiary undertaking

K. Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2017 206

£m £m

Profit before tax 14 830
Dividend income (267} 671}
MNet finance costs 15 9

Increase in other receivables (362) (168)
Cash generated from operations - -

L. Contingent [fabilities and guarantees

The Company and certain of its subsidianes have undertaken, in the normal course of business, to provide support to several of the Group's investments
1in both hmited and unhmited companies and partnerships, to meet therr labilities as they fall due. Several of these undertakings contain maximum
financial imits These undertakings have been given for at least one year from the date of the signing of the UK statutory accounts of the related entity
A payment under these undertakings would be required In the event of an investment being unable to pay its kabilities

The Company has provided parent company guarantees In respect of the vanous contracts entered into with the Premier League by Sky UK Limited and
Sky ltala Srl covering the 2016/17 to 201819 faotball seasons In each case the guarantee covers all payment obligations now or in the future due, owing
or incurred by Sky UK Limrted and Sky Italia Srlunder the contracts and all habilities now ar in the future ansing of Incurred under the indemnity given
to the Premier League by Sky UK Limited and Sky Itaha Sriunder the contracts.

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee to Warburg-HIH invest Real Estate GmbH in respect of a rental agreement entered into by
Sky Peutschland GmbH The guarantee covers all payment obligations by Sky Deutschland GmbH under the agreement.

The Company has provided back-to-back guarantees in favour of 21st Century Fox, Inc in relation to UEFA Europa League and other programming
obbgations of Sky Italia Srl

The Company has provided a parent cormpany guarantee to SGH Stream Sub, Ing in respect of the obligations of Sky ltakan Holdings S p A under the
Sky Itaha Sr Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014 The Company has also provided a parent company guarantee to 21st Century Fox Adelaide
Holdings BV In respect of the obligations of Sky German Holdings GmbH under the Sky Deutschland AG Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee to Apple Distnibution international in respect of all the payment obligations of Sky UK Limited
under an iPhone distribution agreement,

The Company has guarantees in place relateng to the Group's borrowings, see note 19, and in relation to audit exernptions, see note 28.

M. Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

2007 2016

£m £m

Supply of services to subsidiaries 222 219

Interest received from funding to subsidiaries 177 172

Interest on cther loans and recelvables with related parties - 2

Amounts owed by subsidianes 8121 908
Amounts owed to subsidiaries - (3325

The Company has related-party transactions with Its subsidiaries by virtue of its status as parent company of the Group. In particular, it 1s normat
treasury practice for the Company to lend and borrow cash to and from rts subsidiaries as required. Under this palicy, Sky UK Limited settled liabilities
of £112 millon and €103 million (2016: £106 million and €108 milhon) on behalf of the Company during the year, Interest 1s earned on certain loans to
subsidiaries

The Company recognised £222 million (2016: £219 milllon) for icensing the Sky brand name to subsidianes The Company recognised dividends during
the year from subsidianes totalling E267 million (2016: £671 mithon}

The Group's related-party transactions are disclosed In note 27
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Group financial record

Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated results

Below Is selected financial information for the Group under IFRS as at and for each of the five years ended 30 June.

Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Consolidated Income Statement £m £m £m Em £m
Contmung operations
Revenue’ 12,916 11,865 9,989 7.450 7,082
Operating expense? 1.852) (10,988) {3,017) (6,346) {5,835)
Cperating profit 964 a77 972 1104 1,247
Share of results of joint ventures and asscciates 21 2 28 35 46
Investment income 22 17 8 26 28
Finance costs {204) (244) (283) (143 (108)
Profit on disposal of avallable-for-sale investrment - - 492 - -
Profit on disposal of associate - - 299 - -
Profit before tax 803 752 1,516 1,025 1,213
Taxation (H2) 8%) (184) (205) {267)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 691 663 1,332 820 946
Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations - - 620 45 33
Profit for the year 691 663 1,952 865 979
Profit {Joss} for the year attnbutable to,
Equity shareholders of the parent company 895 666 1857 865 979
Non-controlling interests ) (3 {) - -
Net (loss) profit recogrised directly in equity (109} 378 (625) 73 129
Total comprehensive income for the year 582 1,041 1327 938 1108
Earrings per share from profit for the year (in pence)
Basic 406p 35.0p ns.8p 554p 60.7p
Diluted 400p 387p 14 4p 549p 597p
Dividends per share (in pence) - 335p 32 8p 32.0p 300p
30 June 30 fune 30 June 30 June 30 tune
2017 2016 2015 204 2013
Consolidated Balance Sheet £m £m Em £m £m
Non-current assets 13104 12,708 10,799 3875 3776
Current assets 5334 4702 4,559 2573 2,565
Total assets 18,438 17410 15,358 6,449 5,345
Current kabilities (5,550) (4,326) (4.204) (2,519 (2.317)
Non-current habilities (9.041) (9.643) (7930) (2.858) 3.016)
Net assets 3847 3441 3,224 1072 1,012
Number of shares in Issue (iIn millions) 1,719 1719 1,719 1,563 1594
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30 June 30 june 30 June 30June 30 June

2077 2016 2015 2014 2013
Statistics {000) ¢ 000) (000} ('000; (000)
Products
UK and Ireland 41,5858 40,373 38,036 34775 3,634
Germany and Austria 8774 8,042 7133 - -
ltaly 8,978 8640 85614 - -
Total paid-for subscription products 59,710 57,055 53,783 34,775 31,634
Customers
UK and Ireland 12,726 12,446 12,001 11,495 11,153
Germany and Austna 4991 4626 4,280 - -
Italy 4783 4742 4725 - -
Retall customers 22500 21814 21006 11,455 11,153
UK and Irefand 3,492 3923 4028 4,041 3,677
Germany and Austra 129 144 145 - -
Italy - - - - -
Wholesale customers® 3,621 4067 4174 4,041 3,677
Total customers 26121 25,881 25180 15,536 14,830
Churn
UK and Ireland 11 5% 1 2% 98% 109% 107%
Germany and Austna 126% 9%% 6% - -
ltaly 91% 1% Q6% - -

1 Included within révenue for the year ended 30 June 2014 15 a E15 million credit recaivad following the termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator

2 Included within operating expense for the year endad 30 June 2017 are costs of £140 million refating Lo corporate restructuning and efficiency programmes, costs of £50 mihon
ralating to the integration of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itala in the enlarged Group, costs of E40 millionrelating to share-based payments ncurrad as a result of the st Century Fox
Offer, costs of £16 million relating to advisory fees associated with the 215t Century Fox Offer and costs of £258 million relating te the amortisabion of acquired intangibles
Included within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2016 are casts of £4 million n relation to advisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland
and Sky lalia, costs of £142 mdlionrelating te corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes, casts of £84 million relating to the integration of Sky Deutschiand and Sky ftalian
the enlarged Group, costs of £343 miliion relating to the amertisation of acquired intangibles and costs of £8 million relating to the remeasurement of derivative finanoal instruments
not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge Ineffectiveness
Included within aperating expense for the year endad 30 June 2015 are costs of E5Q milhon inrelation to adwisory and transaction fees ineurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland
and Sky Itaha, costs of £105 milhon relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes, costs of £10 milhion relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italiain
the enlarged Group and costs of £231 miflion relating to the amor tisation of acquired Intangibles
Included within operating expense for the year ended 3¢ tune 2014 are costs of £43 miflion relating te the integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-line talephony
business, costs of £40 milllonrelating to a corporaterestructunng and efficiency programme, £2 million as a result of the termination of anescrow agreament with a current
wholesale operator and £23 millich relating to the amortisatien of acquired intangibles
Induded within oparating expense for the year ended 30 June 2013 15 a credit of £32 millioninrelation to a credit note receved Following an Ofcom determination, a credit of
E33 million relating te the final settlement of disputes with a former manufacturer of set-top boxes (net of associated costs), costs of £31 million relating to cre-off upgrade of set-top
boxes, costs of E33 million relating to a corporate efficiency programme and costs of £15 milkon relating to the acquisition and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-line
telephony business Alsoincluded are ¢osts of £25 millionrelating to the programme to offer wireless connectors to selected Sky Movies customers

3 whalesale customners are custemers who take a package, from one of Sky's Wholesale Partners, in which they receive at least ane paid-for Sky channel
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Group financial record ~ Unaudited supplemental information - continued

Consolidated results (continued)

Factors which materially affect the comparability of the selected financial data

Basis of preparation
Fiscal 2016 includes 53 weeks of trading compared with 52 weeks In all other years

Discontinued operations
Durning fiscal 2015, the Group sold a controilng stake in its online betting and gaming business

Available-for-sale investment
During fiscal 2015, the Group disposed of its remaining investment 10 TV

Business combinations and profit on disposal of associate

During fiscal 2015, the Group completed the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia The results of these acquisitions were consolidated from
the date on which contral passed to the Group (12 November 2014) As part of the consideration for the purchase of Sky Itaha the Group disposed
of its shareholding In the National Geographic channel

During fiscal 2013, the Group completed the acquisition of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephany business from Telefénica UK, compnising
100% of the share capital of Be Un Limited The results of this acquisition were consolidated from the date on which contro! passed to the Group

{30 Aprl 2013)

Exchange rates

Asignificant portion of the Group's liabilities and expenses assoaated with the cost of programming acquired from US film licensors together with set-top
box costs are denominated in US dollars, A significant portion of the Group's revenues and expenses associated with its operations in Germany and
Austria and Italy are denominated in euros. For adiscussion of the impact of exchange rate movements an the Graup's financial condition and results

of operations, see note 21 to the consolidated financial statements
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Non-GAAP measures

Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated Income Statement - reconciliation of statutory and adjusted numbers

2017
Adjustng
Statutory ltems Adjusted
Notes £m Em £m
Revenue
Subscrniption 10,869 - 10869
Transacticnal 224 - 224
Programme and Channel Sales 778 - 778
Advertising 826 - 326
Other 219 - 219
12,916 - 12916
Operating expense
Pregramming A (6,200 21 (6,179)
Direct network costs (964) - {964)
Sales, general and administration B 4.788) 483 {4,305)
(11.952) 504 (11,448)
[eBTDA 1936 203 2139 |
Operating profit S64 504 1468
Share of results of joint ventures and associates C 2 5 26
Investment income D 22 (8) 14
Finance costs E (204) (41) (245)
Profit before tax 803 460 1,263
Taxation F m2) (103 (215}
Profit for the year 691 357 1048
Loss attnbutable to non-controlling interests 4 (@3] 2
Profit attributable ts equity sharehalders of the parent company 696 355 1050
[Earnings per share (basic) 406p 208p 61.4p |

totes explanation of adjustingitems for the year ended 30 June 2017

A Costs of £20 million relating to corporate restructunng and efficiency programmes and costs of £1 million relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia in the enlarged
Group

Costs of £120 millien relating to corporate restructunng and efficiency programmes (iIncluding depreciation and amortisation of £13 million), costs of £49 milion relating to the
Integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky taba in the enlarged Group (including depreciation ang ameortisation of £30 milliory), costs of E40 milion relating to share-based payments
ncurred as aresult of the 21st Century Fox Offer, costs of £16 million relating to adwisory fees associated with the 21st Century Fox Offer, and amortisation of acquired intangible
assets of £258 mulion,

Amertisation of acquired intangible assets of £13 milion and profit on disposal of joint venture of £8 million.

Interest income of E8 millon on credit receved following an Ofcomn determination

Crecht of £41 millon relating to the remeasurement of all dervative financial Instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge neffectiveness

Tax ad)justing iterns and the tax effect of the above items

=]

mmon

Corporate restructuning and efficiency programmes include costs associated with speaific programmes that the Group has established in order to
achieve reductions in ongoing operating expense Costs of these programmes include redundancy and relocation costs, consultancy costs, contract exit
costs and the impairment or accelerated depreciation of assets that the Group ne longer expects to use for their orginal estimated useful ecanom:c life.
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Non-GAAP measures - Unaudited supplemental information - continued

Consolidated Income Statement - reconciliation of statutory and adjusted numbers (continued)

20i86
Adjusting
Statutory Items Adjusted
Notes Em £m £m
Revenue
Subscription 10,185 - 10185
Transacticnal 197 - 197
Programme and Channel Sales 642 - 642
Advertising 778 - 778
Other 163 - 163
11,965 - 11965
Operating expense
Programming A (5.217) 54 (5163)
Direct network Costs (939) - (939)
Sales, general and administration B 4.832) 527 (4.305)
(10,988} 581 £10,407)
(eBITDA 1.970 208 2178 |
Operating profit 977 581 1,558
Share of results of Joint ventures and asscciates C 2 7 9
Investment income 17 - 17
Finance costs D (244) 6 (238)
Profit before tax 752 594 1,346
Taxation E (89) (180) (269)
Profit for the year 663 414 1077
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests 3 [€)] -
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 666 4n 1077
{Earrings per share (basic) 390p 241p 531 |

Notes explanation of adjusting tems for the year ended 30 June 2016

A Costs of £28 mufion relating to corperate restructuring and efficiency programmes, costs of £18 million relating to the integration of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Italia in the enlarged
Group and costs of £8 millionrelating to tha remeasurement of all derivative financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffactiveness

B Adwisory and transaction fees of £4 millier incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky (talia, costs of £114 millon relating to corporate restructuring and efficency
programmes (including depreciation and amortisation of £11 milion), costs of £66 millien relating te the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia in the entarged Group

{including deprectation and amor tisation of £19 million) and amartisation of acquired intangible assets of £343 millian
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets of £7 millon

man

Tax adjusting items and the tax effect of the above items

Reconciliation of cash generated from operations to adjusted free cash flow
for the year ended 3G June 2017

Finance costs of E6 million relating to the remeasurement of all derivative financial Instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge Ineffectiveness

207 2016
Note £m Em
Cash generated from operations 24 2,254 2.086
Interest received 15 10
Taxation paid (163) (189}
Dundends received from jont ventures and associates 20 20
Funding tojoint ventures and assocates 9 [€)]
Loan to joint venture (14) -
Purchase of property, plant and equ:pment (628) (542)
Purchase of Intangible assets (546) (432)
Interest paid (238) (231
Free cash flow 691 714
Cash paid relating to corporate restructuning and efficiency prograrnmes 134 40
Cash paid relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italiain the enfarged Group 15 32
Cash paid relating to advisary fees associated with the 21st Century Fox Offer 9 -
Adjusted free cash flow 829 786

Where appropriate amounts above are shown net of applicable corporation tax
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The financial performance of the Group 1s presented using avariety of alternative performance measures These measures are not defined by IFRS
and therefore may not be directly cornparable with similarly titled alternative performance measures used elsewhere These measures should be
considered in addition to, and are not intended to be a substitute for, IFRS measures

Adjusted results

In order to provide a measure of underlying performance, management has chosen to present adjusted results for the year which exclude items that
may distort comparability, Such items arise from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the Group but which management
believes should be separately identified to help explain underlying performance Areconahation of adjusted results to the closest equivalent statutory
measure 15 provided in the tables above for the current and prior years.

Like-for-like
Like-for-like revenue excludes thempact of the 53rd week in the prior year and 1s on an adjusted, constant currency basis, Like-for-like revenue growth
at actual exchange rates 15 10% (£12.916 millon versus £11,965 million less £174 milion}

Constant currency

Some of the Group's IFRS and adjusted measures are translated at constant currency exchange rates Constant currency exchange rates are the average
actuai exchange rates of the current financial year and are used to eliminate the effects of exchange rate fiuctuations m assessing performance

Actual exchange rates are the average actual penodic rates for that financial year The constant currency exchange rate used for the current year

15 €116 £1. Areconcllation of the adjusted measures at constant currency to the adjusted measures at actual exchange rates i1s provided below

12 menths
to 30 Jun16
12 months 53rd Week Foreign Actual
12months to30 fun1b Growth Constant  exchange  exchange
Em to30Jun1?  Like-for-like  Like-for-like currency mpact rates
Adjusted Results
Revenue 12916 12,3177 +5% 182 (534) 11,965
UK and Ireland 8,600 8,255 +4% 16 - 8,371
Germany and Austria 1,858 1,708 +9% 28 (224) 1,512
Italy 2,458 2354 +4% 38 (310) 2082
EBITDA 2139 2,214 -3% {36) 2178
UK and Irefand 1,743 1910 -9% - 1910
Germany and Austna 142 g2 +54% Q0) 82
Italy 254 212 +20% (26) 186
Operating Profit 1468 1.565 -6% (7) 1558
UK and Ireland 1292 1,504 ~14% - 1504
Germany and Austria 40 4 +900% - 4
Italy 136 57 +13%9% 7} 50
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Shareholder Information

Shareholder information

Managing your shares and shareholder
communications

The Company's shareholder register 1s maintained by its Registrar,
Eguiniti, Information on how to manage your shareholdings can
be found at help shareview co uk

Shareholders can contact Equiriti on the detalls below in relation to
all administrative enquiries relating to therr shares, such as a change
of personal details, the loss of a share certificate, out-of-date dividend
cheques, change of dividend payment metheds and how to apply for
the Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Equiriti Limited

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

West Sussex

BN93 6DA

Telephone (371384 2091

Telephone number from outside the UK +44 121 415 7567

* Lines are open Monday to Friday B 30am to 5 30pm, excluding UK Barnk Holidays

Shareholders who have not yet elected to receive shareholder
documentation in electronic ferm can sign up by registering at
www.shareview ¢o uk Should Shareholders who have elected for
electronic communications require a paper copy of any of the
Company's sharehelder documentation, or wish to change their
Instructions, they should contact Equiniti

Accessibility
If you woulid like advice regarding accessibility of this document, please
contact the Accessible Custamer Service team on +44 (0) 344 241 0333

American Depositary Receipts (‘ADR’)

The Company's ADR programme trades on the over-the-counter ('OTC)
market in the US More information can be obtained from the Company's
corporate website at www skygroup sky/corporate,

All enquines relating to the Company’s ADRs should be addressed to:

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

PO Box 30170

College Station, TX 77842-3170

US residents. (B88) 269 2377

I resident outside the US. +1 201 680 6825
emall shrrelations@cpushareownerservices com

Annual General Meeting

The venue and timing of the Company’s AGM will be detailed In the
notice convening the AGM which will be availlable for downioad

from the Company's corporate website at www skygroup sky/corporate

Auditor

Delotte LLP

2 New Street Square
London

EC4A 3BZ

Company’s registered office
Grant Way

Isleworth

Middlesex

TW75QD

Telephone 03331000333

Overseas: +44 333100 0333
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Company registration number
Registered in England and Wales under number 2247735

Company website

Shareholders are encouraged to wisit the Sky website sky com which has
awealth of information about the Company There 1s a section designed
speaifically for investors at www skygroup.sky/corporate where investor
and medianformation can be accessed This year's Annual Report, together
with prior year documents, can be viewed there along with information an
dividends, share price and avoiding shareholder fraud

Dividends

Dividends can be paid directly into your bank account Thisis the easiest
way for shareholders to receive dividend payments and avoids the risk of
lost or cut-of-date cheques A dividend mandate form s avallable from
Equiniti or at www shareview co uk

If you are a UK taxpayer, please note that from 6 April 2016 the Dividend
Tax Credit has been replaced by a tax-free Dividend Allowance of £5,000
Any dvidends receved above this amount will be subject to taxation,
Dividends paid on shares held within pensions and Individual Savings
Accounts (15457 will continue to be tax-free Further information can be
found at www.gov ukftax-on-dmdends

An Annual Dividend Confirmation 1s avallable for shareho!ders who have
chosen to receive dividends directly into their bank account, The single
Annual Dividend Confirmation 1s usually mailled by the end of November
each year, to coincide with the final dividend payment (If applicable)

Equiniti are also able to pay dividends to shareholder bank accounts

In over 30 currencies worldwide through the Overseas Payment Service
An administrative fee will be deducted from each dividend payment.
Further details can be obtained from Equiniti or enline at

www shareview.co uk

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company operates a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (‘'DRIP) which enables
shareholders to buy the Company’s shares on the London stock market
with their cash dividend Further information about the DRIP 15 available
from Equiniti

Financial calendar
Results for the financial year ending 30 June 2018 will be published in

October 2017+
January 2018*
Aprl2018*
July 2018*

* Provisional dates

ShareGift

Shareholders wheo only have a small number of shares whose value makes
It uneconomic to sell them may wish to constder donating them to chanty
through ShareGift, the independent chanty share donation scheme
(registerad chanty no 1052686) Further information may be obtaned
from ShareGift on 020 7930 3737 or at sharegift.org

Shareholder fraud

Fraud s on the increase and many shareholders are targeted every year.
If you have any reason to believa that you may have been the target

of a fraud, or attempted fraud 1n relation to your shareholding, pleage
contact Equinitiimmediately
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